

THE MIDDLE-LENGTH  
DISCOURSES  
(MAJJHIMA-NIKĀYA)

\*

VOLUME III  
THE FINAL FIFTY DISCOURSES  
*Uparipaññāsapāli*

TRANSLATED FROM PĀḶI BY  
BHIKKHU ÑĀṆAMOLI



Path Press Publications

IMIA JJIHIMIA - INIKĀYA  
UPARI-PANNĀSA

III

Translation

By

Bhishan Singh



V(3, 1, 1) ✓

1. 214 Thus I heard.  
~~At~~ <sup>On</sup> one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living in the Sakyan country. There is a town of the Sakyans' called Devadaha, <sup>and there</sup> ~~the Blessed One~~ addressed the bhikkhus, thus — Bhikkhus. — Venerable sir, ~~they~~ ~~replied to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

2. — There are some Bhikkhus, some ascetics and Brahmins who assert thus, whose view is thus: Whatever this person ~~experiences~~ feels, whether pleasure or pain or neither-pain-nor-pleasure <sup>is</sup> all, <sup>that is</sup> caused by what was done in the past. So, ~~the~~ <sup>by the</sup> ~~annihilating~~ <sup>stamp</sup> ~~through~~ <sup>annihilation</sup> ~~penance~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>going</sup> ~~no~~ <sup>no</sup> fresh evil actions, there will be no <sup>consequence</sup> ~~in~~ the future, <sup>with</sup> ~~no~~ <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> actions. With the <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ <sup>of</sup> actions there is <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of suffering. With the <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of suffering there is <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of feeling. With the <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of feeling all suffering will be <sup>used up</sup> ~~used up~~. So the Niganthas ~~say~~ say.

3. I go to the Niganthas who assert thus, and I say: "Friends, is it true, as it seems, that you assert thus, that your view is thus: Whatever this person feels... all suffering will be <sup>used up</sup> ~~exhausted~~"? If, when they are asked thus, the Niganthas admit, and say "yes", I say to them:

4. But, friends, do you know that you <sup>were</sup> ~~existed~~ in the past, and <sup>not that you</sup> were not ~~non-existent~~ <sup>existent</sup>? - No, friend.

But, friends, do you know that you did evil ~~actions~~ in the past and did not abstain from them? - No, friend.

But, friends, do you know that you did such and such ~~evil actions~~ <sup>evil actions</sup>? - No, friend.

But, friends, do you know that so much <sup>suffering</sup> has already been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~, or that so much suffering has still to be <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~, or that, when so much suffering has been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~, all suffering will have been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~? <sup>215</sup> - No, friend.

But, friends, do you know what is the abandoning of unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ and the cultivation of profitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>thing</sup> ~~life~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~now~~? - No, friend.

5. So, friends, it seems that you do not know that you <sup>were</sup> ~~existed~~ in the past and ~~not~~ <sup>that you</sup> were not ~~non-existent~~; or that you did evil ~~actions~~ in the past and did not abstain from <sup>them</sup>; or that you did such and such evil actions; or that so much suffering has already been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~; or that so much suffering has still to be <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~; or that when so much suffering has been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~, all suffering will have been <sup>used up</sup> ~~extracted~~; or what is the abandoning of unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ <sup>here</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> the cultivation of



profitable ideas in this life  
~~here and now.~~  
 That being so, it is not fitting that  
 for the <sup>benefit</sup> Vigantias to declare: whatever  
 this person feels, whether pleasure or pain  
 or neither-pain-nor-pleasure, ~~is~~ all that  
 caused by what was done in the past.  
 So ~~through~~ <sup>through</sup> ~~the~~ annihilating ~~through~~ by penance  
 of past evil actions, and by ~~the~~ <sup>through</sup> doing no  
 fresh evil actions, there will be <sup>consequence</sup> ~~no~~  
 in the future. With no <sup>consequence</sup> ~~effect~~ in the future, there  
 is ~~destruction~~ <sup>exhaustion</sup> of actions... with the ~~destruction~~ <sup>exhaustion</sup>  
 of deeds there is destruction of suffering.  
 With the destruction of suffering there is  
 destruction of feeling. With destruction of  
 feeling all suffering will be exhausted.

6. If, friends Vigantias, you knew that  
 you ~~were~~ <sup>were not</sup> in the past and ~~were not~~ <sup>not that you</sup> ~~in~~  
 existent; or that you did evil actions in  
 the past and did not abstain from them;  
 or that you did such and such evil actions;  
 or that so much suffering had already  
 been ~~used up~~ <sup>used up</sup>; or that so much suffering  
 had still to be ~~used up~~ <sup>used up</sup>; or that when so  
 so much suffering had been ~~used up~~ <sup>used up</sup>, all  
 suffering would have been ~~used up~~ <sup>used up</sup>; or  
 what is the abandoning of unprofitable  
 things and the cultivation of profitable things  
~~here and now~~ <sup>in this life</sup>; that being so, it ~~would~~  
 might be fitting for the <sup>reversible</sup> Vigantias to declare:  
 whatever this person feels... ~~all~~ <sup>all</sup> suffering  
 will be ~~exhausted~~ <sup>used up</sup>.

7. [Suppose] friends Vigantias, a man



were <sup>wounded</sup> pierced by an arrow thickly smeared  
 with poison, and <sup>because of the</sup> ~~arrows~~ <sup>darts</sup> piercing  
 he felt painful racking piercing feelings.  
 Then his friends and companions, relatives and  
 kin, brought a <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> surgeon, and the  
~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~surgeon~~ <sup>surgeon</sup> cut round the ~~trauma~~  
 of the wound, with a knife, and <sup>because of</sup>  
~~the cutting round~~ the wound's <sup>orifice</sup> ~~with a~~  
 knife he felt painful racking piercing  
 feelings. Then the <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> sur-  
 geon <sup>probed</sup> ~~probed~~ <sup>probed</sup> the ~~poisoned~~ <sup>dart</sup> with a probe, and  
 because of the probing for the ~~poisoned~~ <sup>dart</sup> with  
 a probe he felt painful racking pier-  
 ing feelings. Then they <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> sur-  
 geon <sup>pulling</sup> ~~pulling~~ <sup>pulling</sup> out the ~~poisoned~~ <sup>dart</sup> and because of  
 the <sup>pulling</sup> ~~pulling~~ <sup>pulling</sup> out of the ~~poisoned~~ <sup>dart</sup> he felt painful  
 racking piercing feelings. Then the <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup>  
 surgeon <sup>applied</sup> ~~applied~~ <sup>applied</sup> a medicinal cauter-  
 izer to the wound's <sup>mouth</sup> ~~mouth~~ <sup>orifice</sup> and be-  
 cause of the application of the medicinal  
 cauterizer to the wound's orifice he felt  
 painful racking piercing feelings. Then <sup>at</sup>  
 another <sup>occasion</sup> ~~occasion~~ <sup>occasion</sup> when the wound was <sup>healed</sup>  
 and he was well, <sup>happy</sup> ~~happy~~ <sup>happy</sup> and covered with skin he thought: <sup>Formerly</sup>  
 I was pierced by a <sup>dart</sup> ~~arrow~~ thickly smeared  
 with poison, and <sup>because of the</sup> ~~arrows~~ <sup>darts</sup> pier-  
 ing I felt painful racking piercing feelings;  
 ... Then the <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> <sup>dart</sup> surgeon applied a <sup>xx</sup>  
 medicinal cauterizer to the wound's orifice and  
 because of the application of the medicinal

813-59

independent cut. his own racking and



- cauterizing to the wound's ripid<sup>x</sup> I felt painful  
racking piercing feelings<sup>x</sup>. 217 Now that the  
wound ~~is~~ healed and covered with skin, ~~and~~  
I am well, happy, independent, my own master,  
and I go where I like. || — so too, friends
8. Niganthas, if you knew that you ~~were~~ <sup>were</sup> in  
the past and ~~were not non-existent~~, ...  
or what is the abandoning of unprofitable things  
and the cultivation of profitable things <sup>in this</sup> here  
~~and now~~; that being so, it might be fitting  
for the venerable Niganthas to declare: whatever  
this person feels ... all suffering will be ~~ex-~~
9. ~~and that~~ || But since, friends Niganthas, you  
do not know that you ~~were~~ <sup>were</sup> in the past and  
~~were not non-existent~~ in the past ... or what  
is the abandoning of unprofitable things and  
the cultivation of profitable things <sup>in this</sup> here and  
~~life~~; ~~unprofitable~~ so; it is not fitting for the  
venerable Niganthas to declare: whatever this  
person feels ... all suffering will be ~~used up~~ <sup>used up</sup>
10. When this ~~was~~ <sup>is</sup> said, the Niganthas <sup>tell</sup> ~~said~~  
to me: 218 The Nigantha Vāṭṭaputta, friend,  
the All-Knowing, the All-Seeing, claims to  
have complete knowledge and vision thus:  
"Walking and standing and sleeping and wak-  
ing my knowledge and vision are contin-  
uously, unceasingly <sup>maintained</sup> ~~maintained~~." He says  
thus: "Niganthas, you have done evil actions  
in the past; ~~shame~~ <sup>use</sup> them <sup>up</sup> with piercing  
mortification. And when you are here and



now restrained in body, speech, and mind,  
 that is doing no evil deeds for the future.  
 So, ~~with~~ <sup>through</sup> annihilating ~~through~~ <sup>by</sup> penance  
~~part~~ evil deeds, and ~~by~~ <sup>by</sup> doing no  
 fresh deeds, there will be no ~~effect~~ <sup>consequence</sup> in the  
 future. With no ~~effect~~ <sup>consequence</sup> in the future there  
 is ~~destruction~~ <sup>exhaustion</sup> of actions... ~~with the destruction~~  
~~of deeds there is destruction of suffering.~~  
~~With the destruction of suffering there is~~  
~~destruction of feeling.~~ ~~With the destruction~~  
~~of feeling there all suffering will be~~ <sup>used</sup>  
~~handled~~ <sup>up</sup>. This pleases us and seems good  
 to us, and we are satisfied.

11. When this ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> said, I ~~say~~ <sup>tell</sup> to the  
 Niganthas: Faith, ~~choice~~, there are five  
 things, friends Niganthas, that have two  
 kinds of result ~~here and there~~ <sup>in this life</sup>. What five?  
 They are faith, ~~preference~~ <sup>weighing</sup>, ~~hearsay~~ <sup>weighing of evidence</sup>, ~~liking~~ <sup>liking for pondering</sup>, ~~and approval of opinion that has~~ <sup>weighing upon views</sup>  
~~been pondered.~~ These five things ~~have~~  
 have two kinds of result ~~here and there~~ <sup>in this life</sup>.

Herein, how has the venerable Niganthas' faith,  
 how has their ~~preference~~ <sup>preference</sup> how has their hearsay,  
 how has their ~~weighing~~ <sup>weighing of evidence</sup> how has  
 their ~~liking for pondering~~ <sup>liking for pondering</sup> ~~and approval of opinion that has~~ <sup>weighing upon views</sup>  
 been as regards the ~~matter in the forest?~~  
 - Saying thus, blitherers, I ~~had~~ <sup>find</sup> no reason-  
 able defence ~~for~~ <sup>among</sup> the Niganthas.

Again, ~~blitherers~~ <sup>blitherers</sup>, I ~~say~~ <sup>tell</sup> to the Nig-  
 (illustrations)



as of ?

antheas: - what do you think, friends Niganthas, when there is intense striving, intense <sup>endeavour</sup> effort, do you then feel painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving; but when there is no intense striving, no intense ~~striving~~ <sup>effort</sup>, do you then feel no painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving?

- When there is intense striving, friend Gotama, intense <sup>endeavour</sup> effort, then we feel painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving; but when <sup>219</sup> there is no intense striving, no intense <sup>endeavour</sup> effort, then we feel no painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving.

13. - So, it seems, friends Niganthas, that when there is intense striving, intense <sup>endeavour</sup> effort, then you feel painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving; but when there is no intense striving, no intense <sup>endeavour</sup> effort, then you feel no painful racking piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> of intense striving. That being so, it cannot be fitting for the venerable Niganthas to declare: "Whatever this person feels, whether pleasure or pain or neither - pain nor pleasure, <sup>that is</sup> in all caused by what was done in the past. So, <sup>by</sup> <sup>through</sup> <sup>through</sup> penance past evil actions, and <sup>consequent</sup> <sup>therefore</sup> no fresh evil actions, there will be no <sup>effect</sup> in the future. With no <sup>effect</sup> in the future there is



<sup>exhaustion</sup> destruction of <sup>action</sup> ~~feelings~~. With the destruction of ~~feelings~~  
 there is <sup>exhaustion</sup> destruction of suffering. With the <sup>action</sup> ~~destruction~~  
<sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of suffering there is <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of feeling.  
 with <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of feeling all suffering will be ~~exhausted~~ <sup>used up</sup>!

14. If, friends Niganthas, when there was in-  
 tense striving, intense <sup>effort</sup> ~~effort~~, then ~~the~~ <sup>again</sup> ~~again~~-  
 ful racking piercing feelings, <sup>due to</sup> ~~of~~ intense ~~effort~~ <sup>striving</sup>  
 were [not] present, ~~and~~ when there was no  
 intense striving, no intense <sup>effort</sup> ~~effort~~, then pain-  
 ful racking piercing feelings of intense ~~of~~  
<sup>striving</sup> ~~of~~ were present, that being so, it might  
 be fitting for the venerable Niganthas to  
 declare: whatever this person feels... all  
 suffering will be <sup>used up</sup> ~~exhausted~~.

15. But because, friends Niganthas,  
 when there is intense striving, intense <sup>effort</sup> ~~effort~~,  
 then you feel painful racking piercing  
 feelings <sup>due to</sup> ~~of~~ intense striving, but when there  
 is no intense striving, no intense <sup>effort</sup> ~~effort~~,  
 then you do not feel painful racking  
 piercing feelings <sup>due to</sup> ~~of~~ intense striving,  
 you are [therefore] feeling only the pain-  
 ful racking piercing feelings of your  
 self-imposed striving, and it is ~~only~~  
 through ignorance, unknowing, and delu-  
 sion, <sup>20</sup> that you mistake it thus: what-  
 ever this person feels... all suffering will  
 be ~~exhausted~~ <sup>used up</sup>

Saying thus, bhikkhus, I find no  
 reasonable defence among the Niganthas.



[with result]

16. Again, bhikkhus, I say to the Nig-  
 anthas: - What do you think, friends Nig-  
 anthas, is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup> ex-  
 perienceable in this life can, through striv-  
 ing and ~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become experienceable  
 in life to come? [that with result]

No, friend.

- But is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup> ex-  
 perienceable in life to come can, through  
 striving and ~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become experienceable  
 in this life? - No, friend.

17. - What do you think, friend's Niganthas,  
 is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup> experienceable  
 as pleasure can, through striving and  
~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become experienceable as pain? [that with result]

No, friend.

- But ~~do you~~ is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup>  
 experienceable as pain can, through striving  
 and ~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become experienceable as pleas-  
 ure? - No, friend.

18. - What do you think, friend's Niganthas,  
 is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup> experienceable  
 in a matured [personality] can, by striving  
 and ~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become experienceable in an  
 un-matured [personality]? - No, friend.

- But is it possible that ~~kamma~~<sup>action</sup> ex-  
 perienceable in an un-matured [personality]  
 can, by striving and ~~effort~~<sup>effort</sup>, become expe-  
 rienceable in a matured [personality]? -  
 No, friend.



19. - What do you think, friends Niganthas, <sup>221</sup> is it possible that kamma, <sup>action</sup> that is much experienceable can, through striving and <sup>effort</sup>, become <sup>that with result</sup> kamma that is little experienceable?  
- No, friend.

- But is it possible that <sup>action</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is little experienceable can, through striving and <sup>effort</sup>, become <sup>that with result</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is much experienceable? - No, friend.

20. - What do you think, friends Niganthas, is it possible that <sup>action</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is experienceable can, through striving and <sup>effort</sup>, become <sup>that with result</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is unexperienceable? - No, friend.

- But is it possible that <sup>action</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is unexperienceable can, through striving and <sup>effort</sup>, become <sup>that with result</sup> ~~kamma~~ that is experienceable?

- No, friend.

[It is since all that is impossible.]

21. So it seems, friends Niganthas, that it is impossible that kamma experienceable here and now can, through striving and effort, become kamma experienceable in after life; that it is impossible that kamma experienceable in after life can, by striving and effort, become kamma experienceable here and now; that it is impossible that kamma experienceable as pleasure can, through striving and effort, become kamma experienceable as pain; that it is impossible that kamma experienceable as pain can, through striving and effort, become kamma exper-

alter



alt

ienceable as pleasure; that it is impossible  
 that kamma experienceable in a matured  
 [personality] can, by struggle through striving  
 and effort, become experienceable in an  
 unmatured [personality]; that it is im-  
 possible that kamma experienceable in  
 an unmatured [personality] can, through  
 striving and effort, become experienceable  
 in a matured [personality]; that it is  
 impossible that kamma that is much  
 experienceable can, through striving and  
 effort, become little experienceable; that  
 it is impossible that kamma that is  
 little experienceable can, through striving  
 and effort, become much experienceable;  
 that it is impossible that kamma that  
 is experienceable can, through striving and  
 effort, become unexperienceable; that it  
 is impossible that kamma that is un-  
 experienceable can, through striving and  
 effort, become experienceable. That being  
 so, the venerable Niganthas' <sup>222</sup> striving  
 is fruitless, their effort fruitless.

22. So the Niganthas say, bludgeoned <sup>and</sup>  
 when they say this, there are ten <sup>legitimate</sup>  
 deductions <sup>from their operations</sup> that provide grounds for <sup>causing</sup>  
<sup>grief</sup> [them]. <sup>in the time</sup>  
 If the pleasure and gain that beings  
 feel were caused by what was done in the  
 past then surely the Niganthas <sup>surely</sup>  
<sup>have been</sup> doers of ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup> in the past, since  
 they now feel such painful racking piercing feelings

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by ~~them~~ being created by a lord [creator], then the Nigānthis surely <sup>have been</sup> would be created by a bad lord [creator], since they now feel such painful racking piercing feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by <sup>a particular</sup> kind of transmigrat-  
ion, then the Nigānthis surely <sup>would</sup> have a bad kind of transmigration, since they now feel such painful racking piercing feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by class, then the Nigānthis surely <sup>would belong to</sup> have a bad class, since they now feel such painful racking piercing feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by striving in this life, then the Nigānthis surely <sup>would</sup> strive badly in this life, since they now feel such painful racking piercing feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by what was done in the past, then the Nigānthis are to be condemned; if ~~+~~ not <sup>\*</sup>, then the Nigānthis are to be condemned. <sup>\*</sup>

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by ~~their~~ being created by a lord [creator], then the Nigānthis are to be condemned; if <sup>\*</sup> ~~+~~ not <sup>\*</sup>, ~~then~~



creator), then the Niganthas are to be condemned.  
 If the pleasure and pain that beings feel  
 were caused by the <sup>kind of</sup> browsing rational ~~stock~~, then  
 the Niganthas are to be condemned;  
 if ~~it is~~ not, then the Niganthas  
 are to be condemned.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel  
 were caused by class, then the Niganthas are  
 to be ~~condemned~~; if ~~the~~ pleasure and pain that  
 beings feel are caused ~~not~~ caused by class,  
 then the Niganthas are to ~~be~~ be condemned.

If the pleasure and pain that beings  
 feel were caused by a struggle here and now,  
 then the Niganthas are to ~~be~~ <sup>be</sup> condemned; if ~~it is~~  
~~not~~, then the Niganthas are to ~~be~~ <sup>be</sup> condemned.

So <sup>say</sup> the Niganthas, ~~say~~ bhikkhus, and  
 when they say thus there are these ten ~~posi-~~  
~~tive~~ deductions <sup>from their positions</sup> that ~~bring~~ them to dis-  
 repute, provide grounds for <sup>condemning</sup> ~~condemning~~ them.  
<sup>So</sup> ~~then~~ their ~~struggle~~ <sup>striving</sup> is fruitless, their  
~~endeavour~~ <sup>is</sup> fruitless. in the true idea

23. And how <sup>how is</sup> bhikkhus <sup>is</sup> the <sup>striving</sup> struggle  
 fruitful, the <sup>endeavour</sup> ~~striving~~ fruitful? Here  
 Here, bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu <sup>is</sup>  
~~not~~ not overwhelmed by <sup>pain</sup> suffering, he does not <sup>get</sup>  
~~overwhelm~~ overwhelm himself with suffering over-  
 whelmed by ~~suffering~~ <sup>pain</sup>; and he does not  
~~strive~~ <sup>strive</sup>

give up lawful pleasure, ~~and~~ he is <sup>yet</sup> not  
~~infatuated~~ with that pleasure. He knows  
 thus: When I make an effort of ~~will~~, will,  
~~this source of suffering fades away~~ is  
 there is fading away of this <sup>(particular)</sup> source of suffer-  
 ing in me owing to the effort of ~~will~~; <sup>will</sup>  
 but when I look on with equanimity, there  
 is fading away of this <sup>(particular)</sup> source of suffer-  
 ing in me ~~while~~ I develop equanimity.

He makes an effort of ~~will~~ <sup>will</sup> in res-  
 pect of that source of suffering of which,  
 when he makes an effort of ~~will~~ <sup>will</sup>, there  
 is fading away in him owing to the effort  
 of ~~will~~ <sup>will</sup>; but he develops equanimity  
 in respect of that source of suffering of  
 which, when he looks on it ~~with~~ with equanim-  
 ity, there is fading away in him ~~while~~ he  
 develops equanimity.

When he makes an effort of ~~will~~ <sup>will</sup>,  
 there is fading away of ~~that~~ <sup>such and such a</sup> source of  
 suffering ~~owing~~ <sup>owing</sup> to the effort of ~~will~~ <sup>will</sup>:  
 thus that suffering is exhausted in him.  
 When he looks on with equanimity, there  
 is fading away of such and such a source  
 of suffering ~~while~~ he develops equanimity:  
 thus that suffering is exhausted in him.

24. Suppose, bhikkhus, a man lusted  
 after a woman with his mind taken up  
 by intense desire and intense ~~intensity~~  
 passion, and he saw that woman stand- X



ing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing, what do you think, bhikkhus, would sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and woe arise in the man when he saw the woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing? — even so, venerable sir. Why is that? Because, the man lusted after the woman with his mind taken up by intense desire and intense passion, <sup>24</sup> that is why sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and woe would arise in the man when he saw the woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing.

25. — Then, bhikkhus, the man ~~thought~~ thought: I lusted after this woman with my mind taken up by intense desire and intense passion, and when I see that woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing, sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and woe arise in me. What if I abandoned desire and lust for that woman? He abandoned desire and lust for that woman. On another occasion he saw that woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing. What do you think, bhikkhus, would sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and woe arise in the man when he saw the woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing? — No, venerable sir. Why is the

Because the man was without lust for the woman, that is why sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and woe would not arise in the man when he saw the woman standing with another man, chatting, joking and laughing.

26 So too, Bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu is not overwhelmed by ~~suffering~~ <sup>pain</sup> he does not get himself overwhelmed by ~~suffering~~ <sup>pain</sup>; and he does not give up lawful pleasure, and he is not ~~infatuated~~ <sup>attached</sup> ~~by~~ <sup>to</sup> that pleasure. He knows thus: when I make an effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup>, there is fading away of this [particular] source of suffering in me owing to the effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup>; but when I look on with equanimity, there is fading away of this [particular] source of suffering in me while I develop equanimity.

He makes an effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup> in respect of that source of suffering of which, when he makes an effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup>, there is fading away in him owing to the effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup>; but he develops equanimity in respect of that source of suffering of which, when he looks on <sup>at</sup> it with equanimity, there is fading away in him while he develops equanimity.

When he makes an effort of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>with</sup>,



there is fading away of such and such a source of suffering owing to the effort of ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~action~~: thus that suffering is exhausted in him. <sup>115</sup> When he looks on with equanimity, there is fading away of such and such a source of suffering ~~and he develops~~ <sup>equanimity</sup>.

Thus the striving is fruitful, the effort fruitful.

27. Again, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu considers thus: According as I live pleasantly, unprofitable things increase in me and profitable things diminish; but when I exert myself in what is painful, unprofitable things diminish in <sup>me</sup> and profitable things increase. What if I exerted myself in what is painful?

He exerts himself in what is painful. When he <sup>does so</sup>, unprofitable things diminish in him and profitable things increase. At a later time he does not exert himself in what is painful. Why is that? The ~~the~~ aim for which he exerted himself in what is painful has been ~~fulfilled~~ achieved; that is why at a later time he does not exert himself in what is painful.

28. Suppose, bhikkhus, a fletcher were warming and heating an arrow shaft between two flames, and making it

straight and ~~workable~~ workable; ~~and~~  
 as soon the fletcher's arrow shaft had  
 been warmed and heated between two  
 flames and had been made straight  
 and workable, then at a later time the  
 fletcher would not [again] warm and  
 heat the arrow shaft and make it straight  
 and workable. ~~adapting it~~

29-38 So too a childless considers thus  
 According as I live pleasantly... [as in  
 § 27 above] <sup>226</sup>... he does not exert himself  
 in what is painful.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the  
 effort ~~is~~ fruitful.

30-38 Again, childless, the Perfect One  
 appears here in the world... [as in M. 27,  
 § 13-21]... purifies the mind from uncer-  
 tainty.

39 Having <sup>from</sup> abandoned these five hindran-  
 ces, deplements of the heart that weaken  
 understanding, secluded from sense desires,  
 secluded from unprofitable things, he enters  
 upon the first jhāna... [as in M. 4 § 23]  
 ... born of seclusion.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the  
 effort ~~is~~ fruitful.

40. <sup>Again,</sup> With the subsiding of applied and



Sustained thought he enters upon and dwells in the second plane, ... born of concentration.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort ~~is~~ fruitful.

41. <sup>Again,</sup> ~~With~~ the fading away of <sup>happiness</sup> ~~pleasure~~ ... he enters upon and dwells in the third plane, ... dwells happily.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort ~~is~~ fruitful.

42. <sup>Again,</sup> ~~With~~ the abandoning of <sup>happiness</sup> ~~pleasure~~ ... he enters upon and dwells in the fourth plane ... due to equanimity.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort fruitful.

43. When his <sup>concentrated</sup> mind is thus purified ... he directs his mind to the knowledge of past life. ... thus with details and particulars he recollects his manifold past life.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort fruitful.

44. When his concentrated mind is thus purified ... he directs his mind to the knowledge of the passing away and reappearance of beings ... he understands how beings fare according to their deeds.

Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort fruitful. 227

45. When his concentrated mind is thus purified ... he directs his mind to knowledge

of destruction of cankers . . . [as in M. 27, § 34] . . . This is the way leading to cessation of cankers

46. Knowing thus . . . [as in M. 27, § 36] . . . there is no more of this to come. Thus too the striving is fruitful, the effort fruitful.

47. So the Tathagata says, bhikkhus, and when the Tathagata says thus, there are ten legitimate grounds for ~~praising~~ <sup>praising</sup> commending him.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by what was done in the past, then ~~surely~~ the Tathagata <sup>surely would have</sup> ~~been~~ a doer of deeds well done in the past, since he now ~~since he now~~ feels such cankerless pleasant feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by being created by a god [creator], then the Tathagata surely would have <sup>been created by</sup> ~~an~~ suspicious god [creator], since he now feels such cankerless pleasant feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by the kind of transmigration, then the Tathagata would have a good transmigration, since he now feels such cankerless pleasant feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings



feel were caused by class, then the Tathāgata surely would have a good class, since he now feels such cancerless pleasant feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by striving in this life, then the Tathāgata surely would strive well in this life, since he now feels such cancerless pleasant feelings.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by what was done in the past, then the Tathāgata is to be commended; if ~~\*not\*~~, then the Tathāgata is to be commended.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by being created by a lord [creator], then the Tathāgata is to be commended; if ~~\*not\*~~, then the Tathāgata is to be commended.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by the kind of transmigration, then the Tathāgata is to be commended; if ~~\*not\*~~, then the Tathāgata is to be commended.

If the Tathāgata pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by class, then the Tathāgata is to be commended; if ~~\*not\*~~, then the Tathāgata is to be commended.

If the pleasure and pain that beings feel were caused by a struggle here and now, then the Tathāgata is to be commended; if ~~\*not\*~~, then the Tathāgata is to be commended.

ed. 229  
20 the Tathāgata says, bhikkhus. And





1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī, in Jeta's grove, Anāthapindika Park. There ~~the~~ <sup>he</sup> Blessed One addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus ». « Venerable sir » they ~~blinded~~ replied. The Blessed One said this.

2. <sup>Reason on future finiteness</sup> « Bhikkhus, there are some ascetics or <sup>monks</sup> ~~heretics~~ who, conjecturing about future finiteness and holding views about future finiteness, ~~affirm~~ <sup>are in concord that</sup> various assertions contingent upon future finiteness.

(i) Some ~~affirm~~ <sup>are in concord that</sup> such [assertions] as this: 'The percipient self is intact after death'.

(ii) Some ~~affirm~~ <sup>are in concord that</sup> such [assertions] as this: 'The non-percipient self ~~and~~ is intact after death'.

(iii) Some ~~affirm~~ <sup>are in concord that</sup> such [assertions] as this: 'The neither-percipient-nor-non-percipient self is intact after death'.

(iv) Or they make known an existing creature's [eventual] annihilation, obliteration, and non-being.

(v) Then some ~~affirm~~ <sup>are in concord that</sup> the [assertion] of ~~extinction~~ <sup>extinction</sup> here and now.

Thus (a) they either <sup>describe</sup> make known an existing creature to be intact after death,







25  
 5. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands  
 [the whole of] that thus: "When ascetics and  
~~brahmins~~<sup>ascetics</sup> make known the percipient self  
 to be intact after death, then those good  
 ascetics and ~~brahmins~~<sup>divines</sup> ~~make known~~<sup>ascetics</sup>  
 the percipient self intact after death to be  
 (1) possessed of form or (2) formless or (3) poss-  
 essed of form and formless or (4) neither  
 possessed of form nor formless or (5)  
 percipient of unity or (6) percipient of  
 difference or (7) percipient of the limited  
 or (8) percipient of the measureless. Or else  
 some [others] ~~affirm~~ [assertions about  
 the perception of] the base consisting of nothing-  
 ness thus "There is nothing", <sup>as</sup> "measureless  
 and imperturbable, which [perception] is  
 declared <sup>by them</sup> the purest, most perfect, ~~best~~  
 most high, most unassailable, of those  
 perceptions [kinds of] perceptions, whether  
 230 perceptions of form or perceptions of the  
 formless or perceptions of unity or per-  
 ceptions of difference. [Now] ~~the whole of~~  
 that is determined and [thus] gross;  
 but there is cessation of determinations:  
 there is that. By knowing thus and seeing  
 the escape from [all] that a Perfect One  
 goes beyond [all] that.

6. (ii) Here, bhikkhus, when ascetics and  
 divines make known the non-percipient  
 self to be intact after death, then those



good ascetics and divines make known  
the non-percipient self intact after death,  
~~then those good ascetics and divines make~~  
to be

- (1) possessed of form,
- or (2) formless,
- or (3) possessed of form and formless,
- or (4) neither possessed of form nor formless.

7 Here these oppose those ascetics and  
divines who make known the percipient  
self intact after death. Why is that? [because  
& they assert that] 'Perception is a disease,  
a cancer, a dart; [but] the (more) peaceful,  
the superior [goal], is this, that is to say,  
non-perception'.

8. Bhikkhus, a perfect One understands  
[the whole of] that thus: 'When ascetics and  
divines make known the non-percipient  
self to be intact after death, then those  
good ascetics and divines make known  
the non-percipient self intact after death  
to be (1) possessed of form or (2) formless or  
(3) possessed of form and formless or (4)  
neither possessed of form nor formless.  
[But] that any ascetic or divine should say  
& shall make known <sup>consciousness</sup> a coming, or a going, or  
a passing away, or a re-appearance, or an in-  
crease, or a maturity, apart from form,



from feeling, from perception; from determinations  
 from consciousness - that is impossible. [Now the  
 whole of] that is determined and [thus]  
 gross; but there is ~~is~~ <sup>231</sup> cessation of  
 determinations: there is that? By knowing  
 thus and by seeing the escape from [all] that  
 a Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.

9. (iii) Here, Bhikkhus, when ascetics and divines  
 make known the neither-percipient-nor-non-  
 percipient self to be intact after death, then  
 those good ascetics and divines make known  
 the neither-percipient-nor-non-percipient  
 self intact after death to be

- (1) possessed of form,
- or (2) formless,
- or (3) possessed of form and formless,
- or (4) neither possessed of form nor formless.

10. Here these oppose ~~those~~ those ascetics  
 and divines who make known the percipient  
 self intact after death, and they [also] oppose  
 those ascetics and divines who make known  
 the non-percipient self intact after death.  
 Why is that? [Because they assert thus:]  
 'perception is a disease, a cancer, a dart;  
 [but] the [more] peaceful, the superior [goal],  
 is this, that is to say, neither-perception-  
 nor-non-perception'.

11. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands [the  
 whole of] that thus: 'When ascetics and divines  
 make known the neither-percipient-nor-non-



percipient self to be intact after death, then those good ascetics and divines make known the neither-percipient-nor-non-percipient self intact after death to be (1) possessed of form or (2) formless or (3) possessed of form and formless or (4) neither possessed of form nor formless. [But] when any ascetic or divine makes known that the attaining of this base [consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception] is comes about ~~through~~ with full determinations of what is ~~equivalent to~~ <sup>to be</sup> seen, heard, ~~and~~ <sup>and cognized</sup> sensed, that proclaims [precisely] what prevents the attaining of that base; 232 for that base is not proclaimed to be attainable with an attainment accompanied by such determinations; that base is proclaimed to be attainable with an attainment ~~with~~ accompanied by [only] reduced determinations. [Now the whole of] that is determined and [thus] grows; but there is cessation of determinations: there is that'. By knowing thus and by seeing the escape from [all] that a Perfect one goes beyond [all] that.

12. (iv) Here, ~~blissless~~, there are those ascetics and divines who make known an existing creature's [eventual] annihilation, obliteration, and non-being. Here there oppose ascetics and divines who make known the percipient self intact after



death, and they oppose those good ascetics and divines who make known the <sup>non-</sup>percipient self intact after death, and they oppose those good ascetics and divines who make known the neither-percipient-nor-non-percipient self intact after death. Why is that? Because all those good ascetics and divines, being intent upon the round ~~of~~ [of births] beyond [this life], <sup>only</sup> affirm, attachment thus: 'We shall be such after death, we shall be such after death.' Just as a trader who goes to the market thinks 'From this there will be this for me; with this I shall get this', so too, these good ascetics and divines surely fancy 'We shall be such after death, we shall be such after death.'

13. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands [the whole of] that thus: 'There are ascetics and divines who make known an existing creature's [eventual] annihilation, obliteration, and non-being. ~~But~~ Because of fear of the existing-body, because of disgust with the existing-body, they keep running round, keep circling round, that same existing-body. Just as a dog tethered ~~dog~~ by a leash and anchored to a stout pole or post keeps <sup>233</sup> running round, keeps circling round, that same pole or post, so too, these wretched ascetics and divines, because of fear of the



existing-body, because I disgust with the existing-body, keep running round, keep circling round, that same existing-body. [Now the whole of] that is determined and [thus] gross; but there is cessation of determinations: there is that'. By knowing thus and by seeing the escape from [all] that a Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.

14. Whitchkus, any ascetics and divines there may be, also, conjecturing about future finiteness and holding views about future finiteness, affirm various assertions contingent upon future finiteness, all of them affirm these five bases, or one or of them.

*Based on past finiteness*

15. Whitchkus, there are some ascetics and divines, who, conjecturing about past finiteness and holding views about past finiteness, affirm various assertions ~~about~~ ~~past~~ contingent upon past finiteness.

(1) Some affirm thus 'The self is eternal and ~~is~~ in the world. Only this is true; anything else is ~~wrong~~';

(2) Some thus 'The self is not eternal and ~~is~~ in the world. Only this is true; anything else is ~~wrong~~';

(3) Some thus 'The self is eternal and not eternal and ~~is~~ in the world. Only this is true; anything else is ~~wrong~~';



- (4) Some thus 'The self is neither eternal nor not eternal and ~~is~~ in the world, Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (5) Some thus 'The self ~~has a speciality~~ is ~~speciality~~ finite and ~~is~~ in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (6) Some thus 'The self is ~~speciality~~ in finite <sup>and in the world</sup>. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (7) Some thus 'The self is finite and infinite and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (8) Some thus 'The self is neither finite nor infinite and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (9) Some thus 'The self is percipient of unity and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (10) Some thus 'The self is percipient of difference and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (11) Some thus 'The self is percipient of the limited and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (12) Some thus 'The self is percipient of the measureless and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (13) Some thus 'The self has only pleasure and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'
- (14) Some thus 'The self has only pain and in the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.' 234



(15) Some thus 'The self has both pleasure and pain and is the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong'.

(16) and some affirm thus 'The self has neither-pain-nor-pleasure and is the world. Only this is true; anything else is wrong.'

16. (1) Here, ~~that~~ any ascetic or divine whose assertion and whose view is thus 'The self is eternal and is the world; Only this is true; anything else is wrong' shall ever, apart from faith or from preference or from hearsay or from weighing reasons or from choosing to ponder over views, have any actually personal <sup>purified and clear</sup> ~~purified~~ knowledge of that, that is not possible. Now when there is no actually personal purified and clear knowledge, then even that mere portion of knowledge thereof, ~~which~~ these good ascetics and divines ~~make~~ classify, itself proclaims the clinging that they have. [Now the whole of] that is determined and [thus] gross; but there is cessation of determinations: there is that. <sup>3</sup> By knowing thus and by seeing the escape from [all] that a Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.

(2) Here, that any ascetic or divine whose assertion and whose view is thus 'The self is not eternal and it is the world.



Only this is true; anything else is wrong' shall ever... [complete as in § 16]... a Perfect One goes beyond all that.

18. <sup>(3)</sup> - (16) ... [repeat § 16 for each of the <sup>next 4 to</sup> 16 views in § 15]... ~~goes~~ <sup>235</sup> goes beyond all that.

### Exhortation Here and Now

19. (V) Here, Bhikkhus, some ascetic or divine, with the relinquishing of views <sup>based on</sup> ~~about~~ future past finiteness and of views based on future finiteness and with complete ~~resolve~~ <sup>non-resolve</sup> upon the fetters of sensual desire, <sup>and the</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>superior</sup> [goal] <sup>is this:</sup> 'This is [more] peaceful, this is that I enter upon and abide in the happiness of seclusion', <sup>enters upon and abides in</sup> the happiness of seclusion. <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>happines</sup> of seclusion ceases. With the cessation of seclusion grief arises; with the happiness of seclusion the cessation of the grief the happiness of seclusion arises. Just as what the shadow leaves the sunshine extends to, and what the sunshine leaves the shadow extends to, so too, with the cessation of the happiness of seclusion grief arises; with the cessation of the grief the happiness of seclusion arises.

20. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands [the whole of] that thus: 'This good ascetic or divine, with the relinquishing of views based on



past finiteness and of view based on future finiteness and with complete non-resolve upon the fetters of sensual desire, <sup>and</sup> ~~there~~ <sup>thinks</sup> ~~it~~;] & the [more] peaceful is this; the superior [goal] is this; that I enter upon and abide in the happiness of seclusion." enters upon and abides in the happiness of seclusion. That happiness of seclusion ceases in him. With the cessation of the happiness of seclusion grief arises; with the cessation of the grief the happiness of seclusion arises. [Now the whole of] that is determined and [thus] gross; but there is cessation of determinations: there is that. By knowing thus and by seeing the escape from [all] that a Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.

- 21 Here, Bhikkhus, some arctic or divine, with the relinquishing of views based on past finiteness and with the relinquishing of views based on future finiteness, ~~and~~ with complete ~~and~~ non-resolve upon the fetters <sup>and with the relinquishing of the happiness of seclusion,</sup> of sensual desire, <sup>and</sup> ~~there~~ <sup>thinks</sup> ~~it~~;] & the [more] peaceful is this; the superior [goal] is this: that I enter upon and abide in ~~the~~ <sup>non-material</sup> pleasure." enters upon and abides in non-material pleasure. That non-material pleasure ceases in him. With cessation of the non-material pleasure <sup>happiness of seclusion</sup> arises; with the cessation of the <sup>happiness of seclusion</sup> ~~grief~~ the non-material pleasure arises. 236 Just as



what the shadow leaves the sunshine extends to,  
and what the sunshine leaves the shadow extends  
to, so too, with the cessation of the non-material  
pleasure happiness of seclusion arises; with the  
cessation of the happiness of seclusion non-  
material pleasure arises.

22 Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands [the  
whole of] that thus: 'This good ascetic or divine, ...  
[as in § 20] <sup>with appropriate change</sup> abide in non-material pleasure  
... abides in non-material pleasure ... ↓ ...  
A Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.'

23 Here, bhikkhus, some ascetic or divine,  
with the relinquishing ... <sup>and thereby,</sup> 'The  
[more] peaceful in this, the superior [goal] is this:  
that I enter upon and abide in neither-painful-  
nor-pleasant feeling, <sup>neither</sup> enters upon neither-  
painful-nor-pleasant feeling, <sup>and</sup> with the surmount-  
ing of the happiness of seclusion and of the non-  
material pleasure, [That neither-painful-nor-  
pleasant feeling ceases in him. With the  
cessation of the neither-painful-nor-pleasant  
feeling non-material pleasure arises; with the  
cessation of the non-material pleasure neither-  
painful-nor-pleasant feeling arises. Just as  
what the shadow leaves the sunshine extends to,  
and what the sunshine leaves the shadow extends  
to, so too, with the cessation of the neither-painful-  
nor-pleasant feeling non-material pleasure  
arises; with the cessation of the non-material  
pleasure neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling  
arises.



24. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands  
 [the whole of] that thus: 'this good ascetic  
 or divine, <sup>237</sup> a Perfect One goes beyond (all)  
 that.

25. Here, bhikkhus, some ascetic or divine,  
 with the relinquishing of views based on past  
 finiteness and of views based on future fini-  
 teness, and with complete non-resolve upon  
 sensual desire, and with the surmounting  
 of the happiness of seclusion, of ~~the pleas-~~  
~~ure of~~ non-material pleasure, and  
 of neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling,  
 sees thus: 'I am at peace, I ~~am exting-~~  
~~uished~~ have attained extinction, I ~~am~~  
 am without clinging'.

26. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One understands  
 [the whole of] that - - - "I am without  
 clinging". Certainly this venerable one ~~has~~  
~~affirms~~ the way directed to extinction.  
 Yet <sup>in clinging</sup> this good ascetic or divine, <sup>still</sup> either  
 clings to ~~the~~ a view based on past finite-  
 ness or to a view based on future finite-  
 ness or to the happiness of seclusion, or  
 to non-material pleasure or to neither-  
 painful-nor-pleasant feeling. And  
 when ~~this venerable~~ he sees thus: 'I am at  
 peace, I have attained extinction, I  
 am without clinging' that <sup>itself</sup> ~~is~~ produces  
 the clinging that he has. [Was the whole of]



37  
 that is determined and [thus] gross;  
 but there is cessation of determinations:  
 there is that'. By knowing thus and by  
 seeing the escape from [all] that a  
 Perfect One goes beyond [all] that.

The unsurpassable peace

27. Bhikkhus,  
 (the supreme state of peace that is  
 unsurpassable has been discovered by ~~the~~ a  
 Perfect One, that is to say, liberation  
 through not clinging by knowing as they  
 are the origination, the disappearance,  
 the attraction, the danger, and the escape,  
 [in the case] of the six bases for contact.

28. Bhikkhus, that is the supreme state  
 of peace that is unsurpassable, discovered  
~~by~~ by a Perfect One, that is to say,  
 liberation through not clinging by knowing  
 as they are the origination, the disappear-  
 ance, the attraction, the danger, and  
 the escape, [in the case] of the six  
 bases for contact

29. So the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus  
<sup>delighted</sup> were ~~satisfied~~, and they <sup>agreed with</sup> delighted in his  
 words

Notes § 7, 9 and 12 read tesam etc instead  
of tesam eke.

32

§ 16 In faith, etc., See Sutta 95, § 14.

§ 18 The reading aham aññatra nupā aññatra  
vedanāya aññatra saññāya aññatra sañ-  
khārehi viññāyamaogātim ... has been pre-  
ferred See Samyutta XXII nos. 53-4

§ 11 The compound dittā-suta-santa-viñ-  
ñātabbasse has been resolved as 'of what is  
to be seen, heard, sensed, and cognized';  
but it could also be rendered as 'of what  
is to be cognized as seen, heard, and sensed'.



Majjhima Nikāya 103 - Kinti Sutta (3, 1, 3)

1. Thus I heard.  
~~At~~ <sup>on</sup> ~~one~~ <sup>occasion</sup> ~~the~~ Blessed One was  
living at Kusināra, in the Grove where  
offerings were brought (Baliharana Vana-  
5 ~~sau~~ <sup>sau</sup>). There, <sup>he</sup> ~~the~~ ~~Blessed~~ ~~One~~ addressed  
the bhikkhus thus - Bhikkhus. - Ven-  
erable sir, they ~~replied~~ <sup>replied</sup>. ~~to the~~  
~~Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

2. - What do you think about me,  
bhikkhus? That the Monk Gotama teaches  
the Dhamma for the sake of robes? Or that  
5 the Monk Gotama teaches the Dhamma for  
the sake of almsfood? Or that the Monk  
Gotama teaches <sup>the</sup> Dhamma for the sake  
of abodes? Or that the Monk Gotama  
teaches the Dhamma for the sake of  
some better kind of becoming?

10 - We do not think thus about the Blessed  
One: That the Monk Gotama teaches the  
Dhamma for the sake of \* these things\*:

- It seems, bhikkhus, that you do  
not think thus about me: That the Monk  
15 Gotama teaches the Dhamma for the sake of  
\* these things\*. Then what do you think  
about me?

- Venerable sir, we think thus  
about the Blessed One: The Blessed One  
20 is Compassionate and seeks welfare;  
he teaches the Dhamma out of compas-  
sion.

- It seems, bhikkhus, that you

25- Think thus about me: the Blessed One is  
 compassionate and seeks welfare; he teaches  
 the Dhamma out of compassion

3. So, bhikkhus, these things that I  
 have directly known and taught to you,  
 that is to say, the four foundations of  
 Mindfulness, the four Right Efforts, the  
 5 four Roads to Power, the five Faculties,  
 the five Powers, the seven<sup>29</sup> Enlightenment  
 Factors, the Noble Eightfold Path - in all  
 these things you should train in concord,  
 with mutual understanding, without dis-  
 puting.

4. If two bhikkhus disagree about the  
 Higher Dhamma (abhidhamma) whilst you  
 are training in concord, with mutual un-  
 derstanding, without disputing, two bhik-  
 khus might <sup>differ</sup> disagree about the Higher  
 Dhamma (abhidhamma). #

5. Now if you think thus: "These veneration-  
 able ones <sup>differ</sup> disagree about both the meaning  
 and the letter," then whichever <sup>of the two</sup>  
 you think is the <sup>more reasonable</sup> better <sup>of the two</sup> bhikkhus  
 5 should be approached and <sup>addressed</sup> ~~spoken to~~ thus:  
 "The venerable ones <sup>differ</sup> disagree about both  
 the meaning and the letter. The venerable ones  
 should know that it is for this [reason] that  
 there is <sup>difference</sup> disagreement about the meaning  
 10 and <sup>difference</sup> disagreement about the letter; let them  
 not fall to disputing." Then whichever



15. *Chikku* you think is the most reasonable  
 out of those who take the opposite side to-  
 gether on the opposite part should be approached  
 and addressed thus: "The venerable ones differ  
 about both the meaning and the letter. The  
 venerable ones should know that it is for this  
 [reason] that there is difference about the mean-  
 ing and difference about the letter. Let them  
 20 not fall to disputing." So what has been wrongly  
 grasped should be borne in mind as wrongly  
 grasped. Bearing in mind what has been wrongly  
 grasped as wrongly grasped, what is *Shankha*  
 and what is *Discipline* should be expounded.

6. Now if you should think thus: "These  
 venerable ones differ about the meaning but  
 agree about the letter"; Then whichever *Chikku*  
 you think is the more reasonable  
 should be approached and addressed thus:  
 "The venerable ones differ about the meaning  
 but agree about the letter. The venerable ones  
 should know that it is for this [reason] that  
 there is difference about the meaning but agree-  
 ment about the letter; let them not fall to  
 disputing." Then whichever *Chikku* you think  
 is the most reasonable of those who side  
 together on the opposite part should be ap-  
 proached and addressed thus: "The venerable  
 ones differ about the meaning but agree  
 about the letter. The venerable ones should  
 know that it is for this [reason] that there  
 is difference about the meaning but agree-  
 ment about the letter; let them not fall to  
 disputing." 247 So what has been wrongly

grasped should become in mind as wrongly grasped and what has been rightly grasped should be borne in mind as rightly grasped.

Bearing in mind what has been wrongly grasped as wrongly grasped and bearing in mind what has been rightly grasped as rightly grasped, what is Dharma and what is Discipline should be expounded.

7. Now if you think thus: "these venerable ones agree about the meaning but differ about the letter," then whichever *shiksha* you think is the more reasonable should be approached and addressed thus:

"The venerable ones agree about the meaning but differ about the letter. The venerable ones should know that it is for this [reason] that there is agreement about the meaning but difference about the letter. But the letter is a mere trifle. Let the venerable ones not fall to disputing."

10 Then whichever *shiksha* you think is the most reasonable of those who side together on the opposite part should be approached and addressed thus:

15 "The venerable ones agree about the meaning but differ about the letter. The venerable ones should know that it is for this [reason] that there is agreement about the meaning but difference about the letter. But the letter is a mere trifle. Let the venerable ones not fall to disputing." So



what is rightly grasped should be borne in mind as rightly grasped and what is wrongly grasped should be borne in mind as wrongly grasped. Bearing in mind what is rightly grasped as rightly grasped and bearing in mind what is wrongly grasped as wrongly grasped, what is Dhamma and what is Discipline should be expounded.

8. Now if you should think thus: "The venerable ones agree about both the meaning and the letter," then whichever bhikkhu you think is the more reasonable should be approached and addressed thus: "The venerable ones agree about both the meaning and the letter. The venerable ones should know that it is for this [reason] there is agreement about both the meaning and the letter; let the venerable ones not fall to disputing." Then whichever bhikkhu you think is the most reasonable of those who side together on the opposite part should be approached and addressed thus: "The venerable ones agree about <sup>the</sup> meaning and differ about the letter; let the venerable ones not fall to disputing." So what is rightly grasped should be borne in mind as rightly grasped. Bearing in mind what is rightly grasped as rightly grasped, what is Dhamma and what is discipline should be expounded.

9. Whilst you are training in concord,

with mutual understanding, without disputing, some ~~trickster~~ might commit an offence or a transgression.

10. Now there is no hurry about questioning; the person should be ~~judged~~ ~~thus~~ estimated thus: "So there will be no vexation for me and no hurt for the other person; for ~~the other~~ person is not given to anger and enmity, ~~he is not~~ slow to see, and he easily relinquishes, and I can make that person emerge from <sup>the</sup> unprofitable and establish him in <sup>the</sup> profitable." If it is thus, it is proper to speak.

11. But if it is thus: "There will be no vexation for me but there will be hurt for the other person; for the other person is given to anger and enmity and ~~is slow~~ slow to see; but he easily relinquishes; and I can make that person emerge from the unprofitable and establish ~~himself~~ in the profitable. ~~But~~ it is a mere trifle that the other person will be hurt, but it is a much greater thing that I can make that person emerge from the unprofitable and establish him in the profitable." If it is thus, it is proper to speak.

12. But if it is thus: "There will be vexation for me but there will be <sup>no</sup> hurt



for the other person; for the other person is not  
 given to anger and enmity, is slow to see,  
 5 but does not easily relinquish; yet I can  
 make that person emerge from the unprofit-  
 able and establish him in the profitable.

~~But~~ <sup>and</sup> it is a mere trifle that I shall be vexed,  
 but it is a much greater thing that I can  
 10 make that person emerge from the unpro-  
 fitable and establish him in the profitable."

If it is thus, it is proper to speak.  
 13. But if it is thus: "There will be  
 vexation for me and there will be hurt for  
 the other person; <sup>242</sup> for the other person is given  
 to anger and enmity, is slow to see, and does

5 not relinquish easily, yet I can make that  
 person emerge from the unprofitable and  
 establish him in the profitable. It is a  
 mere trifle that I shall be vexed and the  
 other person hurt, but it is a much greater

10 thing that I can make that person emerge  
 from the unprofitable and establish him in  
 the profitable." If it is thus, it is proper to  
 speak

14. But ~~if~~ it it is thus: "There will be  
 vexation for me and there will be hurt

for the other person; for the other person  
 is given to anger and enmity and is slow  
 5 to see, and he does not easily relinquish;

and I cannot make that person emerge  
 from the unprofitable and establish him  
 in the profitable." One should not disturb  
 one's equanimity for such a person.

15. Whilst you are training in concord,  
 with mutual understanding, without dis-  
 puting, mutual mischief-making might  
 arise, and intolerant view, mental irrita-  
 5 annoyance, surliness, and discontent. Then  
 whichever bhikkhu you think is the most  
 reasonable of those who side together on the  
 one part should be approached and ad-  
 dressed thus: "Whilst we were training in  
 10 concord, friend, with mutual understanding,  
 without disputing, mutual mischief-  
 making arose, and intolerant view, mental  
 annoyance, surliness, and discontent. If  
 the Monk knew, he would condemn it." An-  
 15 swering rightly, the bhikkhu would answer  
 thus: "Whilst we were training... If the  
 Monk knew, he would condemn it." — "But,  
 friends, without abandoning this thing, nib-  
 bāna cannot be reached." Answering rightly,  
 20 the bhikkhu would answer thus: "Friend,  
 without abandoning this thing, nibbāna can-  
 not be reached." Then whichever bhikkhu  
 you think is the most reasonable of those  
 who side together on the opposite part  
 25 should be approached and addressed thus:  
 "Whilst we were training... If the Monk knew,  
 he would condemn it." Answering rightly, the  
 bhikkhu would answer thus: "Whilst we  
 were training... If the Monk knew, he would  
 30 condemn it." — "But, friends, without aban-  
 doning this thing, nibbāna cannot be reached."  
 Answering rightly, the bhikkhu would answer:



thus: "Friend, without abandoning this thing,  
Nibbana cannot be reached."

35 If others should ask the bhikkhus  
thus: "Was it the venerable one who made  
those bhikkhus emerge from the unprofitable  
and established them in the profitable?"

40 Answering rightly, the bhikkhus would answer  
thus: "Here, friends, I went to the Blessed  
One. The Blessed One taught me the Dham-  
ma. Having heard that Dhamma, I told it  
to those bhikkhus. The bhikkhus heard  
the Dhamma, and they emerged from the  
45 unprofitable and became established in the  
profitable." Answering thus, the bhikkhus

neither exalts himself nor disparages others;  
he answers in accordance with the <sup>True Dhamma</sup> ~~the Dhamma~~.  
50 ~~his assertion that~~ ~~in accordance with Dhamma~~ ~~provides~~  
~~grounds for censure of him~~.  
L

So the Blessed One said. The bhik-  
khus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted,</sup> and ~~rejoiced at his~~ <sup>they agreed with his</sup>  
words.

(legitimate deduction)

The first thing I noticed  
 when I stepped out of the  
 car was the smell of  
 fresh air. It was a relief  
 after being stuck in traffic  
 for so long. The sun was  
 shining brightly, and the  
 birds were chirping happily.  
 I took a deep breath and  
 felt a sense of freedom.  
 The world was finally open  
 to me.

I walked towards the  
 park, feeling a sense of  
 peace. The children were  
 playing happily, and the  
 flowers were in full bloom.  
 I saw a butterfly fluttering  
 from flower to flower. It  
 was so beautiful. I  
 wanted to reach out and  
 touch it, but it flew away  
 before I could. I smiled  
 and watched it disappear  
 into the distance.

I continued to walk  
 through the park, enjoying  
 every moment. The  
 breeze was cool, and the  
 grass was soft under my  
 feet. I felt like I was  
 in a dream. The world  
 was perfect. I was  
 finally home.



Majjhima Nikaya 104 - Samagamasutta  
(3, 1, 4)

1. Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living in the Sakyan country at Samagama.
2. <sup>Now</sup> ~~that~~ on that occasion the Nigamtha Vāthaputta had just died at Pava. On his death the Nigamthas divided, split into two; and they were brawling, wrangling, disputing, and wounding each other with verbal arrows.
5. "You do not know this ~~way~~ <sup>Doctrine (Dhamma)</sup> and Discipline. I know this ~~way~~ <sup>Doctrine</sup> and Discipline. How will you come to know this ~~way~~ <sup>Doctrine</sup> and Discipline if your way is wrong. My way is right. I am consistent. You are inconsistent. What should have been said first you said last. What should have been said last you said first. What you had so carefully thought up has been turned inside out. Your teaching has been shown up. You are worsted. Go and learn better; or disentangle yourself if you can!" It seemed as if it was nothing but slaughter among the Nigamtha Vāthaputta's pupils. And his
10. white-clothed lay disciples were as disgusted, dismayed, and disappointed by the Nigamtha Vāthaputta's pupils as they were with his ill-~~discipline~~ <sup>early part of his life</sup> and ~~discipline~~ <sup>very good</sup> that was ~~not~~ <sup>all proclaimed, uncontacted</sup> leading nowhere, ~~not~~ <sup>un-</sup> conducive to peace, not ~~proclaimed~~ <sup>proclaimed</sup> by one fully enlightened ~~one~~, with its shrine now broken, and left without refuge.
15. Then the novice Cunda, who had spent
20. 3.

the rainy season at Pāvā, went to the venerable Ananda, and after paying homage to him he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the novice Cunda said to the venerable Ananda:

- Venerable sir, the Viganthā Nāthaputta has just died. On his death ... and left without a refuge.

10 When this was said, the venerable Ananda said to the novice Cunda:

- Friend Cunda, this ~~should~~ <sup>is</sup> news that should be told to the Blessed One for his information. Come, let us approach the Blessed One and tell him this.

15 - even so, venerable sir, the novice Cunda replied to the venerable Ananda.

41 Then the venerable Ananda and the novice Cunda went <sup>together</sup> to the Blessed One, and having paid homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, 245 the venerable Ananda said to the Blessed One:

- This novice Cunda, venerable sir, says thus: "Venerable sir, the Viganthā Nāthaputta has just died. On his death

10 ... and left without a refuge. I thought, venerable sir, let there be no disputes when the Blessed One has gone. Disputes are for the misfortune and unhappiness of many, for the harm, misfortune and <sup>suffering</sup> unhappiness of gods and men.



51

5. <sup>How</sup> <sup>correctly</sup> - What do you <sup>think</sup> Ananda; these <sup>ideas</sup> <sup>that</sup> <sup>you</sup> <sup>have</sup> <sup>discussed</sup> <sup>known</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>taught</sup> <sup>directly</sup> <sup>knowing</sup> <sup>them</sup> <sup>?</sup> <sup>That</sup> <sup>is</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>say</sup>, the Four Foundations of Mindfulness, the Four Right <sup>Endeavors</sup> <sup>(to</sup> <sup>control</sup> <sup>)</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Five</sup> <sup>Precepts</sup> <sup>for</sup> <sup>Success</sup>, the Five Families, the Five Powers, the Seven Enlightenment Factors, the Noble Eightfold Path - do you <sup>see</sup> <sup>even</sup> <sup>two</sup> <sup>whiskers</sup> <sup>that</sup> <sup>describe</sup> <sup>them</sup> <sup>?</sup> <sup>discordantly</sup> <sup>?</sup> <sup>Not</sup> <sup>reverend</sup> <sup>Sir</sup> <sup>?</sup> <sup>These</sup> <sup>things</sup> <sup>that</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Reverend</sup> <sup>Sir</sup>, <sup>that</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Blessed</sup> <sup>One</sup> <sup>has</sup> <sup>directly</sup> <sup>known</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>taught</sup>, <sup>that</sup> <sup>is</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>say</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Four</sup> <sup>Foundations</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>Mindfulness</sup>, <sup>(the</sup> <sup>Noble</sup> <sup>Eightfold</sup> <sup>Path</sup> <sup>-</sup> <sup>I</sup> <sup>do</sup> <sup>not</sup> <sup>see</sup> <sup>even</sup> <sup>two</sup> <sup>whiskers</sup> <sup>that</sup> <sup>describe</sup> <sup>them</sup> <sup>discordantly</sup>. <sup>But</sup>, <sup>these</sup> <sup>reverend</sup> <sup>Sir</sup>, <sup>there</sup> <sup>are</sup> <sup>people</sup> <sup>who</sup> <sup>live</sup> <sup>submissive</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Blessed</sup> <sup>One</sup> <sup>who</sup> <sup>might</sup>, <sup>when</sup> <sup>he</sup> <sup>has</sup> <sup>gone</sup>, <sup>create</sup> <sup>disputes</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Com-</sup> <sup>munity</sup> <sup>about</sup> <sup>livelihood</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>about</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Patimokkha</sup>. <sup>Such</sup> <sup>disputes</sup> <sup>would</sup> <sup>be</sup> <sup>for</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>misfortune</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>unhappiness</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>many</sup>, <sup>for</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>harm</sup>, <sup>misfortune</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>unhappiness</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>gods</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>men</sup>.

20. - Dispute about livelihood or about the Patimokkha is trifling, Ananda, <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>Community</sup> <sup>?</sup> <sup>But</sup> <sup>should</sup> <sup>dispute</sup> <sup>arise</sup> <sup>about</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>path</sup> <sup>or</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>way</sup>, <sup>such</sup> <sup>dispute</sup> <sup>would</sup> <sup>be</sup> <sup>for</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>misfortune</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>unhappiness</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>many</sup>, <sup>for</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>harm</sup>, <sup>misfortune</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>unhappiness</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>gods</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>men</sup>.

6. There are, Ananda, these six ~~are~~

sources of dispute. What six?

Here, Aranda, a thikkhu is angry and inimical. <sup>\* Such</sup> a thikkhu <sup>in</sup> who is angry and ~~inimical~~ behaves disdawns in disrespect and unobmissiveness towards the Master, <sup>\* towards</sup> the <sup>True Idea</sup> ~~Community~~, <sup>\* towards</sup> the Community; <sup>and</sup> 246, he does not carry out the training. He creates disputes in the Community.

10 Now if you should see in your selves or externally any ~~such~~ source of dispute such as could be for the misfortune and ~~unhappi-~~ness of many, for the harm, misfortune and ~~unhappiness~~ <sup>sufferings</sup> of gods and men, you should strive to abandon that ~~same~~ evil source of dispute. And if you ~~should~~ not see in your selves or externally any ~~source~~ such source of dispute, you should practise in such a way that that <sup>same</sup> evil source of dispute is impotent in the future. Thus there is the abandoning of that evil source of dispute: thus there is the future impotence of that evil source of dispute.

7. Again, a thikkhu is contemptuous and domineering . . . .

8. Again, a thikkhu is envious and avaricious . . . .

9. Again, a thikkhu is deceitful and fraudulent . . . .

10. Again a thikkhu has evil wishes and wrong view . . . .





13. There are, Ananda, these seven kinds of settlement of litigation. ~~Whatsoever~~ for the settlement and pacification of litigations whenever they arise: removal [of litigation] by confrontation <sup>can be adjudged</sup>, removal [of litigation] on account of memory <sup>can be adjudged</sup>, removal [of litigation] on account of non-injury <sup>can be adjudged</sup>, <sup>to be adjudged</sup>, <sup>the pronouncement of a majority</sup>, opinion of a majority, pronouncement of bad character against someone, covering over with sin.

14. And <sup>how is there</sup> ~~what is~~ removal [of litigation] by confrontation? Here bhikkhus are disputing: 'It is Dhamma,' or 'it is not Dhamma,' or 'it is discipline,' or 'it is not discipline.' Those bhikkhus should <sup>all</sup> meet together in concord. <sup>They</sup> ~~Having~~ meeting together, the thread of the Dhamma should be fully worked out. <sup>it is settled there by</sup> ~~According as~~ <sup>working out</sup> the thread of the Dhamma has been worked out, so that litigation should be settled. Such <sup>is</sup> the removal [of litigation] by confrontation. And so there comes to be the settlement of some litigations here by removal of [litigation] by confrontation.

15. And <sup>how is there</sup> ~~what is~~ the opinion of a majority? If those bhikkhus cannot settle that litigation in that dwelling place, they should go to a dwelling place where there is a greater number of bhikkhus. There they should all meet together in concord. <sup>They</sup> ~~Having~~ meeting together, ~~they should~~ the



thread of the Dhamma should be worked out. According as it is settled there by working out the thread of the Dhamma, so that litigation should be settled. Such is the opinion of a majority. And so there comes to be the settlement of some litigations here by the opinion of a majority.

16. And how is there removal of litigation on account of memory? Here a bhikkhu questions a bhikkhu about ~~some~~ <sup>such and such a</sup> grave offence, a defeat, or something bordering on defeat; "Does the venerable one remember ~~to have~~ having committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on a defeat?" He says: "I do not, friends, remember having committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat." <sup>243</sup> In his case removal [of litigation] on account of memory should be pronounced. Such is the removal of litigation on account of memory. And so there comes to be the settlement of some litigations here by removal of litigation by account of memory.
17. And how is there removal of litigation on account of non-insanity? Here a bhikkhu questions a bhikkhu about such and such a grave offence, a defeat, or something bordering on defeat: "Does the venerable one remember having committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat?" He says: "I do not, friends, remember having committed such

and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat." Notwithstanding the denial, he presses him further: "Surely the Venerable one must know quite well ~~whether he has~~ <sup>if he remembers having</sup> committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat?" He says: "I was ~~ready~~ <sup>mad</sup> friend, I was out of my mind, and in my ~~madness~~ <sup>madness</sup> I said and did many things improper for a monk. I do not remember. I was mad when I did it." In his case removal [of litigation] on account of non-insanity should be pronounced. Such is the removal [of litigation] on account of non-insanity. And so there comes to be the settlement of some litigation here by the removal [of litigation] on account of non-insanity.

18. And how is there recognition of an offence effected? Here a bhikkhu, whether questioned or not questioned, remembers an offence and reveals it, discloses it. He should go to a senior bhikkhu, and, arranging his robe on one shoulder, he should pay homage at his feet, and, sitting on his heels, he should raise his hands palms together and say: "Venerable Sir, I have committed such and such an offence; I confess it." The other says: "Do you see?" — "I see" — "Will you practise restraint in the future?" — "I will practise restraint in the future." Such is the effecting of acknowledgment [of an offence].



15 And so there comes to be the settlement of  
 some obligations by the offering of a known  
 quantity of an ounce, 249

19. And how is there [pronouncement of]  
 bad character against someone? Here a bhikkhu  
 questions a bhikkhu about such and such a  
 grave offence, a defeat or something bordering  
 on defeat: "Does the venerable One remember  
 having committed such and such a grave of-  
 fence, a defeat or something bordering on de-  
 feat?" He says: "I do not, friends, remember  
 having committed such and such a grave of-  
 fence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat."  
 Notwithstanding the denial, he presses him  
 further: "Surely the venerable one must know  
 quite well if he ~~has~~ <sup>remembers having</sup> committed such and  
 such a grave offence, a defeat or something  
 bordering on defeat?" He says: "I do not,  
 friends, remember having committed such and  
 such a grave offence, a defeat or something  
 bordering on defeat. But, friends, I remember  
 such and such having committed such and  
 such a minor offence." Notwithstanding the  
 denial, he presses him further: "Surely the  
 venerable one must know quite well if he ~~has~~  
 committed such and such a grave offence, a  
 defeat or something bordering on defeat?"  
 He says: "Friends, I shall acknowledge, <sup>when</sup> ~~that~~ not  
 asked, having committed this minor offence,  
 how shall I not acknowledge, when asked, such

And such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat?" He says: "Friends, you will not acknowledge, when not asked, having committed this minor offence; how will you acknowledge, when asked, having committed ~~the~~ such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat? Only the venerable one must know quite well if he remembers having committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat?" He says: "I remember, friends, <sup>having</sup> committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat. I was hurried, I was flurried, when I said that I did not remember having committed such and such a grave offence, a defeat or something bordering on defeat." Such is the pronouncement of his character against some one. And so there comes to be the settlement of some litigation here by pronouncement of his character against ~~some one~~. 250

20. And how is there Covering over with Grass? Here thibklus who have taken to brawling, wrangling, disputing, have said and done many things improper for a mouth. These thibklus should all meet together <sup>in accord</sup>. When they have met together, the wisest of the ~~group~~ <sup>thibklus</sup> should rise from his seat, <sup>and</sup> <sup>after</sup> arranging his robe on one shoulder, he should raise his hands



10 palms together and ~~call~~<sup>call</sup> in enactment  
 of the Order thus: "Let the venerable Order  
 hear me. We, who have taken to brawling,  
 15 straggling, and disputing, have said and  
 done many things improper for a monk. If  
~~it~~ it is approved by the Order, <sup>then</sup> for the good  
 of these venerable ones and for my own good,  
 I would ~~pronounce~~<sup>confess</sup> in the midst of the Order  
 better covering over with grass ~~the~~ offences  
 of these venerable ones and of my own, except  
 20 for what merits serious censure and except  
 for what ~~is associated~~<sup>has to do</sup> with the laity." Then the  
 wisest of the ~~Order~~<sup>Order</sup> ~~of the~~<sup>Order</sup> ~~of the~~<sup>Order</sup> ~~of the~~<sup>Order</sup> ~~of the~~<sup>Order</sup>  
 should rise from his seat alone, and, <sup>after</sup> arranging  
 his robe on one shoulder, he should raise his  
 25 hands ~~together~~ palms together and call in  
 enactment of the Order thus: "Let the vener-  
 able Order hear me. We who have taken to  
 brawling, straggling, and disputing, have  
 said and done many things improper for a  
 30 monk. If it is approved by the Order, then  
 for the good of these venerable and for my  
 own good, I would confess in the midst of the  
 Order the offences of these venerable ones  
 and of my own for the covering over with  
 35 grass, except for what merits serious censure  
 and what ~~is associated~~<sup>has to do</sup> with the  
 laity." Such is the Covering Over with Grass.  
 And so there comes to be the settlement  
 of some litigation by the Covering Over with  
 Grass.



21 There are, Shanda, these six mem-  
orable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that create love and respect,  
and conduce to helpfulness, to non-dispute,  
to concord, <sup>and</sup> to unity. What six? <sup>as the</sup> maintains ~~but~~

<sup>acts</sup> Here ~~is~~ a Shikkuh ~~has~~ <sup>maintains</sup> the habit  
of ~~lovingkindness~~ <sup>in his verbal</sup> ~~acts~~  
~~with~~ ~~openly~~ ~~to~~ ~~his~~ ~~fellows~~ ~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~public~~ ~~life~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~. This is a  
memorable thing that creates love and res-  
pect, and conduces to helpfulness, to  
non-dispute, to concord, <sup>and</sup> to unity.

Again a Shikkuh ~~has~~ <sup>maintains</sup> the habit  
of ~~lovingkindness~~ <sup>in his verbal</sup> ~~acts~~  
... in his mental <sup>acts</sup> ...

15 Again a Shikkuh ~~who~~ is one who does X  
of Hsharig ~~among~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~his~~ ~~fellows~~ ~~in~~  
~~the~~ ~~virtuous~~ ~~company~~ ~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~life~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~  
~~the~~ ~~gain~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~ ~~life~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~  
~~even~~ ~~including~~ ~~what~~ ~~is~~ ~~in~~ ~~his~~ ~~book~~, ~~to~~  
~~be~~ ~~in~~ ~~common~~ ~~with~~ ~~them~~. This too is  
a memorable thing that creates love and  
respect, and conduces to helpfulness, to  
non-dispute, to concord, to unity.

Again a Shikkuh ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~one~~ ~~who~~ ~~does~~  
of such virtues as are unbroken, untroubled,  
unblotched, unsmotted, liberating, <sup>commended</sup> ~~praised~~ by  
the wise, not ~~adhered~~ <sup>not adhered</sup> to, and conducive to  
concentration. <sup>both</sup> ~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~life~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~  
~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~life~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~land~~ ~~and~~ ~~in~~ ~~private~~ this too is a  
memorable thing that creates love and res-  
pect, and conduces to helpfulness, to non-



dispute, to concord, to unity.

to gain a ~~childhood~~ <sup>in public</sup> before  
 his fellows in the life of <sup>public</sup> ~~public~~ and <sup>in pri-</sup>  
 vate ~~(souls possessed)~~ of such view as is noble  
 and an outlet, as ~~again~~ <sup>again</sup> rightly to the destruc-  
 tion of suffering in him who practices it. This  
 too is a memorable thing that creates love and  
 respect, and conduces to helpfulness, to non-dispute,  
 to concord, <sup>and</sup> to unity.

These are the six memorable <sup>things</sup> that  
 create love and respect, and conduce to help-  
 fulness, to non-dispute, to concord, to unity.

22. It, Ananda, you undertake and main-  
 tain these six memorable things, do you see  
 the mode of speech, trivial or gross, that you  
 would not endure?

- No, Venerable Sir.

- Therefore, Ananda, undertake and main-  
 tain these six memorable things. That will  
 be long for your welfare and happiness.

So the Blessed One said. The Venerable  
 Ananda was <sup>delighted</sup> ~~delighted~~ and ~~rejoiced~~ ~~at his words~~.  
 He agreed with the Blessed One's words.

Notes

§5 The meaning of adhi in "ajjhājivā" and "adhi pātimokkhe" is obviously "about" or "over", etc. (see Comy) and ust in the sense of "adhi silā (the higher virtue)."

§16f. It seems desirable to read in each case "28h' Ananda bhikkhū bhikkhūni ... ca deti:" otherwise there is difficulty with the "so" in §17 in "Tam enaṃ so nibbethantani etivetheti." "so" must refer to the questioning bhikkhū (not bhikkhūs in pl.) and "tam enaṃ" to the bhikkhū questioned.

§21 "One who does not share <sup>use</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>reservedly</sup> ~~some~~ (appativibhattabhogī) & i.e. who in his sharing does not make <sup>any</sup> reserved about persons or things. This follows the commentary. P.T.S. has a different interpretation, but it requires a negative which is not in the text here or elsewhere where the phrase occurs.

§17 These pronouncements are dealt with in Vin. Cūlavagga Khandhaka 4, and Sutta-vibhanga 17 adhikāyana Samāthā. (Vin. 11, 20) Cf. A. vol. iv, 347.



1. <sup>251</sup> Thus I heard:  
The Blessed One ~~was~~ <sup>of course</sup> ~~was~~ the Blessed One ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> living at Vesālī in the Great Wood (Mahāvana) in the Gabled Hall.

2. ~~Not~~ <sup>Not</sup> that ~~some~~ <sup>some</sup> final knowledge had been declared by many bhikkhus in the Blessed One's presence: Birth is destroyed, the life of purity has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come - so I understand.

3. Sunakkhatta the Licchavi heard: It seems that final knowledge has been declared by many bhikkhus in the Blessed One's presence: Birth is destroyed, the life of purity has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come - so I understand.

Then Sunakkhatta the Licchavi went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, Sunakkhatta the Licchavi said to the Blessed One:

4. - It seems that final knowledge has been declared by many bhikkhus in the Blessed One's presence: Birth is destroyed, the life of purity has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come - so I understand. Now the bhikkhus, venerable Sir, who declare final knowledge in the Blessed One's presence: Birth is destroyed \* thus \*, do they ~~all~~



declare final knowledge rightly, or are there some bhikkhus here who declare final knowledge owing to overestimation?

5. - ~~Some~~ Some of the bhikkhus, Sumanakhatta, who declare final knowledge in my presence; "Birth is destroyed, the life of purity has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come," do so rightly, but some bhikkhus do so owing to overestimation. Herein when bhikkhus declare final knowledge rightly, it is thus for them. But when bhikkhus declare final knowledge owing to overestimation, the Perfect One thinks thus about them: "Let me teach them the Dhamma." So it is, here, Sumanakhatta; the Perfect One thinks: "Let me teach them the Dhamma." But then certain misguided men here formulate a question, and they come to the Perfect One ~~to~~ ask it. Now, Sumanakhatta, <sup>253</sup> though the Perfect One thinks thus "let me teach them the Dhamma," yet he comes to think otherwise.

6. - This is the time, Blessed One, this is the time Sublime One, for the Blessed One to teach the Dhamma. Having heard it from the Blessed One, the bhikkhus will bear it in mind.

- Then hear, Sumanakhatta, and attend carefully to what I shall say.







left that village or town, ~~he would~~ <sup>would</sup> ask that man about the well-being of that village or town, about its state of plenty, its health, and that man ~~would~~ <sup>would</sup> tell him about it. ~~What do you think, sunakalhatta,~~ <sup>What do you think,</sup> would that man hear, give ear, ~~prepare~~ <sup>enter to think</sup> his mind ~~for~~ <sup>for</sup> knowledge? Would he frequent that man, and find satisfaction through him?

~~— Given so, Venerable Sir, —~~

~~— So too, it is possible ... finds no satisfaction through him.~~

So he should be known as a person not bound by the fetters of the imperturbable who esteems ~~the~~ worldly things.

10. It is possible that some person here may ~~be~~ <sup>be</sup> ~~esteems~~ <sup>the</sup> imperturbable. When a person ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~esteems~~ <sup>the</sup> imperturbable, only talk of that kind interests him, and he thinks and ~~meditates~~ <sup>meditates</sup> ~~conformably~~ <sup>conformably</sup> with that, he frequents that kind of man, and he finds satisfaction through him. But when ~~there is~~ <sup>there is</sup> talk about worldly things ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> being uttered, he will not hear, or give ear, or ~~prepare~~ <sup>prepare</sup> his mind ~~for~~ <sup>for</sup> knowledge, he does not frequent that kind of man, and he finds no satisfaction through him.

11. ~~Suppose I~~ <sup>Suppose I</sup> ~~am~~ <sup>am</sup> a yellow leaf, ~~incapable~~ <sup>incapable</sup> of becoming green again; so too, when a person ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~esteems~~ <sup>the</sup> imperturbable, ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> fetters ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~he has~~ <sup>he has</sup> ~~shackles~~ <sup>shackles</sup>.



worldly material ~~sexual desires~~.

~~worldly things~~ is loose. things.

20. he should be known as a person not bound by the fetter of worldly things who esteems the imperturbable.

12. It is possible that some person here may esteem the base consisting of nothingness. When a person esteems the base consisting of nothingness, only talk of that kind interests him, and his thinking and ~~speech~~ <sup>explains</sup> in conformity with that, he frequents that kind of man, and he finds satisfaction through him. But when talk about the imperturbable ~~is being uttered~~, he will not hear, or give ear, or <sup>prepare</sup> his mind ~~for~~ knowledge. He does not frequent that kind of man, and he finds no satisfaction through him.

13. ~~That~~ <sup>cracked</sup> ~~stone~~ <sup>broken</sup> in two cannot be ~~rejoined~~ <sup>rejoined</sup> so too, when a person esteems the base consisting of nothingness his fetter of the imperturbable is ~~broken~~ <sup>broken</sup>.

so he should be known as a person not bound by the fetter of the imperturbable who esteems the base consisting of nothingness.

14. It is possible that some person here may esteem the base consisting of neither-perception nor non-perception. When a person esteems the base consisting of neither-perception nor non-perception, only talk of that kind interests him, and his thinking and ~~speech~~ <sup>explains</sup> in line with that, he frequents that kind of man, and he



finds satisfaction through him. But when <sup>they are</sup> talk about the base consisting of nothingness, ~~is uttered~~, he will not hear, or give ear, or ~~prepare~~ <sup>establish</sup> his mind <sup>for</sup> knowledge; he does not frequent that kind of man, and he finds no satisfaction through him.

15. ~~Suppose~~ <sup>Just as</sup> a man <sup>who had eaten</sup> some <sup>delicious</sup> food and thrown it up - what do you think, Sunakkhatta, would that man have any desire to eat that food again? - No, venerable sir. Why is that? Because, venerable sir, that food is reckoned as repulsive. - So too, when a person esteems the base consisting of neither-perception - nor - non-perception, his father of the base consisting of nothingness is rejected.

So he should be known as a person not bound by the father of the base consisting of nothingness who esteems the base consisting of neither-perception - nor - non-perception.

16. It is possible that some person here may ~~esteem~~ rightly esteem nibbana. When a person rightly esteems nibbana, only talk of that kind interests him, and his thinking and ~~exploring~~ <sup>exploring</sup> is in line with that, he frequents that kind of man, and he finds satisfaction through him. But when <sup>there is</sup> talk about the base consisting of neither-perception - nor - non-perception, ~~is uttered~~ <sup>is uttered</sup>, he will not hear, or give ear, or ~~prepare~~ <sup>establish</sup> his mind <sup>for</sup> know.



ledge, he does not frequent that kind of man, and he finds no satisfaction through him.

17. I ~~suppose~~ <sup>Just as</sup> a palm tree ~~with~~ its top cut off, ~~it~~ is incapable of growing, so too, when a person rightly esteems nibbāna, his fetter of the base consisting of neither-perception nor non-perception is cut off, cut off at the root, made like a palm stump, made non-existent, not subject to arising in the future.

So he should be known as a person not bound by the fetter of the base consisting of neither-perception nor non-perception who rightly esteems nibbāna.

18. It is possible that some bhikkhu here might think thus: "Craving is called a dart by the Monk. The poisonous humour of ignorance shows its disturbedness by desire and greed and by ill will. That dart of craving is abandoned in me. The poisonous humour of ignorance is expelled. I am one who rightly esteems nibbāna." Now as one who has overestimated what is not actually true, he would resort to things unsuitable to one who rightly esteemed nibbāna. He would resort to unsuitable seeing of visible objects with the eye, he would resort to unskillful

hunger with some M. 105

liability to arising (if its effect) still remaining <sup>not</sup> <sub>he would resort to unsuitable & do with the</sub>

able sounds with the ear, he would resort to unsuitable tastes with the tongue, he would resort to unsuitable tangible objects with the body, he would resort to unsuitable mental objects with the mind. When he did so, greed would infect his mind. With his mind infected by greed he would incur death and deadly suffering.

19. Suppose a man were <sup>wounded</sup> pierced by a dart thickly smeared with poison; then his friends and companions, relatives and kin, brought a ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~dart~~ <sup>surgeon</sup> ~~surgeon~~ <sup>physician</sup> and the ~~poisoned~~ <sup>poisoned</sup> ~~dart~~ <sup>surgeon</sup> ~~surgeon~~ <sup>physician</sup> cut round the wound's orifice with a knife; and when he had cut round the wound's orifice with a knife, he probed for the dart with a probe; and having probed for the dart with a probe, <sup>257</sup> he pulled out the dart, and he ~~expelled~~ <sup>expelled</sup> ~~some~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>some</sup> ~~poisonous~~ <sup>poisonous</sup> ~~humour~~ <sup>humour</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~knowing~~ <sup>knowing</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~some~~ <sup>some</sup> ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> ~~left~~ <sup>left</sup>, he said: "Good man your dart has been pulled out, the poisonous humour has been expelled, <sup>with</sup> ~~leaving~~ <sup>some</sup> ~~some~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~some~~ <sup>some</sup> ~~trace~~ <sup>trace</sup> ~~left~~ <sup>left</sup> enough to be a danger to you. Eat only suitable food lest, through your eating unsuitable food, the wound should suppurate. Wash the wound from time to time, and annoint the wound's orifice from time to time + lest, if you do not, wash the wound from time to time and annoint the wound's orifice from time to time, pus and blood <sup>should</sup> clot the wound's orifice. And do not go



walking in the wind and sun, least by ~~falling~~<sup>\* doing so \*</sup> in the wind and sun, dust and chaff <sup>shall</sup> infect the wound's orifice. You must live to guard your wound, good man, to ~~heal~~ <sup>heal</sup> your wound."

20. He thought: "My dart has been pulled out, the poisonous humour <sup>has been</sup> expelled with some <sup>trace</sup> left, ~~but not~~ <sup>but not</sup> enough to be a danger to me." ~~And~~ <sup>and</sup> he ate <sup>only</sup> unsuitable food, and through his eating unsuitable food the wound suppurated. He did not wash the wound from time or another the wound's ~~orifice~~ <sup>orifice</sup> from time to time, and, through his not ~~washing~~ <sup>\* doing so \*</sup> the wound from time to time and not ~~annointing~~ <sup>annointing</sup> the wound's orifice from time to time, pus and blood clotted the wound's orifice. And he went walking in the wind and sun, and, through his <sup>\* doing so \*</sup> walking in the wind and sun, dust and ~~chaff~~ <sup>chaff</sup> infected the wound's orifice. And he did not live to guard his wound, to ~~heal~~ <sup>heal</sup> his wound. Then, ~~through~~ <sup>both</sup> through his doing, ~~what~~ <sup>what</sup> was unsuitable, and <sup>owing</sup> to the foul poisonous humour <sup>that</sup> ~~was~~ <sup>having</sup> ~~been~~ <sup>being</sup> expelled with some left behind, his wound swelled, and with its swelling he incurred death or deadly suffering.

21. So too, it is possible that some thick-kn<sup>ed</sup> here might think thus: "Craving is called a dart by the ~~Book~~. The poisonous humour of ignorance shows its disturbedness by desire and greed and by ill will. That dart



of craving is abandoned in me. <sup>258</sup> The poisonous humour of ignorance is expelled. I am one who rightly esteems nibbana. ~~Now as one who has~~ ~~misapprehended~~ ~~overestimated~~ what was not actually true, he might resort to things unsuitable. . . with his mind infected with greed, he might incur death or deadly suffering.

22. For it is death in the Noble One's discipline when one renounces the training and reverts to what has been abandoned. And it is deadly suffering when one commits some defiling offense.

23. It is possible that some bhikkhu here might think thus: "Craving is called a dart by the monk. The poisonous humour of ignorance shows its disturbedness by desire and greed and by it will. That dart of craving is abandoned in me. The poisonous humour of ~~ignorance~~ is expelled. I am one who rightly esteems nibbana; being one who rightly esteems nibbana, he would not resort to things unsuitable to one who rightly esteems nibbana. He would ~~not~~ resort to unsuitable seeing of visible objects with the eye, he would ~~not~~ resort to unsuitable sounds with the ear, he would not resort to unsuitable odours with the nose, he would not resort to unsuitable flavours with the tongue, he would not resort to unsuit-



able tangible objects with the body, he would not resort to unsuitable mental objects with the mind. When\* he did not do so\* greed would not infect his mind<sup>259</sup>. With his mind uninfected by greed he would not incur death and deadly suffering.

24. Suppose a man were pierced by a dart thickly smeared with poison; then his friends and companions, relatives and kin, brought a poisoned-dart surgeon, and the poisoned-dart surgeon cut round the wound's orifice with a knife; and when he had cut round the wound's orifice with a knife, he probed for the dart with a probe; and having probed for the dart with a probe, he pulled out the dart; and he expelled the poisonous humour with ~~leaving~~ <sup>with no trace left</sup> ~~leaving~~ <sup>left</sup> behind. And knowing that none was left behind, he said: "Good man, your dart has been pulled out. The poisonous humour has been expelled, <sup>with no trace left</sup> ~~leaving none~~ <sup>left</sup> behind, not enough to be a danger to you. Eat only suitable food lest, through your eating unsuitable food, the wound should suppurate. Wash the wound from time to time, and anoint the wound's orifice from time to time, lest, if you\* do not,\* wash the wound from time to time and anoint the wound's orifice from time to time, pus and blood **should** clot the wound's orifice.

And do not go walking in the wind and sun lest, by <sup>not</sup> doing so, dust and chaff ~~should~~ infect the wound's orifice. You must take to guard your wound, good man, to heal your wound."

25. He thought: "My dart has been pulled out, the poisonous humour has been expelled with ~~no~~ <sup>no</sup> ~~left~~ <sup>left</sup> behind, not enough to be a danger to me". He ate only suitable food, and, through his eating ~~the~~ suitable food, the wound did not suppurate. He washed the wound from time to time and anointed the wound's orifice from time to time, and, through his <sup>not</sup> doing so, pus and blood did not clot the wound's orifice. And he did not go walking in the wind and sun, and, through his <sup>not</sup> doing so, dust and chaff did not infect the wound's orifice. And he did to guard his wound, to heal his wound. Then, both through his doing what was suitable and owing to the foul poisonous humour's having been expelled with none left behind, his wound healed, and ~~when~~ it was healed and covered with skin, he ~~neither~~ incurred neither death nor deadly suffering.

26. So too it is possible that some thickets here might think thus: "Craving is called a dart by the Monk. <sup>260</sup> The poisonous humour of ignorance shows its dis-



burnedness by desire and greed and by ill will. That dart of craving is abandoned in me. The poisonous humour of ignorance is expelled. I am one who rightly esteems Subhāna." Being one who rightly esteems Subhāna, he would not resort to things unsuitable... with his mind uninfected by greed, he would not incur death or deadly suffering.

27. This simile has been given by me, Suddakkhatta, in order to make known a meaning. This is the meaning here: "Wound" is a term for the six internal bases. "Poisonous humour" is a term for ignorance. "Dart" is a term for craving. "Probe" is a term for mindfulness. "Knife" is a term for ~~that~~ understanding. "Poisoned-dart surgeon" is a term for the Perfect One, the Accomplished Fully Enlightened One.

28. It is not possible, when, Suddakkhatta, ~~that~~ a bhikkhu ~~who~~ practices restraint in the ~~the~~ bases of contact, ~~who~~ is without substratum of becoming, liberated with the destruction of ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~substratum~~ <sup>stuff</sup> of becoming through seeing ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~substratum~~ <sup>stuff</sup> of becoming as the root of suffering, ~~should~~ it is not possible that he would either employ his body or bestir his mind about a ~~sub~~ <sup>stuff</sup>.

structure of becoming.

29. Suppose there were a <sup>cup</sup> ~~glass~~ of drink with colour, smell and taste, and it were mixed with poison, and then a man came who wanted to live, not to die, and shrank from pain, what do you think Sumanakkhatha? Would that man drink that cup of drink ~~if~~ <sup>when</sup> he knew that if he drank it he would incur death or deadly suffering? - No, Venerable sir. 261 - So too, when a bhikkhu practices restraint in the six bases of contact, is without ~~substance~~ <sup>the essentials</sup> of ~~existence~~ <sup>existence</sup>, liberated with the ~~abandonment~~ <sup>extinction</sup> of ~~the essentially~~ <sup>essentially</sup> ~~existence~~ <sup>existence</sup>, through seeing the ~~essentially~~ <sup>essentially</sup> of ~~becoming~~ <sup>existence</sup> as the root of suffering, it is not possible that he would employ his body or bestir his mind about ~~any essential~~ <sup>any essential</sup> ~~substance~~ <sup>substance</sup> of becoming existence.

30. Suppose there were an extremely poisonous snake; and then a man came who wanted to live, not to die and shrank from pain, what do you <sup>think</sup> ~~think~~ Sumanakkhatha, would that man ~~let~~ <sup>take</sup> that extremely poisonous snake ~~have~~ <sup>take</sup> his hand or his thumb when he knew that if he were bitten by it he would incur death or deadly suffering? - No, venerable sir. - So too, when a bhikkhu practices restraint in the six bases of contact,



is without <sup>any essential</sup> ~~substantive~~ <sup>existence</sup> ~~of becoming~~, liberated  
 with the <sup>exhaustion</sup> ~~destruction~~ of <sup>essential</sup> ~~substantive~~ <sup>existence</sup> ~~of becoming~~,  
 through seeing the <sup>essential</sup> ~~substantive~~ <sup>existence</sup> ~~of becoming~~  
 as the root of suffering, it is not possible  
 that he would employ his body or feel  
 his mind about any <sup>essential</sup> ~~substantive~~ <sup>existence</sup> ~~of becoming~~.

So the blessed One said. Bhauka-  
khatta the ticchari was <sup>delighted</sup> ~~satisfied~~ and they  
<sup>agreed with</sup> ~~joined~~ at his words.

Notes § 3 Sunakkhatta's troubles are re-  
 corded in D. Sutta 24 and M. Sutta 12  
 (§ 8 only ammicara not ammicari)  
 is in P.T.S. Dict. (<sup>"meditation"</sup>)

§ 11 For the form and construction: "ye  
lokamisa samyojane se pavatte ("his fetter  
 of worldly things is loosed"), and similar con-  
 structions in §§ 13, 15 and 17, cf. D. vol. II, 278  
 and P.T.S. Dict under ye and sa. There, how-  
 ever ye and se are called neuter accusative,  
 but they appear to be neuter nominative<sup>sup.</sup>  
 if accusative, what word governs them?

§ 18 "Now as one who has overestimated  
 what is <sup>not</sup> actually true": The best <sup>to be made</sup> of the various  
 readings would seem to be "eranimani assa  
atatham samanam."

§ 19 The "surgeon" is a simile for the

perfect one (see § 27), so the similes  
 reading vedhānāno ("he fancies roughly")  
 seems inappropriate and the Samskṛta  
 "jānāno" ~~is not~~. But the sense requires  
~~that~~ saupādisa ("leaving some behind")  
 throughout this para instead anupādi-  
śa ("leaving none behind"). Cf. the  
 counter simile in § 24. But Si. reads  
anupādiśa. However, The Perfect One  
 cannot either ~~imagine~~ <sup>fancy</sup> or "know" what is  
 not a fact.

§ 21 "How as one who has  
~~the thought~~ <sup>overestimated</sup> what  
 has not actually true; see note to § 18.

§ 19 "pulled out" (abbakheyya): see  
 note to Sutta 101 § 7.

"anāvī - suppressing' ud in P's

Dict.

saupādiśa — anupādiśa

Cf upādiśa dharmā (dhs p. 2, 187, 141)  
 and Iti 38)

§ 30 dajja (p. dadā) ud P's Dict.  
dadāyya



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 106 - Anāya Sappāya Sutta  
(3, 1, 6)

1. This I heard.  
On one occasion the Blessed One was <sup>living</sup> in the Kurus Country. There is a town of the Kurus called Kammasādamma, and there ~~the Blessed One~~ <sup>he</sup> addressed the bhikkhus thus - « Bhikkhus » - « Venerable Sir » they ~~replied~~ <sup>replied</sup>. The Blessed One said this.

2. « <sup>Bhikkhus,</sup> Sensual desires are impermanent, ~~short-lived~~, false, false-natured, made up of illusion, and foetus' talk.

Sensual desires here and now, and sensual desires in lives to come, <sup>262</sup> perceptions of sensual desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, are alike Māra's realm, Māra's domain, Māra's bait, Māra's hunting ground. Evil unprofitable ideas of covetousness and ill will and ambition ~~about them~~ lead on [to rebirth] <sup>here [in the sensual desire of here]</sup> and they obstruct the training of a noble disciple <sup>here</sup>.

3. Now, <sup>the Aśroptera</sup> bhikkhus, a noble disciple considers thus: « Sensual desires here and now and sensual desires in lives to come, perceptions of sensual desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, are alike Māra's realm, Māra's domain, Māra's bait, Māra's hunting ground. Evil.



When they acquire being  
it is as an obstruction, for

N. 106

unprofitable ideas of covetousness and  
ill will and ambition ~~about them~~ lead  
on [to rebirth], <sup>here in the sensory desire system</sup> and ~~the obstacle to the train-~~  
~~ing of a noble disciple here.~~ <sup>training</sup> What if I abide  
suppose I were to abide with will ~~and~~  
abounding and exalted by transcending  
the world ~~of the five hindrances of sensual~~  
~~desire~~ and resolving with the mind,  
\* then \* there would be no more evil  
unprofitable <sup>notions</sup> ideas of covetousness and ill  
will and ambition in me, and with the  
abandoning of them my cognizance would  
~~no longer~~ be limited no longer, it would  
become measureless and would become  
well-developed ~~too~~ maintained in being too?

When he enters upon <sup>this</sup> ~~the~~ way and  
~~cultivates it~~ abides in it often, his cog-  
nizance acquires confidence in this base.  
~~Once it has become fully confident~~ Once  
there is full confidence, then he either  
~~aims at~~ enters upon the way to [rebirth  
in] the Imperturbable, or else he decides  
to [perfect] understanding [by reaching  
Arahantship]. On the dissolution of the  
the body, after death, it is possible that  
that conscious <sup>of his</sup> ~~self~~ which ~~had made the~~  
~~Imperturbable~~ ~~its~~ leads on [to rebirth],  
may pass on [upon rebirth] to [one of] the  
Imperturbable [states]. This is <sup>called</sup> the first  
way directed to the Imperturbable.



~~Imperturbable State~~

Again a noble disciple considers thus: Sensual desires here and now and sensual desires in lives to come, perceptions of sensual desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, ~~the~~ <sup>at all in</sup> forms ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> the four great entities and <sup>nothing</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>form</sup> ~~permanently~~ to the four great entities.

When he enters upon that way and abides in it often, his cognizance acquires confidence in this base. Once there is full confidence, then he either enters upon the way to [rebirth in] the Imperturbable, or else he decides to [perfect] understanding [by reaching Brahmanship]. On the dissolution of the body, after death, it is possible that that consciousness of his, which leads on [to rebirth], may pass on [upon rebirth] to [one of] the Imperturbable [states]. This is called the second way directed to the Imperturbable.

~~Imperturbable Consciousness~~

5. 263 Again a noble disciple considers thus: Sensual desires here and now and sensual desires in lives to come, perceptions of sensual desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, forms here and now and forms in lives to come, perceptions of form here and now and perceptions of form in lives to come, are all impermanent. What is impermanent is not worth <sup>not wanting</sup> ~~delighting in~~, not worth <sup>not wanting</sup> ~~welcoming~~, not worth accepting.

When he enters upon that way and abides in it often, his cognizance acquires confidence in this base. Once there is full confidence, then he either enters upon the way to [rebirth in] the Imperturbable, or else he decides to [perfect]



understanding [by reading Brahmahutship]. On the dissolution of the body, after death, it is possible that that consciousness of his, which leads on [to rebirth], may pass on [upon rebirth] to [one of] the  $\frac{2}{3}$  Imperturbable [states]. This is called the third way directed to the Imperturbable.

~~Next~~ **Abhyasa** I

6. Again a noble disciple considers thus: sensual desires here and now and sensual desires in lives to come, perceptions of sensual desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, forms here and now and forms in lives to come, perceptions of form here and now and perception of form in lives to come, perceptions of the Imperturbable — all are perceptions where these perceptions cease without remainder, that is [was] peaceful that is <sup>a superior</sup> the ~~sublime~~ goal, that is to say the base consisting of nothingness.

When he enters upon this way and abides in it often, his cognizance acquires confidence in this base. Once there is full confidence, then he either enters upon the way to [rebirth in] the ~~Imperturbable~~ <sup>base consisting of nothingness</sup>, or else he decides [to perfect] understanding [by reading Brahmahutship]. On the dissolution of the body, after death, it is possible that that consciousness of his, which leads on [to rebirth], may pass on [upon rebirth] to the base consisting of nothingness. This is called ~~the~~ first way directed to the base consisting of nothingness.



## Nothingness II

7. Again a noble disciple, gone to the forest or to the root of a tree or to an empty place, considers thus: 'This is void of self, or of ~~what belongs to~~ self's property'.

When he enters upon this way and abides in it often, his cognizance acquires confidence in this base. Once there is full confidence, then he either enters upon the way to [rebirth in] the base consisting of nothingness, or else he decides [to perfect] understanding [by reaching Arahanthood]. On the dissolution of the body, after death, it is possible that that consciousness of his, which leads on [to rebirth], may pass on [upon rebirth] to the base consisting of nothingness. This is <sup>called</sup> the second way directed to the base consisting of nothingness.

## Nothingness III

8. Again a noble disciple considers thus: 'I am not anywhere anyone's owning; nor is there anywhere my owning in anyone'.

When he enters upon this way and abides in it often... pass on [upon rebirth] to the base consisting of nothingness. This is called the third way directed to the base consisting of nothingness.

## Neither-perception nor non-perception

9. Again a noble disciple considers thus: 'Sensual desire here and now and sensual desire in lives to come; perceptions of sensual



desires here and now and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, form here and now and form in lives to come, perceptions of form here and now and perceptions of form in lives to come, perceptions of the Imperturbable, perceptions of the base consisting of nothingness, all are perceptions: where all these perceptions cease without remainder, that is <sup>[union]</sup> peaceful, that is the <sup>superior</sup> sublime goal, that is to say, the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

When he enters upon this way and abides in it often, his cognizance acquires confidence in this base. Once there is full confidence, then he either enters upon the way to [rebirth in] the base consisting in neither perception nor non-perception, or else he decides [to perfect] understanding [by reaching Brahmahship]. On the dissolution of the body, after death, it is possible that that consciousness of his, which leads on [to rebirth], may pass on [upon rebirth] to the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception. This is called the way ~~that~~ directed to the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

With Clinging there is no extinction

10. When this was said, the Venerable Ananda asked the Blessed One - « Venerable sir, here a blutcher, enters upon this way»



85

see 512°

'Had I not, <sup>seen</sup> naught would be mine; I shall not be, naught ~~had there not been, there would not have been for~~ will be ~~myself's~~ me; will ~~then~~ not be, ~~then~~ will not be for me'.

What there is, ~~that is~~, that I abandon', and thus he obtains outlooking. Venerable sir, ~~with~~ does ~~that~~ <sup>such a</sup> bhikkhu reach extinction? »

- « Perhaps one, <sup>such</sup> bhikkhu ~~will~~ might reach extinction, Ananda, perhaps another such bhikkhu might not reach extinction? ».

- « Venerable sir, what is the ~~cause~~, what is the reason, why one might and another might not? ».

see 512

- « Here Ananda, a bhikkhu enters upon this way, ~~had I not, naught would be mine; I shall~~ ~~had there not been, there would not~~ ~~not be, naught will be myself's~~ ~~have been for me; will then not be, there~~ will not be for me. What there is, what is, ~~that I~~ abandon', and thus he obtains outlooking. He delights in that outlooking, welcomes it and accepts it. When he ~~does~~ that ~~does~~: ~~that outlooking~~ than his consciousness depends on that ~~upon~~ outlooking, clings to it. A bhikkhu who is affected by clinging does not attain extinction, Ananda? ».

|| - « But, venerable sir, when that bhikkhu clings, what does he cling to? »

- « To the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, Ananda? ».

- « It seems, venerable sir, that when this bhikkhu clings, he clings to the best <sup>part</sup> of clinging? »

- « When this bhikkhu clings, Ananda,



he clings to the best [<sup>fuel for</sup> object of] clinging; for this is the best [<sup>fuel for</sup> object of] clinging, namely, the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

*Without clinging there is extinction*

12.

Here, Ananda, a bhikkhu enters upon this way, <sup>if it were not</sup> and naught <sup>had there not been</sup> there <sup>mine, it will not be, naught will be mine</sup> would not have been for me, ~~but there~~ ~~not be there will not be for me, what there~~ is, <sup>has come to be</sup> what I abandon, and thus he obtains onlooking. He does not <sup>rely</sup> delight in that onlooking or welcome it or accept it. When he <sup>does not</sup> does not do that, <sup>then his con-</sup> science <sup>depends</sup> depends on that onlooking or cling to it. A bhikkhu who is unaffected by clinging attains extinction, Ananda.

13.

It is wonderful, venerable sir, it is marvellous! For each stage [of attainment], ~~the crossing~~ it seems, the crossing of the flood has been told to us by the Blessed One. But, venerable sir, what is the Noble One's liberation?

Here, Ananda, a noble disciple considers thus: "Sensual desires here and now and sensual desires in lives to come, perceptions of sensual desires here and now, and perceptions of sensual desires in lives to come, forms here and now and forms in



lives to come, perceptions of form here and now and perceptions of form in lives to come, perceptions of Impermeability, perceptions of <sup>the base consisting of</sup> nothingness, perceptions of the base <sup>consisting of</sup> neither-perception - nor - non-perception - that is the <sup>embodiment</sup> ~~existing body~~ that is as far as ~~an individual~~ <sup>embodiment</sup> ~~the existing body~~ extends: [but] this is the deathless, that is to say, the liberation of cognizance through not-clinging.

14. So, Ananda, I have shown the way ~~that~~ directed to the Impermeable, I have <sup>shown</sup> ~~taught~~ the way ~~that~~ directed to the base consisting of nothingness, I have shown the way directed to the base consisting of neither-perception - nor - non-perception, I have shown ~~the way~~ for each stage [of attainment] the crossing of the flood, I have shown the noble ones' liberation.

15. Ananda, <sup>out of pity</sup> [What should be done for his disciples out of <sup>pity</sup> ~~compassion~~ by a master who seeks their welfare and his <sup>pity for them</sup> ~~compassionate~~ 266 that I have done for you, Ananda, there are these roots of trees, there are these empty <sup>houses</sup> ~~houses~~. <sup>Develop illumination</sup> Meditate, Ananda, do not delay lest you later regret it. This our

~~message for~~  
~~instruction to you.~~

That is what  
So the Blessed One said. The  
~~happened~~ were. Venerable Ananda was  
~~delighted~~  
~~with~~ <sup>delighted</sup> in the Blessed  
One's words.

Notes. §3  
Imperceptible (āneñja): a term used  
mostly for the four immaterial states, but  
here and in Sutta 105 for the 4<sup>th</sup> Form-  
sphere Absorption and only the 1<sup>st</sup> 2 Im-  
material states. Cf Sutta 4, §27.

For Resolve (adhittāna) see the 4  
kinds in Sutta 140, §12 and §20 (end).

For Transcend (abhibhūjja) see the  
4 Bases for Transcendence (abhibhūjyāna)  
in Sutta 77, §24 <sup>and note</sup> and the Transcender  
(Abhibhū) Sutta 1, §15.

For world (loka) see Sutta 10, §3  
and note, also Samyutta XXXV nos 90 and 116.

§7 In the expression "this is word of self",  
etc., cf Samyutta vol. II, 54 and Vis. 653.



§ 8 For the expression "I am not anywhere", etc.,  
cf. Anguttara vol. i, 206; ii, 177; iii, 170; and  
vi. 653-4 (reading kiñcaṇat'asmiṃ and  
kiñcaṇat'atthi, the form being nom. pl.

kiñcaṇata?) Note play on kiñcaṇata (= kiñcaṇa)  
and ākiñcaṇiṇā, which occurs also in a  
different form in Sutta 43, § 36. But cf. A. iii, 170  
*Mā me kvaṃsi kammāni kiñcaṇa rajjāmiṃsa dhammaṃ vāyo udapādi*

§ 10 For the expression "Had there not been",  
etc., cf. Saṃyutta vol. iii, 56 (explanation),  
~~183~~ 183 and 206; also  
Anguttara Sattaka-nip. no. 52 and Dasaka-nip.  
no 29 (vol. v, 63). Should one no c'assami...  
no bhavissami throughout?

These ~~stereotyped~~ expressions seem to have  
been stereotyped slogans or descriptions of  
the attainments of Nibbāna and Nibbāna-  
perception - no - non-perception, primarily  
non-Buddhist, and sometimes used as a  
basis for the existing-body view.

§ 11 'best [qual for] clinging' for this reading  
See note to Sutta 11 § 17

Read probably:

~~no ce amā~~  
no ce amā (amāsi) na ca me siyā; na bha-  
vissati (bhavissāmi) na ca me bhavissati; yaḍ'atthi  
yaṃ bhūtāmi tam paṇāmi. = If I were not,  
and naught/ would/ mine, I shall not be and naught  
will be mine. (And) what there is, has come to be, that  
I abandon. The statement is an ontological consequence of the  
preceding statements.

*[Faint, illegible handwriting in the top section of the page.]*

*[A large section of faint, illegible handwriting, possibly representing a list or detailed notes.]*

*[Faint handwriting at the bottom of the page, including what appears to be a signature or date.]*



① Thus I heard  
~~At one time~~ <sup>occurred</sup> the Blessed One was living at  
Sāvathī in the Eastern Park in the Palace of  
Migara's Mother. Then the brahmin <sup>Disciple</sup> Moggallāna  
the Accountant, went to the Blessed One and  
exchanged greetings with him, and when this  
courteous and memorable talk was finished,  
he sat down at one side. When he had done so,  
he said to the Blessed One:

② Now for example Master Gotama,  
in this Palace of Migara's Mother, there can be  
seen <sup>progressive training</sup> of progressive work, and progressive prac-  
tice, down to the last step of the stair; and  
also in the case of <sup>one</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>Disciple</sup> Brahmins there  
can be seen progressive training, progressive  
work, and progressive practice, that is to say,  
in study; and also in the case of other ~~but~~  
<sup>Disciples</sup> ~~there~~ there can be seen progressive training,  
progressive work, and progressive practice,  
that is to say, in archery; and also in the  
case of ~~the~~ accountants, who get ~~of~~ our living  
by accountancy there can be seen progressive  
training, progressive work, progressive prac-  
tice, that is to say, in reckoning - for when  
we get an apprentice, we first make him  
count: one one, two twos, three threes, four  
fours, five fives, six sixes, seven sevens, eight  
eights, nine nines, ten tens, and we make  
him count a hundred, too -; now is it poss-  
ible, Master Gotama, in the case of this Dhamma  
and Discipline, to make known progressive



progressive training, progressive work, and progressive practice, in the same way?

- ③ - It is possible, <sup>for a man</sup>, in the case of this Dhamma and Discipline, to make known progressive training, progressive work, and progressive practice.

Just as a skilled tamer of horses, on getting a fine thoroughbred, first gives him first exercise with the setting of the mouth, afterwards further exercise, so too, Brahman, the Perfect One, on getting a man to be tamed, disciplines him first ~~thus~~ in this way.

- ④ Come bhikkhu; <sup>be virtuous,</sup> ~~be virtuous,~~ <sup>possessed of</sup> ~~possessed of~~ <sup>virtue,</sup> ~~virtue, <sup>restrained</sup> ~~restrained~~ with the Pātimokkha restraint, <sup>possessed of</sup> ~~possessed of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>the proper</sup> ~~the proper conduct and resort, and, seeing fear in the slightest fault, train yourself by <sup>undertaking</sup> ~~undertaking~~ the precepts of training.~~~~

As soon as the bhikkhu is <sup>a</sup> virtuous conduct, <sup>is</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>possessed of</sup> ~~possessed of~~ the Pātimokkha restraint, <sup>restrained</sup> ~~restrained~~ with the Pātimokkha restraint, <sup>possessed of</sup> ~~possessed of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>the proper</sup> ~~the proper conduct and resort, and, seeing fear in the slightest fault, trains himself by <sup>undertaking</sup> ~~undertaking~~ the precepts of training; then the Perfect One further disciplines him ~~thus~~.~~

- ⑤ Come bhikkhu; keep the doors of the faculties guarded. On seeing a visible object



Feelings

with the eye, <sup>appeared among</sup> ~~perceptions~~ <sup>feelings</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>its</sup> signs ~~not~~ <sup>at</sup> ~~details~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>rest</sup> ~~restraint~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>by</sup> ~~reason~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~which~~ <sup>evil</sup> ~~unprofitable~~ <sup>states</sup> of covetousness and grief might invade him, ~~was~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~at~~ <sup>all</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~eye~~ <sup>facility</sup> ~~unrestrained~~ guard the eye-faculty, ~~enter~~ <sup>upon</sup> ~~restraint~~ of the eye-faculty. On hearing a sound with the ear... On smelling an odour with the nose... On tasting a flavour with the tongue... On touching a tangible object with the body... On cognizing a mental object with the mind, ~~neither~~ <sup>at</sup> ~~it~~ <sup>signs</sup> ~~nor~~ <sup>at</sup> ~~its~~ <sup>details</sup> ~~understand~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~restraint~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>by</sup> ~~reason~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~which~~ <sup>evil</sup> ~~unprofitable~~ <sup>states</sup> of covetousness and grief might invade him, ~~was~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~at~~ <sup>all</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~mind~~ <sup>facility</sup> ~~unrestrained~~; guard the mind-faculty, ~~enter~~ <sup>upon</sup> ~~restraint~~ of the mind-faculty.

As soon as the bhikkhu keeps the doors guarded, then the Perfect One further disciplines him:

- ⑥ Come bhikkhu; be one who knows the right ~~amount~~ <sup>measure</sup> in eating. Reflecting wisely, eat food neither for amusement nor for intoxication nor for smartening nor for embellishment, (but) only for the endurance and continuance of this body, for the ending of discomfort, and for assuring the life of ~~presenting~~ <sup>presenting</sup>. Thus I shall ~~put~~ <sup>put</sup> ~~an~~ <sup>an</sup> ~~old~~ <sup>old</sup> ~~feeling~~ <sup>feeling</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~shall~~ <sup>shall</sup> ~~arise~~ <sup>arise</sup> ~~a~~ <sup>a</sup> ~~new~~ <sup>new</sup> ~~feeling~~ <sup>feeling</sup>, and I shall be healthy and blameless, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~live~~ <sup>live</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~conflict~~ <sup>conflict</sup>.



As soon as the bhikkhu knows the right measure in eating, then the Perfect One further disciplines him:

- ⑦ Come, bhikkhu; ~~be~~ <sup>be</sup> devoted to wakefulness. By day ~~purify the mind~~ <sup>purify the mind</sup> while walking and sitting of things productive of obstructive ideas. In the first watch of the night ~~purify the mind~~ <sup>purify the mind</sup> while walking and sitting of ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> productive of obstructive ideas. In the middle watch of the night lie down on the right side in the lion's ~~pose~~ <sup>sleeping</sup> pose with one foot overlapping the other, mindful and fully aware, ~~keeping in mind the perception of~~ <sup>keeping in mind the perception of</sup> [the time for waking]. In the last watch of the night, ~~purify the mind~~ <sup>purify the mind</sup> while walking and sitting of things productive of obstructive ideas.

As soon as the bhikkhu is devoted to wakefulness, then the Perfect One further disciplines him:

- ⑧ Come, bhikkhu; be possessed of mindfulness and full awareness. Be one who practices full awareness <sup>when</sup> walking forward and ~~moving~~ <sup>moving</sup> backward, who practices full awareness <sup>in</sup> looking towards and <sup>in</sup> looking away, who practices full awareness <sup>when</sup>



<sup>blazing</sup> ~~blazing~~ and <sup>extending</sup> ~~stretching~~, who <sup>practices in</sup> ~~practices~~ full  
 awareness <sup>in</sup> wearing the patched cloak, bowl  
 and robes, who <sup>practices</sup> ~~practices~~ full awareness <sup>when</sup>  
 eating, drinking, chewing and tasting, who  
~~practices~~ <sup>practices</sup> full awareness <sup>in</sup> evacuating the  
 bowels and <sup>in</sup> making water, who <sup>practices</sup> ~~practices~~  
 full awareness <sup>when</sup> walking, standing,  
 sitting, <sup>sleeping</sup> ~~sleeping~~, waking, talking and  
 keeping silent.

As soon as the bhikkhu is possessed  
 of mindfulness and full awareness, then the  
 Perfect One further disciplines him:

- ⑨ Come bhikkhu; resort to a secluded  
 resting place: to ~~the~~ a forest, to the root of a tree,  
 to a rock, to a hill cleft, to a mountain  
 cave, to a charnel ground, to a woodland  
 solitude, to an open space, to a heap of straw.
- He resorts to a secluded resting place:  
 to a forest, to the root of a tree, to a rock, to  
 a hill cleft, to a mountain cave, to a char-  
 nel ground, to a woodland solitude, to an  
 open space, to a heap of straw. On return  
 from his almsround after his meal he  
 sits down, ~~having~~ <sup>having</sup> folding his legs cross-  
 wise, settling his body erect, <sup>and</sup> ~~establishing~~  
 mindfulness in front of him. Abandoning  
 covetousness regarding the world, he ~~deals~~  
 with his <sup>mind</sup> ~~mind~~ free from covetousness,  
~~Abandoning ill will and hatred, he dwells~~



he purifies his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ from covetousness; abandoning ill-will and hatred, he dwells with his <sup>with gaze</sup> ~~mind~~, free from ill-will, <sup>and</sup> companionate to all living things; he purifies his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ from ill-will and hatred; abandoning stiffness and torpor, he dwells free from stiffness and torpor, ~~perceptive of~~ <sup>perceiving</sup> light, <sup>mindful</sup> and fully aware, he purifies his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ from stiffness and torpor; abandoning agitation and worry, he dwells unagitated with his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ <sup>and still</sup> ~~unworried~~; he purifies his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ from agitation and worry; abandoning uncertainty, he dwells with uncertainty <sup>left behind</sup> ~~overcome~~; undoubting about profitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~, he purifies his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ from uncertainty. 4

10. Having abandoned these <sup>hindrances</sup> ~~hindrances~~, defilements of the <sup>with</sup> ~~mind~~ that weaken understanding, <sup>quite</sup> ~~secluded~~ from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable things, he enters upon and <sup>enters</sup> ~~dwells~~ in the first <sup>stage</sup> ~~fracture~~, which is accompanied by applied and sustained thought; with <sup>happiness</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>and pleasure</sup> ~~the~~ born of seclusion. With the <sup>stability</sup> ~~stability~~ of applied and sustained thought he enters upon and <sup>dwells</sup> ~~dwells~~ in the second <sup>stage</sup> ~~fracture~~, which has <sup>soft-composure</sup> ~~internal-composure~~ and singleness of <sup>mind</sup> ~~mind~~; and <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ without applied thought, <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ without sustained thought



37

and

with happiness ~~it~~ ~~pleasure~~  
~~is~~ ~~has~~ the rapture and bliss born of con-  
 centration. With the fading <sup>with</sup> of  
 rapture, he <sup>happiness</sup> abides in equanimity, mind-  
 ful and fully aware, <sup>still</sup> ~~he~~ feels ~~with his~~  
~~body~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> with his body ~~and mind~~,  
 he enters upon and ~~dwells~~ <sup>abides</sup> in the third  
<sup>at a point, at a point of</sup> ~~stage~~, which the Noble Ones <sup>announce</sup> describe thus

13 <sup>He who has a pleasant abiding</sup> "He who has equanimity and is mindful  
~~dwells~~ <sup>dwells</sup> ~~happily~~" With the abandoning of  
 pleasure and pain and with the pre-  
 vious disappearance of [mental] joy and  
 grief, he enters upon and <sup>dwells</sup> in the  
 fourth ~~stage~~, which has neither pain ~~nor~~  
 nor pleasure and ~~the~~ <sup>whose</sup> purity of mind-  
 fulness is due to equanimity.

14 11 ~~Thus~~ This is my instruction <sup>for</sup> those  
 bhikkhus who are ~~trainees~~ <sup>aspirants</sup>, ~~whose~~ <sup>aspirations</sup> ~~dwelling~~  
 with minds as yet unattained, aspiring  
 to the supreme surcease of bondage.  
 But these <sup>ideas</sup> things conduce <sup>both</sup> to <sup>a pleasurable</sup> ~~happy~~ life  
<sup>abiding</sup> here and now and to mindfulness and  
 full awareness for those bhikkhus who  
 are arahants with cankers <sup>extinguished</sup> destroyed,  
 who have lived the life, done what is to  
 be done, laid down the burden, reached  
 the <sup>highest</sup> ~~highest~~ <sup>goal</sup> ~~goal~~, destroyed the fetters of  
 becoming, who through knowing are ~~rightly~~  
 liberated <sup>through</sup> ~~through~~ <sup>rightly</sup> knowing.



(12) When this was said, the Brahman Moggallāna the accountant said to the Blessed One — But ~~when~~ <sup>do all</sup> Master Gotama's disciples, ~~are~~ <sup>when</sup> thus advised and ~~then~~ <sup>let</sup> instructed by him, ~~do they all~~ <sup>do they all</sup> attain the Supreme goal, ~~Nibbāna~~ <sup>Nibbāna</sup>, or do some not attain it?

— When thus advised and ~~then~~ <sup>Brahman,</sup> instructed, some of my disciples attain the supreme goal, ~~Nibbāna~~ <sup>Nibbāna</sup>, and some do not.

(13) — Since Master Gotama, there is ~~Nibbāna~~ <sup>extinction</sup>, and there is the path leading to ~~Nibbāna~~ <sup>extinction</sup>, and there is Master Gotama as guide, what is the cause, what is the reason why when Master Gotama's disciples are thus advised and instructed by him some attain the Supreme goal, ~~Nibbāna~~ <sup>extinction</sup>, and some do not?

(14) — Now as to that, ~~Brahman~~ <sup>friend</sup>, I will ask you a question in return; answer it as you like. <sup>5</sup> What do you ~~think~~ <sup>think</sup>: you are familiar with the road that leads to Rājagaha?

— Yes, Master, I am familiar with the road that leads to Rājagaha.



conceive that, divine

— What do you think, Brahman; suppose a man came ~~along~~ who wanted to go to Rājagaha, and he approached you and said: 'Venerable Sir, I want to go to Rājagaha; show me the road to Rājagaha.' Then you told him, 'Now, good man, this road goes to Rājagaha. Follow it for a while and you will see a certain village; follow it for a while and you will see a certain town; follow it for a while and you will see Rājagaha with its ~~lovely~~ parks and groves and lands and lakes.' Having been thus advised and instructed by you, he took a wrong road and went on to the west. And then a second man approached you and said, 'Venerable Sir, I want to go to Rājagaha; show me the road to Rājagaha.' Then you told him, 'Now, good man, this road goes to Rājagaha. Follow it for a while and you will see a certain village; follow it for a while and you will see a certain town; follow it for a while and you will see Rājagaha with its lovely parks and groves and lands and lakes.' Then having been thus advised and instructed by you, he got safely to Rājagaha. Now, Brahman, since there is Rājagaha, and there is the path leading to Rājagaha, and there is yourself as guide, what is the cause?







not fully aware, unconcentrated, <sup>with mind astray</sup> ~~confused~~ <sup>essentially</sup> devoid of understanding, and drivelling — with such as these ~~the~~ Master Gotama does not abide ↓.

But <sup>there are</sup> ~~such~~ clausmen <sup>who</sup> go forth out of faith from the home life into ~~the~~ homelessness, who are not fraudulent, ~~or~~ deceitful, ~~or~~ treacherous, ~~or~~ haughty, <sup>(detested)</sup> ~~or~~ arrogant, ~~or~~ <sup>habitually</sup> inconstant, ~~or~~ rough-tongued, ~~or~~ loose-spoken, <sup>who are</sup> guarded in their faculties, aware of the right measure in eating, devoted to wakefulness, concerned with reclusiveness, greatly respectful of training, not busy, ~~or~~ <sup>not</sup> careless, ~~or~~ neglectful of erring, ~~or~~ <sup>not</sup> in seclusion, ~~or~~ <sup>not</sup> established in mindfulness, ~~or~~ <sup>not</sup> fully aware, concentrated, ~~or~~ <sup>not</sup> drivelling, endowed with understanding, not drivelling — it is with such as these ~~the~~ Master Gotama abides ↓. (with such as these)

(16) Just as black orris root is reckoned the best of root perfumes and red sandal is reckoned the best of wood perfumes and jasmine is reckoned the best of flower perfumes, so too Master Gotama's advice is supreme among ~~today's~~ ~~doctrines~~ <sup>of the Time</sup> <sup>of Today</sup>.

(17) <sup>Wonderful</sup> Master Gotama! The <sup>main point</sup> ~~doctrines~~ <sup>of the Time</sup> <sup>of Today</sup> has been made clear in many ways by Master Gotama, as though he were righting the overthrown,

revealing the hidden, showing the way to  
 one who is lost, holding up a lamp in  
 the darkness for those with eyes to see  
 visible objects. I go to Master Gotama for  
 refuge, and to the Dhamma, and to the  
 Order. From today let Master Gotama  
 accept me as a follower who has gone  
 to him for refuge for life.

## Notes:

§2 ① Cf. M. 85 where it is obvious that "pac-  
chinnā (last)" refers to the bottom step.

§7 ② "acchādaya" <sup>(overlapping)</sup> the word is not in P.S. Dict.  
 see M. 39.

§19 ③ Cf. the simile in Saṃyutta XXII 84.



Majjhima Nikāya (D)  
Gopaka Moggallāna Sutta (3, 1, 8)

1. Thus I heard,  
On one ~~occasion~~<sup>occasion</sup> the venerable Ananda was living at Rajagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squire's feeding place, not long after the Blessed One had attained ~~enlightenment~~<sup>enlightenment</sup>.
2. Now at that ~~time~~<sup>occasion</sup> Ajātasattu Vedekiputta, King of Magadha, was having Rajagaha ~~defences repaired~~<sup>fortified</sup>, being ~~suspicious~~<sup>suspicious</sup> of King Pajjota.
3. Then when it was early morning, the venerable Ananda dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went into Rajagaha for alms. Then it occurred to ~~the venerable Ananda~~<sup>him</sup> 'It is too early still to wander for alms in Rajagaha. What if I went to the ~~Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna~~<sup>Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna</sup> where his works are?' Then he went to the ~~Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna~~<sup>Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna</sup> where his works were. ~~The Guardian,~~
4. The ~~Brahman~~<sup>Divine</sup> saw him coming from a distance. He said to him: - 'Let Master Ananda come. Welcome to Master Ananda. It is long since Master Ananda came this way. Let Master Ananda be seated; there is this seat ready.' The venerable Ananda sat down on the seat made ready. ~~The Brahman~~<sup>The Divine</sup> ~~Gopaka Moggallāna~~<sup>Gopaka Moggallāna</sup> took another, lower, seat and sat down at one side. When he had done so, ~~the Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna~~<sup>the Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna</sup> ~~said to the venerable Ananda:~~<sup>said to the venerable Ananda:</sup>
5. 'Master ~~Gopaka~~<sup>Divine</sup> is there ~~any~~<sup>any</sup> ~~one~~<sup>one</sup> bhikkhu, Master Ananda, who possesses in all ways these



Master Gotamp

and everywhere those things that ~~the Blessed One~~ ~~possessed~~ possessed?

- There is <sup>no one</sup> ~~any one~~ bhikkhu who possesses in all ways and everywhere those things that the Blessed One, accorplished and fully-enlightened, possessed. For the Blessed One was the Araiser of the unarisen Path, the **Producer** of the unproduced Path, the Declarer of the undeclared Path, the Path Knower, Path Seer, <sup>and</sup> Skilled in the Path. But now, <sup>where</sup> the disciples, <sup>by</sup> abiding in conformity with the path, and <sup>afterwards</sup> ~~afterwards~~ become possessed of it <sup>they</sup> ~~afterwards~~.

6. But the Venerable Ananda's talk meanwhile with the <sup>Divine</sup> Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna <sup>the generous</sup> was left unfinished here; for then the <sup>Divine</sup> ~~Divine~~ Vāśakāra, the Magadhan minister who was <sup>superiorly</sup> ~~superiorly~~ the ruler at Rājagaha, went to the Venerable Ananda at the <sup>Divine</sup> ~~Divine~~ Brahman Gopaka Moggallāna's <sup>the generous</sup> ~~works~~ <sup>works</sup>. ~~and~~ He exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and <sup>amiable</sup> ~~amicable~~ talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the Venerable Ananda: - 'For what talk are you gathered here now? And what was your talk meanwhile that was left unfinished?'



- 'Here ~~Brakman~~ <sup>Divine,</sup> the Brahman Jyotika Moggallana, <sup>the Guardian</sup> said this: "Is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, who possesses in all ways and every way those things that Master Gotama possessed?" When this was said, I replied "There is ~~not any~~ <sup>no</sup> single bhikkhu who possesses in all ways and every way those things that the Blessed One, accomplished and fully enlightened, possessed. For the Blessed One was the Producer of the unproduced Path, the Producer of the undeclared Path, ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> Path known. Path seen <sup>and</sup> travelled in the Path. But now <sup>when</sup> the disciples in conformity with the path, <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~do so following after it.~~ <sup>do so following after it.</sup> ~~that was left unfinished.~~ <sup>that was left unfinished.</sup> when you arrived.

7. - 'Is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, <sup>nominated</sup> <sup>appointed</sup> by Master Gotama thus "this one will be your refuge when I am gone" whom you can ~~not~~ have recourse to now?"

- 'There is ~~not any~~ <sup>no</sup> single bhikkhu, <sup>Divine,</sup> <sup>crowned</sup> ~~Brakman,~~ <sup>appointed</sup> by the the Blessed One who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, thus "this one will be your refuge when I am gone" whom ~~you~~ <sup>you</sup> can ~~not~~ have recourse to now

8. - 'But is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, who has been chosen by the <sup>Community</sup> ~~elders~~, elected by <sup>the</sup> majority of ~~elder~~

bliddhus, thus "this one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone" whom you can have recourse to now?"

- "There is ~~not any~~ <sup>no</sup> single bliddhus, <sup>Divine,</sup> ~~man,~~ who has been chosen by the ~~community~~ <sup>community</sup> elected by the majority of elder bliddhus, thus "this one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone" whom we can have recourse to now."

9. - "But if there is thus no refuge, Master Ananda, what ~~reason~~ <sup>reason</sup> is there to concord?"

- "We are not without refuge, <sup>Divine,</sup> ~~man,~~ we have a refuge; ~~the Dhamma~~ <sup>the Dhamma</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> our refuge. We have the Dhamma as refuge."

10. - "But when ~~you~~ <sup>you</sup> asked "Is there ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup> single bliddhus, Master Ananda, <sup>nominated</sup> ~~appointed~~ by Master Gotama thus, "This one will be your refuge when I am gone, whom you can have recourse to now?" you replied "There is ~~not any~~ <sup>no</sup> single bliddhus, ~~appointed~~ <sup>nominated</sup> by the Blessed One who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, thus; this one will be your refuge when I am gone, whom we can have recourse to now"; and when ~~you~~ <sup>you</sup> asked "But is there any single bliddhus, Master Ananda, who has been chosen by the Order, elected by the majority of elder bliddhus, <sup>10</sup> thus, this one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone, whom you can have recourse to now?" you replied.



"There is ~~not any~~ <sup>no</sup> single bludkhu, <sup>Divine</sup> ~~whom~~, who has been chosen by the Order, elected by the majority of elder bludkhus, thus, ~~this~~ one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone; whom we can have recourse to now; and when ~~you~~ <sup>you</sup> are asked "But if there is no refuge, Master Ananda, what ~~cause~~ <sup>reason</sup> is there for concord?" you replied "We are not without refuge, <sup>to Divine</sup> ~~we have~~; we have a refuge; <sup>we have the Patimsokha</sup> ~~the Patimsokha~~ is our refuge." ~~Now~~ how should the meaning of these statements be regarded?

- (The Blessed One <sup>Divine</sup> ~~the~~) who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, has made known the course of training for bludkhus, and he has <sup>said</sup> ~~set~~ forth the Patimsokha. <sup>Rule</sup> [On today of the Uposatha satha, as many of us as live within one village district meet together; and when we do so, we appoint him <sup>whose name</sup> ~~whose name~~. If a bludkhu has committed some offence or transgression, <sup>since</sup> ~~when~~ this <sup>Rule</sup> ~~is~~ being recited, <sup>we</sup> ~~we~~ have him act <sup>it</sup> according to the ~~the~~ <sup>Patimsokha</sup> ~~Patimsokha~~ according to the Science. It is not persons, <sup>whom</sup> ~~who~~ have us act; it is the ~~the~~ <sup>Patimsokha</sup> ~~Patimsokha~~ that has us act.

"- 'Is there any single bludkhu, Master Ananda, whom you now honour, respect, revere and venerate, and on whom, by knowing and respecting <sup>him</sup> you live in dependance?'



12. - 'There is a single bhikkhu, <sup>Devan</sup> ~~Devan~~, whom we honor, respect, revere and revere, and on <sup>whom</sup> ~~us~~, by honoring and respect-  
ing <sup>him</sup> ~~us~~, we live in dependence.'

12. - 'But when ~~you~~ ~~are~~ asked "Is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, <sup>appointed</sup> ~~appointed~~ by Master Gotama thus, This one will be your refuge when I am gone, whom you can have recourse to now?", you replied "There is ~~not~~ <sup>no</sup> single bhikkhu, <sup>Devan</sup> ~~Devan~~, <sup>appointed</sup> ~~appointed~~ by the Blessed One who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, thus, This one will be your refuge when I am gone, whom we can have recourse to now"; and when ~~you~~ ~~are~~ asked "But is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, who has been chosen by the <sup>community</sup> ~~Buddha~~, elected by the majority of elder bhikkhus, thus, This one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone, whom you can have recourse to now?", you replied "There is ~~not~~ <sup>no</sup> single bhikkhu, <sup>Devan</sup> ~~Devan~~, who has been chosen by the <sup>community</sup> ~~community~~, elected by the majority of elder bhikkhus, thus, This one will be your refuge after the Blessed One is gone, <sup>to</sup> whom you can have recourse to now"; And when ~~you~~ ~~are~~ asked, "Is there any single bhikkhu, Master Ananda, whom you now



honour, respect, revere and venerate, and  
on whom, by honouring and respecting <sup>him</sup>, you  
live in dependence. "you replied" there  
is a single bluddehu, ~~but~~ <sup>divine</sup> ~~man~~, whom we  
now honour, respect, revere and venerate,  
and on whom, by honouring and respecting  
him, we live in dependence. Now how  
should the meaning of these statements be  
regarded?

13. - Ten ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that inspire confidence  
~~and trust~~ <sup>in him</sup> have been declared by the  
Blessed One who knows and sees, ~~the~~ ac-  
complished and fully enlightened. We honour,  
respect, revere and venerate him among  
us in whom these ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> are present, and,  
by honouring and respecting him, we live  
in dependence on him.

What are the ten?

14. - Here a bluddehu ~~is~~ <sup>is virtuous</sup>  
~~of justice, possessed of the path of the~~  
~~restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>of the bluddehu's Rule</sup>  
~~is restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>restraint;</sup>  
~~is restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>conduct and</sup>  
~~is restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>scout, seeing fear in the slightest fault,</sup>  
~~is restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>he trains himself by</sup> ~~giving effect to~~  
~~is restrained by the path of the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~precepts of training~~

15. - He has <sup>learned</sup> ~~what he has~~ <sup>learned</sup> and he remembers  
~~what he has~~ <sup>what he has</sup> ~~learned~~ <sup>learned</sup>. Such  
~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> that are good in the beginning,  
~~good in the middle, and good in the end,~~  
with the <sup>meaning and</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>syllables</sup> ~~which are~~ and on



- affirm  
~~re command~~ of life divine  
 plan the life of ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~perfect~~ that is quite per-  
 fect and pure ~~and~~, such as ~~the~~ <sup>she</sup> ~~has~~ ~~learned~~  
~~much~~, remembers, ~~embodied~~ <sup>those</sup> ~~by~~ ~~word~~ ~~of~~ ~~mouth~~ ~~spoken~~  
~~over~~ ~~and~~ ~~with~~ ~~the~~ ~~mind~~, and ~~it~~ ~~will~~ ~~of~~ ~~pene-~~  
 trated ~~with~~ ~~his~~ ~~mind~~ by [night] ~~in~~ ~~the~~ ~~day~~
16. He is content with his robes, alms-  
 food, resting place, and requisite of medi-  
 cine as cure for the sick.
17. He is one who obtains at will without  
 difficulty and ~~in~~ <sup>with no trouble or reserve</sup> ~~the~~ ~~four~~ ~~gates~~  
 that are the higher <sup>cognitions</sup> ~~consciousness~~ and  
 provide a <sup>pleasant abiding</sup> ~~happy~~ ~~life~~ here and now.
18. He wields the various <sup>kinds of</sup> ~~supernatural~~  
<sup>powers</sup> ~~...~~ [as in M. 6]. <sup>12</sup> He extends his  
 bodily mastery even as far as the Brahma  
 world.
19. With the divine ear element... [as  
 in M. 6]... those that are far as well as  
 near.
20. By penetrating with his mind the minds  
 of others... [as in M. 6]... the unliberated  
<sup>cognitions</sup> ~~and~~ ~~as~~ ~~unliberated~~.
21. He recalls his manifold past life...  
 [as in M. 6]... thus he recalls with ~~their~~  
 details and particulars his manifold past  
 life.
22. With the divine eye... [as in M. 6]  
 ... He understands how beings ~~from~~ <sup>planets</sup> ~~accid-~~  
 ing to their deeds.
23. By realization himself ~~with~~ ~~direct~~







by honouring and respecting him, should they live in dependence?

25. Then the <sup>Divine</sup> Brahman Versakara the Magadhan minister said to the venerable Ananda: - 'Where does Master Ananda live now?'

'Now, <sup>Divine</sup> Brahman, I am living in the bamboo grove.'

26. 'I hope, ~~Master~~ Master Ananda, that the bamboo grove is pleasant, quiet, undisturbed by voices, <sup>in peace</sup> with an atmosphere of <sup>conspicuousness</sup> solemnity, where one can lie hidden from people, favourable for retreat?'

- 'Indeed, <sup>Divine</sup> Brahman that the bamboo grove has these qualities is owing to guardian protectors like yourself.'

27. 'Indeed, Master Ananda, that the bamboo grove has these qualities is owing to the <sup>worthy</sup> people who <sup>obtain</sup> ~~obtain~~ <sup>illumination</sup> ~~illumination~~, <sup>practise</sup> ~~practise~~ <sup>meditation</sup> ~~meditation~~. Once, Master Ananda, Master Gotama was living <sup>at the</sup> ~~at the~~ <sup>with the pearly</sup> ~~with the pearly~~ Vesali in the <sup>gabled</sup> ~~gabled~~ Hall, in the Great Wood. Then I went there and approached him. But there, Master Gotama talked about ~~his~~ <sup>illumination</sup> ~~illumination~~ <sup>in many</sup> ~~in many~~ ways. Master Gotama was <sup>one who practised absorption</sup> ~~one who practised absorption~~ and he was accustomed to <sup>illumination</sup> ~~illumination~~. In fact Master Gotama



28. — 'The Blessed One did not speak in <sup>commendation</sup> ~~praise~~ of all sorts of <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~, nor did he speak in <sup>condemnation</sup> ~~praise~~ of all sorts of <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~. Of what sort of <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~ did the Blessed One not speak in <sup>commendation</sup> ~~praise~~? Here someone <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by lust a prey to lust, and he does not <sup>rightly</sup> ~~rightly~~ understand the escape from <sup>lust</sup> ~~lust~~, he still puts lust first, <sup>he gets</sup> ~~he gets~~ <sup>illuminated</sup> ~~illuminated~~ and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ again.

Paral

He <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by ill will, ... He <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by <sup>effusion</sup> ~~effusion~~ and <sup>anger</sup> ~~anger~~, ... He <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by agitation and worry, ... He <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by uncertainty, a prey to uncertainty, and he does not <sup>rightly</sup> ~~rightly~~ understand the escape from uncertainty. He still puts <sup>uncertainty</sup> ~~uncertainty~~ first, <sup>he gets</sup> ~~he gets~~ <sup>illuminated</sup> ~~illuminated~~ and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ again. The Blessed One did not speak in <sup>commendation</sup> ~~praise~~ of such <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~.

29. — 'And of what sort of <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~ did the Blessed One speak in <sup>commendation</sup> ~~praise~~? Here, <sup>one</sup> ~~one~~ <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ from sensual desires ... [the four <sup>planes</sup> ~~planes~~ as in M. 4] ... mindfulness due to <sup>equanimity</sup> ~~equanimity~~. The Blessed One spoke in <sup>praise</sup> ~~praise~~ of such <sup>illumination</sup> ~~meditation~~.

30. — 'It seems, Master Ananda, that the one who <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ obsessed by lust, and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ and <sup>re-absorbed</sup> ~~re-absorbed~~ again ...



landed

Bytama has censured the ~~sort of~~ <sup>illumination</sup> meditation that is censurable and has ~~shown~~ the sort of ~~meditation~~ that is ~~praiseworthy~~. And now, Master Ananda, ~~we depart~~; we are busy and have much to do!

'97 is time now, <sup>Divine</sup> ~~ambition~~, to do as you think fit.' 15

Then the ~~divine~~ <sup>Divine</sup> Parakara the Bhagawan ~~rose from his seat, satis-~~ fied and ~~glad~~ at the venerable Ananda's words, and he departed. the end of the

31. Then soon after he had gone, <sup>the</sup> ~~divine~~ <sup>Divine</sup> Gopaka Moggallana said to the venerable Ananda: 'Master Ananda has not answered what we asked him.'

And we not ~~right~~ you, ~~Parakara~~, there is ~~no~~ single ~~thing~~ who possesses in all ways and every way those things that the Blessed One accomplished and fully enlighteningly possessed. For the Blessed One was the sponsor of the unmarred path ~~in~~ that now the disciples dwell ~~in~~ ~~company~~ with the path, and ~~after~~ they become possessed of it, they ~~are~~ ~~happy~~.

Notes: 32. ~~For the jhāna "jāyate pajjāyate nij-~~  
~~gāyate agājjāyati"~~ ~~and~~ ~~meditates~~ and ~~on~~ ~~meditates~~ and ~~re-meditates~~

"<sup>chappāyati</sup> antaram karitvā: Commentary on antaram karitvā ti abhantaram karitvā 'on which Tika comments abhantaram karitvā ti nibbāna antaraham karitvā " antaram vā tara nijjānāna karamam karitvā kāmārazaracana hi tarā nijjānāna keta ti. Cf. M. 113. 92 + <sup>2</sup> ~~the~~ Cappasakyañāna sūtra.

32. Parisanekhāraṇeti ~~the~~ tā jostify: ut in P.S. Dict.



✓ Majjhima Nikāya - 109 Mahāpunnama sutta  
(3, 1, 9)

1. Thus I heard  
On one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living  
at Savatthi in the Palace of Migāra's Mother,  
the Eastern Park.

2. Now, ~~at that time~~ <sup>on that occasion</sup> it was  
the Uposatha day  
of the fifteenth, ~~on~~ the night when the moon  
was full, <sup>and</sup> the Blessed One was seated in the  
open surrounded by the ~~group~~ <sup>community</sup> of Bhikkhus.

3. Then a certain bhikkhu rose from his  
seat, and arranging his robe on one shoulder,  
he raised his hands palms together towards the  
Blessed One, and he said: ~~to the Blessed One~~:

- (I would) Venerable sir, ask the Blessed  
One a certain question if the Blessed One  
could grant me an answer to the question.

- Sit in your own seat, bhikkhu, and  
ask what you like.

So the bhikkhu sat in his own seat,  
and he said to the Blessed One:

4. - There are, venerable sir, are there  
not, these five aggregates [~~as objects~~ <sup>affected by</sup>]  
clinging, that is to say, the ~~materiality~~ <sup>form</sup> aggre-  
gate [~~as object~~ <sup>affected by</sup>] of clinging, the feeling ag-  
gregate [~~as object~~ <sup>affected by</sup>] of clinging, the perception  
aggregate [~~as object~~ <sup>affected by</sup>] of clinging, the ~~form-~~  
<sup>determination</sup> aggregate [~~as object~~ <sup>affected by</sup>] of clinging, the  
~~consciousness~~ <sup>consciousness</sup> aggregate [~~as object~~ <sup>affected by</sup>] of clinging?

There are, bhikkhu, these five aggregates.



affected by  
 [as objects] of clinging, that is to say the <sup>form-</sup> ~~form-~~  
~~materiality~~ aggregate [affected by] of clinging, the  
 feeling aggregate [affected by] of clinging, the  
 perception aggregate [affected by] of clinging,  
 the <sup>formations</sup> ~~formations~~ aggregate [affected by] of clinging,  
 The consciousness aggregate [affected by] of cling-  
 ing.

Saying - 'Good, venerable sir,' the bhikkhu was satisfied, and <sup>he delighted in</sup> rejoiced at the Blessed One's words. Then he asked him a further question:

5. - But, venerable sir, <sup>what do</sup> what have these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging have ~~what~~ as their root?  
 - These five aggregates [as objects] of clinging, <sup>bhikkhu,</sup> have <sup>real</sup> ~~delusion~~ (alanda) as their root.

6. - Is that clinging (venerable sir), the same as these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging, or is <sup>the</sup> clinging something apart from these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging?  
 - (That clinging) bhikkhu, is neither the same as these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging, nor is it something apart from these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging. It is <sup>the</sup> ~~delusion~~ and <sup>lust</sup> ~~greed~~ (chanda raga) <sup>in</sup> these five aggregates [as objects] of clinging that is affected by



the clinging there.

7. - But, venerable sir, <sup>particulars in detail</sup> might there be diversity in the <sup>real</sup> ~~desire~~ <sup>causing</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~these~~ <sup>five</sup> aggregates <sup>affected by</sup> of clinging?

- There might be, bhikkhu, the Blessed One said.

<sup>may</sup> ~~form~~ <sup>form</sup> here, bhikkhu, someone <sup>that</sup> thinks: "May ~~material~~ <sup>material</sup> body (rūpa) ~~may~~ be such in the future."

<sup>May</sup> feeling ~~may~~ be such in the future. <sup>May</sup> ~~perception~~ <sup>perception</sup> ~~may~~ be such in the future. <sup>May</sup> ~~consciousness~~ <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~may~~ be such in the future. <sup>May</sup> ~~consciousness~~ <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~may~~ be such in the future.

<sup>individual particulars</sup> there <sup>in</sup> ~~diversity~~ <sup>in</sup> the ~~desire~~ <sup>real</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>causing</sup> ~~these~~ <sup>five</sup> aggregates <sup>affected by</sup> of clinging.

8. - But, venerable sir, in what way is "aggregate" a term for the aggregates?

- Any kind of <sup>form</sup> ~~materiality~~ <sup>whatever</sup>, whether past, future or present, <sup>inwardly</sup> ~~internal~~ or external, <sup>gross</sup> ~~gross~~ or <sup>subtle</sup> ~~subtle~~, inferior or superior, far or near, - this is the <sup>materiality</sup> ~~materiality~~ aggregate. 17

Any kind of feeling...

Any kind of perception...

Any kind of <sup>determination</sup> ~~determination~~...

Any kind of <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~consciousness~~, <sup>whatever</sup> ~~whether~~ past, future or present, <sup>inwardly</sup> ~~internal~~ or external, <sup>gross</sup> ~~gross~~ or <sup>subtle</sup> ~~subtle~~, inferior or superior, far or near, - this is the <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~consciousness~~ aggregate.

It is <sup>in</sup> ~~in~~ this way <sup>that</sup> "aggregate" is a term for the aggregates (Khaṇḍhābhivacana).

9. - What is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, venerable sir, ~~that~~

is the condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ (paññā-  
 pañā) the <sup>form</sup> materiality aggregate? What is the  
<sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, what is the condition for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~  
 the feeling aggregate? What is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~,  
 what is the condition for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the  
 perception aggregate? What is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~,  
 what is the condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the  
<sup>determinations</sup> ~~formations~~ aggregate? What is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, what  
 is the condition for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the conscious-  
 ness aggregate?

- The four great <sup>entities</sup> ~~principles~~ are the  
<sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, bhikkhu, the four great <sup>entities</sup> ~~principles~~  
 are the condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the  
<sup>form</sup> materiality aggregate.

Contact is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, contact is the  
 condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the feeling  
 aggregate.

Contact is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, contact is the  
 condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the perception  
 aggregate.

Contact is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, contact is the  
 condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~ the <sup>determinations</sup> ~~formations~~  
 aggregate.

<sup>Name</sup> ~~Word~~ and <sup>form</sup> ~~matter~~ in the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~,  
<sup>name</sup> ~~word~~ and <sup>form</sup> ~~matter~~ is the condition, for <sup>describing</sup> ~~making known~~  
 the aggregate of consciousness.

10. - But, venerable sir, <sup>how does there come</sup> ~~what~~ to the ~~mind~~



17  
~~existing-body~~ embodiment view?  
~~view of individual personality~~ (sakkaya  
 ditthi)?

- Here, bhikkhu, an untaught <sup>ordinary</sup> ~~man~~ <sup>man</sup>... [as in M. 44, § 7]... sees ~~materiality~~ <sup>form</sup> as self... [as in M. 44, § 7]... or self in consciousness. <sup>in how</sup> that there comes to be the ~~view of individual personality~~ <sup>existing-body</sup> embodiment view.

11 - But venerable sir, how does there not come to be the ~~view of individual personality~~ <sup>embodiment view</sup>?

- Here, bhikkhu, a well-taught noble disciple... [as in M. 44, § 8]... does not see <sup>form</sup> ~~materiality~~ as self... [as in M. 44, § 8]... or self in consciousness. <sup>That is how</sup> that there does not come to be the ~~view of individual personality~~ <sup>embodiment view</sup>.

12. - What, venerable sir, is the <sup>attraction</sup> ~~engagement~~, what is the danger, what is the escape, in the case of <sup>form</sup> ~~materiality~~? What is the <sup>attraction</sup> ~~engagement~~, what is the danger, what is the escape, in the case of feeling? What is the <sup>attraction</sup> ~~engagement~~, what is the danger, what is the escape, in the case of perception? What is the <sup>attraction</sup> ~~engagement~~, what is the danger, what is the escape, in the case of <sup>determinations</sup> ~~intentions~~? What is the <sup>attraction</sup> ~~engagement~~, what





119  
 should be ~~separated~~ <sup>with</sup> right understanding the  
 validity, thus, this is not mine, this is not I, this is  
 not my self.

~~He sees correctly with right understanding~~  
 Any kind of feeling whatever, <sup>whatever,</sup>  
 ... any kind of perception, <sup>whatever,</sup>  
 ... any kind of ~~formulations~~ <sup>determinations</sup> whatever, <sup>whatever,</sup>  
 ... any kind of consciousness, <sup>whatever,</sup>

"This is not my self".

It is ~~unavoidable~~ <sup>unavoidable</sup>, thus, bhikkhus, seeing thus, that  
 that there comes to be in him no indulgent  
 tendencies to treat this body with its con-  
 sciousness and all external signs (accord-  
 ing to the conceits) "I" and "mine".  
 in terms of

14 Then in a certain bhikkhu's mind ~~this~~  
~~arose~~ this thought arose:

- So, it seems, <sup>from</sup> rationality is not self,  
 feeling is not self, perception is not self,  
<sup>determinations</sup> ~~formulations~~ are not self, consciousness is not  
 self. Then what self will <sup>they act on</sup> ~~be~~ done by  
 the not-self <sup>body</sup> ~~effect~~?

Then the Blessed One knew <sup>in</sup> his  
 mind the thought in the bhikkhu's mind,  
 and he addressed the bhikkhus thus:

- It is possible, bhikkhus, that some  
 misguided, <sup>new</sup> ~~new~~ un-knowing and ignorant, with  
 his <sup>will</sup> ~~mind~~ <sup>dominated</sup> governed by craving might fancy  
 that he could <sup>by-pass</sup> ~~outstrip~~ the Master's teaching

thus: "So, it seems, <sup>form</sup> materiality is not self... then what self will <sup>perceive</sup> deeds done by the not-self affect?" Now, bhikkhus, you have been trained by me in <sup>dependant</sup> [<sup>con-  
ditionality</sup>] in various instances.

5. <sup>What do you think, bhikkhus,</sup> is <sup>form</sup> materiality permanent or impermanent? - impermanent, venerable sir. - But is what is impermanent painful or pleasant? - painful, venerable sir. But is what is <sup>per-</sup>impermanent, painful, and subject to change fit to be regarded thus: This is mine, this is I, this is <sup>my</sup> self? - No, venerable sir. <sup>What do you think, bhikkhus,</sup> is feeling permanent...

... perception...  
... determination...  
... consciousness... 20 - no, venerable

6. <sup>Therefore, bhikkhus, any kind of <sup>form</sup></sup> whate'er <sup>whether part... far or near, <sup>stands in</sup></sup> fact <sup>all <sup>form</sup> materiality should be seen <sup>as not</sup></sup> with right understanding thus: This is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self. Any kind of feeling... perception... determination... consciousness... not my self.

7. When he sees thus, the well-taught noble disciple <sup>becomes dispassionate <sup>formally</sup> <sup>form</sup></sup> ~~feels repugnance for <sup>form</sup> materiality, feels repugnance for <sup>feeling</sup>, feels repugnance for <sup>determination</sup>, feels repugnance for <sup>consciousness</sup>.~~

8. <sup>When his greed fades away;</sup> with the fading ~~away~~ of greed he is liberated; when he is liberated, there comes the know-



ledge ~~that he is~~ "liberated". He understands:  
 Birth is ~~destroyed~~, <sup>exhausted</sup> the life <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>divine</sup> purity has been  
 lived, what was to be done is done. There is  
 no more of this to come.

So the Blessed One said. The  
 bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~, <sup>delighted</sup> and <sup>they delighted in</sup> ~~they~~ <sup>agreed with</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>his</sup> Blessed One's words.

But while this discourse was  
 being spoken <sup>many</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> as many as  
 sixty bhikkhus were liberated from can-  
 kers ~~but~~ <sup>not</sup> clinging.

§ 9 kāmārupa as condition for viññāna:  
 of the four viññānatthiti at S. XXII, 54 = D. 33

Notes This Sutta is the same as S. XXII no  
 82.

§ 4 This formula at the end of this para  
 is repeated before each following question in  
 S. XXII 82.

§ 13 "Trained by me in conditionality (paticca-  
viññāta kho me tumhe)" is not commented on either  
 in Paṇāsa-sūdanī or Saraththapakkasīnī.  
 The reference is probably to "M. 38" (M. vol. i, 258-60)  
 and similar teachings.



...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...  
...the ... of ...







~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> one not a true man, M. 110  
views, and ~~the~~ he gives ~~the~~ gifts <sup>of</sup>  
one not a true man

5. And how ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> one not a true man  
possessed of what is not the True Idea?  
Here one not a true man has no faith, no  
conscience, no shame, is untaught, idle, for-  
getful, and wanting in understanding. That is  
how one not a true man is possessed of what  
is not the True Idea.

6. And how does one not a true man have  
~~the~~ associates <sup>of</sup> one not a true man? Here one  
not a true man has for his friends and allies  
those ascetics and divines that have no faith,  
no conscience, no shame, are untaught, idle,  
forgetful, and wanting in understanding. That  
is how one not a true man ~~is~~ possessed of  
~~the~~ associates <sup>of</sup> one not a true man.

7. And how does one not a true man ~~think~~  
~~the~~ <sup>will</sup> ~~thought~~ <sup>of</sup> one not a true man? Here one not a  
true man wills <sup>for</sup> his own affliction, he wills for  
others' affliction, and he wills for the affliction  
of both. That is how one not a true man ~~wills~~  
~~the~~ wills <sup>of</sup> one not a true man.

8. And how does one not a true man ~~give~~  
~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> counsel <sup>of</sup> one not a true man? Here one not a  
true man counsels for his own affliction, he counsels  
for others' affliction and he counsels for the af-  
fliction of both. That is how one not a true man  
counsels <sup>of</sup> one not a true man.

9. And how does one not a true man speak  
~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> one not a true man? Here one not a true  
man speaks false speech, speaks malicious speech,  
speaks harsh speech, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> gossips. That is how one  
not a true man speaks ~~the~~ speech <sup>of</sup> one not a true man.

10. And how does one not a true man perform ~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> ad. <sup>of</sup>



one not a true man  
 bad man's acts? Here, ~~one not a true~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man  
 kills <sup>by killing</sup> ~~living~~ things, takes what is not given,  
 indulges in sexual misconduct. <sup>in sexual desire</sup> ~~It is in this~~  
~~way that a bad man~~ <sup>is a bad man</sup> ~~acts~~ <sup>acts</sup> of one not a true man.

11. <sup>And how does one not a true</sup> ~~one not a true~~ man hold ~~a bad~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man's  
 views? Here, ~~one not a true~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man  
 holds such a view on this: There is no giving,  
 no offering, no sacrificing, no fruit or result  
 of good and bad actions, no this world, no  
 other world, no mother, no father, no ap-  
 paritional beings, no good and virtuous  
 ascetics and brahmins who have themselves  
 realized by direct knowledge and decline  
 this world and the other world. <sup>That is how</sup> ~~It is in this~~  
 way that ~~a bad~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man holds ~~a bad man's~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man's  
 views of one not a true man.

12. <sup>And how does one not a true</sup> ~~one not a true~~ man give gifts  
 as a ~~bad~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man? Here, ~~one not a true~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man  
 gives a gift carelessly, gives it not  
 with his own hand, gives it without showing  
 respect, gives it as one who throws it away,  
 gives it as one who <sup>is in</sup> ~~is in~~ that nothing  
 will come of it. <sup>That is how</sup> ~~It is in this way~~ that a bad  
 man gives gifts <sup>as one not a true</sup> ~~of a bad~~ man.

13. <sup>One not a true</sup> ~~one not a true~~ man, <sup>regard of what is not then,</sup> ~~regard of what is not then,~~  
<sup>and of them</sup> ~~and of them~~ <sup>is a bad man</sup> ~~is a bad man~~  
<sup>who will</sup> ~~who will~~ <sup>gives a bad man</sup> ~~gives a bad man~~ <sup>who</sup> ~~who <sup>speaks</sup> ~~speaks  
<sup>and acts</sup> ~~and acts~~ <sup>who performs</sup> ~~who performs~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>acts</sup> ~~acts,  
<sup>holds a bad man's</sup> ~~holds a bad man's~~ <sup>views</sup> ~~views~~ <sup>gives gifts as one</sup> ~~gives gifts as one~~  
<sup>not a true</sup> ~~not a true~~ man, on the <sup>head</sup> ~~head~~ <sup>of the</sup> ~~of the <sup>body,</sup> ~~body, after~~~~~~~~~~~~



death, reappears in <sup>the destination of one left a</sup> ~~the bad man's des~~  
~~type man.~~ And what is ~~the~~ <sup>his</sup> ~~bad man's~~ <sup>destiny?</sup>  
Hell or the animal world.

14. Blithelhus: - Would a good man, blithelhus, know  
of a <sup>good</sup> ~~good~~ man? <sup>person</sup> ~~is a good~~ man? 23

- Yes, venerable sir.  
- Good, blithelhus. It is possible that  
a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man would know of a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man.  
This is a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man! But would a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup>  
man know of a ~~bad~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man? This is a ~~bad~~ <sup>person</sup>  
~~man~~ man?

- Yes, venerable sir.  
- Good, blithelhus. It is possible that  
a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man would know of a ~~bad~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> man.  
This ~~person~~ <sup>is a</sup> ~~bad~~ <sup>not a true</sup> man.

15. ~~A true man~~ } Blithelhus, <sup>is pronounced of the</sup>  
~~is a true man~~ } <sup>the important</sup>  
~~he has a good~~ } <sup>idea</sup>  
~~he will~~ } <sup>of a good</sup>  
~~he speaks a good man's coun-~~ } <sup>as a true man</sup>  
~~sel, he speaks a good man's~~ } <sup>very</sup>  
~~and he acts, he holds a good~~ } <sup>man</sup>  
~~man's~~ } <sup>and</sup>  
he gives gifts as a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man.

16. And how ~~does~~ <sup>is</sup> a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man <sup>pronounced as</sup>  
~~the true~~ <sup>idea</sup> ~~man's~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~law~~? Here, blithelhus, a  
~~true~~ <sup>idea</sup> man has faith and conscience and  
shame, ~~and~~ he is well-taught, energetic  
and ~~mindful~~ <sup>mindful</sup> and possesses understanding. That  
is ~~how~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~way~~ <sup>the</sup> that a ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man has ~~the~~



is ~~proof~~ <sup>proof</sup> of the ~~good man's~~ <sup>True</sup> True Idea.

17. And how does a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man have ~~the~~ <sup>good</sup> man's associates? Here, ~~Sticholus~~, a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man has as his friends and allies those ascetics and ~~Sakians~~ <sup>Idupes</sup> that have faith, conscience, shame, are ~~learned~~ <sup>well taught</sup>, energetic, mindful, and possess understanding. ~~That~~ <sup>is how</sup> ~~in this way~~ that a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man has ~~the~~ <sup>True</sup> man's associates.
18. And how does a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man ~~think~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~good~~ <sup>man's</sup> thoughts? Here, ~~Sticholus~~, a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man does not ~~think~~ <sup>with</sup> for his own affliction, ~~or~~ <sup>or</sup> for he does ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> think ~~for~~ <sup>with</sup> his own affliction, ~~or~~ <sup>or</sup> he does ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> think ~~for~~ <sup>with</sup> the affliction of both. ~~It is in this way~~ <sup>It is in this way</sup> that a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man ~~thinks~~ <sup>thinks</sup> ~~good~~ <sup>man's</sup> thoughts.
19. And how does a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man give ~~good~~ <sup>man's</sup> counsel? Here, ~~Sticholus~~, a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man does not counsel for his own affliction, he does not counsel for others' affliction, he does not counsel for the affliction of both. ~~It is in this way~~ <sup>It is in this way</sup> that a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man ~~counsel~~ <sup>gives</sup> ~~good~~ <sup>man's</sup> counsel as a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man.
20. And how does a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man speak ~~good~~ <sup>man's</sup> words? Here, ~~Sticholus~~, a ~~good~~ <sup>True</sup> man abstains from false speech, he abstains from malicious speech, he abstains from harsh speech, he abstains from ~~ill~~ <sup>gossip</sup>.





who <sup>speaks</sup> ~~speaks~~ <sup>means</sup> ~~means~~ <sup>words</sup>, who performs ~~the~~  
 5. acts <sup>which</sup> ~~holds~~ <sup>good</sup> ~~man~~ <sup>is a true man</sup> and <sup>the</sup>  
 as a ~~good~~ <sup>free</sup> man, on the ~~disruption~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body,  
 after death, reappears in the ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man's  
 destination. And what is ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~good~~ <sup>good</sup> man's ~~destination~~  
 greatness among ~~gods~~ <sup>gods</sup> or greatness among  
 human beings.

So the Blind One said. The blind ones  
 were satisfied, and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>delighted</sup> ~~at~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~his~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~words~~.  
 (They agreed with

Handwritten notes in blue ink, including the word "MAY" and other illegible scribbles.



Majjhima Nikāya III - Anupada Sutta (3, 2, 1)

1. <sup>25</sup> Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus ». — « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this.

2. « Bhikkhus, Sāriputta is wise. Sāriputta has great understanding; Sāriputta has wide understanding; Sāriputta has joyous understanding; Sāriputta has impulsive understanding; Sāriputta has keen understanding; Sāriputta has penetrative understanding. During half a month, Bhikkhus, Sāriputta had insight into ideas one by one as they arose. Now Sāriputta's insight into ideas one by one as they arose was this:

3. Here, Bhikkhus, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, Sāriputta entered upon and abode in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and exploring, with happiness and pleasure born of seclusion.

4. And the ideas in the first illumination — the thinking, the exploring, the happiness, the pleasure, and the unification of cognizance; the contact, feeling, perception, volition, and cognizance; the zeal, decision, energy, mind-



fulness, outlook (equanimity), and attention — these ideas were defined by him one by one as they ~~arose~~<sup>occurred</sup>; known to him ~~those ideas arose~~, known ~~to him~~. They were present, known they disappeared. He understood thus: 'So it seems, these ideas, not having been <sup>coming to</sup> have ~~positive~~ <sup>actual</sup> being, having been, they vanish'. ~~He abode as unswayed in their favour as in their disfavour.~~ With respect to those ideas he abode un-  
~~affected, unrepelled,~~ independent, detached, free, dissociated, with <sup>insight</sup> ~~insight~~ rid of barriers. He understood 'there is an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was.

5. Again, blissless, with the stilling of thinking and exploring Sariputta entered upon and abode in ~~26~~ the second illumination, which has self-confidence and singleness of cognizance without thinking and without exploring, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration.
6. And the ideas in the second illumination — the self-confidence, the happiness, the pleasure, and the unification of cognizance; the contact, feeling, perception,



5 volition, and cognizance; the zeal, decision,  
 energy, mindfulness, outlook (equanim-  
 ity), and attention — these ideas were de-  
 10 fined by him one by one as they occurred;  
 known to him those ideas arose, known ~~to~~  
~~him~~ they were present, known they dis-  
 appeared. He understood thus: 'So, it seems,  
 these ideas, not having been, come to posit-  
 ive being; having been, they vanish'.  
 With respect to those ideas he abode un-  
 15 ~~attached, unrepelled, unrepelled~~, independent, detached,  
 free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of  
 barriers. He understood 'there is an es-  
 cape beyond', and with the cultivation  
 of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that  
 20 there was.

7. Again, bhikkhus, with the fading  
 as well of happiness *sāriṇṇa*, still feel-  
 ing pleasure with his body, entered  
 upon and abode in the third illumination,  
 on account of which the Noble One ann-  
 ounce 'He has a pleasant abiding who is  
 an outlooker (with equanimity)'.

8. And the ideas in the third illumina-  
 tion — the outlook (equanimity), the  
 pleasure, the mindfulness, the full  
 awareness, and the unification of cognizance;



5 The contact, feeling, perception, volition,  
and cognizance; the zeal, decision,  
energy, mindfulness, outlook (equani-  
mity, and attention — these ideas  
were defined by him one by one as they  
10 occurred; known to him they arose, known  
they were present, known they disap-  
peared. He understood thus: 'So, it seems,  
these ideas, not having been, come to have  
positive being; having been, they vanish.'  
With respect to these ideas he abode, <sup>unobscured</sup> ~~unobscured~~  
~~taught, un-pelled,~~ independent, detached,  
free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of bar-  
riers. He understood 'there is an escape be-  
yond', and with the cultivation of that [attain-  
ment] he [contrived] that there was.

9. Again, blissless, with the abandoning of  
pleasure and pain and with the previous  
disappearance of joy and grief Sariputta  
entered upon and abode in the fourth illu-  
mination, which has neither-pain-no-pleas-  
ure and the purity of whose mindfulness  
is due to outlook (equanimity).
10. And the ideas in the fourth illumina-  
tion — the outlook (equanimity, the nei-  
ther-painful-no-pleasant feeling, the men-  
tal uninterest, <sup>due to confidence</sup> the purity of mindfulness,  
and the unification of cognizance; the con-  
tact, feeling, perception, volition, and cogniz-  
ance, the zeal, decision, energy, mindfulness,



135  
10  
outlooking (equanimity) and attention — these ideas were defined by him one by one as they occurred; known to him those ideas arose, known they were present <sup>27</sup> known they disappeared. He understood thus: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to these ideas he abode <sup>in being and towards a goal</sup> ~~unattracted, was pulled~~ independent, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of barriers. He understood: 'there is an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [comprised] that there was.

11. Again, bhikkhus, with the ~~abandoning~~ of pleasure and pain and with the ~~previous disappearance of joy and grief~~ ~~entered upon~~ complete surmounting of perceptions of form, with the disappearance of perceptions of resistance, with not giving attention to perceptions of difference, [aware that] 'space infinite', Śāriputta entered upon and abode in the base consisting of infiniteness of space.

12. And the ideas in the base consisting of infiniteness of space — the perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of space and the unification of cognizance; the contact,



feeling, perception, volition, and cognizance; the zeal, decision, energy, mindfulness, outlook (equanimity), and attention — these ideas were defined by him one by one as they occurred; known to him they arose, known they were present, known they disappeared. He understood them: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to those ideas he <sup>unbiased</sup> <sup>stands</sup> <sup>or</sup> <sup>agrees</sup> <sup>with</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>independence</sup>, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was.

13. Again, bhikkhus, by completely surmounting the base consisting of infiniteness of space, [aware that] 'Consciousness is infinite', Sāriyputta entered upon and abode in the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness.

14. And the ideas in the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness — the perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness, and the unification of cognizance; the contact, feeling, perception,



137  
 volition, and cognizance; the zeal, decision, energy, mindfulness, onlooking (equanimity), and attention — these ideas were defined by him one by one as they occurred; known to him they arose, known they were present, known they disappeared. He understood thus: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to those ideas he abode unattracted, <sup>considered or apprehended</sup> unrepelled, independent, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of barriers. He understood 'there is an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was.

15. [28] Again, bhikkhus, by completely surmounting the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness, [aware that] 'there is nothing', Sariputta entered upon and abode in the base consisting of nothingness.

16. And the ideas in the base consisting of nothingness — the perception of the base consisting of nothingness, and the unimpedimentation of cognizance; the contact, feeling, perception, volition, and cognizance; the zeal, decision, energy, mindfulness, onlooking (equanimity), and attention — these ideas were defined by him one by one as they occurred; known to him those ideas arose, known to him they



were present, known they disappeared. He understood thus: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to those ideas he abode <sup>unbiased</sup> unattracted, <sup>towards or against</sup> unrepelled, independent, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of barriers. He understood 'there is an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was.

17. Again, bhikkhus, by completely surmounting the base consisting of nothingness, Sariputta entered upon and abode in the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

18. He emerged mindful from that attainment. Having done so, he recalled the past ideas, now ceased and changed, thus: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to those ideas, he abode unattracted, unrepelled, independent, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of barriers. He understood 'there is an escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was.

19. Again, bhikkhus, by completely



139  
 surmounting of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception. Śāriputta entered upon and abode in the cessation of perception and feeling, and his cankers were exhausted by his seeing with understanding.

20. He emerged mindful from that attainment. Having done so, he recalled the past ideas, now changed and changed, thus: 'So, it seems, these ideas, not having been, come to have positive being; having been, they vanish'. With respect to those ideas he abode unattracted, unrepelled, independent, detached, free, dissociated, with cognizance rid of barriers. He understood 'there is no escape beyond', and with the cultivation of that [attainment] he [confirmed] that there was not.

21. Were it, rightly speaking, to be said of someone 'He has reached mastery, reached perfection, in the Noble Ones' virtue, the Noble Ones' concentration, the Noble Ones' understanding, the Noble Ones' deliverance', ~~and the Noble Ones'~~ it is of Śāriputta indeed that, rightly speaking, it should be said

22. Were it, rightly speaking, to be said of someone 'He is the Enlightened One's son,



born of his breast, of his mouth, born of  
the True Idea, created by the True Idea,  
heir ~~of~~ <sup>in</sup> the True Idea, not heir ~~of~~ <sup>in</sup> material  
things', it is of Sāriputta that, rightly  
speaking, & that & should be said.

23. Bhikkhus  
(The matchless Wheel of the True Idea  
set rolling by the Perfect One is kept  
rolling rightly by Sāriputta >>.

That is what the Blessed One said.  
The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they de-  
delighted in his words.

Notes for pativanta (so read), cf. pativipeti at III. 35  
This Sutta more than any other suggests it-  
self as the basis for such Abhidhamma  
analyses as occur in the Dhammasāṅgāṇī.

§2 Cf. S. II 29.

§4 The concluding sentence of each final  
clause rendered literally is 'With repetition of  
that it [occurred] to him "there is"'.  
§10 'Due to confidence - pasādhattā': This  
reading, following the commentary seems preferable  
to the Siamese text's parisuddhattā ('due to  
purity'), Nānavimāla Thera's Sinhalese edition  
has passaddhattā ('due to tranquillization').  
P.T.S. ed. has 'passi vedanā' seems both un-  
accountable and meaningless.

'Uninterested - anāthoga' in absence of that interest  
expressed by the words in §7 'Of which the Noble One announces' etc.



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 112 Chabbisodhana Sutta  
(3, 2, 2)

① Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~ <sup>time</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī, in Jeta's grove, Ananda pīṇḍika's Park. There, <sup>he</sup> the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus: — Bhikkhus. — Venerable Sir, they ~~blabber~~ <sup>replied</sup> to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this: He is one who tells

② Here, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu makes a declaration of final knowledge that birth is ~~destroyed~~ <sup>organically</sup>, the life <sup>desired</sup> ~~purpose~~ <sup>purpose</sup> has been lived, what was to be done is done. There is no more of this to come.

③ That bhikkhu's words should neither be approved nor disapproved. Without approving or disapproving, a question should be put: There are (friend), <sup>four</sup> ~~ways~~ <sup>ways</sup> of ~~speech~~ <sup>ways</sup> rightly proclaimed by the Blessed One who knows and sees, the accomplished, Fully Enlightened ~~one~~. Four? Telling ~~the~~ <sup>seen</sup> as it is seen; telling ~~the~~ <sup>heard</sup> as it is heard; telling ~~the~~ <sup>sensed</sup> as it is sensed; telling ~~the~~ <sup>cognized</sup> as it is cognized. friend, are the four <sup>ways</sup> ~~ways~~ of <sup>ways</sup> ~~speech~~ <sup>speech</sup> rightly proclaimed by the Blessed One who knows and sees, the Accomplished, Fully Enlightened ~~one~~. How does the



venerable one know, how does he see  
regarding these four <sup>ways</sup> ~~ways~~ of <sup>speech</sup> ~~speech~~ that  
through not clinging his <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ is liber-  
ated from cankers?

(When Bhikkhus) a bhikkhu's cankers  
are <sup>destroyed</sup> ~~destroyed~~, and he has lived the life,  
one what is to be done, laid down the  
orden, reached the highest good, destroy-  
ing the fetters of <sup>being</sup> ~~being~~, and through  
knowing rightly is liberated, this is the  
nature of his answer:

Regarding what <sup>is seen</sup> ~~is seen~~ friends  
<sup>apite</sup> ~~apite~~ neither liking nor disliking, in-  
dependent, unattached, free, <sup>disappointed</sup> ~~unfettered~~,  
with <sup>no</sup> ~~no~~ <sup>reservations</sup> ~~reservations~~ in my <sup>mind</sup> ~~mind~~.

~~Regarding what is heard,~~

~~Regarding what is sensed,~~

Regarding what <sup>is cognized</sup> ~~is cognized~~ friends  
<sup>apite</sup> ~~apite~~ neither liking nor disliking, in-  
dependent, unattached, free, <sup>disappointed</sup> ~~unfettered~~,  
with <sup>no</sup> ~~no~~ <sup>reservations</sup> ~~reservations~~ in my <sup>mind</sup> ~~mind~~.

It is knowing thus, seeing thus,  
regarding these four <sup>ways</sup> ~~ways~~ of <sup>speech</sup> ~~speech~~, that  
through not clinging my <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ is liber-  
ated from cankers.

Saying, Good, one should be <sup>glad</sup> ~~glad~~  
and <sup>may delight in</sup> ~~rejoice at~~ that bhikkhu's words. How-  
ever said, good, and been <sup>satisfied</sup> ~~glad~~ and <sup>is delighted</sup> ~~rejoiced~~  
at that bhikkhu's words, a further question  
will be <sup>is it thus</sup> ~~is it thus~~.



— (There are) (friends), these five aggregates  
 [as objects] of clinging rightly proclaimed  
 by the Blessed One who Knows and Sees,  
 the Accomplished, Fully Enlightened ~~One~~.  
 10 What five? They are the <sup>four</sup> ~~matter~~ aggregate  
 [as objects] of clinging, the feeling aggregate  
 [as objects] of clinging, the perception aggregate  
 [as objects] of clinging, the <sup>determination</sup> ~~formation~~  
 aggregate [as objects] of clinging, the con-  
 15 sciousness aggregate [as objects] of clinging.  
 These, friend, are the five aggregates [as  
 objects] of clinging rightly proclaimed by  
 the Blessed One who Knows and Sees, the  
 Accomplished, Fully Enlightened ~~One~~. How  
 20 does the Venerable One know, how does he  
 see, ~~that~~ regarding these five aggregates  
 [as objects] of clinging that through not  
 clinging his <sup>and</sup> ~~mind~~ is liberated from can-  
 kers?

③ — (When) (Bhikkhus), a bhikkhu's cankers  
 are <sup>exhausted</sup> ~~destroyed~~, ... This is the nature of  
 his answer:

③ — Knowing <sup>four</sup> matter, friends, to be  
 feeble, <sup>fading</sup> evanescent, and comfortless, I'  
 have <sup>and</sup> understood that my <sup>equanimity</sup> ~~mind~~ is  
 liberated with the <sup>transition</sup> ~~destruction~~, fading  
 5 ceasing ~~and~~, giving up, and relinquishing



of any bias <sup>of mind</sup> and clinging, of any ~~men-~~  
tal prejudices <sup>resolved with any</sup> and <sup>in instances</sup> interpretations, and  
any underlying tendencies, ~~regarding~~  
~~matter form~~

Knowing feeling . . .

Knowing perception . . .

Knowing <sup>determination</sup> formations . . .

Knowing consciousness, friends, to  
be feeble, evanescent, and comfortless,  
I have understood that my <sup>mind</sup> ~~mind~~ is  
liberated with the <sup>extinction</sup> destruction, fading,  
cessating, giving up, and relinquishing, of  
any bias and clinging, any  
<sup>resolved with (mind)</sup> mental prejudices and <sup>in instances</sup> interpretations,  
and any underlying tendencies, ~~regarding~~  
regarding consciousness.

It is knowing thus, seeing thus,  
regarding these five aggregates <sup>affected by</sup> ~~that~~  
~~facts~~ of clinging that through not  
clinging my <sup>cognition</sup> ~~mind~~ is liberated from  
cankers.

Saying, Good, one <sup>may</sup> ~~should~~ be <sup>satisfied</sup> glad  
and <sup>may delight in</sup> rejoice at that bhikkhu's <sup>words</sup>. Having  
said, Good, and <sup>delighted in</sup> ~~been~~ rejoiced at  
that bhikkhu's words, a further question  
<sup>may</sup> ~~should~~ be put thus:

— (There are, friend,) these six elements  
rightly proclaimed by the Blessed One



195  
 who knows and sees, ~~the~~ Accomplished, <sup>and</sup> Fully  
 Enlightened One. What six? <sup>There are</sup> the earth  
 element, the water element, the fire  
 element, the air element, the space  
 element, the consciousness element.  
 These, friend, are the six elements <sup>as</sup>  
 proclaimed by the Blessed One, who knows  
 and sees, ~~the~~ Accomplished, <sup>and</sup> Fully En-  
 lightened One. How does the venerable  
 know, how does he see, regarding these  
 six elements that through not clinging  
 his ~~mind~~ <sup>being</sup> is liberated from cankers

10 (When Bhikkhus) a bhikkhu's can-  
 kers are ~~destroyed~~ <sup>destroyed</sup>, . . . This is the nature  
 of his answer:

11 I have treated the earth element  
 friends, as not-self, <sup>and</sup> with ~~no~~ self  
 based on the earth element, <sup>and</sup> I  
 have understood that my <sup>conception</sup> ~~is~~ in-  
 5 terpreted with the <sup>of</sup> ~~destruction~~ <sup>destruction</sup>, fading, cea-  
 10 sing, giving up, and relinquishing, of  
 any <sup>bias</sup>, and clinging, any <sup>pre-  
judice</sup> ~~pre-  
judices~~ <sup>and</sup> interpretations, and any  
 15 inherent tendencies, based on the earth  
 element

I have treated the water element.  
 I have treated the fire element.  
 I have treated the air element.  
 I have treated the space element.  
 I have treated the consciousness



element as not self, <sup>and</sup> with no self based on the consciousness element. And I have understood that my <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~mind~~ is liberated with the <sup>extinction</sup> ~~destruction~~, fading, ceasing, giving up, and relinquishing, of any <sup>and</sup> clinging, any <sup>mental</sup> ~~pragmatic~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~interpretations~~ <sup>insistences</sup>, and any ~~underlying~~ tendencies, based on the consciousness element.

It is knowing thus, seeing thus, regarding these six elements that though not clinging my <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~mind~~ is liberated from cankers.

Saying - Good, <sup>32</sup> one should be <sup>may</sup> ~~glad~~ <sup>satisfied</sup> and <sup>may</sup> ~~rejoice~~ <sup>blight</sup> that bhikkhu's words. Having said - Good, and being <sup>satisfied</sup> ~~glad~~ and <sup>blight</sup> ~~rejoiced~~ at that bhikkhu's words, a further question <sup>may</sup> ~~should~~ be put thus:

But, there are <sup>friend</sup> these six ~~external~~ external bases rightly proclaimed by the Blessed One who Knows and Sees, Accomplished, fully Enlightened ~~One~~. What six? <sup>They are</sup> (eye and <sup>of forms</sup> visible objects), ear and sounds, nose and odours, tongue and flavours, body and tangible ~~objects~~ <sup>ideas</sup>, mind and ~~mental~~ <sup>mental</sup> objects. These, friend, are the six ~~external~~ external bases rightly proclaimed by the Blessed One who Knows and Sees, Accomplished, fully Enlightened ~~One~~. How does the venerable One know, how does he see, regarding these six ~~external~~ <sup>in-oneself - and</sup> external



bases that by not clinging his <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~bound~~ is liberated from cankers?

(15) When Whitelkhus, a Whitelkhus's cankers are <sup>exhausted</sup> destroyed, ... This is the nature of his answer.

(16) I have understood that it is with the destruction, fading, ceasing, giving up, and relinquishing, of <sup>any</sup> ~~desire~~ and greed, <sup>and</sup> ~~delight~~ and craving, of <sup>any</sup> ~~bias~~ and clinging, of <sup>any</sup> ~~mental fetters~~, <sup>any</sup> ~~interpretations~~, and <sup>any</sup> ~~inherent tendencies~~, regarding <sup>the</sup> eye, <sup>the</sup> ~~object~~ eye-consciousness, and <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ cognizable <sup>through</sup> eye-consciousness, that <sup>the</sup> ~~mind~~ is liberated. ~~in form~~

I have understood ... regarding <sup>the</sup> ear, a <sup>sound</sup> ~~ear~~ ear-consciousness, and <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ cognizable <sup>through</sup> ear-consciousness.

I have understood ... regarding <sup>the</sup> nose, a <sup>lodour</sup> ~~nose~~ nose-consciousness, and <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ cognizable <sup>through</sup> nose-consciousness.

I have understood ... regarding <sup>the</sup> tongue, a <sup>flavour</sup> ~~tongue~~ tongue-consciousness, and <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ cognizable <sup>through</sup> tongue-consciousness.

I have understood ... regarding <sup>the</sup> body, a <sup>touchable</sup> ~~body~~ body-consciousness, and <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ cognizable <sup>through</sup> body-consciousness.

I have understood that it is with the destruction, fading, ceasing, giving up, and relinquishing, of <sup>any</sup> ~~desire~~ and greed, <sup>and</sup> ~~delight~~ <sup>any</sup> ~~things~~ <sup>concern</sup>



and craving, ~~of~~ <sup>any</sup> bias and clinging, ~~any~~ <sup>hard</sup> ~~eye~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~mind~~, ~~mental~~ <sup>insistence</sup> ~~prejudices~~, ~~interpretations~~, ~~and~~ ~~ideas~~ ~~of~~ ~~being~~ ~~tendencies~~ regarding ~~things~~, ~~mental~~ ~~objects~~, ~~mind~~ ~~consciousness~~ and ~~ideas~~ ~~con-~~ ~~ceptible~~ ~~by~~ ~~the~~ ~~mind~~ ~~of~~ ~~itself~~ that ~~any~~ ~~consciousness~~ ~~is~~ ~~liberated~~.

It is knowing thus, seeing thus, regarding these six <sup>in</sup> ~~internal~~ <sup>external</sup> bases that through not clinging, ~~my~~ ~~mind~~ ~~is~~ ~~liberated~~ from cankers.

17) Saying, Good, one ~~should~~ <sup>ought</sup> be glad and ~~rejoice~~ <sup>rejoice</sup> at that bhikkhu's words. Having said, Good, and ~~been~~ <sup>satisfied</sup> glad and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at that bhikkhu's words, a further question ~~should~~ <sup>may</sup> be put thus:

18) But, <sup>friend,</sup> how does the venerable one know, how does he see, that his ~~inherent~~ <sup>inherent</sup> tendencies to treat this body with ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~compassion~~ <sup>compassion</sup> ~~and~~ ~~all~~ ~~external~~ ~~signs~~, ~~according~~ ~~to~~ ~~the~~ ~~concepts~~ of "I" and "mine" have been <sup>quite</sup> eradicated? 33

19) When ~~the~~ ~~bhikkhu~~ ~~Da~~ ~~bhikkhu~~ ~~'s~~ ~~cankers~~ are ~~destroyed~~, and he has lived the life, done what is to be done, laid down the burden, reached the highest <sup>aim</sup> good, destroyed the fetter of ~~clinging~~ <sup>being</sup>, and through knowing rightly is liberated, this is the nature of his answer.

no space



149

20-25

(18) - Formerly friends as a householder I had no wisdom. The Perfect One - or a disciple of the Perfect One - Taught me the Dharma Time I did

(19) - (25) On hearing that Dharma, I had faith in the Perfect One. Possessed of that faith, I considered: Home life is crowded and dirty; life gone forth is wide open... [and so on as in M. 27 & 16 to 21.  $\frac{3}{4}$  up to] ... I purified my mind from uncertainty.

(26) - (29) 36 Having abandoned these five hindrances, defilements of the heart that weaken understanding, secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable things, I entered upon and abode in the first stage, ... [and so on as in M. 4 & 23  $\frac{2}{3}$  (up to)] ... the purity of mind fulner, due to equanimity

When my concentrated mind was thus purified, bright, unblemished, rid of defilement, and had become unshakable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperturbability, I directed my mind to the knowledge of the destruction of cankers ... [and so on as in M. 4. & 26 up to] ... I had direct knowledge: Birth is abandoned, the life of purify has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come.

It is knowing thus, seeing thus, that my indecipher tendency is to treat this body with its consciousness, and all external



according to the conceits  
signs, ~~the terms of~~ "I" and "mine" have been  
quite eradicated.

- 31) Saying, Good, one should be glad and  
~~rejoice at~~ that bhikkhu's words. Having  
said, Good, and been glad and ~~rejoiced at~~  
that bhikkhu's words, one may tell him:  
It is gain for us, friend, <sup>31</sup> it is great gain  
for us, friend, to ~~see~~ <sup>friend</sup> one who lives the  
life of ~~renunciation~~ <sup>friend</sup> as ~~such~~ this venerable one  
does.

So ~~said~~ the Blessed One <sup>said</sup> ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>satisfied</sup>  
the bhikkhus ~~rejoiced at his words~~ <sup>satisfied</sup> were  
~~satisfied and rejoiced at his words~~  
~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup>

32) <sup>32</sup> for rendering of abhinivera see  
M 22, note ○

33) <sup>33</sup> "vādita" <sup>(telling)</sup>: not nom. of vāditav (one who  
tells) but apparently a f. n. from vādeti meaning  
act or state of telling. Not in P.T.S. Dict. See  
also D. iii 232., where vādita is not "one who tells"  
as given in P.T.S. Dict.

312) A difficult sentence to construe a literal  
rendering might be: "I have approached the earth  
element as not-self, and not as self based on  
the earth element."







should be ~~practised~~ <sup>by putting</sup> the practice of the way first, ~~and~~ he neither ~~praises~~ <sup>praises</sup> himself nor disparages others because of ~~status~~ <sup>aristocracy</sup> of family. This is the ~~first~~ <sup>very</sup> main ~~law~~ <sup>idea</sup>.

3. Moreover ~~a bad man~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> who has gone forth from a great family...

4. Moreover ~~a bad man~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> who has gone forth from a family of great ~~influence~~ <sup>influence</sup>...

5. Moreover ~~a bad man~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> who has gone forth from a family of special influence...

6. Moreover ~~a bad man~~ <sup>one not a true</sup> who is known and famous considers thus: - "I am known and famous; but these other ~~whitelins~~ <sup>whitelins</sup> are unknown and of no account." Because of

being known, he ~~exalts~~ <sup>exalts</sup> himself and disparages others because of being known. This is the ~~idea of one up a true man~~ <sup>idea of one up a true man</sup> ~~ling~~ <sup>ling</sup>

7. ~~Consider~~ <sup>Consider</sup> thus: - "It is not because of being known that ~~ideas~~ <sup>ideas</sup> of greed or ~~status~~ <sup>status</sup> of

10. ~~hate or~~ <sup>hate or</sup> ~~ideas~~ <sup>ideas</sup> of delusion become ~~exhausted~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>. ~~Thought~~ <sup>Thought</sup> a man, ~~though~~ <sup>though</sup> he may not be known

and famous, yet he has entered upon the way that records with the ~~eye~~ <sup>eye</sup> of ~~Eden~~ <sup>Eden</sup> has entered upon the ~~proper~~ <sup>proper</sup> way, and follows the ~~True~~ <sup>True</sup> ~~Law~~ <sup>Law</sup>,

16. it is for that he should be honoured, for that he should be ~~commended~~ <sup>commended</sup>. So, by putting the practice of the way first, he neither









M. 113) For no matter upon what a man conceives (a concept), the fact is ever <sup>other than</sup> that (concept which he conceives).

the attainment of the first <sup>abstraction</sup> <sup>to</sup> This is the idea of me and a true man <sup>but</sup> man considers ~~that~~ ~~man~~ ~~has~~.

Thus: - ~~concept~~ "Disaffinity" <sup>Disaffinity</sup> even from the attainment of the first <sup>abstraction</sup> has been de-

clined by the Blessed One, for <sup>on</sup> whatever <sup>basis</sup> people conceive ~~the~~ ~~fact~~ ~~is~~ ~~ever~~ other than that <sup>concept</sup>. So, by putting <sup>abstraction</sup> first,

he neither ~~exalts~~ ~~himself~~ ~~nor~~ ~~disparages~~ others: <sup>lauds</sup> <sup>himself</sup> <sup>nor</sup> <sup>disparages</sup> others: <sup>truth</sup> <sup>is</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>man's</sup> <sup>idea</sup> =

21. Moreover <sup>abandoning</sup> <sup>with</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>stopping</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>applied</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>pondering</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>thought</sup> <sup>a</sup> <sup>man</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>second</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>abstraction</sup>, illumination ...

22. Moreover with the <sup>abandoning</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>applied</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>pondering</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>thought</sup> <sup>a</sup> <sup>man</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>third</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>abstraction</sup>, illumination ...

23. Moreover with the abandoning of <sup>bodily</sup> pleasure and pain <sup>one</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>fourth</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>abstraction</sup>, illumination ...

24. Moreover with the complete surmounting of perceptions of <sup>form</sup> <sup>with</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>disappearance</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>perceptions</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>resistance</sup> <sup>with</sup> <sup>not</sup> <sup>giving</sup> <sup>attention</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>perceptions</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>difference</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>awareness</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>boundless</sup> <sup>space</sup>, <sup>one</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>base</sup> <sup>consisting</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>boundless</sup> <sup>space</sup> ...

25. Moreover, by completely surmounting the base consisting of <sup>boundless</sup> <sup>space</sup>, <sup>one</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>base</sup> <sup>consisting</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>boundless</sup> <sup>space</sup>, <sup>one</sup> <sup>enters</sup> <sup>upon</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>abides</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>base</sup> <sup>consisting</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>boundless</sup> <sup>space</sup> ...



18. "Boundless" Consciousness <sup>is infinite</sup> "one left a true" <sup>one left a true</sup> enters upon and abides in the sup base consisting of boundless Consciousness... 94

26. Moreover, by completely surmounting the base consisting of <sup>infinite</sup> boundless Consciousness and [aware that,] "there is nothing," <sup>one left</sup> one enters upon and abides in the base consisting of nothingness...

27. Moreover, by completely surmounting the base consisting of <sup>one left</sup> nothingness, <sup>one left</sup> one enters upon and abides in the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception. He considers thus: "I have gained the attainment of the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception; but these other blissful have not gained the attainment of the base consisting of

neither-perception-nor-non-perception." So he praises himself and disparages others because of gaining the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception. This too is <sup>idea of one left a true</sup> the <sup>time</sup> same <sup>time</sup> thing as a good man considers thus: - "Divinity even from the attainment of the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception has been declared by the Blessed One; for in whatever basis people conceive [self], the fact is ever other than that." So by putting a loop



first, he neither ~~saath~~ <sup>saath</sup> himself nor dis-  
parages others. This too is the <sup>true</sup> ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> 49

28. Moreover, a good man by completely  
surmounting the base consisting of neither-  
perception nor non-perception a <sup>true</sup>  
man enters upon and <sup>abides</sup> in the  
cessation of perception and feeling, and ~~that~~  
5 ~~he by has seeing with understanding~~ <sup>when</sup>  
his cankers are ~~exhausted~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>. This bhikkhu  
does not conceive ~~MMs~~ as any one, he does  
not conceive ~~MMs~~ as any <sup>place</sup> ~~place~~, he does not  
conceive ~~MMs~~, though ~~the means of anything~~  
any means.

So the Blessed One said. The  
bhikkhus were <sup>delighted</sup> ~~satisfied~~ and <sup>they agreed with his</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>his</sup>  
~~bliss~~ ~~and~~ ~~his~~ ~~words~~.

Notes. § 2 The Text has "And what is the  
good man's law" but I have followed the  
commentary and {idea}

"By putting ... first (antaram karitva)"  
cf. M. 108 § 28 and commentary. Copenhagen edit.  
gives the meaning as "including or making the  
main thing)" which fits the context in both suttas  
while the meaning given in P.T.S. Edit does not.

§ 20 ~~Alaques~~ (atammayata = a +  
<sup>on a footing</sup>)

(cf. silamaya at 18, 19, 27 (Sutta) 18 § 21  
lit. not satisfied with that alone.)

152

- tam + maya + ta (cf. M. 13) § 21. The  
word is not in P.T.S. Dict. In addition to  
the Commentary's explanation (q.v.) the  
Tika says: "Kamatahādikaṃ taya taya  
nibbatti ti tammayā puthujānaṃ; yathā  
thārupagamaneva tesāṃ bhavo tammayatā,  
Tappatikkhepatā atammayatā nittanhatā II."

"For in whatever way people conceive  
[self], the fact is ever other than that (yaṃ  
yaṃ hi maññanti tāta tam hoti aññathā)"

The expression <sup>almost verbatim</sup> occurs at Ud. I 10. See S. iii, 23

If we take the word atammayatā literally  
as "not made of thatness", then the second  
expression falls into place thus: "The thought  
'I am not made of that' when dealing with any  
jñāna consciousness & its object is recommended  
by the Buddha; for on whatever basis  
(yaṃ yaṃ hi) they <sup>i.e. people,</sup> conceive [self] to be  
made of <sup>that</sup> (maññanti), ~~it is~~ the fact,  
the jñāna (tam), is ever other (asti aññathā)  
than that conceived self (tāta)" - at least  
that is how I take this. maññanti has  
to be taken in the sense in which it is  
used in U. 1 and U. 140.

"See also S. 246 ya hi tammayā so  
mat. Sutta 17, § 13 no ca tava  
tammayatā (v. 319)



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 114 - Sevitaḅḅasevitaḅḅa sutta  
(3, 2, 4)

1. This I heard.

~~At~~ <sup>one</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>the</sup> Blessed One was living at Sāvallhi in Jeta's grove, Anāthapindika's Park. There, ~~the~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~Blessed One~~ addressed the bhikkhus thus - 'Bhikkhus', - 'Venerable sir' they ~~then~~ <sup>then</sup> replied. ~~to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

2. - 'Bhikkhus, I shall expound to you a ~~dis-~~  
course on what should and what should not be cultivated. ~~Heard~~ <sup>hear</sup> and ~~attend~~ <sup>attend</sup> carefully to what I shall say.'

- 'even so, venerable sir,' the bhikkhus replied. ~~to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

1. Synopsis

3. ① - 'Bhikkhus, there is bodily behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And bodily behaviour is either the one or ~~it is~~ the other.

5 ② 'There is verbal behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And verbal behaviour is either the one or ~~it is~~ the other.

10 ③ 'There is mental behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And mental behaviour is either the one or ~~it is~~ the other.

15 ④ 'There is ~~thought~~ <sup>thought</sup> arousing of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And ~~thought~~ <sup>thought</sup> arousing is either the one ~~it is~~ the other. 46

⑤ 'There is ~~perception~~ <sup>perception</sup> of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.'

And thought was <sup>attainment</sup> ~~acquisition~~ of perception is either  
 20 the one or ~~it is~~ the other.

⑥ There is <sup>attainment</sup> ~~acquisition~~ of view of two kinds,  
 I say: to be cultivated or not to be cultivated.  
 And <sup>attainment</sup> ~~acquisition~~ of view is either the one or the  
 other.

25 ⑦ There is <sup>attainment</sup> ~~acquisition~~ of selfhood  
 of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be  
 cultivated. And <sup>attainment</sup> ~~acquisition~~ of selfhood is either  
 the one or the other.

### 1st Elaboration

40 When this was said, the venerable Sāri-  
 putha said to the Blessed One — 'Venerable Sir,  
 I understand the detailed meaning of the Blessed  
 One's utterance, ~~which he has spoken in brief~~  
 without expounding the detailed meaning, to be  
 thus:

50 ① <sup>oblivious,</sup> "There is bodily behaviour of two kinds,  
 I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivat-  
 ed. And bodily behaviour is either the one or  
 the other." <sup>by the Blessed One, ~~expressly~~</sup> so it was said. <sup>with reference to</sup>  
 5 ~~said~~ <sup>what was</sup> then said?

'Venerable sir, such bodily behaviour  
 as increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and decreases  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it  
 should not be cultivated. But such bodily  
 60 behaviour as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and  
 increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who culti-  
 vates it should be cultivated.

'And what ~~about~~ <sup>about</sup> bodily behaviour increases  
 unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and decreases profitable



15 ~~spices~~ in him who cultivates it? <sup>breathes</sup>  
 Here some one is a killer of ~~living~~ <sup>breathes</sup> things; he is  
 murderous, bloody handed, given to blows and  
 violence, merciless to all ~~living~~ <sup>breathes</sup> things. He is a  
 taker of what is not given: he takes as a thief  
 20 another's ~~belongings~~ <sup>in several degrees</sup> and property of another in the  
 village or in the forest, he is given to ~~conduct~~  
 misconduct: he has intercourse with such [wo-  
 men] as are protected by the mother, father,  
 25 mother and father, brother, sister, relatives, as have  
 a husband, as entail a penalty, and even with  
 those that are garlanded in token of betrothal.  
 Such bodily behavior <sup>(24-7)</sup> increases unprofitable  
~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who  
 cultivates it.

30 And what bodily behavior decreases un-  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup>  
 in him who cultivates it?

35 Here some one, abandoning the killing of  
~~living~~ <sup>breathes</sup> things, becomes one who abstains from  
 killing ~~living~~ <sup>breathes</sup> things: with rod and weapon  
 laid aside, gentle and kindly, he ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> com-  
 passionate to all ~~creatures~~ <sup>creatures</sup>. Abandoning the  
 taking of what is not given, he becomes one who  
 abstains from the taking of what is not given:  
 40 ~~taking~~ he does not take as a thief ~~the~~ <sup>another's</sup> ~~belongings~~ <sup>belongings</sup>  
 and property ~~of another~~ <sup>of another</sup> in the village or in the  
 forest. Abandoning ~~sexual~~ <sup>in several degrees</sup> misconduct, he be-  
 comes one who abstains from ~~sexual~~ <sup>in several degrees</sup> misconduct:  
 45 he does not have intercourse with such [women]  
 as are protected by the mother, father, mother  
 and father, brother, sister, relatives, as have  
 a husband, as entail a penalty, and even  
 with those that are garlanded in token of betrothal.



Such bodily behaviour decreases unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> things and increases profitable <sup>ideas</sup> things in him who cultivates it. So it was said by the Blessed One. "White-khus, there is bodily behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And bodily behaviour is either the one or the other."

6. ③ "There is verbal behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And verbal behaviour is either one or the other." So it was said by the Blessed One. And <sup>with reference to what was</sup> this said.

Venerable sir, such verbal behaviour as increases unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> things and decreases profitable <sup>ideas</sup> things in him who cultivates it should not be cultivated. But such verbal behaviour as decreases unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> things and increases profitable <sup>ideas</sup> things in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.

And what verbal behaviour increases unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> things and decreases profitable <sup>ideas</sup> things in him who cultivates it?

Here some one speaks falsehood: when summoned to a ~~hall~~ court or a to a meeting, <sup>48</sup> to his relatives' presence, or to his guild, or to the royal family's presence, and questioned as a witness, "So, good man, tell what you know", not knowing, he says "I know", or knowing, he says "I do not know", not seeing, he says "I see", or seeing, he says "I do not see";



in full awareness he speaks falsehood for  
 25 his own ends or for another's ends, or for some  
 trifling worldly end. He speaks maliciously;  
 he is a repeater elsewhere of what is heard  
 here for the purpose of causing division  
 from these, or he is a repeater to these of  
 30 what ~~he has~~ is heard elsewhere for the pur-  
 pose of causing division from those, and he  
 is thus a divider of the united, a creator of  
 divisions, who enjoys discord, rejoices in dis-  
 cord, delights in discord, he is a speaker of  
 35 words that create discord. He speaks harshly;  
 he utters such words as are rough, hard,  
 hurtful to others, censorious of others, bordering  
 on anger, and un conducive to concentration.

He is a gossip: he is one who tells <sup>what is in</sup> secret  
 40 ~~on what is in secret and what is in secret~~ and ~~what is in secret~~  
 not ~~discipline~~ and ~~discipline~~ Discipline <sup>is</sup> he is a  
 speaker <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ ~~words~~ <sup>words</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~worth~~ <sup>worth</sup> re-  
 cording, <sup>which are</sup> ~~un~~ <sup>un</sup> ~~reasoned~~, <sup>un</sup> ~~un~~ <sup>un</sup> ~~intentional~~, and  
<sup>unconcerned</sup> ~~unconcerned~~ with any good.

45 Such ~~total~~ verbal behavior decreases  
 unprofitable ~~states~~ <sup>states</sup> and decreases ~~un~~ profitable  
~~states~~ <sup>states</sup> in ~~him~~ <sup>him</sup> who cultivates it.

And what verbal behavior decreases  
 unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable  
 50 ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it?

Here someone, abandoning false speech,  
 becomes one who abstains from false speech:  
 when summoned to a court, or to a meeting,  
 or to his relatives' presence, or to a guild, or to  
 55 the royal family's presence, and questioned  
 as a witness, do, good man, tell what you



knows", not knowing, he says "I do not know";  
~~not seeing, he says "I do not see"; or knowing,~~  
 seeing, he says "I know"; not seeing, he says "I  
 do not see"; or seeing, he says "I see"; he does  
 not in full awareness speak falsehood for  
 his own ends or for another's ends or for  
 some trifling worldly end. Abandoning malic-  
 ious speech, he becomes one who abstains  
 from malicious speech: as one who is not a  
 repeater elsewhere of what is heard here for  
 the purpose of causing division from these, or  
 a repeater to these of what is heard else-  
 where for the purpose of causing division  
 from those; who is thus a reuniter of the  
 divided, a creator of friendships, who en-  
 joys concord, rejoices in concord, delights  
 in concord, he becomes one a speaker of  
 words that promote concord. Abandoning  
 harsh speech, he becomes one who abstains  
 from harsh speech: he becomes a speaker of  
 such words as are innocent, pleasing to the  
 ear and lovable, as go to the heart, are  
 civil, desired of many and dear to many.  
 Abandoning gossip, he becomes one who ab-  
 stains from gossip: as one who tells in seas-  
 on <sup>what he has seen and heard</sup> ~~that he has seen and heard~~ <sup>beneficial</sup> ~~beneficial~~, and of  
~~the one I see~~ <sup>the one I see</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~discipline~~ <sup>discipline</sup>, he becomes a  
 speaker of ~~words~~ <sup>words</sup> ~~with remembering~~ <sup>with remembering</sup>  
 seasons, ~~measured~~ <sup>measured</sup>, and ~~beneficial~~ <sup>beneficial</sup>.  
 Each verbal behavior decreases un-  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable  
 things in him who cultivates it.



145  
 90 So for this reason it was said, "There is verbal behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And verbal behaviour is either the one or the other."

7. (3) "There is mental behaviour of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And mental behaviour is either the one or the other." So it was said. And why was this said?

5 - (Venerable sir, such mental behaviour as increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should not be cultivated. But such mental behaviour as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.

14. And what mental behaviour increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it? ~~(The intention is or the intention is not.)~~

with the intention of a mind affected by hate  
 Here some one is covetous; he is a coveter of another's belongings <sup>chattels, and</sup> and property; thus "Oh, that that is another's were mine!" Or he is ill-willed; he <sup>strives</sup> with hate in <sup>his</sup> mind <sup>to</sup> ~~kill~~ <sup>kill</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>other</sup> <sup>person</sup>. May these ~~things~~ <sup>creatures</sup> be killed, <sup>to</sup> <sup>be</sup> <sup>destroyed</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>annihilated</sup>! <sup>or</sup> <sup>may</sup> <sup>they</sup> <sup>be</sup> <sup>cut</sup> <sup>off</sup>, <sup>perish</sup>, <sup>or</sup> <sup>come</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>nothing</sup>!"

20 ~~They be cut off, perish, or come to nothing! Or he has wrong view: his vision is perverted thus: "There is no giving, no offering, no sacrificing, no fruit or result of good and bad deeds, no this world, no other world, no mother, no father, no apparitional beings, no good and virtuous ascetics and brahmins that have themselves realized by direct knowledge and believe this world and the other world."~~

Such mental behaviour increases un-



profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it.

And what ~~mental~~ <sup>ideas</sup> behaviours decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?

Here someone is not covetous; he is left a coveter of another's belongings <sup>and challenges</sup> and property thus "Oh that what is another's were mine!" He is without ill-will: he ~~thinks~~ <sup>wishes</sup> without hate in his mind thus "May these ~~things~~ <sup>people</sup> be free from enmity, affliction and anxiety, may they live happily." ~~He has right views. His vision is un-~~

~~perverted thus: There is giving, and offering, and sacrificing, and fruit and result of good and bad deeds, and there is this world and the other world, and mother, and father, and apparitional beings, and good and virtuous ascetics and brahmins that have themselves realized. By direct knowledge and discerned this world and the other world."~~

such mental behaviours decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it.

by the Blessed One (so ~~for~~ <sup>in</sup> this ~~text~~ <sup>reference</sup> it was said) "There is mental behaviour of two kinds; I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And mental behaviour is either the one or the other."

8. (4) "There is ~~thought~~ <sup>conceiving</sup>-arousing of two kinds; I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And ~~thought~~ <sup>conceiving</sup>-arousing is either the one or the other." so it was said. And ~~what~~ <sup>with reference to what</sup> was this said? (By the Blessed One



5 'Venerable Sir, such <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ increases unprofitable ~~things~~ and decreases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it should be cultivated. But such <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ and increases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.

10 'And what ~~thought-rousing~~ <sup>thought-rousing</sup> increases unprofitable ~~things~~ and decreases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it?

15 'Here someone is covetous and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ covetousness; he is ill-willed and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ ill-will; he is cruel and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ cruelty.

20 'Such <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ increases unprofitable ~~things~~ and decreases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it.

25 'And what <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ and increases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it?

30 'Here someone is uncovetous and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ uncovetousness; he is not ill-willed and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ non-ill-will; he is not cruel and <sup>ill-willed</sup> ~~ill-willed~~ with his <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ non-cruelty.

35 'Such <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ and increases profitable ~~things~~ in him who cultivates it.

35 'Blessed One: "There is <sup>thought-rousing</sup> ~~thought-rousing~~ of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated."

rated. And <sup>acquiescence</sup> ~~thought~~ - arousing is either the one or the other."

9. <sup>3</sup> "if there is <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated, and not to be cultivated. And <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception is either the one or the other." So it was said by the Blessed One. And <sup>with reference to what</sup> ~~what~~ was this said?

10. "Venerable sir, such <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception as increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should not be cultivated. But such <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.

15. "And what <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?

20. "Here someone is covetous and ~~abides~~ <sup>abides</sup> with his perception <sup>endured with</sup> ~~full of~~ covetousness; he is ill-willed and ~~abides~~ <sup>abides</sup> with his perception <sup>endured with</sup> ~~full of~~ ill-will; he is cruel and ~~abides~~ <sup>abides</sup> with his perception <sup>endured with</sup> ~~full of~~ cruelty.

"Such <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it.

25. "And what <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~acquiescence~~ of perception decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?

"Here someone is uncovetous and ~~abides~~ <sup>abides</sup>



with his perception <sup>cultured with</sup> full of uncoriousness; he is  
 30 not ill-willed and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> with his perception <sup>enlightened</sup> full  
 of non-ill-will; he is not cruel and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> non-cruelty.

Such <sup>obtainment</sup> of perception decreases un-  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>

35 in him who cultivates it. So it was said by the Blessed  
 One "There is <sup>obtainment</sup> of perception of two kinds.  
 I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 And acquisition of perception is either the one or  
 40 the other. 52

10. (6) "There is <sup>obtainment</sup> of view of two kinds, I  
 say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 And <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view is either the one or  
 the other." So it was said by the Blessed One.

5 And <sup>with reference to what</sup> ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> this said?  
 "Venerable sir, such <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view  
 as increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates should  
 not be cultivated. But such <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view  
 10 as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should  
 be cultivated.

15 "And what <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view increases  
 unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable  
~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?"

"Here someone holds such a view as 'There  
 is nothing in <sup>is given</sup> ~~is given~~ <sup>is given</sup> and the other world.'"

20 "Such <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view increases un-  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>  
 in him who cultivates it.

"And what <sup>obtainment</sup> acquisition of view decreases

unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?

25- "Here some one holds such a view as "there is giving... and the other world"

"Such an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of view decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it. by the Blessed One

30- "And ~~it was said~~ <sup>it was said</sup> "there is an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of view of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of view is either the one or the other"

11. ⑦ "There is an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood is either the one or the other." So it was said by the

5- Blessed One. And why was this said?

"Venerable sir, 53 such an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood as increases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should not be cultivated.

10- But such an ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood as decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.

15- "And what ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> in him who cultivates it?"

"When a man ~~propagates~~ <sup>generates</sup> the ~~acquisition~~ <sup>obtainment</sup> of selfhood that ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> liable to suffering because of ~~its~~ <sup>its</sup> ~~inability~~ <sup>inability</sup> to ~~part~~ <sup>part</sup> ~~or~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~become~~ <sup>become</sup>



171  
 20 cause it does not admit the ending of becoming,  
 unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> increase in him and pro-  
 fitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> decrease.

[<sup>with the</sup> Such <sup>decrease</sup> ~~decrease~~ of self hood increas-  
 es unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and decreases profitable  
~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it.]

25 - 'And what ~~decrease~~ <sup>decrease</sup> of selfhood  
 decreases unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and increases  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it?

30 'When a man <sup>generates</sup> ~~generates~~ the <sup>degeneration</sup> ~~degeneration~~  
 of selfhood ~~that it is not profitable~~ <sup>by suffering</sup>  
 because it does admit the ending of be-  
 coming, unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> decrease <sup>in him</sup> and  
 profitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> increase <sup>in</sup>

[<sup>with the</sup> Such <sup>decrease</sup> ~~decrease~~ of self hood decreases  
 unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable  
~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it.]

35 - 'So <sup>it was</sup> ~~it was~~ <sup>it was</sup> said by the  
 Blessed One "there is <sup>degeneration</sup> ~~degeneration~~ of selfhood  
 of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not  
 to be cultivated. And <sup>degeneration</sup> ~~degeneration~~ of selfhood  
 is either one or the other."

12. 'Venerable Sir, ~~thus is~~ I understand  
 the detailed meaning of the Blessed One's utter-  
 ance, which he has spoken in brief without  
 expounding the meaning in [detailed] to be thus?

### 1st Approval and Recapitulation

13. - 'Good, good, Sāriputta; good that you  
 understand the detailed meaning of my utter-  
 ance & which was spoken in brief without expound-

ing the meaning in detail, to be thus.

14. ① "Bhikkhus, there is bodily behaviour of two kinds: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And bodily behaviour is either the one or the other. So it was said by me. And why was this said?"

~~Such bodily~~  
Sāriputta, such bodily behaviour as increases... 54

15. ② "There is verbal behaviour... 55"  
16. ③ "There is mental behaviour..."  
17. ④ "There is thought-arousing..."  
18. ⑤ "There is acquisition of perception..."  
19. ⑥ "There is acquisition of view..."  
20. ⑦ "There is acquisition of selfhood..."

~~These~~ <sup>it, with the intention to</sup> "So for this reason it was said by me "There is <sup>obtaining</sup> acquisition of selfhood of two kinds: I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated. And <sup>obtaining</sup> acquisition of selfhood is either the one or the other."

21. Sāriputta, the detailed meaning of my utterance, which was spoken in brief without expounding the <sup>detailed</sup> meaning, ~~in detail~~, should be regarded thus

### 2nd Synopsis

22. ① Sāriputta, there is a <sup>form</sup> ~~it is a visible object~~ cognizable by the eye of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.



- There is a  
 ① A sound cognizable by the <sup>ears</sup> is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 ② <sup>There is an</sup> odour cognizable by the nose is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 There is a  
 ③ A flavour cognizable by the tongue is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 ④ <sup>There is a</sup> tangible ~~object~~ cognizable by the body is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.  
 ⑤ <sup>There is an</sup> ~~object~~ cognizable by the mind is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

### 2nd Elaboration

- 23 When this was said, the venerable Sāriputta said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir, I understand the detailed meaning of the Blessed One's utterance, which he has spoken in brief without expounding the ~~meaning in~~ detailed meaning, to be thus:
- 24 ① "A <sup>there is a</sup> visible object cognizable by the eye is of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated." So it was said by the Blessed One. And <sup>with reference to what?</sup> ~~why~~ was this said?
- 15 'Venerable sir, such a <sup>from</sup> ~~visible~~ object cognizable by the eye as increases unprofitable <sup>things</sup> and decreases profitable <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it should not be cultivated. ~~Such~~ such a <sup>from</sup> ~~visible~~ object as decreases profitable <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable <sup>things</sup> in him who cultivates it should be cultivated.
- 10 'So <sup>it was with reference to this that</sup> ~~for this reason~~ it was said by the Blessed One "Sāriputta, there is a <sup>from</sup> ~~visible~~ object.

~~of two kinds, I say~~ cognizable by the eye  
of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and  
not to be cultivated."

25. ② "There is a sound cognizable by the ear...  
26. ③ "There is an odour cognizable by the nose... 57  
27. ④ "There is a flavour cognizable by the tongue...  
28. ⑤ "There is a tangible ~~object~~ cognizable by the  
body ...

29. ⑥ "There is ~~a mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup> cognizable by  
the mind of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated  
and not to be cultivated." So it was said by  
the Blessed One. <sup>with reference to what?</sup> And ~~why~~ was this said?

5. "Venerable sir, such ~~a mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup>  
cognizable by the mind as increases unprof-  
itable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and decreases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>  
in him who cultivates it should not be  
cultivated. 58 But such ~~a mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup> cog-  
nizable by the mind as decreases unprofit-  
able ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> and increases profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>  
in him who cultivates it should be culti-  
vated.

15. "So <sup>if it was with reference to this that</sup> ~~for this reason~~ it was said by the  
Blessed One "There is ~~a mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup> cog-  
nizable by the mind of two kinds, I say:  
to be cultivated and not to be cultivated."

30. "Venerable sir, I understand the detailed  
meaning of the Blessed One's utterance, which  
he has spoken in brief without expounding the



detailed meaning, to be thus.'

## 2<sup>nd</sup> Approval And Recapitulation

31. 'Good, good, Sāriputta; good that you understand the detailed meaning of my utterance, which was spoken in brief without expounding the detailed meaning, to be thus.'
32. ① 'Sāriputta, there is a ~~visible object~~ <sup>form</sup> cognizable by the eye of two kinds, I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivated" So it was said by me. And why was this said?
- 'Sāriputta, such a ~~visible object~~ <sup>form</sup> ...
33. ② 'There is a sound cognizable by the ear ...
34. ③ 'There is an odour cognizable by the nose ...
35. ④ 'There is a flavour cognizable by the tongue ...
36. ⑤ 'There is a tangible ~~object~~ cognizable by the body ...
37. ⑥ 'There is a ~~mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup> cognizable by the mind ...

⑧ 'Sāriputta, such ~~an idea~~ <sup>an idea</sup> ...

'So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>if my first reference to this</sup> that was said by me "There is a ~~mental object~~ <sup>an idea</sup> cognizable by the mind, of two kinds, I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivated"

38. 'Sāriputta, the detailed meaning of my utterance, which was spoken in brief without expounding the detailed meaning, should be regarded thus.

## 3<sup>rd</sup> Synopsis

39. ① 'Sāriputta, There is a robe of two kinds, I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

② 'There is a mustard of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

③ 'There is ~~an~~ <sup>a</sup> ~~kind~~ <sup>rotting place</sup> of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

④ 'There is a village of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

⑤ 'There is a town of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

⑥ 'There is a city of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

⑦ 'There is a district of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.

⑧ 'There is a parson of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated.' 59

40. When this was said, the Venerable Sāriputta said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir, I understand the detailed meaning of the Blessed One's utterance, which he has spoken in brief without expounding the detailed meaning, to be thus:

41. ① "Sāriputta, there is a robe of two kinds, I say: to be cultivated and not to be cultivated." So it was said. <sup>by the Blessed One</sup> And <sup>with reference to what</sup> was this said? 'Venerable sir, such a robe as increases unprofitable <sup>things</sup> and decreases profitable <sup>things</sup> in him who wears it should not be cultivated. But such a robe as decreases unprofitable <sup>things</sup> and increases profitable <sup>things</sup> in him who wears it should be cultivated. <sup>if you wish to expound it</sup> So <sup>for this reason</sup> it was said by the Blessed One "Sāriputta, there is a robe of





57. ① "Sāriputta, there is a robe of two **60** kinds, I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivated." So it was said by me. But why was this said?

"Sāriputta, such a robe...

52. ② "There is ~~an abode~~ alms food...

53. ③ "There is ~~an abode~~ <sup>a resting place</sup>...

54. ④ "There is a village...

55. ⑤ "There is a town...

56. ⑥ "There is a city...

57. ⑦ "There is a district...

58. ⑧ "There is a person

"Sāriputta, such a person...

"So ~~for~~ <sup>it was with reference to</sup> this ~~statement~~ it was said by me

"There is a person of two kinds, I say; to be cultivated and not to be cultivated."

59. "Sāriputta, the detailed meaning of my utterance, which was spoken in brief without expounding its detailed meaning, should be regarded thus.

Conclusion

60. "Sāriputta, if all <sup>of Samma Sāsana</sup> ~~the beings~~ understood thus the meaning of my utterance, which was spoken in brief without expounding the meaning in detail, it would be for their benefit and welfare.

5. "If all <sup>of Samma Sāsana</sup> ~~the beings~~...

"If all <sup>of Samma Sāsana</sup> ~~the beings~~...

"If all <sup>of Samma Sāsana</sup> ~~the beings~~... welfare.

"If <sup>of Samma Sāsana</sup> the world with its ~~beings~~, its Māras and its ~~beings~~, this generation with its perishes and men understood... welfare

10. So the Blessed One said. The venerable Sāriputta was <sup>delighted</sup> and <sup>rejoiced</sup> in the Blessed One's words.

ascetics and devotees



✓ Majjhima Nikaya 115 - Bahudhatuka sutta

179

Thus I heard.

On one ~~occasion~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park. There, ~~he the Blessed One~~ <sup>he</sup> addressed the bhikkhus thus: - 'Bhikkhus, - 'Venerable sir,' they ~~replied~~ <sup>replied</sup>. The Blessed One said this:

<sup>[Bau].</sup>  
~~Whatever fears arise, all kinds of~~ <sup>all kinds of</sup> ~~fools,~~ <sup>fools,</sup>  
~~coming to a fool but not coming to a wise man.~~  
~~Whatever calamities arise, all kinds of~~ <sup>all kinds of</sup> ~~fools,~~ <sup>fools,</sup>  
~~coming to a fool but not coming to a wise man.~~  
~~Just as a fire that starts in a~~ <sup>Just as a fire that starts in a</sup>  
~~rush shed or a grass shed burns down~~ <sup>rush shed or a grass shed burns down</sup>  
~~even the upper chamber that is plastered~~ <sup>even the upper chamber that is plastered</sup>  
~~within and without, shut off, secured by~~ <sup>within and without, shut off, secured by</sup>  
~~bars, and with shuttered windows, so too~~ <sup>bars, and with shuttered windows, so too</sup>  
~~fools, whatever fears arise, it is not~~ <sup>fools, whatever fears arise, it is not</sup>  
~~coming to a wise man, nor is it the cause of them all. Whatever~~ <sup>coming to a wise man, nor is it the cause of them all. Whatever</sup>  
~~calamities arise, fools, not wise men, are the~~ <sup>calamities arise, fools, not wise men, are the</sup>  
~~cause of them all. Whatever calamities arise,~~ <sup>cause of them all. Whatever calamities arise,</sup>  
~~fools, not wise men, are the cause of them all.~~ <sup>fools, not wise men, are the cause of them all.</sup>  
 So, bhikkhus, while the fool brings fear the  
 wise man does not; while the fool brings ~~danger~~ <sup>peril</sup>  
 the wise man does not; while the fool brings  
 calamity the wise man does not. No fear  
 comes from the wise man; no ~~danger~~ <sup>peril</sup> comes  
 from the wise man; no calamity comes  
 from the wise man. Therefore, bhikkhus, you  
 should train yourselves thus: - "We shall be

M 77

wise men and ~~sectors~~ <sup>inquirers</sup> "1" 62

3. When this was said, the Venerable Ananda asked the Blessed One - 'In what way, venerable sir, does a bhikkhu become worthy to be called a wise man and a ~~sector~~ <sup>and inquirer</sup>?'

- 'When a bhikkhu is skilled in ~~the~~ elements, Ananda, skilled in the bases, skilled in ~~the~~ dependent origination, skilled in the possible and impossible, in that way a bhikkhu becomes worthy to be called a wise man and an ~~sector~~ inquirer.

4. - 'But, venerable sir, in what way does a bhikkhu become skilled in ~~the~~ elements?'

- 'There are these eighteen elements, Ananda; eye-element ~~visible object~~ <sup>form</sup>-element, eye-consciousness-element; ear-element, ~~sound~~-element, ~~ear~~-consciousness-element; nose-element, odour-element, nose-consciousness-element; tongue-element, flavour-element, tongue-consciousness-element; body-element, tangible ~~object~~-element, body-consciousness-element; mind-element, ~~mental object~~ <sup>idea</sup>-element, mind-consciousness-element. When once he knows and sees these eighteen elements, in that way he becomes worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements.



5. - 'But, venerable sir, might there be another way in which a bhikkhu is worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements?'

- 'There might be, Ananda. There are these six elements: earth element, water element, fire element, air element, space element, <sup>and</sup> consciousness element. When once he knows and sees these six elements, in that way he becomes worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements.'

6. - 'But venerable sir, might there be another way in which a bhikkhu is worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements?'

- 'There might be, Ananda. There are these six elements: [bodily-] pleasure element, [bodily-] pain element, [mental-] joy element, [mental-] grief element, equanimity element, <sup>and</sup> ignorance element. When once he knows and sees these six elements, in that way <sup>he</sup> becomes worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements.'

7. - 'But, venerable sir, might there be another way in which a bhikkhu is worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements?'

- 'There might be, Ananda. There are these six elements: sensual desire element, renunciation element, ill-will element, non-ill-will element, <sup>and</sup> cruelty element, non-cruelty element. When once he knows and sees these six elements, ~~in~~ that way he becomes worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements.'

8. - 'But, venerable sir, might there be another

way in which a childkin is worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements?

- 'There might be, Ananda. There are these three elements: <sup>the general</sup> desire element, <sup>the form</sup> fine material element, and <sup>the formless</sup> the formless element. When once he knows and sees these three elements, in that way he is worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements.'

9. - 'But, might there venerable sir, might there be another way in which a childkin is ~~skilled~~ worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ elements?'

- 'There might be, Ananda. There are these two elements: The <sup>determined</sup> ~~formed~~ element and the <sup>undetermined</sup> ~~unformed~~ element. When once he knows and sees these two elements, in that way he is worthy to be called skilled <sup>in</sup> ~~the~~ elements.'

10. - 'But, venerable sir, in what way is a childkin worthy to be called skilled in the bases?'

- 'There are these six bases <sup>in oneself -</sup> ~~internal~~ - cum-external bases, Ananda: eye and ~~tangible~~ <sup>for</sup> object, ear and sound, nose and odour, tongue and flavour, body and tangible ~~object~~, mind and ~~mental object~~ <sup>idea</sup>. When once he knows and sees these six <sup>in oneself</sup> ~~internal~~ - cum-external bases, in that way he is worthy to be called skilled in the bases.'



(~~come to position being~~)

11. - 'But, venerable sir, in what way is a bhikkhu worthy to be called skilled in ~~the~~ dependent origination?'

- 'Here Ananda, a bhikkhu <sup>knows</sup> this: <sup>that arises</sup>  
 (When this ~~exists~~, <sup>is</sup> that ~~comes to be~~, <sup>is</sup> that ~~arises~~ <sup>arises</sup> ~~with the arising~~ of this, ~~that arises~~. When this ~~does not~~, <sup>is</sup> that ~~does not come to be~~; ~~with the cessation of this~~ that ceases). That is to say: With ignorance as condition, ~~that of determination~~ <sup>that of determination</sup> ~~formation~~ <sup>determination</sup> as condition, consciousness; with consciousness as condition, ~~name and form~~ <sup>name and form</sup> ~~materiality~~ <sup>materiality</sup>; with ~~name and form~~ <sup>name and form</sup> ~~materiality~~ <sup>materiality</sup> as condition, the sixfold base; with the sixfold base as condition, contact; with contact as condition, feeling; with feeling as condition, craving; with craving as condition, clinging; with clinging as condition, <sup>being</sup> ~~coming~~; with ~~coming~~ <sup>being</sup> as condition, birth; with birth as condition, ~~aging and death~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and sorrow lamentation~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and grief~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and despair~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and woefulness~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and suffering~~ <sup>also</sup> ~~and the origin of this whole mass of suffering~~ <sup>also</sup>. With the remainderless fading away and cessation of ignorance (there is) ~~the cessation of determinations~~ <sup>determinations</sup> ~~formation~~ <sup>formation</sup>; with ~~the cessation of determinations~~ <sup>determinations</sup> ~~formation~~ <sup>formation</sup>, the cessation of consciousness; with the cessation of consciousness, the cessation of ~~name and form~~ <sup>name and form</sup> ~~materiality~~ <sup>materiality</sup>; with the cessation of ~~name and form~~ <sup>name and form</sup> ~~materiality~~ <sup>materiality</sup>, the cessation of the sixfold base; with the cessation of the sixfold base, the cessation of contact; with the cessation of contact, the cessation of feeling; with the cessation of feeling, the cessation of craving; with the cessation of craving, the cessation of clinging; with the cessation of clinging, the cessation of







- "It is possible that an ordinary man should treat any <sup>idea</sup> ~~statement~~ as self-<sup>that is possible</sup>."
15. <sup>happen</sup> "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot be, that a person possessing [right] view should deprive his mother of life - that is not possible; and he understands "It is possible that an ordinary man should deprive his mother of life - that is possible." 65
16. "... deprive his father of life..."
17. "... deprive an Arahant of life..."
18. <sup>happen</sup> "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot be, that a person <sup>whose view is perfect</sup> ~~possessing [right] view~~ should with <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~hate in his mind~~ shed a Perfect One's blood - that is not possible; and he understands "It is possible that an ordinary man should with <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~hate in his mind~~ shed a Perfect One's blood - that is possible."
19. "... should cause a schism in the community..."
20. "... should, <sup>as known by</sup> ~~see~~ another Teacher..."
21. <sup>happen</sup> "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot be, that ~~in one world system~~ the accomplished fully-enlightened Ones should arise contemporaneously in one world. <sup>element</sup> ~~system~~ - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that one accomplished fully-enlightened One should arise in one world-element - that is possible."
22. <sup>happen</sup> "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot be, that two Wheel-turning Monarchs should arise contemporaneously in one world-element

- that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that one wheel-turning Monarch should arise in one world-element - that is possible."

23. He understands "It is impossible, it cannot <sup>happen</sup> be, that a woman should be an accomplished fully enlightened One - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that a man should be an accomplished fully enlightened One that is possible."

24. "... that a woman should be a wheel-turning monarch should be ~~the~~ female...

25. "... That a woman should occupy the status of Sakka... <sup>should be occupied by female</sup> 66

26. "... that a woman should occupy the status of Mara should be occupied by female...

27. "... that a woman should occupy the status of <sup>the</sup> [Brahma] Divinity, should be occupied by female...

28. He understands "It is impossible, it cannot be, that sought-after, desired, and agreeable ~~pleasing~~ results should come of bad bodily conduct - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that unsought-after, undesired, and ~~unpleasant~~ agreeable results should come of bad bodily <sup>verbal</sup> conduct. That is possible."

29. "... of bad <sup>verbal</sup> mental conduct...

30. "... of bad mental conduct...

31. He understands "It is impossible, it cannot <sup>happen</sup> be, that un-sought-after, undesired,



disagreeable results should come of good bodily conduct - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that sought-after, desired, agreeable results should come of good bodily conduct - that is possible!"

- 32. "... of good verbal conduct ...
- 33. "... of good mental conduct ...
- 34. "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot happen, that a man possessed of ~~good~~ bad bodily conduct should on that account, for that reason, reappear on the ~~break up~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body, after death, in ~~states of bliss~~ a happy destination, in the heavenly world - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that ~~if~~ a ~~person~~ <sup>man</sup> possessed of ~~good~~ ~~bad~~ bodily conduct should on that account, for that reason, reappear on the ~~break up~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body, after death, in a state of ~~bliss~~ <sup>deprivation</sup>, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell - that is possible."
- 35. "... possessed of bad verbal conduct ...
- 36. "... possessed of bad mental conduct ...
- 37. "He understands "It is impossible, it cannot happen, that a ~~person~~ <sup>man</sup> possessed of good bodily conduct should on that account, for that reason, reappear on the ~~break up~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body, after death, in a state of ~~bliss~~ <sup>deprivation</sup>, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell - that is not possible"; and he understands "It is possible that a man possessed of good bodily conduct should on that account, for that reason, reappear on the ~~break up~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body, after death, in a ~~state of bliss~~ <sup>happy destination</sup> in the heavenly world - that is possible."
- 38. "... possessed of good verbal conduct ...
- 39. "... possessed of good mental conduct ...

Ananda,

'In that way, he is worthy to be called skilled in the possible and impossible.'

40. When this was said, the venerable Ananda said to the Blessed One - 'It is wonderful, venerable sir, it is marvellous. What is the name of this discourse on the ~~Discourse~~ <sup>True Idea</sup>?'

- 'You may remember this discourse, Ananda, as "The Many ~~Elements~~ <sup>Sorts of Elements</sup>" or "The Four Cycles" or "The ~~Four~~ <sup>True Ideas</sup> Looking Glass" or the "Drum of the Deathless" or "The Supreme Victory in Battle".'

So the Blessed One said. The venerable Ananda was ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>he delighted in</sup> his words. <sup>he agreed with</sup>

Notes:

§ 34 f. The reservation "on that account, for that reason" is explained in M. 136.



Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~ <sup>place</sup> the Blessed One was living at Rājagaha, at Isigili - the Gullet of the Anchorites. There, the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus - Bhikkhus, - venerable sir, they ~~replied~~ <sup>replied</sup> to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

2 - You see, bhikkhus, do you not, that hill Vebhāra?

- Yes, venerable sir.

5 ~~There used to be another~~ <sup>name</sup>, another ~~name~~ <sup>name</sup>, for that hill Vebhāra. You see, bhikkhus, do you not, that hill Paṇḍava?

- Yes, venerable sir.

10 ~~There used to be another~~ <sup>name</sup>, another ~~name~~ <sup>name</sup>, for that hill Paṇḍava. You see, bhikkhus, do you not, that hill Vepulla?

- Yes, venerable sir.

15 ~~There used to be another~~ <sup>name</sup>, another ~~name~~ <sup>name</sup>, for that hill Vepulla. You see, bhikkhus, do you not, that hill Gijjhakūṭa - the Vulture Peak?

- Yes, venerable sir.

20 ~~There used to be another~~ <sup>name</sup>, another ~~name~~ <sup>name</sup>, for that hill Gijjhakūṭa - <sup>the</sup> Vulture Peak. You see, bhikkhus, do you not, this hill Isigili - the Gullet of the Anchorites?



— Yes, venerable sir.

3 There used to be ~~this town~~ <sup>this town</sup>, ~~this~~  
~~name~~, for this hill Isigili - the gullet  
of the Anchorets. For in former times  
five-hundred Hermit Buddhas dwelt  
long on this hill, the Gullet of the An-  
chorets. They were seen entering into  
this hill; once gone in, they were ~~seen~~  
no longer <sup>seen</sup>. Seeing this, <sup>who saw this</sup> people said:  
'This hill swallows up these anchorets.'  
10 And ~~it~~ <sup>was that that</sup> came to be ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> Gullet  
of the Anchorets; I shall tell <sup>you</sup>  
bhikkhus, the names of the Hermit Bud-  
dhas, I shall relate <sup>to</sup> you the names  
of the Hermit Buddhas. ~~Listen~~ and  
attend carefully to what I shall say.

— Yes, venerable sir, they ~~bhikkhus~~  
replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed  
One said this:

4 — The Hermit Buddha, bhikkhus,  
Arittha by name, dwelt long on this hill,  
the Gullet of the Anchorets.

The Hermit Buddha, bhikkhus,  
Uparittha by name, dwelt long on this  
hill, the Gullet of the Anchorets.

... Tagarasikhin ...  
... Lasassan ...  
... Sudassana ...



. . . Piyadassin . . .  
 . . . Gandhāra . . .  
 . . . Pindola . . .  
 . . . Upāsabha . . .  
 . . . Nītha . . .  
 . . . Tatha . . .  
 . . . Sutavā . . .

The Hermit Bhāṣa, bhikkhus, Bhāvitatta  
by name, dwelt long on this hill, the  
gullet of the Anchorets.

5 These saintly beings, desire less, rid of suffering,  
who each achieved awakening by himself—  
Hear me relate the names of these, the greatest  
of men, who have plucked out the dart  
[of pain].

Ariṭṭha, Upariṭṭha, Tagarasikhin, Yasassin,  
Sudassana, and Piyadassin the enlightened,  
Gandhāra, Pindola, Upāsabha as well,  
Nītha, Tatha, Sutavā, Bhāvitatta. 70

6 Sumbha, Subha, Methula, and Atthama,  
Then Assumiegga, Anigga, Sudātha—  
Hermit Buddhas ~~to~~ no more led to becoming—  
And Hingū, and Hinga, the greatly powerful,  
5 Two sages named Jālī; And Atthaka,  
Then Kosala the enlightened, then Subāhu,  
Upanemi, and Nemi; and Santacitta  
Right and true, immaculate and wise.

- Kāla, ~~Upa~~ Kāla, Vijita, and Jita;  
 10 - Aṅga, and Pāṅga, and Gutijjita too;  
 Paṣṣin conquered the base, the root of suf-  
 Aparājita conquered Māras <sup>fering;</sup> power.  
 Saṭṭhar, Parattar, Sarabhangā, Loma-  
 hamsa,  
 15 - Uccāṅgamāya, Asita, Anāsava,  
 Manomāya, and Braudhura <sup>ant</sup> the free from  
 pride,  
 Tādādhimutta, <sup>stainless and resplendent;</sup>  
 Ketumbaśāga, Mātāṅga, and Ariya,  
 Then Accuta, Accutaḡama, Byāmakā,  
 Sumāṅgala, Dabbila, Sūpatitṭhita,  
 20 - Asayha, Khemābhiraṭa, and Sorata,  
 Durannaya, Saṅgha, and then Ujjaya;  
 Another sage, Sayha, of noble endeavour.  
 And twelve <sup>between</sup> Anandas, Nanda and Upa-  
 nandas,  
 And Bhāradvāja bearing his last body;  
 25 - then Bodhi mahānāma the Supreme,  
 Bhāradvāja with fair-created main;  
 Tissa and Upatissa not bound to becoming;  
 Upasīdarin, and Sīdarin, freed from craving;  
 Enlightened was Maṅgala, free from greed;  
 30 - Uśabha cut the net, <sup>root of</sup> suffering;  
 Uparita attained the state of Peace,  
 purified, excellent, truly named, <sup>2</sup>  
 Jeta, Jayanta, Paduma, and Uppala, <sup>11</sup>  
 Padumuttara, Rakkhita, and Pabbata;  
 Mānatṭha <sup>glorious</sup> resplendent; Vitarāga; <sup>3</sup>  
 And Kaṅha enlightened with mind released.



7

These and also other great and mighty  
Hermit Buddhas no more led to becoming—  
Honour these sages who, transcending craving,  
Past measuring age, attained to full extinction.

note: ① or for this line read:

Tadadhimuttā, stainless, and Ketumā,

② or for this line read the words as names:

Uposatha, Sundara, Saccanāma

③ or for this line read the words as names:

Mānathaddha, Sobhita, Vitarāga.

For the whole of 36, apart from the commentary,  
there are mostly no means of distinguishing  
names from qualifying adjectives.

For the whole Sutta, cf. declaration of the  
qualities of an Arakant by Soma<sup>th</sup>era at Vinaya  
Mahāvagga, Khandhaka V.

④ Tagarasikhiṇ Paṇḍakabuddho is mentioned  
at Ud. 4, 4

cf. J. H. epif. S. II, 190f

② for another name of Sepulla see  
S. II, 190





✓ Majjhima Nikāya 117 - Mahā Cattārisaka Sutta

(3, 2, 7)

1. Thus I heard  
On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvaththi in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus ». — « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:
2. « Bhikkhus, I shall <sup>teach</sup> expound to you the noble right concentration with [its] support and with [its] ~~equipment~~ <sup>equipment</sup>. Listen and attend carefully to what I shall say ». — « Yes, venerable sir » the bhikkhus replied. The Blessed One said this:
3. « And what, bhikkhus, is the noble right concentration with [its] support and with [its] equipment? These are right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, and right mindfulness: any unification of cognizance equipped with these seven factors is called the noble right concentration with [its] support and with [its] equipment.
- VIEW
4. Here, bhikkhus, right view comes first. And how does right view come first? A man understands wrong view as wrong view, and he understands right view as right view: this is his right view.
5. And what is wrong view? There is nothing given, nothing offered, nothing sacrificed, no fruit or ripening of good and bad actions.

no this world, no other world, no mother,  
no father, no apparitional creatures, no <sup>72</sup>  
good and virtuous monks and divines that  
have themselves realized by direct know-  
ledge and declare this world and the other  
world. This is wrong view.

6. And <sup>what</sup> is right view? There is two fold  
right view, I say: there is right view affected by  
cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens  
into the essentials of existence; and there is  
the noble <sup>one's</sup> right view unaffected by cankers,  
which is supramundane and a factor of the Path.

7. And what is right view affected by cankers,  
which partakes of merit and ripens into the  
essentials of existence? There is what is  
given and what is offered and what is sacri-  
ficed, and there is fruit and ripening of good  
and bad actions, and there is this world and  
the other world and mother and father and ap-  
paritional creatures and good and virtuous  
monks and divines that have themselves real-  
ized by direct knowledge and declare this  
world and the other world. This is right view  
affected by cankers, which partakes of merit  
and ripens into the essentials of existence.

8. And what is the noble <sup>one's</sup> right view un-  
affected by cankers, which is supramundane  
and a factor of the Path? Any understanding,  
understanding faculty, understanding power,  
investigation-of-ideas enlightenment factor,



right view as path factor, in one whose cognizance is noble and cauker-free, who possesses the path and who ~~is~~ maintains it in being; this is called the noble ones' right view unaffected by caukers, which is Supramundane and a factor of the path.

9. He makes efforts to abandon wrong view and <sup>enters upon</sup> ~~acquires~~ right view; this is his right effort. Mindful he abandons wrong view; mindful he enters upon and abides in right view: this is his right mindfulness.

So he has these three ideas that have parallel movement and parallel turn-overs with [his initial] right view, that is to say [developed] right view, right effort, and right mindfulness.

### INTENTION

10. Here, bhikkhus, right view comes first. And how does right view come first? A man understands wrong intention as wrong intention, and he understands right intention as right intention: this is his right view.
11. **73** And what is wrong intention? Intention directed to sensual desires, intention directed to ill will, intention directed to cruelty: this is wrong intention.
12. And what is right intention? There is two fold right intention, I say: there is right intention affected by caukers, which partakes of merit and opens into the essentials of existence; and there is the noble ones' right intention

unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

13. And what is right intention affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence? Intention directed to renunciation, intention directed to non-ill-will, intention directed to non-cruelty; this is right intention affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence.

14. And what is the noble ones' right intention, unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path? Any thought, thinking, intention, fixing, fixity, directing of cognizance, verbal determination in one whose cognizance is noble and canker-free, who possesses the path and who maintains it in being: this is called the noble ones' right intention unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

15. He makes efforts to abandon wrong intention and to <sup>enter upon</sup> acquire right intention: this is his right effort.

Mindful he abandons wrong intention; mindful he enters upon and abides in right intention: this is his right mindfulness.

So he has these three ideas that have parallel movement and parallel turn-over with ~~the noble ones' right view~~ right intention, that is to say, right view, right effort, and right mindfulness.



SPEECH

16. Here right view comes first. And how does right view come first? A man understands wrong speech as wrong speech, and he understands right speech as right speech: this is his right view.
17. And what is wrong speech? False speech, malicious speech, harsh speech, gossip: this is wrong speech.
18. And what is right speech? There is two-fold right speech, I say. There is right speech affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence; <sup>74</sup> and there is <sup>the</sup> noble ones' right speech unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.
19. And what is right speech affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence? Abstinence from false speech, abstaining from malicious speech, abstaining from harsh speech, abstaining from gossip: this is right speech affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence.
20. And what is the noble ones' right speech unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path? Any <sup>abstinence</sup> ~~abstention~~, abstention, ~~abstention~~, abstinence, from the four kinds of verbal misconduct in one whose cognizance is noble and canker-free, who possesses the path and who maintains it in

in being: this is the noble ones' right speech unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

21. He makes efforts to abandon wrong speech and to enter upon right speech: this is his right effort.

Mindful he abandons wrong speech, mindful he enters upon and abides in right speech: this is his right mindfulness.

So he has these three ideas that have parallel movement and parallel turn-over with right speech, that is to say, right view, right effort, and right mindfulness.

### ACTION

22. Here right view comes first. And how does right view come first? A man understands wrong action as wrong action, and he understands right action as right action: this is his right view.

23. And what is wrong action? Killing breathing things, taking what is not given, and misconduct in sensual desires: this is wrong action.

24. And what is right action? There is two fold right action, I say. There is right action affected by cankers, which partakes of merit, and ripens into the essentials of existence; and there is the noble ones' right action unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

25. And what is right action affected by



201  
 cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence? Abstinence from killing breathing things, abstinence from taking what is not given, abstinence from misconduct in sensual desires: this is right action affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence.

26. And what is the noble ones' right action unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path? Any <sup>abstaining,</sup> ~~abstinence,~~ <sup>restraint,</sup> ~~abstinence,~~ <sup>abstaining,</sup> ~~abstaining,~~ <sup>abstaining,</sup> abstinence, from the three kinds of bodily misconduct in one whose cognizance is noble and canker-free, who possesses the path, and who maintains it in being: this <sup>75</sup> is the noble ones' right action unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

27. He makes efforts to abandon wrong action and to enter upon right action: this is his right effort.

Mindful he abandons wrong action, mindful he enters upon and abides in right action: this is his right mindfulness.

So he has <sup>these</sup> three ideas that ~~stand~~ have parallel movement and parallel turnover with right action, that is to say, right view, right effort, and right mindfulness.

### LIVELIHOOD

28. Here, right view comes first. And how

does right view come first? A man understands wrong livelihood as wrong livelihood, and he understands right livelihood as right livelihood: this is his right view.

29. And what is wrong livelihood? Scheming, talking, hinting, belittling, pursuing gain with gain: this is wrong livelihood [for a bhikkhu].

30. And what is right livelihood? There is two fold right livelihood, I say. There is right livelihood affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence; and there is the noble ones' right livelihood unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path.

31. And what is right livelihood affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence? Here a disciple of the noble ones abandons wrong livelihood and gains his living by right livelihood; this is right livelihood affected by cankers, which partakes of merit and ripens into the essentials of existence.

32. And what is the noble ones' right livelihood unaffected by cankers, which is supramundane and a factor of the path? Any abstention, abstaining, reabstention, abstinence, from wrong livelihood in one whose



cognizance is noble and carefree, who  
 possesses the path and who maintains it in  
 being: This is the noble ones' right livelihood  
 unaffected by care, which is supramun-  
 dane and a factor of the path.

33. He makes efforts to abandon wrong  
 livelihood, and to enter upon right livelihood:  
 this is his right effort.

Mindful he abandons wrong livelihood  
 mindful he enters upon and abides in right  
 livelihood: This is his right mindfulness.

So he has these three ideas, that have  
 parallel movement and parallel turn-over  
 with right livelihood, that is to say, right view,  
 right effort and right mindfulness.

### CONCENTRATION, KNOWLEDGE, DELIVERANCE

34. Here right view comes first. And how  
 does right view come first? 76 In one of right  
 view right intention is brought to be. In one of  
 right intention right speech is brought to be. In  
 one of right speech right action is brought to be.  
 In one of right action right livelihood is brought  
 to be. In one of right livelihood right effort  
 is brought to be. In one of right effort right  
 mindfulness is brought to be. In one of right  
 mindfulness right concentration is brought to  
 be. In one of right concentration right know-  
 ledge is brought to be. In one of right know-  
 ledge right deliverance is brought to be.

eight factors, <sup>So to identify the way</sup> while the Brahmā's <sup>M. 117 of one in the highest training has</sup> has ten.

35. Here right view comes first and how does right view come first?

In one of right view wrong view is abolished, and the many evil unprofitable ideas that are given positive being by wrong view as their condition are also abolished in him. And the many profitable ideas that have ~~given positive being by~~ right view as their condition come to perfection <sup>in him</sup> through maintenance in being.

In one of right intention wrong intention is abolished, and the many evil unprofitable ideas that are given positive being by wrong <sup>intention</sup> as their condition are also abolished in him. And the many profitable ideas that have right intention as their condition come to perfection <sup>in him</sup> through maintenance in being.

- In one of right speech...
- In one of right action...
- In one of right livelihood... 77
- In one of right effort...
- In one of right mindfulness...
- In one of right concentration...
- In one of right knowledge...
- In one of right deliverance... main-  
tenance in being.

**THE 40 PARTS**

36. So there are twenty parts on the profitable side, and twenty parts on the unprofitable side. This discourse on the



205  
 god  
 True Idea in forty essential parts has been set  
 rolling not to be stopped by monk or divine or  
 or Māra or Divinity, or anyone in the world.

37. If any monk or divine conceived that this  
 discourse on the True Idea in forty essential  
 parts ~~should~~<sup>to</sup> be censured and ~~condemned~~<sup>reprehended</sup>  
 then ~~there would be~~<sup>these and would be</sup> ten deductions  
 from ~~these~~<sup>this</sup> assertions that would provide ~~in the~~<sup>in the</sup>  
~~the~~ Idea, grounds for condemning ~~them~~ him.

If any such worthy one censures right view,  
 then any monks and divines that have wrong  
 view are honoured and commended by him.

If any such worthy one censures right in-  
 tention, ... **78**

- ... right speech, ...
- ... right action, ...
- ... right livelihood, ...
- ... right effort, ...
- ... right mindfulness, ...
- ... right concentration, ...
- ... right knowledge, ...

If any ... right deliverance, ... commanded  
 by him.

If any monk or divine conceived that this  
 discourse ... grounds for condemning him.

38. Even those of Okkalā, Nāgely, Vassa and  
 Bhāṇḍā, who hold the theory of no reason,  
~~and~~ the theory of no action, and the theory that  
 there is nothing [given and the rest], would not con-  
 ceive that this discourse on the True Idea in

forly essential parts should be censured and condemned. Why is that? For fear of indignation, attack and computation?.

That is what the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

### Notes.

§ 8 'prowess the path' by gaining the 1st path and 'maintain the path in being' by gaining the other 3.

§ 14 'Abhinivopana - directing'; lit. causing to mount upon. Used in the Patimukkhidā & Aśhi-Thamma as definition of Saikappa (see Ps. i, 16; Dh. § 7; Vbh. 87. Not the Dutta ref. apparently).

'Appanā-vyappanā - fixing, fixity': ch.

Ps. ; Dh. § 7.

§ 20 'Arati virati - abstention, abstaining': cf. Sn. 264. (in spite of P.T.S. Dict.). Cf. Nd 2, 462; Dh. § 299

§ 29 As to the words beginning with 'Kukhānā - scheming', the explanation is given in Vis., p. 23 (quoting Vbh. 352), and Vis., p. 265. The meanings given in P.T.S. Dict. must be revised.

In general this sutta, which is a detailed and structural study of the 8-fold Path, has lent a good deal of its material to the Abhidharma, as is the case with Sutta 111.



Majjhima Nikāya 118 Anāpāna Sati Sutta  
(3, 2, 2)

207  
① Thus I heard.  
On one ~~time~~<sup>occasion</sup>, the Blessed One was living  
at Sāvathī in the Palace of Migāra's Mother,  
in the Eastern Park, together with many very  
5- ~~well-known~~<sup>eminent</sup> elder disciples - the venerable  
Sāriputta, the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna,  
the venerable Mahā-Kassapa, the venerable Mahā-  
Kaccāna, the venerable Mahā-Kotthita, the  
venerable Mahā-Kappina, the venerable Mahā-  
10- Cunda, the venerable Anuruddha, the venerable  
Revata, the venerable Ananda, and other very  
~~well-known~~<sup>eminent</sup> elder disciples.

② Now ~~at that time~~<sup>on that occasion</sup> the elder bhikkhus  
5- ~~were~~ teaching and instructing the new bhikkhus,  
some elder bhikkhus ~~were~~<sup>and were</sup> teaching and in-  
structing ten new bhikkhus, some elder bhik-  
khus ~~were~~<sup>and were</sup> teaching and instructing twenty  
10- thirty... forty new bhikkhus. And the  
new bhikkhus, taught and instructed by  
the elder bhikkhus, ~~achieved~~<sup>had</sup> ~~successively~~<sup>large</sup>  
higher distinction.

③ ~~At that time~~<sup>on that occasion it was</sup>, on the uposatha  
day of the fifteenth ~~on~~<sup>on</sup> the night of the Pāvā-  
raṇā Ceremony when the moon was full, the  
Blessed One was seated in the open sur-  
5- rounded by the ~~company~~<sup>company</sup> of bhikkhus. Then,  
surveying the silent ~~company~~<sup>company</sup> of bhikkhus, he  
addressed the bhikkhus thus:

(4) - I am content (Bhikkhus,) with this progress. <sup>My heart is</sup> I am content ~~at least~~ with this progress. So ~~there~~ still more <sup>energy</sup> ~~desire~~ to attain the unattained, to achieve the unachieved, to realize the unrealized. I shall wait here at Savatthi for the Kumbhidi [moon] of the fourth month.

(6) The Bhikkhus of the country side heard: - The Blessed One, it seems, will wait there at Savatthi for the Kumbhidi [moon] of the fourth month. And the Bhikkhus of the country side left [in due course] for Savatthi to see the Blessed One.

(7) And ~~the~~ elder bhikkhus ~~are~~ still <sup>more intensely</sup> ~~teaching~~ <sup>taught</sup> and instructed the new bhikkhus; some elder bhikkhus ~~are~~ taught and instructed ten new bhikkhus, some elder bhikkhus ~~are~~ taught and instructed twenty... thirty... forty new bhikkhus, and the new bhikkhus, taught and instructed by the elder bhikkhus, <sup>achieved</sup> ~~attained~~ <sup>high</sup> ~~high~~ distinction.

(8) Now on ~~that~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~fourteenth~~ <sup>fourteenth</sup> of the Dvayassatha Day of the fifteenth, on the night of the Kumbhidi [moon] of the fourth month, when the moon was full, the Blessed One was seated in the open surrounded by the <sup>Community</sup> ~~group~~ of Bhikkhus. Then, surveying the silent ~~order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, he addressed ~~them thus:~~ <sup>the bhikkhus</sup>



① - This Community [Bhikkhus] is free from ~~prattle~~ <sup>prattle</sup>. This community, ~~Bhikkhus~~, is free from ~~idle chatter~~ <sup>chatter</sup>. It is ~~in a forest, and <sup>is</sup> ~~in a forest~~~~ <sup>in a forest</sup>, ~~of heartwood~~, — such is this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, such is this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> following.

Such a ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> as ~~would be~~ <sup>would be</sup> worthy of gifts, worthy of hospitality, worthy of offerings, worthy of reverential salutation, as were an incomparable field of merit for the world — such is this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, such is this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> following.

Such a ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> that a small gift given to it ~~would~~ <sup>would</sup> become greater and a great gift greater — such is this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, such is this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> following.

Such a ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> that its ~~life~~ <sup>life</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~hard~~ <sup>hard</sup> for the world to see ~~it~~ <sup>it</sup> — such is this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, such is this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> following.

Such a ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> as ~~would be~~ <sup>would be</sup> worth journeying ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> leagues with a knapsack to see — such is this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> of Bhikkhus, such is this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> following.

⑩ In this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> there are bhikkhus who are Ara-hants with cankers ~~destroyed~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>, who have lived the life, done what ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> to be done, laid down the burden, reached the ~~highest~~ <sup>highest</sup> ~~goal~~ <sup>goal</sup>, and through knowing rightly are liberated — such bhikkhus are in this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup>.

⑪ In this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> there are bhikkhus who



with the destruction of the five lower fetters, ~~are destined with~~ <sup>with</sup> reappear spontaneously ~~in the Pure Abodes~~ <sup>also, ready and</sup> ~~at~~ there attain complete extinction ~~never~~ <sup>without</sup> the returning here from that world - such bhikkhus are there in this Community.

(12) In this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> there are bhikkhus who, with the destruction of three fetters, and with the attenuation of ~~lust~~ <sup>lust</sup>, hate and delusion, are Once-Returners, <sup>and</sup> returning once to this world, ~~they~~ <sup>to</sup> make an end of suffering - such bhikkhus are there in this Community.

(13) In this ~~Community~~ <sup>Community</sup> there are bhikkhus who, with the destruction of three fetters, ~~become~~ <sup>are</sup> ~~unseparable from the idea, or~~ <sup>entirely</sup> ~~lost~~ <sup>Stream</sup>, ~~are no more~~ <sup>entirely</sup> ~~at~~ <sup>certain [of rightness]</sup>, and ~~destined to~~ <sup>headed to</sup> enlightenment - such bhikkhus are there in this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup>.

(14) In this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup> there are bhikkhus who ~~abide in pursuit of~~ <sup>are</sup> ~~destined to~~ the development of the Four Foundations of Mindfulness - such bhikkhus are there in this ~~Order~~ <sup>Community</sup>.

(15) In this Order there are bhikkhus who ~~abide in pursuit of~~ <sup>are</sup> ~~destined to~~ the development of the Four Right Efforts... of the Four ~~Roads to Success~~ <sup>Paths to Success</sup>... of the Five Faculties... of the Five Powers... of the Seven Enlightenment Factors... of the Noble Eightfold Path... of loving-kindness... of compassion... of gladness... of equanimity... of forbearance... of perception of impermanence, - such bhikkhus are there.



in this ~~Soter~~ Community.

28 In this ~~Soter~~ Community there are bhikkhus who ~~abridge~~ <sup>abridge</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> development of Mindfulness of Breathing.

29 When Mindfulness of breathing is ~~blithely~~ <sup>blithely</sup> brought into being and ~~developed~~ <sup>developed</sup> and ~~practiced~~ <sup>practiced</sup> it is of great fruitful and ~~beneficial~~ <sup>beneficial</sup> when ~~it~~ <sup>it</sup> is developed ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~practiced~~ <sup>practiced</sup> it perfects the four foundations of Mindfulness when ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> four foundations of Mindfulness ~~are~~ <sup>are</sup> ~~developed~~ <sup>developed</sup> and ~~practiced~~ <sup>practiced</sup> perfect the seven Enlightenment Factors when ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> seven Enlightenment Factors ~~are~~ <sup>are</sup> brought into being and ~~developed~~ <sup>developed</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~practiced~~ <sup>practiced</sup> perfect ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~four~~ <sup>four</sup> ~~foundations~~ <sup>foundations</sup> and Deliverance.

29 And how ~~developed~~ <sup>brought into being and developed</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~practiced~~ <sup>practiced</sup> is Mindfulness of breathing ~~so~~ <sup>so</sup> fruitful ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> beneficial?

30 Here bhikkhus, a bhikkhu goes to the forest or the root of a tree, <sup>a house that is void,</sup> or ~~house,~~ sits down; having folded his legs crosswise, set his body erect, established mindfulness in front of him, <sup>over</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> mindful he breathes in, mindful he breathes out.

30 Breathing in long, he ~~knows~~ <sup>understands</sup> 'I breathe in long'; or breathing out long, he ~~knows~~ <sup>understands</sup> 'I breathe out long'; breathing in short, he ~~knows~~ <sup>understands</sup> 'I breathe in short'; or breathing out short, he ~~knows~~ <sup>understands</sup> 'I breathe out short.' He trains



himself thus: 'Experiencing the whole body  
(1. feeling)  
'I shall breathe in <sup>feeling</sup> experiencing the whole body;  
he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out  
<sup>(2. breathing)</sup> experiencing the whole body'. He trains himself

10 thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>calming</sup> tranquillizing the body's <sup>determination of the body</sup> formation; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out tranquillizing the body's <sup>determination of the body</sup> formation'.

32 He trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>happiness</sup> feeling happiness; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>happiness</sup> feeling happiness'. He

trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>pleasure</sup> feeling pleasure; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>pleasure</sup> feeling pleasure'. He trains himself

thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> feeling the <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> mental formation; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> feeling the mental formation. He

10 trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>tranquillizing</sup> the <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> mental formation; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>tranquillizing</sup> the <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> mental formation'.

33 He trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>cognizance</sup> feeling the mind; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> <sup>cognizance</sup> feeling the mind'. He

trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>gladdening</sup> the <sup>cognizance</sup> mind; he trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe out <sup>gladdening</sup> the <sup>cognizance</sup> mind'.

He trains himself thus: 'I shall breathe in <sup>concentrating</sup> the <sup>cognizance</sup> mind; he trains himself thus



'I shall breathe out concentrating <sup>cognizance,</sup>  
 He trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in  
 liberating the mind,' he trains himself  
 thus 'I shall breathe out liberating the mind.'

(34) He trains himself thus 'contemplating  
 I shall breathe in contemplating impermanence,  
 he trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out  
 contemplating impermanence.' He trains  
 himself thus 'I shall breathe in contemp-  
 lating fading away,' he trains himself thus  
 'I shall breathe out contemplating fading  
 away.' He trains himself thus 'I shall  
 breathe in contemplating cessation,' he  
 trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out  
 contemplating cessation.' He trains himself  
 thus 'I shall breathe in contemplating re-  
 linquishment,' he trains himself thus 'I  
 shall breathe out contemplating relinquit-  
 ment.'

(35) that is how is brought into being and developed  
~~that is how~~ ~~is brought into being and developed~~ ~~and made~~  
~~mindfulness of breathing in~~ ~~and~~ ~~very~~  
~~fruitful of great benefit~~

(36) And how <sup>is</sup> ~~developed~~ <sup>brought into being</sup> ~~developed~~ <sup>developed</sup>  
~~mindfulness of breathing~~ ~~perfects~~ ~~the four foundations of mindfulness?~~  
~~perfects~~ ~~the four foundations of mindfulness?~~

(37) On what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~occasion~~, bhikkhu, a bhikkhu,  
 breathing in long, knows 'I breathe in long,' or,  
 breathing out long, knows 'I breathe out long,'



- breathing <sup>in</sup> short, knows 'I breathe in short',  
 5- or, breathing out short, knows 'I breathe out  
 short', trains ~~himself~~ thus 'I shall breathe  
 in <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ feeling the whole body', trains  
 himself thus 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ the  
 whole body', trains ~~himself~~ thus 'I shall  
 10- breathe in calm tranquilizing the <sup>determination</sup> ~~determination~~  
<sup>of the body</sup> ~~of the body~~', trains ~~himself~~ thus 'I shall  
 breathe out tranquilizing the <sup>determination</sup> ~~determination~~  
<sup>of the body</sup> ~~of the body~~ — on that occasion a bhikkhu abides  
 contemplating the body as a body, ardent,  
 15- fully aware, mindful, having put away  
 covetousness and grief <sup>for</sup> regarding the world.

38

I say that this is a certain body  
 among the bodies, namely, kindfulness  
 of breathing. That is why <sup>on</sup> that occasion  
 a bhikkhu abides contemplating the body  
 as a body ardent, fully aware, mindful,  
 having put away covetousness and grief for  
 the world.

39

- On what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu  
 84  
 trains ~~himself~~ thus 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~  
<sup>happiness</sup> ~~happiness~~', trains ~~himself~~ thus 'I shall breathe  
 out <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ <sup>happiness</sup> ~~happiness~~', trains thus, 'I shall  
 5- breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> ~~pleasure~~', trains ~~himself~~  
 thus 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> ~~pleasure~~', trains  
 himself thus 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~  
 the <sup>determination</sup> ~~determination~~ of cognizance', trains ~~himself~~  
 thus 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing</sup> ~~experiencing~~ the <sup>determination</sup> ~~determination~~



By a vedānā (fulfillment) and pāṭisaṃvidhā (experience)

ation of cognizance' <sup>formation</sup>, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in tranquillizing the <sup>determining of cognizance</sup> ~~the mental formation~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out tranquillizing the <sup>determination of cognizance</sup> ~~the mental formation~~, on that <sup>occasion</sup> a bhikkhu <sup>experiences</sup> contemplates feelings as feelings, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world.

40 I say that this is a certain feeling (experience) the feeling, namely, the <sup>giving attention</sup> ~~giving attention~~ <sup>completely to</sup> ~~completely to~~ in and out breathing in-breathing and out-breathing. That is why <sup>on that occasion</sup> ~~on that occasion~~ a bhikkhu <sup>experiences</sup> contemplates feelings as feelings, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world.

41 <sup>on what time</sup> ~~on what time~~, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu experiences trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in <sup>experiencing cognizance</sup> ~~feeling the mind~~, trains himself thus, 'I shall breathe out <sup>experiencing cognizance</sup> ~~feeling the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in gladdening <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out gladdening <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in concentrating <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out concentrating <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe in liberating <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~, trains himself thus 'I shall breathe out liberating <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~the mind~~.







gists as <sup>ideas</sup> mental objects, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world.

44 Having seen with understanding what is the abandoning of covetousness and grief:

X<sup>85</sup> he becomes one who <sup>absolutely</sup> looks on ~~with equanimity~~ <sup>with equanimity</sup> that is why ~~at that~~ <sup>because</sup> a bhikkhu <sup>abides</sup> contemplates <sup>ideas</sup> mental objects as <sup>ideas</sup> mental objects, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world.

45 <sup>in how</sup> ~~That~~ <sup>in how</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>in how</sup> ~~mindfulness of breathing~~ <sup>perfects</sup> the four foundations of mindfulness.

46 ~~And how~~ <sup>are</sup> ~~developed~~ <sup>brought into being and developed</sup> that ~~the four foundations of mindfulness~~ <sup>perfect</sup> the seven enlightenment factors?

47 ~~At~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> ~~contemplating~~ <sup>contemplating</sup> the body as a body, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world, — ~~on~~ <sup>on</sup> that <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> unremitting mindfulness is established in him.

48 ~~At~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> unremitting mindfulness is established in a bhikkhu, — ~~at~~ <sup>on</sup> that <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the mindfulness enlightenment factor is aroused in him, and he develops it.



and <sup>\*</sup>by development <sup>\*</sup>it <sup>\*</sup>comes to perfection in him.

49 Dwelling thus mindful he investigates, examines that ~~state~~ <sup>idea</sup> with understanding and embarks upon a full inquiry into it.

50 <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup>, dwelling thus mindful, a bhikkhu investigates, examines that ~~state~~ <sup>idea</sup> with understanding and embarks upon a full inquiry into it. — <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ that

51 <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ the investigation of ~~state~~ <sup>ideas</sup> enlightenment factor is aroused in him, and he develops it and by development it comes to perfection in him.

51. In one who investigates, ~~that state~~ examines that ~~state~~ <sup>idea</sup> with understanding and embarks upon a full inquiry into it, tireless energy is aroused.

52 <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> in a bhikkhu who investigates, examines that ~~state~~ <sup>idea</sup> with understanding and embarks upon a full inquiry into it tireless energy is aroused, — <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ that ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the energy enlightenment factor is aroused in him, and he develops it, and by development it comes to perfection in him.

53 In him who has aroused energy non-material happiness <sup>happens</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>arises</sup>.

54 <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> in a bhikkhu who



her aroused energy. <sup>non-material happiness</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>now</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>arises</sup> arises,   
 ~~at~~ <sup>on</sup> that ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the ~~happiness~~ <sup>happiness</sup> enlighten-ment   
 factor is aroused in him, <sup>86</sup> and he devel-   
 ops it, and by development it comes to   
 perfection in him.

55 The body and the <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~mind~~ of him whose   
 mind is <sup>happy</sup> ~~held in rapture~~ become tran-   
 quillized.

56 ~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the body and the <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~mind~~   
 of a bhikkhu whose mind is <sup>happy</sup> ~~held in~~   
 ~~rapture~~ become ~~tranquillized~~, ~~at~~ <sup>on</sup>   
 that ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the tranquillity enlighten-   
 ment factor is aroused in him, and   
 he develops it, and by development   
 it comes to perfection in him.

57 The <sup>cognizance</sup> ~~mind~~ of him who is tranquil-   
 lized in body and <sup>in his feelings</sup> ~~in his~~   
 ~~feels~~ concentrated. [bodily]

58 ~~At~~ <sup>on</sup> what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the ~~body~~ <sup>cognizance</sup> of   
 him who is tranquillized in body and   
 ~~feels~~ <sup>[bodily] pleasure</sup> becomes concentrated,   
 ~~at~~ <sup>on</sup> that ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the concentration enlighten-ment   
 factor is aroused in him, and he devel-   
 ops it, and by development it comes to   
 perfection in him.

X 59 He becomes one who <sup>absolutely</sup> ~~looks~~ <sup>on</sup> ~~with~~   
 complete equanimity <sup>at cognizance</sup> ~~on the mind thus~~ concentrated.

60 ~~At~~ <sup>on</sup> what ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> a bhikkhu becomes   
 one who <sup>absolutely</sup> ~~looks~~ ~~with~~ complete equan-   
 imity <sup>on</sup> ~~at~~ ~~the~~ ~~mind~~ thus concentrated.

on <sup>occasion</sup> at that ~~time~~ <sup>onlooking</sup> the ~~equanimity~~ enlightenment factor is aroused in him, and he develops it and by development it comes to perfection in him.

61- ~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu ~~dwells~~ <sup>abides</sup> contemplating feelings as feelings, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world, — <sup>on</sup> at that <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ unremitting mindfulness is established in him.

~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ ... [repeat as at 61]

~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu dwells contemplating ~~feelings~~ <sup>egoism as egoism</sup>, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world — <sup>on</sup> at that <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ unremitting mindfulness is established in him.

~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ ...

~~On~~ <sup>on</sup> what <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu dwells contemplating <sup>ideas</sup> ~~mental objects~~ as <sup>ideal</sup> ~~mental objects~~, ardent, fully aware, mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world, — <sup>on</sup> at that <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ unremitting mindfulness is established in him.



M. 48  
is brought into being and

On <sup>operation</sup> ~~at~~ what ~~time~~ ...  
~~that is how any~~ ~~thing~~ developed, ~~the~~ ~~four~~ ~~foundations~~ ~~of~~  
~~practised~~ ~~mindfulness~~ ~~perfect~~ ~~the~~ ~~seven~~ ~~enlighten-~~  
~~ment~~ ~~factors~~. 88 ~~is~~ ~~brought~~ ~~into~~ ~~being~~ ~~and~~

48 And how <sup>are</sup> ~~developed~~, ~~the~~ ~~seven~~ ~~enlighten-~~  
~~ment~~ ~~factors~~ ~~perfect~~ ~~and~~ ~~deliverance~~? ~~What~~ ~~is~~ ~~the~~ ~~knowledge~~  
~~which~~ ~~has~~ ~~dependent~~ ~~on~~ ~~seclusion~~, ~~on~~ ~~fading~~ ~~away~~ ~~and~~ ~~cessation~~, ~~resulting~~ ~~in~~ ~~relinquishment~~.

Here, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu <sup>brings into</sup> ~~develops~~  
~~the~~ ~~mindfulness~~ ~~enlightenment~~ ~~factor~~  
~~which~~ ~~has~~ ~~dependent~~ ~~on~~ ~~seclusion~~, ~~on~~ ~~fading~~ ~~away~~  
~~and~~ ~~cessation~~, ~~resulting~~ ~~in~~ ~~relinquishment~~.  
 Here <sup>brings into</sup> ~~develops~~ ~~the~~ ~~investi-~~  
~~gation~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~energy~~ ~~enlightenment~~ ~~factor~~...

... the energy enlightenment factor

... The <sup>highness</sup> ~~enlightenment~~ enlightenment factor

... the tranquillity enlightenment factor

... the concentration enlightenment factor

Here <sup>brings into</sup> ~~develops~~ ~~the~~ ~~outlooking~~ ~~enlightenment~~ ~~factor~~ <sup>which</sup> ~~has~~  
~~dependent~~ ~~on~~ ~~seclusion~~, ~~on~~ ~~fading~~ ~~away~~ ~~and~~ ~~cessation~~, ~~resulting~~ ~~in~~ ~~relinquishment~~.





1. Thus I heard.  
Ok one ~~time~~ the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park.

2. Then a number of bhikkhus were sitting ~~sitting~~ in the assembly hall where they had met together on return from their alms round after their meal was over. Mean while it was being said among them:

- 'It is wonderful, friends, it is marvellous, how mindfulness occupied with the body has been said by the Blessed One who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, to be of great fruit, of great benefit when developed and repeatedly practised.'

Then their talk ~~was~~ meanwhile was left unfinished ~~for~~ for the Blessed One rose from meditation ~~now~~ when it was evening, and he came to the assembly hall and sat down on ~~the~~ seat made ready. When he had done so, he addressed the bhikkhus thus - 'For what talk are you gathered together here now, bhikkhus? And what was your talk meanwhile, which was left unfinished?' 29

'Here, venerable sir, we were sitting in the assembly hall where we had met together on return from our alms round after our meal. Mean while it was being said amongst us - "It is wonderful, friends, it is marvellous how ... repeatedly practised!" This was our talk meanwhile, venerable sir, which was left unfinished; for the Blessed One arrived.'

in himself, quieted,  
 & brought to mind, calm and  
 concentration

3. 'And how developed, bhikkhus, how re-  
 peatedly practised, is mindfulness occupied  
 with the body of great fruit, of great bene-  
 fit?'

'Here bhikkhus, a bhikkhus gone to the  
 forest or to the root of a tree or to <sup>an empty</sup> ~~an empty~~  
~~place~~ <sup>in woods</sup> sits down; having folded his legs  
 crosswise, set his body erect, established  
 mindfulness in front of him, just mindful  
 he breathes in, mindful he breathes out.

'Breathing in long... [as in M. 10, 54]  
 ... tranquillizing the bodily formation, I shall  
 breathe out tranquillizing the ~~body formation~~ <sup>body.</sup>

4. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> thus diligent, ardent  
 and self-~~control~~ <sup>interest</sup>, his memories and thoughts  
 based on the household life are aban-  
 doned; with their <sup>suppression</sup> ~~abandoning~~  
 becomes settled <sup>in a certain way</sup> ~~steadfast~~ and con-  
 centrated. <sup>that is how</sup> ~~with this~~ a bhikkhu  
 develops mindfulness occupied with the  
 body.

5. 'Again, bhikkhus, <sup>abiding in the</sup> when walking...  
 [as in M. 10, 56]...

6. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> ~~in this way~~ <sup>in this way</sup> too  
 a bhikkhu develops mindfulness occupied  
 with the body. 90

7. 'Again, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu prac-  
 tices full awareness... [as in M. 10, 58]  
 ... in keeping silent.



8. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
9. 'Again, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu reviews this body... [as in M. 10, § 10]... and wine. = 91
10. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
11. 'Again, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu reviews this body as [consisting of] elements... [as in M. 10, § 12]... air element
12. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
13. 'Again, bhikkhus, as though a bhikkhu were looking at a corpse thrown on a charnel ground one day dead, two days dead, three days dead, ... [as in M. 10, § 14]... ~~is~~ is not exempt ~~from that~~ from that.
14. 'As he dwells... occupied with the body.
15. 'Again, bhikkhus, ... devoured by crows, ... [as in M. 10, § 16]... is no exception.
16. 'As he dwells... occupied with the body. 92
17. 'Again, bhikkhus, ... a skeleton with flesh and blood... [as in M. 10, § 18]... is no exception.
18. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
19. 'Again, bhikkhus, ... a fleshless skeleton... [as in M. 10, § 20]... is no exception.
20. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
21. 'Again, bhikkhus, ... a skeleton without flesh and blood... [as in M. 10, § 22]... is no exception.
22. 'As he <sup>abides</sup> dwells... occupied with the body.
23. 'Again, bhikkhus, ... bones without

sinews, scattered... [as in M. 10, & 24]... is no exception.

24. 'As he <sup>studies</sup> ~~studies~~... occupied with the body.

25. 'Again, ~~blinded~~,... bones bleached white... [as in M. 10, & 26]... is no exception.

26. 'As he <sup>studies</sup> ~~studies~~... occupied with the body.

27. 'Again, ~~blinded~~,... bones heaped up... is no exception.

28. 'As he <sup>studies</sup> ~~studies~~... occupied with the body.

29. 'Again, ~~blinded~~,... bones rolled... is no exception.

30. 'As he <sup>studies</sup> ~~studies~~ thus diligent, ardent and self-<sup>endeavouring</sup> ~~endeavouring~~ his memories and <sup>intentions</sup> ~~intentions~~ based on the household life are abandoned; with their abandonment, his <sup>in himself and in his surroundings</sup> ~~in himself and in his surroundings~~ becomes settled and steady, <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ concentration <sup>within</sup>. In this way <sup>the</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>body</sup> develops mindfulness occupied with the body.

31. 'Again, ~~blinded~~, <sup>quite</sup> ~~quite~~ secluded from sensual desires, ... [as in M. 39, & ]... born of seduction.

32. 'He steps, ... [as in M. 39 & ]... <sup>93</sup>

33. 'As he <sup>studies</sup> ~~studies~~ thus diligent... <sup>the body</sup> ~~the body~~ <sup>with the right</sup> ~~with the right <sup>stitching</sup> ~~stitching~~~~

34. 'Again, ~~blinded~~, with the <sup>right</sup> ~~right~~ <sup>stitching</sup> ~~stitching~~... [as in M. 39, & ]... born of concentration.

35. 'He steps, ... [as in M. 39, ' ]... born of concentration.



- 36 (As he dwells thus diligent... the body.
37. (Again, bhikkhus, with the fading <sup>as with</sup>...  
[as in M. 39, § ]... and is mindful.
38. (He steeps, ... [as in M. 39, § ]... 94  
permeated with <sup>pleasant</sup> ~~pleasant~~ purified happiness, <sup>so he dwells thus diligent in the body.</sup>
39. (Again, bhikkhus, with the abandoning...  
[as in M. 39, § ]... by equanimity.
40. (He steeps, ... [as in M. 39, § ]...  
pure limpid <sup>conjunction</sup> ~~conjunction~~.
41. (As he ~~dwells~~ <sup>abides</sup> thus diligent, ardent and  
self-exerting his memories and <sup>intentions</sup> ~~thoughts~~ based  
on the household life are abandoned; with  
their abandoning his <sup>conjunction</sup> ~~conjunction~~ becomes settled and  
steadied <sup>in himself</sup> and attains <sup>concentration</sup> ~~concentration~~.  
By this way a bhikkhu develops mind-  
fulness occupied with the body.
42. (When  
Anyone who has developed and repeatedly  
practised mindfulness occupied with the body,  
has included whatever profitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ there  
are that partake of true knowledge.
- (Just as anyone who has pervaded the  
great ocean with his <sup>conjunction</sup> ~~stream~~ has included  
what ever streams there are that flow into the  
ocean, so too, <sup>when</sup> anyone who has developed and  
repeatedly practised mindfulness occupied  
with the body, has included whatever pro-  
fitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ there are that partake of  
true knowledge.
43. (When anyone has not developed or ~~prac-~~  
~~ted~~ repeatedly practised mindfulness occu-  
pied with the body, Māra finds an opportu-

itij and a support in him.

45.

'Suppose a man were to throw a heavy stone ball at a lump of wet clay, what do you think, bhikkhus, would that heavy stone ball find an entry into that lump of wet clay?

- 'yes, venerable sir.' 95

- 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has not developed and repeatedly practised mindfulness occupied with the body, Māra finds an opportunity and a support in him.

46.

'Suppose there were a dry sapless piece of wood and a man came with an upper fire-stick, thinking "I shall light a fire, I shall produce heat;" what do you think, bhikkhus, would the man light a fire and produce heat by rubbing the dry sapless piece of wood with an upper fire-stick?

- 'yes, venerable sir.'

- 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has not developed and repeatedly practised mindfulness occupied with the body, Māra finds an opportunity and a support in him.

47.

'Suppose there were an empty ~~vacant~~ <sup>vacant</sup> water pot standing on a stand and a man came with a load of water; what do you think, bhikkhus, would he be able to pour water into it?

- 'yes, venerable sir.'

- 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has



not developed and ~~was~~ practiced mindfulness occupied with the body, Mara finds an opportunity and a support in him.

48. 'When anyone has developed and repeatedly practiced mindfulness occupied with the body, Mara finds no opportunity or support in him.'

49. 'Suppose a man were to throw a light ball of string at a door panel all made of heartwood; what do you think, bhikkhus, would that light ball of string find an entry into that door panel all made of heartwood?'

- 'No, venerable sir.'

- 'So too, bhikkhus, when ~~mindfulness~~ anyone has developed and repeatedly practiced mindfulness occupied with the body, Mara finds no opportunity or support in him.'

50. 'Suppose there were a wet sappy piece of wood, and a man came with an upper fire-stick, thinking "I shall light a fire, I shall produce heat"; what do you think, bhikkhus, would the man light a fire and produce heat by taking the upper fire-stick and rubbing the wet sappy piece of wood with it?'

- 'No, venerable sir.'

- 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has developed and repeatedly practiced mindfulness occupied with the body, Mara finds no opportunity or support in him.'

51. 'Suppose there were a water pot full of water, brimming so that crows could drink out of

it standing on a ~~shelf~~<sup>stand</sup>, and a man came with a load of water; what do you think, bhikkhus, would he be able to pour water into it?!

— 'No, venerable sir.'

— 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has developed and repeatedly practised mindfulness occupied with the body, Māra finds no opportunity or support in him.'

52. 'When anyone has developed and ~~repeatedly~~ repeatedly practised mindfulness occupied with the body, ~~he acquires ability to be a witness, whenever there is the occasion, ~~that~~, of any state realizable by direct knowledge.~~ [then] he attains the ability to be a witness, through realization by direct knowledge, of any ~~state~~<sup>idha</sup> realizable by direct knowledge to which he inclines his ~~mind~~<sup>cognition</sup>, whenever there is an opportunity.'

53. 'Suppose there were a water pot full of water, brimming so that crows could drink from it out of it standing on a ~~shelf~~<sup>stand</sup>, then as soon as a strong man tipped it would water come [from it] each time?'

— 'Yes, venerable sir.'

— 'So too, bhikkhus, when anyone has developed and repeatedly practised mindfulness of ~~body~~ occupied with the body, [then] he attains the ability to be a witness, through realization by direct knowledge, of any ~~state~~<sup>idha</sup> realizable by direct knowledge to



which he inclines his <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~sense~~, whenever there is the ~~an~~ opportunity.

54. 'Suppose there were a square pond on a level piece of ground, surrounded by an embankment, full of water, brimming so that crows could drink out of it, then as soon as a strong man loosened the embankment would water come [from it] each time?' 97

- 'Yes, venerable sir.'

- 'So too, Bhikkhus, when anyone has developed and repeatedly practiced mindfulness occupied with the body, [then] he attains the ability to be a witness, through realization by direct knowledge, of any <sup>idea</sup> ~~thing~~ realizable by direct knowledge to which he inclines his <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~sense~~, whenever there is the opportunity.

55. 'Suppose there were a chariot on even ground at the four cross roads, harnessed to thoroughbreds waiting with whip lying ready, so that a skilled trainer, driver of horses to be tamed, might mount, and, taking the reins in his hand, drive out and back by ~~whatever~~ any road in any way he liked, so too, Bhikkhus, when anyone has developed and repeatedly practiced mindfulness of body occupied with the body, [then] he attains the ability to be a witness, through realization by direct knowledge, of any <sup>idea</sup> ~~thing~~ realizable by direct knowledge to which he inclines his <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~sense~~, whenever there is an opportunity.

56. 'When mindfulness occupied with the body is developed, repeatedly practiced, made the vehicle, made the basis, ~~not a foot, made a base~~

~~dead~~ ~~and~~ ~~consequences~~ established, consolidated, and properly ~~incorporated~~ <sup>incorporated</sup> ~~incorporated~~, there ten towards may be expected. What ten?

57. 'He becomes a conqueror of ~~fear and~~ aversion ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> delight, ~~and~~ aversion ~~do~~ not conquer him, and he ~~abides transcending~~ <sup>abides transcending</sup> ~~abiding~~ aversion as it arises.

58. 'He becomes a conqueror of fear and dread, ~~fear and dread~~ <sup>do</sup> not conquer him, and he ~~abides transcending~~ <sup>abides transcending</sup> ~~abiding~~ fear and dread as they arise.

59. 'He becomes one who bears cold and heat and hunger and thirst and contact with gadflies, flies, wind, sun and creeping things, who endures ill-spoken & unwelcome words and arisen bodily feelings that are painful, racking sharp, piercing, disagreeable, distressing, and menacing to life. 98

60. 'He becomes one who obtains at will, with ~~no~~ <sup>no</sup> trouble ~~and~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~four~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~directions~~, which are ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> highest conscious ones and provide a ~~little~~ <sup>little</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~bliss~~ <sup>bliss</sup> here and now.

61. 'He wields the various supernatural powers: ... [as in M. 6, § 14] ... even as far as the ~~transcendent~~ <sup>transcendent</sup> world of the Divinity.

62. 'With the divine ear element ... [as in M. 6, § 15] ... far as well as near.

63. 'He penetrates with his ~~vision~~ <sup>vision</sup> the ~~interiors~~ <sup>interiors</sup> of other beings ... [as in M. 6, § 16] ... as unliberated.



- 73
64. 'He recollects his manifold past life... 99  
[as in M. 6, § 17]... his manifold past life.
65. 'With the divine eye, ... [as in M. 6,  
§ 18]... ~~are~~ <sup>are on</sup> according to their deeds.
66. 'By realization him self with direct know-  
ledge, he here and now enters upon and  
~~stands~~ <sup>abides</sup> in the mind deliberance and under-  
standing (deliberance) that are canker-free  
with ~~destruction~~ <sup>eradication</sup> of cankers.
67. When mindfulness occupied with the  
body is developed, repeatedly practised,  
made the vehicle, made the basis, estab-  
lished, consolidated and properly ~~under-~~ <sup>inculcated</sup>  
taken, these ten rewards may be ~~expected~~  
expected.'

So the Blessed One said, The bhikkhus  
were ~~satisfied~~ and ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and ~~agreed with his~~ <sup>delighted</sup> words.  
They agreed with his

§ 52 For cony see Vis A. 248-9. "sati sati  
āyataṃ"ti tasmiṃ tasmiṃ pubbaṭṭhādi kārāṃ  
sati'.

*[Faint, illegible handwriting on lined paper]*





✓ Majjhima nīkāya 120 - Sāḷchāruppatti'sutta  
(3, 2, 10)

1. Thus I heard.  
On one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvattarī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍitika's Park. There <sup>he</sup> the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus - 'bhikkhus.' - 'Venerable sir,' they ~~replied~~ <sup>replied</sup> to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

2. - 'bhikkhus, I shall expound <sup>deterioration</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>of and reappearance</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>to</sup> you. <sup>hear</sup> ~~listen~~ <sup>attentively</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>carefully</sup> ~~what~~ <sup>and</sup> I shall say.'

- 'Even so, venerable sir,' the bhikkhus replied. ~~to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

3. - 'Here, bhikkhus, a bhikkhu possesses faith, possesses virtue, possesses learning, possesses generosity, possesses understanding.

5. He thinks - "Oh that on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the <sup>brilliant</sup> ~~brilliant~~ <sup>warriors</sup> ~~warriors~~, of great wealth!" He <sup>forgets</sup> ~~forgets~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~consciousness~~ <sup>develops</sup> ~~develops~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>thought</sup> ~~thought~~.

10. These <sup>deterioration</sup> ~~consciousness~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>thought</sup> ~~thought~~, being developed and repeatedly practiced, lead to his reappearance there.

4. Again, a bhikkhu possesses faith, ...  
- "Oh that on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the <sup>brilliant</sup> ~~brilliant~~ <sup>warriors</sup> ~~warriors~~, of great wealth!" He fosters... his reappearance there.

5. 'Again, ... in the company of the ~~householders~~  
householders of great wealth ...
6. 'Again, a bhikkhu possesses faith, ~~possesses~~  
possesses virtue, possesses learning, possesses  
generosity, possesses understanding. He ~~thinks~~  
hears that the Cātumahārājika deities, the  
deities of the realm of the Four Kings, are  
long-lived, beautiful and <sup>have great pleasure</sup> ~~very beautiful~~. He  
thinks - "Oh that on the <sup>pinpoints</sup> ~~heads~~ of the body,  
after death, I might reappear in the  
company of the Cātumahārājika <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the  
deities of the realm of the Four Kings!" He fosters  
that ~~thought~~, <sup>desires it</sup> ~~establishes that thought~~, develops it,  
~~that thought~~. These <sup>intentions</sup> ~~intentions~~ and this <sup>spirit</sup> ~~habit~~,  
being developed and repeatedly practised,  
lead to his reappearance there.
7. 'Again, a bhikkhu possesses faith, ...  
~~in the company of the~~ <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of Tāvātimsā,  
the Realm of the Thirty Three, <sup>are long lived,</sup> ... reappear-  
ance there.
8. ... of the Yāma <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~  
that have gone to Bhūi, are long lived, ...
9. ... of the Tusita, the Contented, <sup>gods</sup> ~~gods~~ ...
10. ... of the Nimmāna-rati <sup>gods</sup> ~~gods~~, the  
<sup>gods</sup> ~~gods~~ that delight in creating, are long lived, ...
11. ... of the Paranimmita-vasavatti  
<sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ that wield power over  
others' creations, are ~~long~~ lived, ...
12. 'Again, a bhikkhu possesses faith, <sup>101</sup>  
possesses virtue, possesses learning, possesses



generosity, possesses understanding. He hears that ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> a Thousand is long lived, beautiful and ~~very pleasant~~ <sup>most pleasant</sup>. Now ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> a Thousand ~~is decided on persuading~~ <sup>is decided on persuading</sup> a world-element of a thousand [world's] and ~~to abide intent and regard upon~~ <sup>to abide intent and regard upon</sup> the ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> ~~that have reappeared there.~~ <sup>that have reappeared there.</sup> Just as a man with ~~eyes~~ <sup>good sight</sup> might take a gall nut in his hand and review it, so too... a Brakura of a Thousand dwells occupied with and intent upon a world element of a thousand [world's] and dwells occupied with and intent upon the things that have reappeared there. He thinks "Oh that in the ~~course~~ <sup>course</sup> of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the ~~Brakura~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> of a Thousand!" He practices that ~~thought~~ <sup>thought</sup>, ~~establishes~~ <sup>decides</sup> that thought, develops that thought. These ~~practices~~ <sup>determinations</sup> and this ~~habit~~ <sup>habit</sup>, being developed and repeatedly practiced, lead to his reappearance there.

13. Again, a childlike possesses faith, ... He hears that ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> Two Thousand is long lived ... reappearance there.

14. ... ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> Three Thousand is long lived ...

15. ... ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> Four Thousand is long lived ...

~~reappearance of Five Thousand is long lived.~~

16. Again, a childlike possesses faith, ... He hears that ~~the Brakura of~~ <sup>the Divinity of</sup> Five Thousand is



is long lived, beautiful and very blissful. Now, <sup>the Dharma</sup> a Brahmin of Five Thousand ~~worlds occupied and~~ <sup>absolutely decided or persuaded</sup> intent upon a world element of five thousand [worlds] and ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>absolutely decided on</sup> ~~and intent upon~~ <sup>perceiving</sup> the beings that have reappeared there.

Just as a man with <sup>good eyes</sup> might take five gall nuts in his hand and review them, so too, a Brahmin of five thousand ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>and intent upon</sup> a world element of five thousand [worlds] and ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>and intent upon</sup> the beings that have reappeared there. He <sup>thoughtfully</sup> thinks, "Oh that on the <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the <sup>company</sup> Brahmins of Five Thousand!" He fosters that <sup>thought</sup>, his reappearance there.

17. Again, a bhikkhu possesses faith, ... He hears that <sup>the Dharma</sup> a Brahmin of Ten Thousand is long lived, beautiful and very blissful. Now, <sup>the Dharma</sup> a Brahmin of Ten Thousand ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>absolutely decided or persuaded</sup> ~~and intent upon~~ <sup>perceiving</sup> a world element of Ten thousand [worlds]. Just as a fine beryl gem of purest water, with out eight facets, will cut, lying on red <sup>rough</sup> ~~stone~~ <sup>glows</sup> and shines, so too, the Brahmin of Ten Thousand ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>absolutely decided on</sup> ~~and intent upon~~ <sup>perceiving</sup> a world element of ten thousand [worlds] and ~~worlds occupied with~~ <sup>and intent upon</sup> the beings that have reappeared there. The <sup>creation</sup> ~~creation~~ <sup>\* radiance and 7-nir...</sup>



Shikela thinks - "Oh that ~~on~~ <sup>disolution</sup> the ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> of Ten Thousand!" He fosters that ~~thought~~ <sup>yearning</sup>, ... his reappearance there.

18. Again, a Shikela possesses faith, ... He hears that ~~a~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> of a Hundred Thousand is long lived, beautiful and ~~very~~ <sup>has</sup> ~~valuable~~ <sup>great pleasure</sup>. ~~It is the~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> ~~Pratima~~ <sup>of</sup> a Hundred Thousand and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~filled~~ <sup>filled</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~intent~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~figures~~ <sup>figures</sup> a world-element of a hundred-thousand [worlds] and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~filled~~ <sup>filled</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~intent~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~figures~~ <sup>figures</sup> the ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> that have reappeared there. Just as a gold jewel, very skilfully wrought in the furnace by a clever gold smith, lying on red brocade glows and ~~shines~~ <sup>radiates</sup> and shines, so too, the ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> of a Hundred Thousand and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~filled~~ <sup>filled</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~intent~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~figures~~ <sup>figures</sup> a world-element of a hundred-thousand [worlds] and ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~filled~~ <sup>filled</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~intent~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~figures~~ <sup>figures</sup> the ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> that have reappeared there. The Shikela thinks - "Oh that on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>disolution</sup> of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> of a Hundred Thousand!" He fosters that ~~thought~~ <sup>yearning</sup>, ... his reappearance there.

19. Again, a Shikela possesses faith, ... He hears that the Abha ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> the Radiant ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup> are long lived, beautiful and ~~very~~ <sup>have</sup> ~~valuable~~ <sup>great pleasure</sup>. He thinks - "Oh that on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>disolution</sup> of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the Abha ~~Pratima~~ <sup>Divinity</sup>!" He fosters that ~~thought~~ <sup>yearning</sup>, ... his reappearance there.



20. ... the Parittabha <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of limited Radiance, are long lived...
21. ... The Appamāna bhā <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of Measureless Radiance, are long lived...
22. ... The Abhasara <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of Streaming Radiance, are long lived,...
23. ... The Subhā, the Glorious, <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ are long lived...
24. ... The Paritta-subhā <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of limited glory, are long lived...
25. ... The Appamāna-subhā <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of Measureless glory, are long lived...
26. ... The Subhakinna <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of Repulgent glory, are long lived... 103
27. ... The Vehapphala & the Very Fruitful, <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ are long lived...
28. ... The Aviha <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ Battered in their Own Prosperity, are long lived...
29. ... The Atappa, the Unfortimenting, <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ are long lived...
30. ... The Sudassa, the Fair-to-see, <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ are long lived...
31. ... The Sudassā, the Fair-seeing, <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ are long lived...
32. ... The Alcaññita <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~, the <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ who are Inferior to None, are long lived, beautiful,...
33. ... The <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of the base consisting of boundless space are long lived, long enduring,...
34. ... The <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of the base consisting of boundless consciousness are long lived...
35. ... The <sup>gods</sup> ~~deities~~ of the base consisting of nothingness are long lived...



36. 'Again a bhikkhu possesses faith, possesses virtue, possesses learning, possesses generosity, possesses understanding. He ~~thinks~~ <sup>hears</sup> that the ~~paths~~ <sup>paths</sup> of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception are long-lived, ~~perceptible~~, long enduring, and ~~pleasant~~ <sup>share greatly pleasure</sup>. He thinks - "Oh that on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>disruption</sup> of the body, after death, I might reappear in the company of the ~~paths~~ of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception!" He ~~forgets that thought~~ <sup>contemplates</sup>, ~~although that thought develops that thought~~ <sup>contemplates that thought</sup>. These ~~determinations~~ <sup>determinations</sup> and this ~~habit~~ <sup>habit</sup> being developed and repeatedly practised, lead to his reappearance there.

37. 'Again a bhikkhu possesses faith, possesses virtue, possesses learning, possesses generosity, possesses understanding. He thinks - "Oh that by realization myself with direct knowledge I may here and now enter upon and ~~reach~~ <sup>strive</sup> in the ~~mind~~ <sup>of myself and</sup> deliverance and (understanding) deliverance that are canker-free with ~~destruction~~ <sup>extirpation</sup> of cankers." And by realization himself with direct knowledge he ~~is~~ here and now enters upon and ~~strives~~ <sup>strives</sup> in the ~~mind~~ <sup>of myself</sup> deliverance, and (understanding) deliverance that are canker-free with ~~extirpation~~ <sup>extirpation</sup> of cankers. This bhikkhu does not reappear anywhere at all.

So the Ksena One said. The bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>glad</sup> and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at his words.

3

Sept 27<sup>th</sup> getting this from  
Citrus pedicels



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 121 - Cūḷa Suvāṇṇa Sutta (3,3,1)

243

1. <sup>104</sup> Thus I heard.  
On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in the Eastern Park, the Palace of Migāra's Mother.
2. Then when it was evening, the venerable Ānanda rose from retreat, and he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the Blessed One:  
3. "Venerable sir, once the Blessed One was living in the Sakyan country. There is a ~~town~~ town of the Sakyans' called Nāgaratka; there I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: 'Now I abide much in the void abiding, Ānanda'. Venerable sir, was this well ~~rightly~~ heard by me, well apprehended, well attended to, and well remembered?"  
"Certainly, Ānanda, that was well heard by you, well apprehended, well attended to, and well remembered. As formerly, so now too, I abide much in the void abiding."
4. Ānanda, just as the Palace of Migāra's Mother is void of elephants, cattle, horses and mares, void of gold and silver, void of the foregathering of women and men, and there is [present] only this non-voidness, that is to say the single state [of non-voidness] dependent

dependent on [the presence of] the commun-  
 ity of Bhikkhus, so too, without giving attention  
 to perception of village, without giving attention to  
 perception of man, a bhikkhu gives attention to  
 the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the  
 presence of] perception of forest. His cognizance  
 enters into that, <sup>perception of forest</sup> and acquires confidence, steady-  
 ness and decision. He understands thus: 'Dis-  
 turbances that would be present dependent on  
 perception of village are not present here; disturb-  
 ances that would be present dependent on per-  
 ception of man are not present here; and only  
 this measure of disturbance is present, that is to  
 say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent  
 on [the presence of] perception of forest'. He under-  
 stands 'This field of perception is void of ~~percept-~~  
 of village'; he understands 'This field of perception  
 is void of perception of man', [and he understands]  
 'There is [present] only this non-voidness, that is  
 to say, the single state [of non-voidness] depend-  
 ent on [the presence of] perception of forest'. So  
 he sees it as void of what is not there; but of  
 what <sup>105</sup> remains there he understands, 'There is  
 that still present there'. Now this ~~has been the~~  
~~opportunity~~ for him <sup>an alighting upon</sup> ~~to apprehend the idea of~~ void-  
 ness, <sup>that accords</sup> ~~in accordance~~ with what, actually is, without  
 perversion of meaning, and, pure.

5. Again, Ananda, without giving attention to  
 perception of man, without giving attention to per-  
 ception of forest, a bhikkhu gives attention to ~~the~~



the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of earth. His cognizance enters into that perception of earth and acquires confidence, steadiness, and decision. Just as though a bull's hide were freed from folds by stretching it with a hundred pegs, so too, by that giving attention to all the ridges and hollows, the river ravines, the tracts of stumps and thorns, the rocky inequalities, on this earth, a shielder gives attention to the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of earth. His cognizance enters into that perception of earth and acquires confidence, steadiness and decision. He understands thus 'Disturbances that would be present dependent on perception of man are not present here; disturbances that would be present dependent ~~due~~ on perception of forest are not present here; and only this measure of disturbance is present, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of earth'. He understands ~~thus~~ 'this field of perception is void of perception of man'. He understands 'this field of perception is void of perception of forest' [and he understands] 'there is ~~only~~ [present] only this non-voidness, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of earth'. So he sees it as void of what is not there; but of what remains there he understands 'there is that still present there'. Now this too <sup>has been</sup> ~~is an opportunity for~~ <sup>an opportunity</sup> ~~for~~ him ~~to apprehend the idea of~~ <sup>to apprehend</sup> voidness, that accords with what actually is, without perversion of meaning.



and in pure.

6. Again, Ananda, without giving attention to perception of forest, without giving attention to perception of earth, a bhikkhu gives attention to the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of <sup>infinite</sup> ~~infinite~~ space. His cognizance enters into that perception of the base consisting of <sup>infinite</sup> ~~infinite~~ space and acquires confidence, steadiness and decision. He understands thus 'Disturbances that would be present dependent on perception of forest are not present here; disturbances that would be present dependent on perception of earth are not present here; and only this measure of disturbance is present, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of infinite space'. He understands 'This field of perception is void of perception of forest'; he understands 'This field of perception is void of perception of earth'; [and he understands] 'there is [present] only this non-voidness, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of infinite space'. So he sees it as void of what is not there; but of what remains there he understands 'there is that still present there'. Now this <sup>has been</sup> ~~is an~~ opportunity for him <sup>an alighting upon</sup> ~~to apprehend the~~ idea of voidness, that accords with what actually is, without perversion of meaning, and in pure.

7. Again, Ananda, without giving attention to perception of earth, without giving attention



to perception of the base consisting of infiniteness  
 of space, a ~~shiksha~~ <sup>shiksha</sup> gives attention the single  
 state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence  
 of] perception of the base consisting of <sup>infiniteness of</sup> ~~boundless~~  
 consciousness. His ~~mind~~ <sup>cognition</sup> enters into the perception  
 of the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness  
 and acquires confidence, steadiness and decision.  
 He understands thus 'Disturbances that would be  
 present dependent on perception of earth are not  
 present here; disturbances that would be present de-  
 pendent on perception of the base consisting of  
 infiniteness of space are not present here; and only  
 this measure of disturbance is present, that is to  
 say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on  
 [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of  
~~infiniteness of~~ <sup>infiniteness of</sup> consciousness'. He understands 'this field  
 of perception is void of perception of earth'; he under-  
 stands 'this field of perception is void of perception  
 of the base consisting of infiniteness of space', [and  
 he understands] 'there is [present] only this non-  
 voidness, that is to say, the single state [of non-  
 voidness] dependent on [the presence of] per-  
 ception of the base consisting of ~~boundless~~ infinite-  
 ness of consciousness'. So he sees it is void of  
 what is not there; but of what remains there he  
 understands 'there is that still present there'.  
 Now this too, <sup>has been</sup> ~~is an opportunity~~ for him [to <sup>an</sup>  
~~grasp~~ <sup>grasp</sup> ~~the idea of~~ <sup>upon</sup>] voidness, that accords with  
 what actually is, without perversion of meaning,  
 and is pure.

8. Again, Ananda, without giving attention



to perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of space, without giving attention to perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness, a bhikkhu gives attention to the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of nothingness. His cognizance enters into the perception of the base consisting of nothingness and acquires confidence, steadiness and decision. He understands thus 'Disturbances ~~that would~~ be present dependent on perception of infiniteness of space are not present here; disturbances that would be present dependent on perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness are not present here; and only this measure of disturbance is present, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of nothingness'. He understands 'This field of perception is void of <sup>perception of</sup> the base consisting of infiniteness of space'; 107 and he understands 'This field of perception is void of perception of the base consisting of infiniteness of consciousness'; [and he understands] 'there is [present] only this non-voidness, that is to say, the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception of the base consisting of nothingness'. So he sees it as void of what is not there; but of what remains there he understands there is that still present there. Now



249  
This too, <sup>has been</sup> ~~is an opportunity~~ for him <sup>an alighting upon</sup> ~~to apprehend the~~  
~~idea of~~ voidness that accords with what is, without  
perversion of meaning, and is pure.

9. Again, Ananda, without giving attention to per-  
ception of the base consisting of infiniteness of conscious-  
ness, without giving attention to perception of the  
base consisting of nothingness, a bhikkhu ~~gives~~  
attention to the single state [of non-voidness] de-  
pendent on [the presence of] perception of the  
base consisting of neither perception nor non-per-  
ception. His cognizance enters into the perception of  
the base consisting of neither perception nor non-per-  
ception and acquires confidence, steadiness and de-  
cision. He understands thus 'disturbances that  
would be present dependent <sup>perception of</sup> the base consisting  
of infiniteness of consciousness are not present here;  
disturbances that would be present dependent on  
perception of the base consisting of nothingness are not  
present here; and only this measure of disturbance  
is present, that is to say, the single state [of non-  
voidness] dependent on [the presence of] perception  
of the base consisting of neither perception nor  
non-perception?'. He understands 'this field of  
perception is void of perception of the base consisting  
of infiniteness of consciousness'; he understands 'this  
field of perception is void of perception of the base con-  
sisting of nothingness'; [and he understands] 'there  
is [present] only this non-voidness, that is to say,  
the single state [of non-voidness] dependent on  
[the presence of] perception of the base consisting of  
neither perception nor non-perception'. So he



sees it as void of what is not there; but of what remains there he understands 'there is that still present there'. Now this <sup>has been</sup> opportunity for him <sup>an alighting upon</sup> ~~to apprehend the idea of~~ voidness, that accords with what actually is, without perversion of meaning, and is pure.

10. Again, Ananda, without giving attention to perception of the base consisting of nothingness, without giving attention to perception of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, a bhikkhu gives attention to the single state [of non-voidness] dependant on [the presence of] the singular concentration of cognizance. His cognizance enters into the singular concentration of cognizance and acquires confidence, steadiness and decision. He understands thus 'Disturbances that would be present dependant on perception of the base consisting of nothingness are not present here; disturbances that would be present dependant on perception of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception are not present here; and only this measure of disturbance is present, that is to say, that [disturbance] which has life as its condition dependant on the presence of this body with its six bases'. 108 He understands 'This field of perception is void of the base consisting of nothingness'; he understands 'This field of perception is void of perception of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception';







when liberated, then comes the knowledge.  
 'It is liberated'. He understands 'Birth  
 is exhausted, the Life Divine has been lived  
 out, what was to be done is done, there is no  
 more of this to come'. He understands thus  
 'Disturbances that would be present depend-  
 ent on the ~~presence of the~~ causer of sensual  
 desire are not present here; disturbances  
 that would be present dependent on the causer  
 of being are not present here. Disturbances  
 that would be present dependent on the causer  
 of ignorance are not present here; and  
 only this measure of disturbance is present,  
 that is to say, that [non-voidness] with life as  
 its condition dependent on [the presence of]  
 this body with its six bases'. He understands  
 'this field of perception is void of the causer  
 of sensual desire'; he understands 'this field  
 of perception is void of the causer of being';  
 he understands 'this field of perception is  
 void of the causer of ignorance'; and he  
 understands 'there is [present] only this non-  
 voidness, that is to say, that [non-voidness]  
 with life as its condition dependent on [the pre-  
 sence of] this body with its six bases'. So he  
 sees it as void of what is not there; but of  
 what remains there he understands 'there  
 is that still present there'. Now this has been  
 an opportunity for him & <sup>an opportunity upon</sup> ~~to apprehend the idea~~  
~~of~~ voidness, that accords with what actually



is, without perversion of meaning, ~~and~~ <sup>109</sup> is pure, and is unsurpassed by any other.

12. Whatever <sup>the</sup> monks or divines in the past extent <sup>that</sup> have entered upon and abode in a voidness that was purified and unsurpassed by any other, they have all of them entered upon and abode in this voidness that is pure ~~and~~ and unsurpassed by any other.

Whatever the monks or divines in the future extent that will enter upon ... they will all of them enter upon ... any other.

Whatever the monks or divines in the present extent that enter upon ... they all of them enter upon ... any other.

Therefore, Ananda, you should train thus: 'We will enter upon and abide in the voidness that is pure, and is unsurpassed by any other?'

That is what the Blessed One said. The venerable Ananda was satisfied, and he delighted in the Blessed One's words.

Notes

34 (end), etc.: avakkanti - slighting upon: cf. S. ii, 101 (nāmarūpassa avakkanti) and ~~34~~ okkanto in S. iii, 225.

The first part of the paper is devoted to a  
 general discussion of the subject. It is  
 shown that the theory of the subject is  
 based on the principle of the conservation  
 of energy. The second part of the paper  
 is devoted to a detailed discussion of the  
 theory of the subject. It is shown that  
 the theory of the subject is based on the  
 principle of the conservation of energy. The  
 third part of the paper is devoted to a  
 detailed discussion of the theory of the  
 subject. It is shown that the theory of  
 the subject is based on the principle of  
 the conservation of energy. The fourth  
 part of the paper is devoted to a  
 detailed discussion of the theory of the  
 subject. It is shown that the theory of  
 the subject is based on the principle of  
 the conservation of energy.

The first part of the paper is devoted to a  
 general discussion of the subject. It is  
 shown that the theory of the subject is  
 based on the principle of the conservation  
 of energy. The second part of the paper  
 is devoted to a detailed discussion of the  
 theory of the subject. It is shown that  
 the theory of the subject is based on the  
 principle of the conservation of energy.



1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Sakyā country at Kapilavattū in Nigrodhā's Park.

2. Then when it was early morning, the Blessed One dressed, and taking his bowl and [outer] robe he went into Kapilavattū for alms. When he had wandered for alms in Kapilavattū and had returned from his alms round after his meal he went to his daytime abiding to the abode of Kālākemakā the Sakyā. Now on that occasion there were ~~several~~ <sup>many</sup> resting-places prepared in Kālākemakā the Sakyā's abode. When the Blessed One saw that, ~~it~~ <sup>110</sup> it occurred to him < There are many resting-places prepared in Kālākemakā the Sakyā's abode. Do many bhikkhus live there? >

Now on that occasion the venerable Ānanda was occupied with many bhikkhus in making robes at Ghatā the Sakyā's abode. Then when it was evening, the Blessed One rose from retreat, and he went to Ghatā the Sakyā's abode, where he sat down on a seat, ~~made ready~~ <sup>prepared</sup>. When he had done so, he asked the Venerable Ānanda:

20 « Ānanda, there are many resting-places prepared in Kālākemakā the Sakyā's abode. Do many bhikkhus live there? »

"Venerable sir, there are many resting-places prepared in Kalakhemaka the Sakyan's abode. Many bhikkhus are living there. A time for making robes is permitted to us, venerable sir".

3. «Ananda, a bhikkhu does none credit by delighting in company, by taking delight in company, by desisting himself to delight in company, by delighting in society, by taking delight in society, by being glad of company.

4. Indeed, Ananda, it is not possible that a bhikkhu who ~~delights~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~takes delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~desists himself to delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~delights~~<sup>relishes</sup> in society, ~~takes delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in society, is glad of society, will ever obtain the pleasure of renunciation, the pleasure of seclusion, the pleasure of stillness, the pleasure of enlightenment, at will, with no trouble or reserve. But it is possible, when a bhikkhu lives alone, withdrawn from society, to expect that he will obtain the pleasure of renunciation, the pleasure of seclusion, the pleasure of stillness, the pleasure of enlightenment, at will, without trouble or reserve.

5. Indeed, Ananda, it is not possible that a bhikkhu who ~~delights~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~takes delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~desists himself to delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in company, ~~delights~~<sup>relishes</sup> in society, ~~takes delight~~<sup>relishes</sup> in society, is glad of society, will ever obtain the pleasure of renunciation, the pleasure of seclusion, the pleasure of stillness, the pleasure of enlightenment, at will, with no trouble or reserve.



company, <sup>relishes</sup> delights in society, <sup>finds relief</sup> takes delight in so-  
 5 cety, is glad of society, will ever enter upon and  
 abide in either the <sup>and</sup> (temporary, delectable)  
 deliverance of cognizance, <sup>that is</sup> or that, <sup>is</sup> untemporary  
 and unassailable. But it is possible, when a  
 bhikkhu lives alone, withdrawn from society, to  
 10 expect that he will enter upon and abide in the  
 deliverance of cognizance that is temporary and  
 delectable or that is untemporary and unassail-  
 able.

6. **III** I see no single kind of form, Ananda,  
 which, with ~~not~~ cause, ~~sorrow and lamentation,~~  
~~pain.~~ with the change and alteration of that [form],  
 the arising of sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief  
 and despair in him who <sup>relishes</sup> ~~delights~~ in it, who finds  
~~takes delight~~ <sup>relishes</sup> in it.

7. However, Ananda, there is This abiding  
 discovered by the Perfect One, which is to enter  
 upon and abide in voidness in oneself by ~~not~~  
 giving <sup>no</sup> attention to all signs.

If, while the Perfect One is abiding in that,  
 with that abiding, he is visited by bhikkhus,  
 or bhikkhunis or laymen followers or laywomen  
 followers or kings or kings' ministers or other  
 sectarians or their followers, then the Perfect  
 One, with ~~the~~ cognizance leaning and tending and  
 inclining only to seclusion, withdrawn, delighting  
 in renunciation, and <sup>at the</sup> done with ~~the~~ ideas that pro-  
 mote causers, then it is sure that he will be



a speaker only of such speech as is associated with dismissal.

8. Therefore, Ananda, if a bhikkhu should wish 'May I enter upon and abide in voidness in myself', that bhikkhu ~~must settle~~ <sup>should steady</sup> his cognizance in himself, quiet it, bring it to singleness, and concentrate it. And how does he do that?

9. Here, Ananda, quite ~~secluded~~ <sup>separated</sup> from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the first illumination ... [as in Sutta 4, § 23] ...

10. ... second illumination ...

11. ... third illumination ...

12. ... fourth illumination, which has neither-pain-no-pleasure and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to outlook (equanimity).

That is how a bhikkhu <sup>steadies</sup> settles his cognizance in himself, quiets it, brings it to singleness, and concentrates it.

13. <sup>Then</sup> 112, he gives attention to voidness in himself. While he ~~does so~~ <sup>does so</sup> his cognizance does not enter into voidness in himself or acquire confidence, steadiness and ~~tranquility~~ <sup>perfect</sup> ~~tranquility~~. When that is so he understands thus 'While giving attention to voidness in myself, my cognizance does not enter into voidness in myself,



or acquire confidence, steadiness and liberation?  
 In this way he has full awareness of that.

He gives attention to voidness externally...

He gives attention to voidness internally and externally...

14. He gives attention to ~~the~~ imperturbability. While he <sup>is</sup> doing so, his cognizance does not enter into imperturbability, or acquire steadiness, confidence, steadiness, and liberation. When that is so, he understands thus 'While giving attention to imperturbability, my cognizance does not enter into imperturbability, or acquire confidence, steadiness and liberation'. In this way he has full awareness of that.

15. Then that blubbledu should steady his cognizance in himself, quiet it, bring it to singleness, and concentrate it on that same sign of concentration as before [by means of the four illuminations].

16. [Then] he gives attention to voidness in himself. While he <sup>is</sup> doing so, his cognizance enters into voidness in himself and acquires confidence, steadiness, and <sup>liberation</sup>. When that is so, he understands thus 'While giving attention to voidness in myself, my cognizance enters into voidness in myself and acquires confidence, steadiness and liberation'. In this way he has full awareness of that.







261  
 women, heroes, streets, wells, the dead, trifles,  
 the origin of the world, the origin of the sea, whether  
 things are <sup>or</sup> are not: such talk I shall not  
 utter'. In this way he has full awareness of  
 that.

20. But [he knows] 'Such talk as deals with  
 effacement, as furrows the heart's release, as  
 leads to complete dispassion, fading, cessation,  
 stilling, direct knowledge, enlightenment,  
 5 extinction, that is to say, talk on wanting little,  
 on contentment, seclusion, aloofness from ~~the~~  
~~world~~, energeticness, virtue, concentration, under-  
 standing, deliverance, knowledge and vision  
 of deliverance: such talk I shall utter'. In this  
 10 way he has full awareness of that.

21. When a bhikkhu abides thus, <sup>114</sup> if his  
 cognizance inclines to thinking, [he knows]  
 'Such thoughts as are low, vulgar, coarse,  
 ignoble, connected with harm, and lead not to  
 5 dispassion, fading, ceasing, stilling, direct  
 knowledge, enlightenment, extinction, that  
 is to say, thoughts of sensual desire, thoughts  
 of ill-will, and thoughts of cruelty: such  
 thoughts I shall not think'. In this way he  
 has full awareness of that.

22. But [he knows] 'Such thoughts as are  
 subtle and ~~outward~~ outward leading, as lead  
 out rightly to the exhaustion of suffering in  
 him who practices them, that is to say,

thoughts of renunciation, thoughts of non-ill-will, and thoughts of non-cruelty: such thoughts I shall think'. In this way he has full awareness of that.

23. *Śaṅkha*, there are these five cords of sensual desire. What five? Forms cognizable by the eye that are wished for, desired, agreeable and likeable, connected with sensual desire and provocative of lust. Sounds cognizable by the ear... Odours cognizable by the nose... Flavours cognizable by the tongue... Tangibles cognizable by the body... provocative of lust. These are the five cords of sensual desire.

24. Herein a bhikkhu should constantly review his own cognizance thus 'Does any excitement of cognizance arise in me about these five cords of sensual desire when there is some occasion or other for it?'. If, on reviewing, the bhikkhu <sup>understands</sup> ~~sees~~ excitement of cognizance does arise in me about these five cords of sensual desire when there is some occasion or other for it', then that bhikkhu ~~sees~~ understands 'Look and quiet for the five cords of sensual desire unabandoned in me'. In this way he has full awareness.



of that. But if, on reviewing, the bhikkhu ~~understands~~ ~~understands~~ understands 'No excitement of cognizance arises in me about these five cords of sensual desire when there is some occasion or other for it', then that bhikkhu understands 'zeal and lust for the five cords of sensual desire are abandoned in me'. In this way he has full awareness of that.

25. Ananda, there are these five aggregates affected by clinging.

Herein a bhikkhu should abide contemplating rise and fall thus: 'Such is form, such <sup>is</sup> its arising, such its disappearance; such is feeling, such <sup>is</sup> its arising, such its disappearance; such is perception, such its arising, such its disappearance; such are determinations, such their arising, such their disappearance, such is consciousness, such <sup>is</sup> its arising, such its disappearance?'

26. When he abides contemplating rise and fall in these five aggregates affected by clinging, the conceit 'I am' [based] on these five aggregates affected by clinging is abandoned in him. When that is so, that bhikkhu understands 'The conceit "I am" [based] on these five aggregates affected by clinging is abandoned in me'. In that way he has full awareness of that.

27. These ideas have an ~~entirely~~ entirely profitable basis; they are noble, supramundane, and inaccessible to the Evil One.



28. How do you conceive this, Ananda?  
 What good does a noble disciple see that  
 justifies him in seeking the Teacher's  
 company even if told to go? »

29. « Venerable sir, our ideas have their  
 are rooted in the Blessed One, the Blessed One  
 is their guide and their home. It is good  
 that the meaning of these words should  
 occur to the Blessed One. Having heard it  
 from the Blessed One, the bhikkhus will re-  
 member it ».

30 « Ananda, a disciple is not justified in  
 seeking the teacher's company for the sake  
 of expositions of discourses and stanzas. Why  
 is that? Fine ideas have long been learnt  
 by you, remembered, consolidated by word of  
 mouth, looked over by the mind, <sup>and</sup> well pene-  
 trated by right view. But such talk as  
 deals with effacement, as favours the heart's  
 release, as leads to complete dispassion,  
 fading, cessation, stilling, direct knowledge,  
 enlightenment, extinction, that is to say, talk  
 on wanting little, on contentment, seclusion,  
 aloofness from ~~contact~~ society, energeticness,  
 virtue, concentration, understanding, deliver-  
 ance, knowledge and vision of deliverance;  
 for the sake of such talk a disciple is justi-  
 fied in seeking the company of the teacher,  
 even if told to go.



265  
31. Since this so, Ananda, ~~there comes to be~~<sup>may</sup> the Teacher's Undoing, ~~then~~ may come ~~about~~<sup>about</sup> the Pupil's Undoing ~~and then~~ may come about, ~~the~~ Undoing of the Devil in the life Divine ~~may come about~~.

32. ~~And how does there come to be~~<sup>come about?</sup> the Teacher's Undoing? Here some Teacher frequents a secluded resting place: ~~to~~ the forest, ~~at~~ the root of a tree, a rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, ~~a~~ <sup>116</sup> ~~an~~ open space, a heap of straw. While he lives thus withdrawn, divines and householders from town and country visit him. When ~~that happens~~<sup>that happens</sup>, he goes astray, hungers, ~~and~~ succumbs to craving, and reverts to luxury. This Teacher is said to be undone by the Teacher's Undoing. He has been struck down by evil unprofitable ideas that defile, that renew being, that bring misery, that ripen as pain, and give future birth, ageing and death. This is how ~~there comes to be~~ the Teacher's Undoing comes about.

33. ~~And how does there come to be~~<sup>come about?</sup> the Pupil's Undoing? A pupil of that teacher, emulating the teacher's seclusion, frequents a secluded resting place: the forest, the root of a tree, a rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, a ~~an~~ <sup>116</sup> ~~an~~ open space, a heap of straw. While he lives thus withdrawn, divines and householders from town and country visit him. When ~~that happens~~<sup>that happens</sup>, he goes astray,



10-15 Hungers, succumbs to craving and reverts to luxury. This Pupil is said to be undone by the Pupil's Undoing. He has been struck down by evil unprofitable ideas that deplete, that renew being, that bring misery, that ripen as pain and give future birth, ageing and death. This is how ~~the~~ ~~undoing~~ ~~comes~~ ~~to~~ be the Pupil's Undoing comes about.

34. And how does the Undoing of a Devil in the Life Divine come about? Here a Perfect One appears in the world, accomplished and fully enlightened, perfect in true knowledge and conduct, sublime, knower of worlds, incomparable leader of men to be tamed, teacher of gods and men: Enlightened, Blessed. He frequents a secluded resting-place: the forest, the root of a tree, a rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, a jungle thicket, an open space, a heap of straws, while dwelling he lives thus with drawn, divines and householders from town and country visit him. When ~~that~~ that happens, he does not go astray, or hunger or succumb to craving or revert to luxury. 117

[But] a disciple of this teacher, simulating his teacher's seclusion, frequents a secluded resting-place: the forest, the root of a tree, a rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, a jungle thicket, an open space, a heap of straws. While he lives thus



~~produce future birth, ageing and death,  
 thus there comes to be the Pupil's Undoing.  
 34. And how does there come to be the  
 Undoing of the Dweller in the Life of Purity?  
 Here, the Perfect One appears in the world,  
 Accomplished, Fully Enlightened, endowed  
 with clear vision and virtuous conduct, sub-  
 lime, Knower of words, Incomparable leader  
 of men to be tamed, Teacher of gods and men,  
 Enlightened, Blessed. He retires to a secluded  
 abode - to the forest, the root of a tree, a rock,  
 a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel  
 ground, a jungle thicket, an open space,  
 a heap of straw. While dwelling he lives  
 thus withdrawn, brahmins and householders  
 from town and country visit him. When\* that  
 happens\* he does not go astray \*or hunger,  
 \*or succumb to craving, \*or revert to luxury.  
 [But] a disciple of this teacher, emulating  
 his teacher's seclusion, retires to a secluded  
 abode - to the forest, the root of a tree, a  
 rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a  
 charnel ground, a jungle thicket, an open  
 space, a heap of straw. While he lives thus  
 withdrawn, brahmins and householders visit  
 him from town and country. When\* that  
 happens\*, he goes astray, hungers, succumbs  
 to craving, and reverts to luxury. This  
 dweller in the life of purity is said to be  
 undone by the undoing of the dweller in~~

the life of purity. He has been struck  
 30 down by evil unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that bring  
 depletion, ~~cause~~ <sup>result</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~ignorance~~ <sup>ignorance</sup>, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup>  
~~leads~~ <sup>leads</sup> to misery, ~~result~~ <sup>result</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~suffering~~ <sup>suffering</sup>, and  
~~prevents~~ <sup>prevents</sup> future birth, ageing and death.  
 Thus there comes to be the undoing of the  
 dweller in the life of purity.

35. And herein, Ananda, the undoing  
 of the dweller in the life of purity has  
 a more painful result, a more bitter  
 result, than the ~~undermining~~ teacher's  
 undoing or the pupil's undoing, and it  
 even leads to states of woe.

36. Therefore, Ananda, bear yourselves  
 towards me in lovingkindness, not in hos-  
 tility, that will be long for your welfare  
 and happiness.

5 And how do disciples bear them-  
 selves in hostility towards the Master,  
 not in lovingkindness? Here, Ananda,  
 compassionate and seeking their welfare,  
 the Master teaches the Dhamma to the  
 10 disciples out of compassion: this is for  
 your welfare, this is for your happiness.  
 His disciples will not hear or give ear or  
 prepare their minds for knowledge;  
 erring, they turn aside from the Master's  
 15 teaching. Thus do ~~the~~ disciples bear them-  
 selves in hostility towards the Master,



not in lovingkindness  
 27 And how disciples bear themselves in  
 lovingkindness towards the Master, not in  
 hostility? Here, Ananda, compassionate  
 and seeking their welfare, the Master  
 5 teaches the Dhamma to the disciples out of  
 compassion: This is for your welfare, this is  
 for your happiness. His disciples will hear  
 and give ear and prepare their minds for  
 knowledge; they do not, erring, turn aside  
 10 from the Master's teaching. Thus do  
 disciples bear themselves in lovingkindness  
 towards the Master, not in hostility. 118

Therefore, Ananda, bear yourselves  
 in lovingkindness towards me, not in  
 15 hostility. That will be long for your welfare  
 and happiness.

38 I shall not treat you as the potter  
 treats the <sup>raw</sup> damp clay. Repeatedly  
~~repeatedly~~ <sup>repeatedly</sup> I shall speak to you, Ananda,  
 repeatedly <sup>admonishing</sup> ~~admonishing~~ (the ~~heart~~ <sup>heart</sup>) sound <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~  
 stand. [the test].

So the Blessed One said. The Vener-  
 able Ananda was <sup>delighted</sup> ~~delighted~~ and <sup>he agreed with</sup> ~~rejoiced~~  
~~at his words.~~ the Blessed One's words.

§ 5 for temporary - permanent deliverance of will  
see Sutta 129 § 5 & 7

Notes: § 6 - cf. M. sutta 13, § 20 - 31

§ 7 - cf. M. sutta 43 § 27 for "the  
non-bringing-to-mind of all signs"

§ 15 "Samādhi nimitta - sign for  
concentration" is defined at M. sutta 44,  
§ 12 as the four foundations of mindfulness.

§ 24 "ānātarasmiṃ vā ānāt-  
arasmiṃ vā āyatane - ~~when there is~~  
~~some occasion for it~~": ~~for~~ loc. abs.  
for use of āyatane as "occasion" cf  
M. sutta 119 § "Satisati āyatane"

§ 28. "Told to go" reading "paṇ-  
ujjamaṇo"; cf. M. vol. i, 108. If "paṇujja-  
maṇo" is taken then the rendering would  
be "and even ku being urged to do so"  
but the former seems preferable.

§ 7 "Associated with dismissal"  
follows the commentary. But "uyyo-  
janīyapatisaṃyutta" could also mean  
"associated with exhortation"

§ 13 "Resolute" reading "adhīmus-  
cati" with the same phrase in the  
preceding sutta. If "vimuccati" is taken,  
the reading would be "liberated." The  
phrase occurs in several other suttas  
in the Pīṭaka.

§ 27 "Have a wholly profitable base  
āyatanā (ekantakusālagatika)": āyatana is not  
in P.T. Dict.

§ 14 + 16 for the series paḍḍhantati paṇidati  
sattilīnati, vimuccati, see p. 51, 8 where these  
4 words are related to the 4 jhānas by the way

§ 23  
§ 25  
§ 26  
§ 28  
§ 29  
§ 30  
§ 31  
§ 32  
§ 33  
§ 34  
§ 35  
§ 36  
§ 37  
§ 38  
§ 39  
§ 40  
§ 41  
§ 42  
§ 43  
§ 44  
§ 45  
§ 46  
§ 47  
§ 48  
§ 49  
§ 50  
§ 51  
§ 52  
§ 53  
§ 54  
§ 55  
§ 56  
§ 57  
§ 58  
§ 59  
§ 60  
§ 61  
§ 62  
§ 63  
§ 64  
§ 65  
§ 66  
§ 67  
§ 68  
§ 69  
§ 70  
§ 71  
§ 72  
§ 73  
§ 74  
§ 75  
§ 76  
§ 77  
§ 78  
§ 79  
§ 80  
§ 81  
§ 82  
§ 83  
§ 84  
§ 85  
§ 86  
§ 87  
§ 88  
§ 89  
§ 90  
§ 91  
§ 92  
§ 93  
§ 94  
§ 95  
§ 96  
§ 97  
§ 98  
§ 99  
§ 100



Majjhima Nikaya 12.3 - Acchariyasabbhuta Sutta (3, 3, 3)

1. Thus I heard,

At one time the Blessed One was living at Savatthi, in Jeta's grove, Anathapindika's park.

2. Then a number of bhikkhus were sitting ~~waiting~~ in <sup>the</sup> ~~the~~ assembly hall where they had met together on return from their alms-round after their meal was over. Meanwhile it was being said among them:

It is wonderful, friends, it is marvellous, how the Perfect One's might and power enable him to know about the Enlightened Ones of the past, who ~~have~~ attained ~~the~~ complete extinction [of defilement], cut [the tangle of] diversification, broke ~~the~~ ~~round~~ cycle, ended the round, and surmounted all suffering — to know that ~~such~~ <sup>were such</sup> ~~was~~ those Blessed Ones <sup>with</sup> such their name, ... such their <sup>language</sup> ~~virtue~~ <sup>virtues</sup>, ... such their <sup>ideas</sup> ~~concentration~~ <sup>concentrations</sup>, ... such their <sup>understanding</sup> ~~understanding~~ ... such their <sup>deliverance</sup> ~~deliverance~~!

When this was said, the Venerable Sunda told the bhikkhus — Perfect Ones Friends are wonderful and have

wonderful qualities. Perfect Ones are  
 marvellous and have marvellous  
 qualities.

119 However, their talk meanwhile has  
 left unfinished; for the Blessed One  
 rose from meditation ~~and~~ when it was  
 evening, and he came to the assembly  
 hall and sat down on the seat made  
 ready. When he had done so, he addressed  
 the bhikkhus thus: — For what talk,  
 bhikkhus, are you gathered together  
 here now? And what was your talk mean-  
 while, which was left unfinished?

— Here, venerable Sir, we were  
 sitting ~~sitting~~ in the assembly hall  
 where we had met together on return  
 from our almsround after our meal  
 was over. Meanwhile it was being  
 said amongst us — "It is wonderful, friends,  
 ... their deliverance!" When this was  
 said, venerable Sir, the Venerable Ananda  
 said to us — "<sup>Friend</sup> Perfect Ones ... have  
 marvellous qualities". This, ~~venerable~~  
 Sir, was the talk meanwhile, <sup>venerable Sir</sup> which was  
 left unfinished; for the Blessed One  
 arrived.

50- Then the Blessed One addressed the  
 Venerable Ananda: — That being so,



Ananda, explain more fully ~~the~~ a Perfect One's wonderful and marvellous qualities.

3. - I heard and learned this, venerable sir, from the Blessed One's own lips: - Mindful and fully aware, Ananda, the Bodhisatta appeared in the ~~Tusita~~ <sup>of the Contented</sup> heaven. <sup>120</sup> And that, mindful and fully aware, the Bodhisatta appeared in the ~~Tusita~~ <sup>of the Contented</sup> heaven! - This I bear in mind as a wonderful and marvellous quality of the Blessed One.
4. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - Mindful and fully aware the Bodhisatta remained in the ~~Tusita~~ <sup>of the Contented</sup> Heaven! And... This I bear in mind...
5. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - For his life span the Bodhisatta remained in the ~~Tusita~~ <sup>of the Contented</sup> heaven! And... this I bear in mind...
6. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - Mindful and fully aware, the Bodhisatta passed away from the ~~Tusita~~ <sup>of the Contented</sup> heaven and descended into his mother's womb. And... this I bear in mind...
7. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta passed away from the ~~Tusita~~

heaven, <sup>of the Contented</sup> and descended into his mother's  
 womb, then a great measureless light  
 surpassing the splendour of the gods  
 appeared in the world with its ~~delight~~ <sup>gods</sup>,  
 and its Naras and its ~~Prachinas~~ <sup>Darkness</sup>, in this  
 generation with its ascetics and ~~devils~~ <sup>devils</sup>,  
 10 with its <sup>by dividing, neglect etc</sup> ~~princes~~ and men. And even in  
 those abyssal world interspaces of vac-  
 ancy, gloom and ~~absolute~~ <sup>utter</sup> darkness,  
 where the moon and sun, mighty and  
 powerful as they are, cannot make their  
 light prevail — there too a great meas-  
 ureless light appeared surpassing the  
 splendour of the gods. <sup>appeared</sup> And the ~~creations~~ <sup>creations</sup>  
 born there perceived each other by that  
 light: "So other <sup>creations</sup>, it seems, have  
 appeared here." And this ten-thousand-  
 fold world element ~~choke~~ and quaked  
 and trembled, and <sup>there too</sup> a great measure-  
 less light surpassing the splendour of  
 the gods appeared. And... this I bear  
 in mind...

8. I heard and learned this from the  
 Blessed One's own lips: — When the Bodhi-  
 Satta had descended into his mother's  
 womb, four sons of deities came to guard  
 him at the four quarters so that no  
 humans or non-humans or any one  
 shall harm the Bodhi Satta or his  
 mother. And... this I bear in mind...



275

9. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta had descended into his mother's womb, she became intrinsically virtuous, refraining from killing <sup>breathing</sup> things, from taking what is not given, from ~~sexual~~ <sup>in sensual desires</sup> misconduct, from false speech, and from ~~the state of negligence due to~~ <sup>the state of</sup> wine, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> fermented brews. And... this I bear in mind...

10. 121 I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta had descended into his mother's womb, no thought of men that was connected with the <sup>strands</sup> ~~of~~ sensual desires came to her, and she was inaccessible to any man with lustful <sup>coquetry</sup> ~~thoughts~~. And... this I bear in mind...

11. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta had descended into his mother's womb, she <sup>obtained</sup> ~~had~~ the five <sup>strands</sup> of sensual desires; and, <sup>when she was</sup> ~~being~~ <sup>permeated</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>and impregnated</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~five~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~strands~~ <sup>with</sup> of those ~~five~~ <sup>strands</sup> of sensual desires, ~~she was~~ <sup>she was</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~them~~ <sup>in</sup>. And... this I bear in mind...

12. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta had descended into his mother's womb, no kind of affliction arose in her; she

5 had pleasure in the absence of all bodily  
~~was blind in / troubled~~

She saw the Proshisatta within her womb  
 with all his limbs, lacking no faculty;  
 as though a blue, yellow, red, white, or  
 brown, thread were strung through a  
 10 fine beryl gem of purest water, eight  
 faceted, well cut, so that a man with  
 eyes, taking it in his hand, might retain  
 it thus: - "This is a fine beryl gem  
 of purest water, eight-faceted, well cut,  
 15 and through it is strung a blue, yellow,  
 red, white, or brown thread," - so too  
 when the Proshisatta had descended into  
 his mother's womb, no kind of affliction  
 arose in her; she was blind and un-  
 20 troubled in her body. She saw the Proshisatta  
 within her womb with all his limbs,  
 lacking no faculty. And... this I bear  
 in mind...

13. 122 I heard and learned this from the  
 Blessed One's own lips: - Seven days after  
 the birth of the Proshisatta, his mother  
 died and reappeared in the Tavatimsa <sup>of the contented</sup> heaven.  
 And... this I bear in mind...

14. I heard and learned this from the  
 Blessed One's own lips: - Other women give  
 birth after carrying the child in the  
 womb for nine or ten months, but not  
 5 so the Proshisatta's mother; she gave



The Bodhisatta's mother gave birth after carrying him in her womb for exactly ten months. And... this I bear in mind...

15. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - Other women give birth seated or lying down, but not so the Bodhisatta's mother; the Bodhisatta's mother gave birth to him standing up. And... this I bear in mind...

16. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta came forth from his mother's womb, first ~~the~~<sup>gods</sup> received him, then humans<sup>being</sup>. And... this I bear in mind...

17. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta came forth from his mother's womb, he did not touch the earth; the four sons of ~~gods~~<sup>gods</sup> received him and set him before his mother: "Rejoice, O Queen, a son of great power has been born to you." And... this I bear in mind...

18. I heard and learned this from the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta came forth from his mother's womb he came forth unsullied, unsmear<sup>ed</sup>,<sup>123</sup> with water or humours, or blood or any kind of impurity, clean and unsullied. As though there were a gem placed in Kāse cloth, then the gem would not

smear the cloth or the cloth the gem;  
 10 Why is that? Because of the purity of both.  
 So too when the Bodhisatta came forth  
 from his mother's womb, he came forth  
 unsoiled, unsmear'd with water or  
 humours or blood or any kind of im-  
 purity, clean and unsoiled. And  
 ... this I bear in mind...

19. I heard and learned this from  
 the Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhisatta  
 came forth from his mother's womb, two  
 jets of water appeared [to pour] from the  
 sky, one cold and one hot, for bathing  
 the Bodhisatta and his mother. And  
 ... this I bear in mind...

20. I heard and learned this from the  
 Blessed One's own lips: - When the Bodhi-  
 satta was just born, he stood firmly  
 with his feet on the ground; then he took  
 5 seven steps to the North, and, with a white  
 parasol held over him, he surveyed each  
 quarter. He uttered the <sup>of the Leader of the Host</sup> words: "I  
 am the Highest in the world. I am the  
 Best in the world. I am the Foremost in the  
 10 world. This is the last birth. Now there is  
 no <sup>more</sup> <sup>being [to come]</sup> ~~further becoming~~. And ... this I  
 bear in mind...

21. I heard and learned this, venerable  
 sir, from the Blessed One's own lips:  
 - When, Ananda, the Bodhisatta came



by godly right

5 forth from his mother's womb, then a  
 great measureless light surpassing the  
 splendour of the gods appeared in the  
 world with its ~~gods~~ <sup>and</sup> its Maras and its  
~~ascetics~~ <sup>ascetics</sup> and ~~heretics~~ <sup>heretics</sup>, with ~~its~~ <sup>by godly right</sup> perfect  
 10 and ~~men~~ <sup>men</sup>. And even in those abysmal  
 world inter spaces of ~~vacuity~~ <sup>vacuity</sup> vacancy, and  
 gloom and ~~darkness~~ <sup>darkness</sup> darkness, where  
 the moon and sun, mighty and powerful  
 as they are, cannot make their light  
 prevail. — <sup>124</sup> there too a great measure-  
 less light surpassing the splendour of  
 the gods appeared. And the ~~things~~ <sup>creatures</sup> born  
 there perceived each other by that light.  
 "So other ~~things~~ <sup>creatures</sup> it seems, have appeared  
 20 here." And this ten-thousand-fold  
 world element shook and quaked and  
 trembled, and there too a great measure-  
 less light surpassing the splendour  
 of the gods appeared. And that when  
 the Prodhisatta... splendour of the gods  
 appeared — this also I bear in mind  
 as a wonderful and marvellous quality  
 of the Blessed One.

22. — That being so, Ananda, bear this  
 also in mind as a wonderful and mar-  
 vellous quality of the Perfect One: Here,  
 Ananda, ~~feelings are known to the~~ <sup>a perfect one is acquainted with</sup>  
 Perfect One as they arise, ~~known as they~~ <sup>known as they</sup>

let

he is acquainted with them he is acq. with  
 are present, ~~known~~ as they subside; (per-

ceptions are known [to him] as they arise,  
~~known~~ as they are present, ~~known~~ as  
 they subside; ~~known~~ as they arise,  
 as they are present, ~~known~~ as they subside.  
 Bear this also

in mind, Ananda, as a wonderful and  
 marvellous quality of the Perfect One.

And that ~~feelings~~ <sup>is acquainted with</sup> ~~venerable~~ <sup>is acquainted with</sup>  
 are known to the Blessed One as they

arise, ~~known~~ as they are present, ~~known~~  
 as they subside; that perceptions are known

[to him] as they arise, known as they  
 are present, known as they subside;

that thoughts are known [to him] as  
 they arise, known as they are present,

known as they subside. This also I  
 bear in mind as a wonderful and  
 marvellous quality of the Blessed One.

So the venerable Ananda said.

The Master approved ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~beliefs~~ <sup>beliefs</sup>  
 were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and ~~agreed with~~ <sup>delighted</sup> the vener-  
 able Ananda's words.

note 11 pervincha vetti paridareti d

M. 1, 252



✓ Majjhima-Nikāya 124 - Bakula sutta  
(3, 3, 4)

1. Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the venerable Bakula was living at Rājagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' sanctuary.

2. Then ~~there~~ Kassapa the Unclothed (Acela Kassapa), a former companion of the venerable Bakula <sup>in his</sup> lay life, <sup>125</sup> went to the venerable Bakula and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and ~~pleasant~~ <sup>pleasant</sup> talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he ~~said~~ asked the venerable Bakula:

3. - 'Friend Bakula, how long have you ~~been~~ is it since you went forth?'

- 'It is eighty years since I went forth, friend!'

5. - 'Friend Bakula, in your eighty years gone forth how many times have you had sexual intercourse?'

- 'Friend Kassapa, you should not ask me like that - "Friend Bakula, in your eighty years gone forth how many times have you had sexual intercourse?" you should ask me like this - "Friend Bakula, in your eighty years gone forth how many times ~~has~~ has perception of sensual desires arisen in you?"'

15. - 'Friend Bakula, in your eighty years gone forth how many times has perception of ~~sensual~~ desires arisen in you?'

20 - 'Friend Kassapa, in my eighty years gone forth I have never known any perception of sensual desires arise in me.'

And that in his eighty years gone forth the venerable <sup>that</sup> ~~had~~ <sup>known</sup> ~~never experienced~~ any perception of sensual desires arise, we remember as a wonderful and marvellous quality in him.

25 -

4. - 5 - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I have never known any perception of ill will ~~arise in me~~ any perception of cruelty arise in me

And that in his eighty years gone forth the venerable <sup>that</sup> ~~had~~ <sup>known</sup> ~~never experienced~~ any perception of ill will, <sup>any perception of cruelty,</sup> arise in him we remember as a wonderful and marvellous quality in him.

32 -

6. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I have never known a thought of sensual desires arise in me.'

And that...

7. - 8. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I have never known a thought of ill will any ~~arise in me~~ thought of cruelty, arise in me

And that... 126

~~7. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I have never known a thought of cruelty arise in me~~

~~And that... 126~~



9. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth  
I have never accepted a robe from <sup>a</sup> household.  
And that...
10. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never worn a robe given by a householdar.'  
And that...
11. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never cut <sup>out</sup> a robe with a ~~hand~~ cutter.'  
And that...
12. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never sewn a robe with a needle.'  
And that...
13. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never dyed a robe with dye.'  
And that...
14. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never sewed a robe <sup>at</sup> ~~any~~ <sup>the Kathina time,</sup> ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup> ~~place~~.  
And that...
15. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never worked <sup>on</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>for</sup> companions in the life  
of poverty, at the making of robes.'  
And that...
16. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth I  
have never accepted an invitation.'  
And that...
17. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth ~~I~~  
~~these~~ <sup>no such</sup> ~~to the thought~~ <sup>Oh</sup> that someone might  
invite me!' has never arisen in me.'  
And that...
18. - 'Friend, in my eighty years gone forth

- I have never sat down inside a house?  
And that...
19. '... I have never eaten inside a house?  
And that
20. '... I have never <sup>approached</sup> ~~approached~~ <sup>at</sup> the sign  
of woman in details.  
And that.
21. '... I have never taught the <sup>True Idea</sup> ~~Pharmacia~~  
to women, even as much as a stanza of  
one verse.'  
And that
22. '... I have never gone to the thik-  
khunis' quarters.'  
And that...
23. '... I have never taught the <sup>True Idea</sup> ~~Pharmacia~~  
to thilckhunis.'  
And that...
24. '... I have never taught the <sup>True Idea</sup> ~~Pharmacia~~  
to a female probationer.'  
And that...
25. '... I have never taught the <sup>True Idea</sup> ~~Pharmacia~~  
to a female novice.'  
And that...
26. '... I have never given the going forth.'  
And that...
27. '... I have never given the full Admission.'  
And that...
28. '... I have never given the <sup>Dependence</sup> ~~Support~~ ?  
And that...



29. '... I have never had a novice wait on me.'  
And that...
30. '... I have never been bathed in a bath house.'  
And that...
31. '... I have never been bathed with bath powder.'  
And that...
32. '... I have never undertaken the work of massaging the limbs of companions in the life of ~~friendship~~ <sup>friendship</sup>.'  
And that...
33. '... no affliction has arisen in me even for as long as it takes to milk a cow.'  
And that...
34. '... I have never taken medicine, not even as much as a piece of gall nut.'  
And that...
35. '... I <sup>have</sup> never used a bolator.'  
And that...
36. '... I have never made up a bed.'  
And that...
37. '... I have never entered upon residence for the rains in an abode inside a village.'  
And that...
38. ~~'In my eighties~~ 'Friend, in my eighties ~~years gone forth,~~ 'Friend, I ate the country's alms food for seven days as a debtor; on the eighth day final knowledge arose.'  
And that the venerable Babkula ate the country's alms food for seven days as a debtor and on the eighth day final knowledge arose,

we remember as a wonderful and marvellous quality in him.

39. <sup>Then, I see</sup> — 'I would receive the going forth in this ~~and~~ and Discipline (Dhamma viaya) and I would receive the Full Admission!'

And Kassapa the Unclothed received the going forth in this <sup>Then, I see</sup> ~~and~~ and Discipline, and he received the Full Admission.

But not long after his Full Admission, dwelling alone, with drawn, diligent, ardent, self-~~acted~~, the venerable Kassapa, by realization ... [as in M. 4, § 27] ... And the venerable Kassapa became one of the Arakants.

40. Then at another occasion the venerable Prakkula took a key, and he went from cell to cell, saying — 'Come forth, venerable sirs; come forth, venerable sirs. Today I shall attain ~~complete~~ extinction.'

And that the venerable Prakkula took a key, and went from cell to cell, saying — 'Come forth ... extinction', we remember as a wonderful and marvellous quality in him. ~~128~~

41 <sup>128</sup> Then, seated in the midst of the Community, the venerable Prakkula attained ~~complete~~ extinction.

And that seated in the midst of the Community the Venerable Prakkula attained ~~complete~~ extinction we remember as a wonderful and marvellous quality in him.

Note § 39 Acela Kassapa's going forth is described in S. XL, 9.



(3, 3, 5)

287

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Kājāgaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Feeding Place.

2. Now on that occasion the novice Ācīravata was living in a forest hut. Then as Prince Jayasena was wandering and walking for exercise he went to the novice Ācīravata and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said:

3. « Aggiverrana, I have <sup>heard</sup> this: Abhiññāna who lives here diligent, ardent and self-endavouring might <sup>achieve</sup> touch upon unification of cognizance ».

« ~~That~~ <sup>that</sup> is so, prince, ~~that~~ <sup>that</sup> is so: Abhiññāna who lives here diligent, ardent and self-endavouring might <sup>achieve</sup> touch upon unification of cognizance ».

3. « It would be good if Master Aggiverrana taught me the True Idea according as he has <sup>heard and</sup> mastered it ».

« I cannot teach you the True Idea prince, according as I have <sup>heard and</sup> mastered it. And then, <sup>prince,</sup> were I to teach you the True Idea according as I have <sup>heard and</sup> mastered it you might



not know the meaning of what I said;  
and that would be weariness and vexation  
for me ».

4. 129 What Master Aggivenerana taught the  
True Idea according as he had <sup>heard and</sup> mastered it.  
Perhaps I might know the meaning of  
what Master Aggivenerana said ».

« I might teach you the True Idea,  
prince, according as I have heard and mas-  
tered it. If you know the meaning of what  
I say, that will be good. If you do not  
know the meaning of what I say, then  
leave it at that, and question me no  
further about it ».

« Let Master Aggivenerana teach the  
True Idea according as he has heard and  
mastered it. If I know the  
meaning of what Master Aggivenerana says,  
that will be good. If I do not know the  
meaning of what Master Aggivenerana says,  
then I shall leave it at that, and I shall  
question Master Aggivenerana no further  
about it ».

5. Then the novice Acciravata taught  
prince Jayasena the True Idea according  
as he had heard and mastered it.

When this was said, prince Jayasena  
remarked: « It is impossible, Master  
Aggivenerana, it cannot be, that a blabber



who lives diligent, ardent and self-endeavouring might <sup>achieve</sup> ~~reach~~ upon unification of cognizance??"

Then, having told the novice Aśśarata that it was impossible and could not be, prince Jayasena got up from his seat and went away.

6. Then soon after prince Jayasena had gone, the novice Aśśarata went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he recounted to the Blessed One all his conversation with prince Jayasena. When this was said, the Blessed One said:

7. O Aggivessana, how could it possibly happen that what is to be known through renunciation, seen through renunciation, reached through renunciation, ~~and~~ realized through renunciation, will ever be known, seen, reached or realized by prince Jayasena who ~~who~~ lives in the midst of sensual desires, enjoys sensual desires, is devoured by sensual desires, is consumed by the fever of sensual desires, <sup>130</sup> ~~is caught in the~~ ~~on seeking sensual desires?~~ - that is not possible.

8. Suppose there were two tamable elephants, or two tamable horses, or two tamable oxen, that were well tamed & well disciplined, and also two tamable elephants or tamable horses



or tamable oxen that were untamed and undisciplined. How do you conceive this, Aggivessana: ~~would~~ those two tamable elephants or horses or oxen, well-tamed and well-disciplined, would they perhaps, being tamed, go as the tamed go, would they reach the grade of the tamed? » — « Yes, venerable sir » — « But ~~would~~ those two tamable elephants or horses or oxen, untamed and undisciplined, would they, being untamed, go as the tamed go, would they reach the grade of the tamed, as those two well-tamed, well-disciplined elephants or horses or oxen did? » — « No, venerable sir » — « So too, Aggivessana, that what is to be known through renunciation, ... will ever be known ... by prince Jayama, who lives in the midst of sensual desires, ... that is not possible.

Suppose there were a high rock not far from a village or town, and two friends ~~passions~~ went out from that village or town and approached that rock head in hand, and having done so, one of them remained below at the foot of the rock while the other climbed up on ~~the~~ the rock; then the one who remained below said to the other on the summit 'Well, friend, what do you see, standing on the top of the rock?', and the other replied 'Standing on the top of the rock, friend,



I see, beautiful parks and groves and meadows and lakes'; then the first said 'It is impossible, friend, it <sup>131</sup> cannot be, that you, standing on the top of the rock, should see beautiful parks and groves and meadows and lakes'; then the other, ~~standing on the top of the rock,~~ came down from the top of the rock and taking his companion at the foot of the rock below by the arm, he made him climb to the top of the rock, and then, after letting him breathe a little, he asked 'Well, friend, what do you see, standing on the top of the rock?', and the first replied 'Standing on the top of the rock, friend, I see beautiful parks and groves and meadows and lakes'; then the other said 'friend, just ~~now~~ <sup>a little earlier</sup> ~~now~~ <sup>you</sup> ~~now~~ <sup>heard</sup> you speak thus "It is impossible, it cannot be, that you standing on the top of the rock should see beautiful parks and groves and meadows and lakes"; but just now, ~~we see too,~~ we heard you also speak thus "Standing on the top of the rock, friend, I see beautiful parks and groves and meadows and lakes"; then the first replied 'I was so obstructed by this great rock that I did not see what was there to be seen'.

10 Do too; Aggivana, since prava Jayasena is obstructed, ~~impeded~~ screened, blocked and shut off by a still greater mountain of ignorance, that what is to be known through



renunciation, ... will ~~be~~ ever be known  
 ... by prince Jayasena, who lives in the  
 midst of sensual desires, ... that is not  
 possible.

11. <sup>Aggrivana, if</sup> ~~if~~ these two similes had occurred to  
 to you spontaneously [while talking] to prince  
 Jayasena, he would have acquired con-  
 fidence in you, and having acquired confidence,  
 he would have acquainted you with the fact».

«Venerable sir, how should these two  
 similes occur to me, <sup>as</sup> spontaneously <sup>and</sup> never  
 heard before, as they have done to the Blessed  
 One?»

12. 132 «Aggrivana, <sup>a</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>appointed</sup> ~~king~~ <sup>woodman</sup>  
 Warrior-noble king addressed ~~the~~ <sup>his</sup> elephant;  
~~thus~~ <sup>good</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>woodman</sup> elephant, ~~mount~~ <sup>mount</sup> the  
~~king's~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant and go into the elephant  
~~wood~~ <sup>wood</sup>; then when you see a ~~forest~~ <sup>forest</sup> elephant,  
~~lead~~ <sup>lead</sup> him to ~~king's~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant's neck; then  
 replying 'Even so, sire', the elephant <sup>woodman</sup>  
 mounted the ~~king's~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant and went into  
 the elephant ~~wood~~ <sup>wood</sup>. Then when he saw a  
~~forest~~ <sup>forest</sup> elephant, he ~~lead~~ <sup>lead</sup> him to the ~~king's~~ <sup>king's</sup> ele-  
 phant's neck; ~~then~~ <sup>then</sup> the ~~king's~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant  
 led him out into the open. And that is  
 how the ~~forest~~ <sup>forest</sup> elephant comes into the open,  
~~since~~ <sup>since</sup> a forest elephant, <sup>clears to</sup> ~~leaves~~ that, that is to  
 say the elephant wood - then the elephant  
 woodman informed the ~~king~~ <sup>king</sup> appointed warrior.



noble king: "Sire, the forest elephant has come  
~~into~~ into the open"; then the head-mounted  
 warrior-noble king ~~to~~ addressed ~~the~~ [his]  
 elephant ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> ~~quer~~ Thus 'Come, good elephant  
~~and~~ tamer, tame the forest elephant  
 in order to subdue his forest habits, in order  
 to subdue his forest memories and intentions,  
 in order to subdue his forest distress, fatigue  
 and fever, in order to get him to ~~enjoy~~  
 take delight within the town, and in order to  
~~get him~~ inculcate in him habits to men's  
 liking; 'Even so, sire', the elephant tamer  
 replied; then he ~~imp~~ <sup>imp</sup> ~~ed~~ a large post  
 in the earth and ~~fastened~~ <sup>fastened</sup> the forest elephant  
~~to~~ to it by the neck in order to subdue  
 his forest habits;... and in order to incul-  
 cate in him habits to men's liking; then he  
~~the elephant tamer~~ treated ~~the~~ <sup>forest elephant</sup> with such  
~~words as~~ ~~go~~ words as are innocent, pleasing  
 to the ear, and lovable, as go to the heart,  
 are civil, desired of many and dear to many;  
 and <sup>as he was</sup> soon ~~he~~ treated with ~~such~~ <sup>133</sup> words,  
 he was willing to hear, ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> ~~go~~ <sup>to</sup> ear, and ~~established~~  
 his ~~mind~~ <sup>mind</sup> in knowledge; then the elephant  
 tamer ~~supplied~~ <sup>supplied</sup> ~~him~~ <sup>him</sup> with grass fodder and  
 water; ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> soon as the forest elephant accepted  
 the grass fodder and water from ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> him he  
 knew ~~that~~ ~~the~~ ~~forest~~ ~~elephant~~ ~~to~~ ~~would~~ ~~live~~  
 'Now he will live; he is <sup>the king's</sup> a royal elephant';



Then the elephant tamer ~~gave~~ <sup>makes</sup> him act  
~~exercise~~ thus 'Take up, sir! Put down,  
 sir!' and <sup>sooner</sup> as soon as the ~~first~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant ob-  
 eyed the elephant tamer's orders to take  
 up and put down, and carried out his  
 instructions, then the elephant tamer ~~gave~~  
~~him a further exercise~~ <sup>makes him act</sup> thus 'forward, sir!  
 Back, sir!', and <sup>sooner</sup> as soon as the ~~first~~ <sup>king's</sup> ele-  
 phant obeyed the elephant tamer's  
 orders to go forward and back, and car-  
 ried out his instructions, then the ele-  
 phant tamer ~~gave him a further exercise~~ <sup>makes</sup>  
~~him act~~ thus 'Get up, sir! Sit down, sir!', and  
 as soon as the ~~first~~ <sup>king's</sup> elephant obeyed  
 the elephant tamer's orders to get up and  
 sit down and carried out his instructions,  
 then the elephant tamer ~~gave him a fur-~~  
~~ther exercise~~ <sup>makes him act in the way</sup> called 'imperturbability'; ~~he~~  
<sup>placed</sup> a giant's shield to his trunk, and a  
 ? man with a lance in his hand ~~was~~ seated  
 on his neck, and men with lances in  
 their hands surrounded him on all sides,  
 and the elephant tamer, <sup>(himself)</sup> stood in front  
 of him with a long lance pole in his hand;  
 and in <sup>going his act</sup> ~~performing~~ his exercise in imperturb-  
 ability he moved neither his fore feet  
 nor his hind feet, nor the fore part nor  
 the hind part of his body, nor his head nor  
 his ears nor his trunk nor his tail nor











227  
 28-30. When his concentrated cognizance ...  
 [and so on as in Sutta 4 § 27, 29, and  
 31]... There is no more of this to come.

31. That bhikkhu is one who bears cold  
 and heat and hunger and thirst and  
 contact with gnats and flies, wind, <sup>sun,</sup> <sup>ill,</sup>  
 and creeping things, who endures ~~hard~~  
 spoken and unwelcome words, and arises  
<sup>hardly</sup> <sup>137</sup> feelings that are painful, racking, <sup>harsh,</sup> <sup>piercing,</sup>  
 disagreeable, distressing, and ~~unpleasant~~  
 breath-taking (suffocating), being rid of all  
 greed, hate and delusion, with ~~blemishes~~ <sup>lust</sup> <sup>flaws</sup>  
 removed, he is ~~worthy~~ fit for gifts, fit  
 for hospitality, fit for offerings, fit for  
 reverential salutation, as an incomparable  
 field of merit for the world.

32. If ~~the~~ King's elephant when old  
 dies untamed and undisciplined, it is an  
 untamed death that ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> is reckoned to have  
 died. If ~~a~~ <sup>middle</sup> ~~aged~~ <sup>aged</sup> the King's elephant  
 when middle-aged dies untamed and un-  
 disciplined, it is an untamed death that  
~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> is reckoned to have died. If the King's  
 elephant when young dies untamed and  
 undisciplined, it is an untamed death that  
~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> is reckoned to have died. <sup>Sp too,</sup> if an  
 elder bhikkhu dies with cankers unexhausted,  
 it is an untamed death that ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> is reckoned  
 to have died. If a middle bhikkhu... If a



new bhikkhu dies with cankers un-  
exhausted, it is an untamed death that  
\* he \* is reckoned to have died.

If the king's elephant when old  
dies well tamed and well disciplined, it  
is a tamed death that \* he \* is reckoned to  
have died. If the king's elephant when  
middle-aged... If the king's elephant when  
young dies well tamed and well discip-  
lined, it is a tamed death that \* he \*  
is reckoned to have died. So too, if an elder  
bhikkhu dies with cankers exhausted, it  
is a tamed death that \* he \* is reckoned  
to have died. If a middle bhikkhu... If a  
new bhikkhu dies with cankers exhausted,  
it is a tamed death that \* he \* is reckoned  
to have died.

33. So the Blessed One said. The novice  
Aciravata was <sup>delighted</sup> satisfied, with them and he  
delighted in the Blessed One's words.  
agreed with

Notes: § 12 etagedhā : nam. sing of etad + ~~gadhā~~  
gadhā ?

Sara saukappa :

Cf.

§ 25 This is an instruction to one who has  
already gained the first illumination (§ 24) to perfect  
the 'settling of thinking & pondering' necessary for  
attaining the 2nd illumination



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 126 - Bhūmija Sutta  
(3, 3, 6)

1. **138** Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Rājagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Sanctuary.

2. Then, it being morning, the venerable Bhūmija dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went to the house of Prince Jayasena and sat down on a seat made ready.

3. Then Prince Jayasena went to the venerable Bhūmija and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the venerable Bhūmija:

« Master Bhūmija, there are some monks and divines who assert thus, whose view is thus: 'If a man makes an aspiration and he leads the life Divine, he is unable to procure <sup>any</sup> fruit [~~of the aspiration~~] owing to the presence of craving in the aspiration; if he makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine, he is still unable to <sup>procure</sup> ~~obtain~~ any fruit [~~of the aspiration~~] owing to the lack of aspiration'; if he both <sup>and he leads the life Divine</sup> makes an aspiration and makes no aspiration, he is still



unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit; if he neither makes an aspiration, nor makes no aspiration, <sup>and he leads the life Divine,</sup> he is still unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit. What does the venerable Bhumi-ja's Teacher say here; what does he declare? »

f. « I have not heard and learned that from the Blessed One: sure lijo, jriiver. But it is possible that the Blessed One might say thus: 'If a makes an aspiration and he leads the life Divine reasonably, <sup>[because of the lack of reason]</sup> he is unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit; if he makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine unreasonably, he is still unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit; if he both makes an aspiration and makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine unreasonably, he is still unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit; if neither makes an aspiration nor makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine unreasonably, he is still unable to ~~procure~~ any fruit. [However,] if a man makes an aspiration and he leads the life Divine reasonably, he is able to ~~procure~~ fruit. <sup>[because of the presence of a reason]</sup> If he makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine reasonably, he is still able to ~~procure~~ fruit; if he



both makes an aspiration and makes no aspiration and he leads the life Divine reasonably, he is still able to ~~procure~~ fruit; if he neither makes an aspiration nor makes no aspiration and he lives the life Divine reasonably, he is still able to ~~procure~~ fruit.

30 I have not heard and learnt that [as you stated it] from the Blessed One's own lips; Prince; but it is possible that the Blessed One might say [it as I have stated it]».

5. « If Master Bhūmija's teacher says thus, if he declares thus, then certainly one would think the venerable Bhūmija's teacher stands ahead of <sup>all</sup> the ordinary monks and divines». ~~then~~

6. Then Prince Jayasena served the venerable Bhūmija from his own dish of milk rice.

7. Then when the venerable Bhūmija had returned from his alms round after his meal, he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side, when he had done so, he ~~walked~~

5 \* told the Blessed One what had occurred, adding: \* ~~I hope, venerable~~ « Venerable sir, I hope that, when I was asked thus, and answered, that I said that they ~~were~~ <sup>were</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~represent~~ <sup>represent</sup> the Blessed One <sup>with</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~correctly~~ <sup>correctly</sup>, that I answered in accordance with the true idea, and that



with no legitimate deduction  
~~there being nothing legitimate~~ deducible  
from my assertion that provides grounds  
for ~~condemnation~~ <sup>condemning</sup> [me]??

8. 140 « Surely, Bhūmija, when you were  
asked thus and answered thus, you  
said what ~~the Blessed One~~ I say,  
you did not misrepresent me in ~~correctly~~,  
and you answered in accordance with  
the ~~same~~ same idea with nothing legitimately  
deducible from your assertion that pro-  
vides grounds for ~~condemning~~ [you].

9. Whatever monks and divines have  
wrong view, wrong intention, wrong speech,  
wrong action, wrong livelihood, wrong  
effort, wrong mindfulness, and wrong  
concentration, ~~if~~ they make an aspi-  
ration and they lead the life Divine,  
they are unable to ~~procure~~ <sup>procure</sup> any fruit,  
and if they make ~~no~~ <sup>and they lead the life Divine,</sup> aspiration, they  
are still unable to ~~procure~~ <sup>procure</sup> any fruit, and  
if they both make an aspiration and  
make no aspiration, ~~the~~ <sup>and</sup> they lead  
the life Divine, they are still unable to  
~~procure~~ <sup>procure</sup> any fruit, and if they neither  
make an aspiration nor make no  
aspiration and they lead the life Divine,  
they are ~~unable to~~ <sup>still unable to</sup> ~~procure~~ <sup>procure</sup> any fruit.  
Why is that? Because that is not a  
reason for ~~procuring~~ <sup>procuring</sup> any fruit.



10. Suppose a man needing oil, seeking oil, wandering in search of oil, heaped up gravel in a tub and sprinkled it with water, and ~~pressed~~ <sup>all over</sup> it. Then if he made an aspiration and ~~acted thus~~ <sup>acted thus</sup>, he would be unable to procure any oil, and if he made no aspiration and ~~acted thus~~ <sup>acted thus</sup>, he would still be unable to procure any oil, and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration and ~~acted thus~~ <sup>acted thus</sup>, he would still be unable to procure any fruit, and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no aspiration and ~~acted thus~~ <sup>acted thus</sup>, he would still be unable to procure any ~~fruit~~ <sup>oil</sup>. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is not a reason for procuring ~~any fruit~~ <sup>oil</sup>. So too, whatever monks and divines have wrong view... ~~because that [wrong path] is not a reason for procuring any fruit.~~

11. Suppose a man needing milk, seeking milk, wandering in search of milk, ~~traced~~ <sup>traced</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~horn~~ <sup>horn</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~a~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~cow~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~at~~ <sup>at</sup> ~~her~~ <sup>her</sup> ~~horn~~ <sup>horn</sup>, then if he made an aspiration... and if he made no aspiration... and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no aspiration and ~~acted thus~~ <sup>acted thus</sup>, he would still be unable to procure any milk. Why is that? Because



that [way of acting] is not a reason for procuring milk. So too, whatever monks and divines have wrong view... Because ~~that~~ that [wrong path] is not a reason for procuring fruit.

12. Suppose a man needing butter, seeking butter, wandering in search of butter, poured water into a churn and tumbled [it] with a churning-stick, then if he made an aspiration... and if he made no aspiration... and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no aspiration and he acted thus, he would still be unable to procure any butter. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is not a reason for procuring butter. So too, whatever monks and divines have wrong view... Because that [wrong path] is not a reason for procuring fruit.

13. Suppose a man needing fire, seeking fire, wandering in search of fire, ~~with~~ ~~a~~ ~~wet~~ ~~sappy~~ ~~piece~~ ~~of~~ ~~wood~~ ~~with~~ ~~which~~ ~~to~~ ~~rub~~ ~~it~~, <sup>took</sup> an 142 sappy fire-stick and rubbed a wet sappy piece of wood with it, then if he made an aspiration... and if he made no aspiration... and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no



aspiration, and he acted thus: ~~but~~ he would still be unable to procure <sup>any</sup> fire. Why is that? Because that [wrong] of acting is not a reason for procuring fire. So too, whatever monks and divines have wrong view... because that [wrong path] is not a reason ~~for~~ procuring fruit.

14. Whatever monks and divines have right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindfulness, right concentration, if they ~~live the life Divine, they are able to procure a fruit~~ make an aspiration and they ~~lead the life Divine, they are able to procure fruit~~, and if they make escap-  
 5 ~~iration and they lead the life Divine, they are still able to procure fruit~~, and if they ~~both make an aspiration and make no aspiration and they lead the life Divine~~ they are still able to procure fruit, and if they neither make an aspiration nor make  
 10 ~~no aspiration~~ ~~they are still able~~ and they lead the life Divine, they are still able  
 15 to procure fruit. Why is that? Because that [right path] is a reason for procuring fruit.

15 Suppose a man needing oil, seeking oil, wandering in search of oil, heaped sesamum flour in a tub and sprinkled it



all over with water and pressed it, then if he made an aspiration and <sup>acted thus</sup> he would be able to procure oil, and if he made no aspiration and <sup>acted thus</sup> he would still be able to procure oil, and if he ~~both made~~ made an aspiration and made no aspiration and <sup>acted thus</sup> he would still be able to procure oil, and if he neither made an aspiration nor made an aspiration and <sup>acted thus</sup> he would still be able to procure oil. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is a reason for procuring oil. So too, whatever monks and divines have right view... <sup>143</sup> because that [right path] is a reason for procuring fruit.

16. Suppose a man needing milk, seeking milk, wandering in search of milk, tackled a recently-calved cow at her udder, then if he made an aspiration... if he made no aspiration... if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... if he neither made an aspiration nor no aspiration, and <sup>acted thus</sup> he would still be able to procure milk. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is a reason for procuring milk. So too, ~~from~~ whatever... procuring fruit.



307

17. Suppose a man needing butter, seeking butter, wandering in search of butter, poured curd into a churn and tacked it with a churning-stick, then if he made an aspiration... and if he made no aspiration... and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no aspiration, and he expected thus, he would still be able to procure butter. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is a reason for procuring butter. So too, whatever... procuring fruit.

18. Suppose a man needing fire, seeking fire, wandering in search of fire, took an upper fire-stick and rubbed a dry, sapless piece of wood with it, then if he made an aspiration, and if he made no aspiration... and if he both made an aspiration and made no aspiration... and if he neither made an aspiration nor made no aspiration, and he expected thus, he would still be able to procure fire. Why is that? Because that [way of acting] is a reason for procuring fire. So too, whatever... procuring fire.

19. Bhūmija, if these four similes had occurred to you spontaneously [while talking] to



prince Jayasena, he would have acquired confidence in you, and having acquired confidence, he would have acquainted you with the fact».

«Venerable sir, how should these four similes occur to the <sup>1</sup>spontaneous and never heard before, as they have done to the Blind One?»

So the Blind One said. The venerable Bhūmija was <sup>delighted</sup> satisfied, and he ~~rejoiced at~~ <sup>agreed with</sup> delighted in the Blind One's words.

### Notes

- § 4 The sentence is filled out from the Tilkā
- § 5 ~~and~~ Sabberam yeva puthu samana -  
brāhmanānam muddhānam manū  
āhacca tittḥati. The <sup>right</sup> translation may  
 be this or it may not.
- § 7 In idiom na ca koci sahadhammiko  
vādāmvado gāvaṅham thānani āgacchati  
 see Sutta 90 note on § 5
- § 9 ayoni and § 14 yoni for meaning  
 of yoni as 'reason' from which the adverbs  
yoniso and ayoniso come, see cony. to M.  
 Sutta 12 and note to Sutta 2.
- § 12 malḥhami - chewing-stick: not in this  
 sense in P.T.S. Dict.



✓ Majjhima Nikāya Sutta 127 - Anuruddha Sutta

(3, 3, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blind One was living at Sāvaththi in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park.

2. Then Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter, addressed a certain man thus: « Come, good man, go to the venerable Anuruddha and pay homage in my name with <sup>145</sup> your head at ~~the feet~~, and say ~~venerable Anuruddha's~~ feet his feet, and say 'Venerable sir, let the venerable Anuruddha ~~accept~~ as one of four accept tomorrow's meal from Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter; and, venerable sir, ~~the~~ Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter would much rather have come himself to the Venerable Anuruddha, but he is very busy and much occupied with work for the King' ».

« Yes, venerable sir » the man replied, and he went to the venerable Anuruddha, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said: « Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter pays homage with his head at the venerable ~~Anuruddha's~~ Anuruddha's feet, and he says <sup>146</sup> ~~saying~~ the venerable



Anuruddha, venerable sir, as one of four accept tomorrow's meal from Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter; and, venerable sir, Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter would much rather have come himself to the venerable Anuruddha, but he is very busy and much occupied with work for the king's.

The venerable Anuruddha accepted in silence.

3. Then when the night was ended, it being morning, the venerable Anuruddha dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe; he went to Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter's house, and he sat down on a seat made ready. Then with his own hands Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter served and satisfied the ~~community~~ of venerable Anuruddha with various kinds of good food. Then when the venerable Anuruddha had eaten and no longer had the bowl in his hand, Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter took a low seat and sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said: ~~to the venerable~~

4. Venerable sir, here elder Bhikkhus have come to me and said thus 'Householder, develop the measureless deliverance of will' and some elders said







below, around; he abides ~~with~~ <sup>decided on</sup> pervading (intent on) the entire world everywhere and equally with his will endued with loving-kindness, abundant, exalted, measureless <sup>and</sup> free from affliction. He abides pervading (intent upon) one direction with his will endued with compassion... with gladness... with equanimity, ... measureless <sup>and</sup> free from affliction. This <sup>what is</sup> called the measureless deliverance of will.

8. What is the exalted deliverance of will? Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> pervading (intent upon) ~~deciding~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~as much as~~ one tree root ~~deciding [that]~~ as 'exalted'.

This is what is called the exalted deliverance of will. Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> pervading ~~deciding~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~as much as~~ two or three tree roots ~~deciding [that]~~ as 'exalted'. This too is what is called the exalted deliverance of will.

Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> pervading ~~deciding~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~as much as~~ one village area ~~deciding [that]~~ as 'exalted'. This too is what is called the exalted deliverance of will.

Here <sup>147</sup> a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> pervading ~~deciding~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~as much as~~ two or three village areas ~~deciding [that]~~ as 'exalted'. This too is what is called the exalted deliverance of will.



Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> pervading to the ~~extent of~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~as~~ <sup>as</sup> one major kingdom, ~~deciding it~~ <sup>decided on</sup> as 'exalted'. This too is <sup>what is</sup> called the exalted deliverance of will.

Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> (pervading to the extent of ~~much~~ <sup>as</sup> two or three major kingdoms, ~~deciding it~~ <sup>decided on</sup>) as 'exalted'. This too is what is called the exalted deliverance of will.

Here a bhikkhu abides <sup>decided on</sup> (pervading to the extent of ~~much~~ <sup>what</sup> is bounded by the ocean, ~~deciding it~~ <sup>decided on</sup>) as 'exalted'. This too is what is called the exalted deliverance of will.

This is the way in which it ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> be known that these ideas are different in meaning and different in the letter.

9. There are these four kinds of reappearance of being. What four? Here someone ~~pervades~~ <sup>abides</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>decided on</sup> pervading thus 'limited radiance'. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears [in] the ~~retinue~~ <sup>company</sup> of the Deities of limited Radiance (Parittabhi). Here someone <sup>abides</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>decided on</sup> pervading thus 'Measureless radiance'. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears [in] the ~~retinue~~ <sup>company</sup> of the Deities of Measureless Radiance (Appamanābhā). Here someone <sup>abides</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>decided on</sup> pervading thus ~~with~~ <sup>with</sup> 'defiled radiance'. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears [in] the ~~retinue~~ <sup>company</sup> of Deities of Defiled



Radiance (Saikalitthā). Here someone <sup>abides</sup> decided ~~on~~ pervading their 'Pure radiance'. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears <sup>in</sup> the company of the Deities of Pure Radiance (Parisuddhā). These are these four kinds of reappearance of being.

10. There may be an occasion on which those deities assemble together. When they do so, what is ~~understood~~ understood is ~~the~~ difference ~~of~~ of [identity in] <sup>their</sup> appearance, not ~~the~~ difference of their <sup>[kind of]</sup> radiance. Suppose a man brought many oil lamps into a house, then what <sup>is understood is</sup> difference of [identity in] ~~the~~ <sup>their</sup> flames, not ~~the~~ difference of their radiance. So too, there may be an occasion... <sup>M.S.</sup> difference of their radiance.

11. There may be an occasion on which those deities disperse from there. When they do so, what is understood is ~~the~~ difference of [identity in] <sup>their</sup> appearance, not difference of their radiance. Suppose a man took those many oil lamps out of that house, then what is understood is difference of [identity in] <sup>their</sup> appearance, not difference of their <sup>[kind of]</sup> radiance. So too, there may be an occasion... difference of their radiance.



345  
 12. <sup>It is not</sup> ~~That~~ deities ~~do not~~ <sup>actually</sup> think thus:  
 'This that is ours ~~is ours~~ is permanent, ever-  
 lasting or eternal', but rather that ~~where~~  
 wherever those deities <sup>reside</sup> ~~live~~, there they  
 take delight. Suppose flies were being  
 carried along on a carrying pole or on  
 a basket, <sup>they</sup> would not actually think thus  
 'This that is ours is permanent or ever-  
 lasting or eternal', but rather that  
 wherever those flies ~~are~~ <sup>live</sup> there they take delight. So too, it is not  
 that... take delight ».

13. When this was said, the venerable  
 Abhaya Kaccāna said to the venerable  
 Anuruddha « Good, venerable Anuruddha.  
 And there is a further question I can  
 ask: Are all the deities with radiance  
 of limited radiance? Or are some of the  
 deities there of measureless radiance? »

« ~~It is~~ According to the factor [dis-  
 tinguishing the kind of ~~one~~ their being],  
 great Kaccāna, [in which they appear] there  
 are some deities there with limited radiance  
 and some deities with measureless radiance ».

14. <sup>reason,</sup> ~~cause~~ what is the condition, for the fact  
~~that one order of deities among these deities~~  
 that while these deities have reappeared in  
 a single order of deities there are some <sup>149</sup>  
 deities there with limited radiance and  
 some deities with measureless radiance? »



15. « As to that, friend Kaccāna, I shall ask you a question in return. Answer it as you like. How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna; the bhikkhu who ~~decides~~ <sup>extends over</sup> ~~to possible abides~~ <sup>persuading to</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>an area</sup> ~~as~~ <sup>much as one</sup> tree root as 'exalted', and the bhikkhu who abides <sup>over an area</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~persuading~~ <sup>two or three</sup> tree roots as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of cognizance is the more exalted? »

« The<sup>st</sup> second one<sup>st</sup>, venerable sir ».

16. « How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna; the bhikkhu who abides <sup>extending over an area</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~persuading~~ <sup>two or three</sup> tree roots as 'exalted', and the bhikkhu who ~~abides~~ <sup>extending over an area</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~persuading~~ <sup>one</sup> village area as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of cognizance is the more exalted? »

« The<sup>st</sup> second one<sup>st</sup>, venerable sir ».

17. « How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna; the bhikkhu who abides <sup>extending over an area</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~persuading~~ <sup>one</sup> village precinct as 'exalted', and the bhikkhu who abides <sup>extending over an area</sup> ~~decided on~~ <sup>to the extent of</sup> ~~persuading~~ <sup>two or three</sup> village precincts as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of cognizance is the more exalted? »



18.

« The <sup>\*</sup>second one's<sup>\*</sup>, venerable sir ».

« How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna: <sup>extending</sup> The bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>over an area</sup> of two or three village areas, <sup>180</sup> and the bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>extending over an area</sup> of one major kingdom as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of cognizance is the more exalted? »

« The <sup>\*</sup>second one's<sup>\*</sup>, venerable sir ».

19.

« How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna: <sup>extending</sup>

The bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>over an area</sup> of one major kingdom as 'exalted' and the bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>extending over an area</sup> of two or three major kingdoms as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of cognizance is the more exalted? »

« The <sup>\*</sup>second one's, venerable sir ».

20.

« How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna: <sup>extending</sup>

The bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>over an area</sup> of two or three major kingdoms as 'exalted', and the bhikkhu who abides decided on <sup>persuading</sup> ~~to the extent~~ <sup>extending over an area</sup> of what is bounded by the ocean as 'exalted', which of these two bhikkhus' development of consciousness is the more exalted? »

« The <sup>\*</sup>second one's<sup>\*</sup>, venerable sir? ».

21

« This is the <sup>reason,</sup> ~~cause~~ friend Kaccāna - this is the condition, for the fact that while



these deities have reappeared in a single order of deities. There are some deities there with limited radiance and some deities with measureless radiance?.

22. « Good, venerable Anuruddha. And there is a further question that I can ask: Are all the deities with radiance of defiled radiance? or are some of the deities there of pure radiance? »

157 « According to the factor [distinguishing the kind of their being], friend Kaccāna, [in which they appear] there are some deities there with defiled radiance and some deities with pure radiance? »

23. « Venerable Anuruddha, what is the reason, what is the condition, for the fact that while these deities have reappeared in a single order of deities there are some deities there with ~~limited radiance~~ defiled radiance and some deities with pure radiance? »

24. « As to that, friend Kaccāna, I shall ~~ask you a question in return. Answer it as you like. How do you conceive this, friend Kaccāna?~~ give you a simile; for ~~there are~~ some wise men ~~who~~ understand by means of a simile the meaning of what is said here. Suppose a burning lamp's oil is impure and its creek is



impure, then because of the impurity of its oil and of its wick it <sup>(ghrayati) as if</sup> burns, darkly; so too, here a bhikkhu abides decided on pervading a defiled radiance; his bodily inertia is not quite tranquillized, his stiffness and torpor is not quite eliminated, and his agitation and worry is not quite ~~removed~~ <sup>removed</sup>; \*for that reason\* ~~the bhikkhu~~ ~~absorbs~~ he practices absorption (ghrayati) as if darkly. On the dissolution of the body, after death he reappears in the company of the deities with defiled radiance. Suppose a burning lamp's oil is ~~essence~~ pure and its wick is pure, then because of the purity of its oil and of its wick it ~~burns~~ <sup>(na ghrayati)</sup> does not burn (na ghrayati) as if darkly; so too here a bhikkhu abides decided on pervading an undefiled radiance; his bodily inertia is quite tranquillized, his stiffness and torpor is quite eliminated, and his agitation and worry is quite removed; \*for that reason\* <sup>he</sup> <sup>does not</sup> practices absorption (na ghrayati) as if darkly. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears in the company of the deities with pure radiance. 152. This is the <sup>reason,</sup> ~~the cause~~ this is the <sup>condition,</sup> ~~reason~~, for the fact that while these deities have reappeared in a single order of deities there are some deities there with defiled radiance and some deities



with pure radiance ??

25 When this was said, the venerable Sabhija Kaccāna said to the venerable Anuruddha « Good, venerable Anuruddha, venerable sir, the venerable Anuruddha has not said ~~thus~~: 'thus I heard' or 'It ought to be thus'; but on the contrary, venerable sir, the venerable Anuruddha speaks in this way: 'These deities are thus are these deities, and such are those deities'. Venerable sir, it occurs to me thus: 'Certainly the venerable Anuruddha has lived with those deities and has talked and held converse with them' ?? ??

« Certainly, friend Kaccāna, this question of yours is a personal one directed at me; nevertheless I will answer you: I have ~~long lived~~ long lived with those deities and have talked and held converse with them ?? ».

26 When this was said, the venerable Sabhija Kaccāna told Pañcakaṅga the Carpenter « It is gain for you, householder, it is great gain for you have abandoned your ideas of doubt and have had the opportunity



of hearing this ~~presentation~~ discourse  
on the True Idea.

Notes.

- § 12 addivasanti <sup>(live)</sup> is probably a better reading than abhinivisanti.
- § 13 Tad-aigena (According to the factor): possibly this expression might be the basis for the ~~text~~ for the tadainga for the bhavainga (citta) of the Paṭṭhāna and Comment. series, see Comment: 'Tad aigena ti Tena bhavūpattiya aigena; bhavūpapatti-kāraṇena ti attha'.
- § 25 For duṭṭhulla as insertion see note to Sutta 64, § 9.  
The expression andhandhavi is not in P.T.S. Dict. lit. = blindly-blindly.
- § 13 From the fact that the Ven. Sābhya Kaccāna addresses his senior as thaṇṭa instead of āvuso the occasion appears to be after the Buddha's Parinibbāna (see D. ii).  
unless he was a sāmaṇera.
- § 24 From this para, it seems that sūpa-ghāna does not imply the absolute absence of all the 5 hindrances?





✓ Majjhima Nikaya No 128 - Uppakilesa Sutta  
(3, 3, 8)

323

1. This I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Kosambi in Ghoṣita's Park.

2. Now on that occasion ~~the~~ Kosambi bhikkhus had taken to quarrelling <sup>and</sup> brawling, ~~and disputing,~~ ~~and they were~~ <sup>were disputing,</sup> ~~and they were~~ <sup>stabbing each other with verbal daggers.</sup>

3. Then a certain bhikkhu went to the Blessed One, <sup>123</sup> and after paying homage to him, he stood at one side, and he said:

« Venerable sir, ~~the~~ bhikkhus here at <sup>Kosambi</sup> ~~are~~ <sup>and are</sup> taken to quarrelling <sup>and</sup> brawling, ~~and disputing,~~ ~~and they are~~ <sup>stabbing each other with verbal daggers.</sup> Venerable sir, it would be good if the Blessed One went to ~~those~~ <sup>those</sup> bhikkhus out of compassion ».

The Blessed One consented in silence.

4. Then the Blessed One went to those bhikkhus and said to them « Enough, bhikkhus, no quarrelling, no brawling, no disputing, no wrangling ».

5. When this was said, a certain bhikkhu said to the Blessed One « Venerable sir, let the Blessed One, Lord of the True Idea, wait. ~~Let~~ <sup>Let</sup> venerable sir, let the Blessed One ~~abide~~ <sup>abide</sup> inactive ~~and~~ devoted to the pleasant abiding here and now. It is we who shall



be known for this quarrelling, brawling,  
disputing and wrangling".

For the second time...

For the third time the Blessed One  
said to them & Enough, bhikkhus, no  
quarrelling, no brawling, no disputing, no  
wrangling".

For the third time that bhikkhus said  
to the Blessed One & Venerable sir, let the  
Blessed One, the Lord of the Time Idea, wait;  
venerable sir, let the Blessed One abide  
inactive devoted to the pleasant abiding  
here and now. It is we who shall be  
known for this quarrelling, brawling, dis-  
puting and wrangling".

6. Now it being morning, the Blessed  
dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe,  
he went into Kosambi for alms. When he  
had wandered for alms and had returned  
from his alms round after his meal, he set  
his resting place in order, and taking his  
bowl and outer robe, he uttered these stanzas  
standing: 154

7. i. "When many voices shout at once,  
There is none thinks himself a fool;  
The Saṅgha being split, none thinks:  
'I too took part, I helped in this'.  
ii. They have forgot wise speech, they talk  
With minds obsessed by words alone;



Uncurbed their mouths, they talk at will;  
None knows what leads him so to do.

- i) 'Tis he abused me, he that beat me,  
He that worsted me, that robbed me!  
Hate never is ~~affected~~<sup>allayed</sup> in men  
Who cherish such like enmity.
- ii) 'Tis he abused me, he that beat me,  
He that worsted me, that robbed me!  
Hate surely is ~~affected~~<sup>allayed</sup> in men  
Who cherish no such enmity.
- v) For enmity by enmity  
Is never in this world ~~affected~~<sup>allayed</sup>;  
It is ~~affected~~<sup>allayed</sup> by amity —  
That is an ancient principle.
- vi) Those others do not recognize  
That here we should restrain ourselves;  
Still there are some who are aware  
And so their quarrels are appeased.
- vii) Breakers of bones and murderers,  
Stealers of cattle, horses, wealth —  
While bent on pillaging the realm,  
Even these can act in concord;  
So why can you not do so too?
- viii) If you can find a trustworthy companion  
With whom to walk, both virtuous and steadfast,  
Then walk with him content and mindfully,  
And overcoming any threat of danger.
- ix) If you can find no trustworthy companion  
With whom to walk, both virtuous and steadfast,  
Then, as a king who leaves a vanquished kingdom,  
Walk like a tusker in the woods alone.



- x Better it is to walk alone,  
There is no fellowship with fools.  
Walk alone, haem none, and know no conflict,  
Be like a tusk in the woods alone.??

8. Then, having uttered these stanzas standing,  
the Blessed One went to Pūlakaloma-kāra-  
gāma. The Venerable Bhagu was living there  
on <sup>55</sup> that occasion. <sup>When</sup> he saw the Blessed One  
coming in the distance, he prepared a seat  
and ~~set out~~ water for the feet. The Blessed  
One sat down on the seat prepared, and  
having done so, he washed his feet. The veneration-  
able Bhagu paid homage and sat down at  
one side. When he had done so, the Blessed  
One said to him.

«I hope that you are <sup>progressing</sup> ~~well~~, bhikkhu,  
that you are comfortable and that you  
have no trouble on account of alms food?»

«I am progressing, Blessed One, <sup>on account of</sup> I am  
comfortable and I have no trouble, ~~on~~ alms  
food».

Then the Blessed One instructed,  
urged, roused, and encouraged, the veneration-  
able Bhagu with talk on the True Idea,  
after which he got up from his seat and  
left for the Eastern Bamboo Park.

9. <sup>Now on that occasion</sup> the Venerable Anuruddha, the veneration-  
able Nandiya and the veneration-able Kimbila  
were living there. ~~on that occasion~~ the  
Park-keeper saw the Blessed One coming.



327  
 He told him "Do not come into this park, monk. There are three claustrals here seeking their own good, Do not disturb them."

10. The venerable Anumiddha heard the park-keeper ~~speaking~~ <sup>to the Blessed One</sup>. He told ~~the park keeper~~ <sup>him</sup> "Friend park-keeper, do not keep the Blessed One out. It is our own master, the Blessed One, who has come".

The venerable Anumiddha went to the venerable Nandiya and the venerable Kimbala and said "Come out, venerable sirs, come out; our master has come".

11. Then all three went to meet the Blessed One. One took his bowl and outer robe, one prepared a seat, and one placed water for washing the feet. The Blessed One sat down on the seat prepared, and having done so, he washed his feet. Then they paid homage to him and sat down at one side. When they had done so the Blessed One said to them:

12. "I hope that you are all, <sup>progressing</sup> ~~well~~, Anumiddha, that you are all comfortable, and that you have no trouble on account of alms food".

13. "We are progressing, Blessed One, we are comfortable, and we have no trouble on account of alms food."



12. « I hope that you all live in concord, <sup>and agreement</sup> Anuruddha, as ~~friendly~~ and undisputing as milk with water, viewing each other with kindly eyes ».

« Surely we \*do so\*, venerable sir ».

13. « But, Anuruddha, how do you live \*thus\* ? »

« ~~As you see, these, venerable~~ Venerable sir, ~~as to that,~~ I think thus 'It is gain for me, it is great gain for me here that I am living with such companions in the life divine'. I maintain <sup>body, verbal and</sup> ~~act and word and~~ <sup>mental act</sup> loving kindness towards these venerable ones both in public and in private. I think 'Why should I not set aside what I am minded to do and do only what they are minded to do?' And I act \*accordingly\*. We are different in body, venerable sir, but only one in mind, I think ».

The venerable Nandija and the venerable Kimbila \*each spoke likewise\*. [They added] \*« That is how we live, venerable sir in concord, venerable sir, as friendly and undisputing as milk and water, viewing each other with kindly eyes ».

14. « Good, good, Anuruddha. I hope you all dwell diligent ardent and self-controlled ? »

157 « Surely we \*do so\*, venerable sir ».



15. « But, Anuruddha, how do you dwell & abstain? »

« Venerable Sir, as to that, whichever of us returns first from the village with alms food sets out the water for drinking and for washing and puts the refuse bucket in its place. Whichever of us returns last eats any food left over, if he wishes; otherwise he throws it away where there is no green or drops it into water where there is no life. He puts away the seats and the water for drinking and for washing. He puts away the refuse bucket after washing it, and he sweeps out the refectory. Whoever notices that the pots of drinking water or washing water or water for the pissing are low or empty sees to them. If they are too heavy for him, he calls someone else by a sign of the hand and they move it by joining hands. We do not speak for that purpose. But every five days we sit out the <sup>whole</sup> night together in talk on the True Idea. That is how we dwell diligent, ardent and self-controlled ».

16. « Good, good, Anuruddha; but while dwelling diligent, ardent and self-controlled in this way, have you attained <sup>as a consequence of abiding</sup> ~~any~~ any distinction of knowledge and vision worthy of noble ones' knowledge and vision higher than the human idea, ~~as a consequence of abiding~~ abiding? »



« As to that, venerable sir, as we dwell here diligent, ardent, and self-controlled, we perceive, <sup>both</sup> illumination and the ~~off~~ vision of forms. But that illumination <sup>soon</sup> disappears and so does the vision of forms, and we have not penetrated the sign [; the reason,] for that ».

17. « Still, Amuruddha, ~~you~~ the sign for that can be penetrated by you. I too, before my enlightenment, while I was still an unenlightened Bodhisatta, perceived both illumination and the ~~appearance~~ of vision of forms. But that illumination of mine <sup>is</sup> and the vision of forms soon disappeared. I thought

I thought thus: 'What is the <sup>reason</sup> ~~cause~~, what is the condition, ~~for this~~ why <sup>their</sup> illumination and the of mine and the vision of forms disappears?'. I thought thus: 'Uncertainty arose in me, and owing to the uncertainty my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms'. I shall so act that uncertainty does ~~not~~ arise in me again'.

18. As I dwelt diligent, ardent, and self-controlled, I perceived, <sup>both</sup> illumination and vision of forms. But that illumination of mine and the vision of forms disappeared.



appeared.

I thought thus: 'What is the reason, what is the condition, why this illumination of mine and the vision of forms disappears?'. I thought thus: 'Inattention ~~is~~ <sup>in me</sup> arose, and owing to the inattention my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that ~~neither uncertainty nor inattention~~ <sup>neither uncertainty</sup> arise in me again nor inattention'.

19. As I ... disappeared.  
I thought thus: 'What ... disappears?'.  
I thought thus: 'Stiffness and Torpor arose in me, and owing to the stiffness and Torpor my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that ~~uncertainty~~ <sup>neither uncertainty</sup> nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor arise in me again'.

20 As I ... disappeared.  
I thought thus: 'Alarm arose in me, and owing to the alarm my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that ~~neither uncertainty nor inattention~~ <sup>neither uncertainty</sup> nor stiffness-and-torpor arise in me again'.  
~~Stiffness and torpor arise in me again.~~  
~~Stiffness and torpor arise in me again.~~  
Suppose, a man set



out on a ~~disappointing~~ ~~long~~ ~~and~~ ~~journey~~  
 and murderers leapt out on each side of  
 him, then alarm would arise in him on that  
 account. So too, <sup>[I thought thus:]</sup> alarm arose in me, and owing  
 to the alarm my concentration died away; ~~and so~~  
~~did the vision of forms~~. When concentration died  
 away the illumination disappeared and so did  
 the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither <sup>157</sup>  
 uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness - and -  
 torpor nor alarm arise in me again.

21. As I... disappeared.  
 I thought thus: 'Elation arose in me and  
 owing to the elation my concentration died away;  
 when concentration died away the illumination  
 disappeared and so did the vision of forms'.  
 Supaya, <sup>Anuruddha,</sup> a man seeking a hidden treasure  
 and found at once five hidden treasures, then  
 elation would arise in him on that account.  
 So too, <sup>[I thought thus:]</sup> elation arose in me, and owing to the  
 elation my concentration died away; when  
 concentration died away the illumination  
 disappeared and so did the vision of forms.  
 I shall so act that ~~that~~ neither uncertainty  
 nor inattention nor stiffness and - torpor  
 nor alarm nor elation arise in me again.

22. As I... disappeared.  
 I thought thus: 'Inertia arose in me,  
 and owing to the inertia my concentration  
 died away; when concentration died away  
 the illumination disappeared and so did



the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor nor alarm nor elation nor inertia arise in me again'.

23. As I ... disappeared.  
 I thought thus: '~~Too~~ <sup>too active</sup> energy ~~too~~ arose in me, and owing to the ~~too~~ <sup>too active</sup> energy my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms'. Suppose, Anuruddha, a man gripped a quail tightly with both hands it would die then and there; so too, [I thought thus:] '~~Too~~ <sup>too active</sup> energy arose in me; and owing to the excessive energy my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms'. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor nor alarm nor elation nor inertia nor ~~too active~~ <sup>too active</sup> energy arise in me again'.

24. As I ... disappeared.  
 I thought thus: 'Too sluggish energy <sup>160</sup> arose in me, and owing to the too sluggish energy my concentration died away. When concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms'. Suppose, Anuruddha, a man gripped a quail loosely, it would jump out of his hand. So too, [I thought thus:] 'Too sluggish energy arose in me, and owing to the too sluggish energy my concentration died away. When



Concentration died away, the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor nor alarm nor elation, nor too active energy nor too sluggish energy arise in me again.

25. As I... disappeared.

I thought thus: 'longing arose in me, and owing to longing my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor nor alarm nor elation nor too active energy nor too sluggish energy nor longing arise in me again'.

26. As I... disappeared.

I thought thus: 'Perception of difference arose in me, and owing to perception of difference my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness-and-torpor nor alarm nor elation nor too active energy nor too sluggish energy nor longing nor perception of difference arise in me again'.

27. As I... disappeared.

I thought thus: 'Too much <sup>meditating</sup> pondering



upon forms arose in me, and owing to too much <sup>inattention</sup> pondering upon forms my concentration died away; when concentration died away the illumination disappeared and so did the vision of forms. I shall so act that neither uncertainty nor inattention nor stiffness and torpor nor alarm nor elation nor too active energy nor too sluggish energy nor longing nor perception of difference nor too much <sup>multiplying upon</sup> pondering on forms arise in me again.

28. When I knew ~~knowing~~ thus that uncertainty is an imperfection of cognizance, I abandoned ~~it~~. Knowing that inattention... stiffness... and torpor... alarm... elation... inertia... too active energy... too sluggish energy... longing... perception of differences... too much pondering on forms <sup>is</sup> an imperfection of cognizance, I abandoned it.

29. While I dwelt diligent, ardent and self controlled I perceived illumination and ~~so~~ I did not see forms, I saw forms and I did not perceive illumination, <sup>even</sup> for a whole night ~~and~~ a whole day ~~and~~ a whole night and day. I thought thus: 'What is the reason, what is the condition, ~~why~~ <sup>why</sup> for this?'. I thought thus: 'On the occasion on which I give ~~no~~ attention to the sign of ~~the~~ illumination without giving attention to the sign of form, on



that occasion I perceive illumination and I do not see forms, and on the occasion on which I give attention to forms without giving attention to the sign of illumination, on that occasion I ~~perceive~~ <sup>see</sup> forms and I do not perceive illumination; ~~and~~ even for a whole night and a whole day and a whole day and night?

30. While I dwelt diligent, ardent and self-controlled, I perceived limited illumination and I saw limited forms, I perceived measureless illumination and I saw measureless forms, even for a whole night and a whole day and a whole night and day. I thought thus: 'What is the reason, what is the condition, ~~is~~ for this?' I thought thus: 'On the occasion on which, <sup>my</sup> concentration is limited, on that occasion my eye is limited, <sup>and</sup> with a limited eye I perceive limited illumination and I see limited forms; <sup>and</sup> on the occasion on which, <sup>my</sup> concentration is ~~not~~ <sup>measureless</sup> limited, on that occasion my eye is measureless, <sup>and</sup> with a measureless eye I see measureless forms; even for a whole night and a whole day and a whole day and night. ~~Ull~~

31. As soon as, <sup>62</sup> by my knowing



thus that uncertainty is an imperfection of Cognizance, \* it had been abandoned in me, as by my knowing that inattention... stiffness - and - torpor... alarm... elation... inertia... to active energy... to sluggish energy... longing... perception of difference... ~~too much pondering on forms is an imperfection of cognizance~~ ... as soon as by my knowing thus that too much pondering on forms is an imperfection of cognizance

32 — Thereupon I thought thus: ~~There is~~ ~~imperfections~~ ~~in my cognizance~~ ~~have~~ ~~been~~ abandoned. these imperfections in my cognizance. Now I [shall] develop concentration in three ways: I ~~develop~~

33 I developed concentration with applied thought and with sustained thought; I developed it without applied thought and with only sustained thought; I developed it with out applied thought and without sustained thought; I developed it with happiness; I developed it without happiness; I developed it <sup>accompanied by</sup> ~~with~~ enjoyment; I developed it accompanied by ~~equanimity~~ outlook (equanimity).

34 — As soon as I had developed concentration thus, knowledge and vision arose in me: My deliverance is unassailable,

This is the last birthing, there is no renewed, 'being now'.

So the Blessed One died. The venerable Anuruddha was <sup>delighted</sup> satisfied, and he <sup>agreed with</sup> ~~delighted~~ in the Blessed One's words.

### Notes:

§ 7; verse vi, l. 2: There is difference of opinion about the meaning of yamāware, whether it means 'we should restrain ourselves' or 'we ~~may~~ perish'.

§ 7: vv. iii-vi = Dh. 3-6, Jā. iii, 212; vv. i-x = Jā. iii, 488; Vin. i, 348-9; vv. viii-x = Dh. 328-30; v. ii = Ud. 91; v. vi = Mg. 275; vv. viii-ix =

Su. 451.  
 § 17 cf. invariant at Netti 88  
 § 22 for dukkhulla (metta) see Sutta 69, § 9.

§ 27: atiniyyāyitatta (too much pondering on)  
 = ati + ni + jāyāta + ta. Not in P. 35. Dict.;  
 cf. niyyāna at Sutta 95, § 14.

§ 28 and 31: cf. Sutta 7, § 5 and 6 for parallel construction.

§ 11 For use of the plural Anuruddhā see Sutta 31, § 5 note



✓ Majjhima-nikāya 129 - Bāḷapaṇḍita-sutta  
(3.39)

1. 163 Thus I heard.

On one <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in Jeta's grove, Aśvetaśrīṅḍika's Park. There ~~the~~ <sup>he</sup> Blessed One addressed the Bhikkhus thus - "Bhikkhus! - 'Venerable Sir,' ~~they~~ <sup>they</sup> replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

THE FOOL

2. Bhikkhus. There are three characteristics of a fool, signs of a fool, attributes of a fool. What three?

Here a fool is a <sup>concealer</sup> of what <sup>is</sup> ill-thought, a speaker of <sup>that</sup> which is ill-spoken, a doer of <sup>that</sup> which is ill-done. If a fool were <sup>not</sup> a <sup>concealer</sup> of what <sup>is</sup> ill-thought, a speaker of what is ill-spoken, a doer of what is ill-done, by what <sup>could</sup> a wise man know him thus - "This is a fool, ~~and not a~~ <sup>not a</sup> ~~good~~ man"? It is because a fool is a <sup>concealer</sup> of what is ill-thought, a speaker of what is ill-spoken, a doer of what is ill-done, that wise men know him thus - "This is a fool, ~~and not a~~ <sup>not a</sup> ~~good~~ man."

3. ~~The fool~~ feels pain and grief here and now <sup>in</sup> three ways.

If a fool is seated in an assembly or seated in a street or seated in a square and <sup>with</sup> people, there are discussing <sup>of</sup> pertinent and relevant <sup>subjects</sup>, then, if the fool is a killer of <sup>living</sup> things, a <sup>talker</sup> of what is not given, <sup>ad-</sup>dicted <sup>to</sup> <sup>various</sup> <sup>un-</sup>conducive, a speaker of falsehood.







grief that a fool feels here and now.

5. Again, when a fool is on his chair or on his bed or ~~resting~~ on the ground, then the evil actions he did in the past through bodily, verbal and mental misconduct cover him ~~and over~~ <sup>and over</sup> spread him. Just as the shadow of a great rock peak in the evening sun covers the ground, ~~and over~~ <sup>and over</sup> spreads it, so too when a fool is on his chair or on his bed or resting on the ground, <sup>then</sup> the evil actions he did in the past through bodily, verbal and mental misconduct cover him ~~and over~~ <sup>and over</sup> spread him. ~~Then the fool thinks -~~ "I left undone what was good. I left undone what was profitable. I made myself no shelter from <sup>any</sup> fear. I did what <sup>was</sup> evil, cruel, and wicked. Whatever is the destiny of those who have acted thus, there I shall go when I <sup>die</sup>." He sorrows, grieves and laments, beating his breast, he weeps <sup>and</sup> becomes distraught. This is the third kind of pain and grief that a fool feels here and now.

6. A fool who has given himself over to misconduct of body speech and mind, on the ~~destruction~~ <sup>destruction</sup> of the body, after death, reappears in states of ~~loss~~ <sup>deprivation</sup>, in an unhappy destiny, in perdition, ~~in hell~~.

### HELL

7. Were it rightly speaking to be said of anything that is utterly ~~disagreeable~~, ~~undesirable~~, ~~un-sought-after~~, utterly undesired, utterly disagreeable, it is of hell that, rightly speaking, it should be said \* thus \*. So much



so that it is hard to find a simile adequate to the suffering in hell.

When this was said, a bhikkhu asked the Blessed One - "But venerable sir, can a simile be given me?"

- "It can, bhikkhu", the Blessed One said.

(Suppose) <sup>Bhikkhus</sup> ~~they~~ <sup>they</sup> caught a robber malefactor and ~~brought~~ <sup>brought</sup> him before the King: - ~~Then~~,  
 "Sir, here is a robber malefactor. Order what punishment you ~~deem~~ <sup>deem</sup> fit for him".  
 Then the King said - "Go and strike this man in the morning with a hundred spears:"  
 And they struck him in the morning with a hundred spears. Then at noon the King ~~asked~~  
 asked - "How is that man?" - "Sir, he is still alive". Then the King said - "Go and strike that man at noon with a hundred spears" and they struck him at noon with a hundred spears. Then in the evening the King ~~said~~ asked -  
 "How is that man?" - "Sir, he is still alive." Then the King said - "Go and strike that man in the evening with a hundred spears." And they struck him in the evening with a hundred spears: ~~What~~ <sup>What</sup> do you, <sup>any one</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>that</sup> bhikkhus, would that man ~~feel~~ <sup>feel</sup> pain and grief by being struck with the three hundred spears <sup>with three hundred spears?</sup>  
 A venerable ~~sir~~ <sup>sir</sup> that man would ~~feel~~ <sup>feel</sup> pain and grief <sup>by being struck with even one spear, let alone three hundred.</sup>  
 Then, taking a small stone the size of his hand, the Blessed One addressed the



blinking <sup>eyes</sup> <sup>conscienceless</sup>  
 5 'What do you think, blinking, which is the greater, this small stone that I have taken, the size of my hand, or Himalaya King of Mountains?'  
 - 'Venerable Sir, the small stone that the

10 X Bhemed One has taken, the size of his hand, does not count beside Himalaya, it is not even a fraction, there is no comparison.'

- 'So too, blinking, the pain and grief that the man <sup>would feel</sup> <sup>being struck with</sup> <sup>three-hundred spears</sup> <sup>does not count</sup>, it is not even a fraction, there is no comparison.

with  
 death  
 source

10 X  
 708  
 'Now the warders of hell torture him with the fivefold transfixing. They drive a red-hot iron stake through one hand, they drive a red-hot iron stake through the other hand, they drive a red-hot iron stake through one foot, they drive a red-hot iron stake through the other foot, they drive a red-hot iron stake through his belly. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad <sup>action</sup> <sup>is exhausted</sup>.

11  
 'Now the warders of hell prostrate him and pare him with <sup>edges</sup> <sup>axes</sup>. There he feels painful racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad <sup>action</sup> <sup>is exhausted</sup>.

12  
 'Now the warders of hell set him with his feet up and his head down and pare him with <sup>edges</sup> <sup>axes</sup>. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad <sup>action</sup> <sup>is exhausted</sup>.

13  
 'Now the warders of hell harness him to a

clearist and drive him back and forth across  
burning ground, blazing and glowing. There  
he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings.

And he does not die till that bad ~~condition~~  
~~is used up~~ action [s result] is exhausted

14 Now the warden of hell make him  
climb up and down a great mound of burning  
coals, blazing and glowing. <sup>167</sup> There he feels pain-  
ful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not  
die till that bad ~~condition~~ ~~is used up~~ action [s result] is exhausted.

15 Now the warden of hell take him feet up  
and head down and plunge him into a red  
hot metal cauldron, burning, blazing and  
glowing. He is cooking there in a swirl of  
froth. And as he is cooking in there in a swirl  
of froth, he is swept now up, now down,  
and now across. There he feels painful,  
racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die  
till that bad ~~condition~~ ~~is used up~~ action [s result] is exhausted.

16 Now the warden of hell throw him into the  
Great Hell. Now, that Great Hell, thiddehas:

It has four corners and is built  
with four doors, (set one) in each side,

5 Walled up with iron all about

And ~~built in~~ <sup>built in</sup> with iron roof.

Its floor is with (made of iron)  
and heated till it glows with fire.

The range is full a hundred leagues  
wherein it holds monopoly.

17 'Thiddehas, I could tell you in many  
ways about hell. So much so that it is hard



Wey

to find a simile adequate to the suffering in hell.

ANIMAL GENERATION

18. Thinkers, there are animals that feed on grass. They eat by cropping fresh grass or dried grass into their teeth. And what are <sup>they</sup> ~~animals~~? Horses, cattle, dogs, keys, goats, and sheep, and any <sup>such</sup> ~~other animals~~ that feed on grass. A fool that formerly delighted in <sup>these</sup> tastes and did evil actions here, reappears on the dissolution of the body, after death, in the company of animals that feed on grass.
19. There are animals that feed on dung. They smell dung from a distance and run to it, [thinking] 'We can eat, we can eat!'. Just as Divines run to the smell of sacrifice, so too do these animals ~~run to the smell~~ that feed on dung. They <sup>168</sup> smell dung from a distance and run to it, [thinking] 'We can eat, we can eat!'. And what <sup>are they</sup> ~~animals~~ feed on dung? <sup>such</sup> ~~Animals~~, pigs, dogs and jackals, and any <sup>such</sup> ~~other animals~~ that feed on dung. A fool that formerly delighted in tastes here and did evil actions here reappears on the dissolution of the body, after death, in the company of animals that feed on dung.
20. There are animals <sup>that are</sup> born in darkness, age in darkness and die in darkness. And what are <sup>they</sup> ~~they~~? Moths, maggots and earth-



worms, and any other animals that are  
 \* such \* animals. A fool that formerly de-  
 lighted in tastes here and did evil actions  
 here reappears on the dissolution of the body,  
 after death in the company of animals that  
 are born, age and die in darkness.

21. There are animals that are born, age  
 and die in water. And what are \* they \*?  
 Fishes, turtles and crocodiles, and any other  
 \* such \* animals. A fool that formerly  
 delighted in tastes here and did evil  
 actions here reappears on the dissolution of  
 the body, after death, in the company of anim-  
 als that are born, age and die in ~~darkness~~  
 water.

22. There are animals that are born, age  
 and die in filth. And what are \* they \*? Those  
 animals that are born, age and die in a  
 rotten fish or in a rotten corpse or in rotten  
 dough or in a cesspit or in a sewer. 169  
 A fool that formerly delighted in tastes  
 here and did evil actions here reappears  
 on the dissolution of the body, after death,  
 in the company of animals that are born,  
 age and die in filth.

23. Bhikkhus, I could tell you in many  
 ways about the animal generation. So much  
 so that it is hard to find a simile adequate  
 to the suffering in the animal generation.



24

Suppose a man threw into the sea a yoke with one hole in it and then the East wind carried it West and the West wind carried it East and the North wind carried it South and the South wind carried it North, and suppose there were a blind turtle that came up once at the end of each century; how do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, would that blind turtle put his neck into that yoke with one hole in it?»

«He might, venerable sir, sometime or other at the end of a long period».

25.

«Bhikkhus, the blind turtle would sooner put his neck into that yoke with a single hole in it than a fool, once gone to perdition would find the human state again, I say. Why is that? Because there is no walking in the True Dharma there, no walking evenly (in peace), no doing what is profitable, no performance of merit; mutual devouring prevails there, and slaughter of the weak.

26

If, some time or other, at the end of a long period that fool comes back to the human state, it is into a low family that he is reborn — into such a family as an outcaste or hunter or bamboo-worker or cartwright or scavenger family —, ~~which is~~ <sup>which is</sup> poor with little to eat and drink,



surviving with difficulty, where he scarcely  
 finds food and clothing; and he is ugly,  
 unsightly and misshapen, sickly, blind  
 or cripple-handed or lame or paralysed;  
 he gets no food, drink, cloth, con-  
~~veyance~~<sup>172</sup> sandals (conveyance), garlands,  
 scents and unguents, bed, ~~and~~ lodging  
 and light; he misconducts him in body,  
 speech and mind, and having\* done that\*  
 on the dissolution of the body, after death,  
 he reappears in states of deprivation,  
 in an unhappy destination in perdition,  
 even in hell.

27. Bhikshus, suppose a gambler at  
 the very first unlucky throw loses his  
 child and his wife and all his pro-  
 perty and further more goes into bondage  
 himself, yet ~~that~~<sup>an</sup> unlucky throw\* such  
 as that\* is negligible; rather it is a far  
 more unlucky throw when a Fool who  
 misconducts himself in body, speech and  
 mind, ~~and~~ on the dissolution of the body,  
 after death, reappears in states of depriv-  
 ation, in an unhappy destination, in per-  
 dition, even in hell.

28. This is the pure perfection of  
 the fool's grade.



29. Philoklus; these these three character-  
 istics of a wise man, signs of a wise man,  
 attributes of a wise man. What three?

Here a wise man is a cognizer of  
 5- ~~what~~ the will thought a speaker of ~~what~~ the  
 will spoken, a doer of the will done. If a  
 wise man were not so; by what should  
 wise men know him thus: 'this is a wise  
 man, a true man'? It is because a wise  
 10- man is a cognizer of the will cognized, a  
 speaker of the will spoken, a doer of the  
 will done, that wise men know him thus:  
 'this is a wise man, a true man'.

30. A wise man feels pleasure and joy  
 here and now in three ways:

If a wise man is seated in an  
 assembly or in a street or in a square  
 5- and people there are discussing <sup>certain</sup>  
 pertinent and relevant <sup>matters</sup>, then if the wise  
 man is one who abstains from killing ~~the~~  
~~living~~ ~~all~~ breathing things, from ~~misconduct in~~  
~~sensual desires~~, from taking what is not  
 10- given, from misconduct in sensual desires, <sup>171</sup>  
 from false speech, from states of negligence  
 due to wine, liquor and intoxicants, he  
 thinks 'These ~~matters that people are dis-~~  
~~cussing~~ are pertinent and relevant ~~to~~  
 15- ~~matters that people are discussing~~, and  
 these ideas are known of me and I  
 shall be pointed to with respect to them? This  
 in connexion with.



is the first kind of pleasure and joy that a wise man feels here and now.

31. Again, when a robber malefactor is caught, a wise man sees kings having many kinds of torture inflicted on him ... — then the wise man thinks thus: 'Such evil actions as <sup>are</sup> those, ~~for which~~, such ideas are <sup>not</sup> known of me, and I shall not be pointed to in connexion with them. This is the second kind of pleasure and joy that a wise man feels here and now.

32. Again when a wise man is on his chair or on his bed or resting on the ground, then the good ~~acts~~ actions that he did in the past through bodily, verbal and mental good conduct cover him, ~~protect~~ and overspread him and envelop him. Just as the shadow of a great rock peak in the evening sun covers and overspreads and envelops the ground, so too when a ~~wise man~~ <sup>wise man</sup> ... envelops him. Then the wise man thinks thus: 'I <sup>have</sup> done what <sup>is</sup> evil, <sup>but</sup> I have left and my spirit is <sup>in</sup> good. I did what <sup>is</sup> good. I did what <sup>is</sup> profitable. I made myself a shelter from <sup>my</sup> fear. Whatever is the destination of those who have <sup>acted</sup> thus: there I shall go when I <sup>die</sup>. I shall <sup>not</sup> ~~do~~ <sup>neither</sup> ~~weep~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~lament~~, <sup>be</sup>



~~door~~ <sup>door</sup> left, beating his breast, <sup>do not weep till he is</sup> ~~weep and become~~ distraught. This is the third kind of pleasure and ~~joy~~ that a fool feels here and now.

33. A wise man who has given himself over to good conduct of body, speech and mind, ~~on~~ <sup>upon</sup> the dissolution of the body, after death, reappears in a happy destination, even in heaven. **HEAVEN**

34. Were it rightly speaking to be said of anything: 'That is utterly sought after, utterly desired, utterly agreeable' it is of heaven that, rightly speaking, it should be said ~~is thus~~. So much so that it is hard to find a simile adequate to the pleasures of heaven.

When this was said, a bhikkhu asked the Blessed One: « But, venerable sir, can a simile be given me? »

35. « It can, bhikkhu » the Blessed One said. « <sup>Suppose</sup> that a wheel-turning monarch possessed the Seven Treasures and the Four kinds of Success, and experienced pleasure and joy ~~with~~ <sup>as the source</sup> that as the source. ~~What~~ <sup>What</sup> are the Seven [Treasures] ? »

36. Here, when a head-anointed warrior-able king had bathed his head on the ~~Alposatha~~ <sup>Alposatha</sup> day of the Fifteenth and had gone up to the upper-palace terrace after observing



the Uposatha, there appears ~~to~~ to him the  
 divine Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup> Treasure with its thousand  
 spokes, its tyre, <sup>and</sup> its |felloe|, and complete  
 in every aspect. On seeing it, the head-  
 10 anointed warrior-noble king ~~thinks~~ thus  
 'Now ~~this~~ <sup>it</sup> has been heard by me that  
 when a head-anointed warrior-noble king  
 has bathed his head on the Uposatha day  
 of the Fifteenth and has gone up to the  
 15 Upper-palace Terrace after observing the  
 Uposatha, and there appears to him the  
 divine Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup> Treasure with its thousand  
 spokes, its tyre <sup>and</sup> its |felloe|, ~~and~~ complete  
 in every aspect, then that king becomes  
 20 a Wheel-turning Monarch. Am I then  
 a Wheel-Turning Monarch?'

37 Then the head-anointed warrior-  
 noble king rises from his seat, and taking  
 a water vessel in his left hand, he  
 sprinkles the Wheel-Treasure with his  
 right hand, [saying] 'Oh! Turn toward  
 good Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup>; triumph, good Wheel Jewel'.  
 38 Then ~~that~~ <sup>the</sup> Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup> Treasure turns  
 toward [rolling] in the eastern direction,  
 and the Wheel-Turning Monarch follows  
 in its <sup>wake</sup> with his four-constituent army.  
 Now in whatever region the Wheel Treasure  
 pauses, there the Wheel-Turning Monarch  
 takes up his abode with his four-constituent  
 army.



- 353  
 10 <sup>123</sup> ~~And~~ And ~~the~~ opposing kings in the eastern direction ~~and~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ come to the Wheel-turning Monarch and ~~speak~~ thus 'Come, great king; welcome, great king; command, great king; advise, great king'. The Wheel-turning Monarch ~~speak~~ <sup>speaks</sup>, thus 'No breathing thing is to be killed, nothing not given is to be taken, ~~no wrongful desire~~ is there is to be no misconduct in sensual desires, no falsehood is to be spoken, no intoxicant is to be drunk, and eat what you have been used to eat'. And the opposing kings in the eastern direction submitted to the Wheel-Turning Monarch.
- 20 ~~And~~ Then the Wheel ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> plunged into the Eastern Ocean and emerged again. And then it turned forward again [rolling] in the ~~southern~~ southern direction... submitted to the Wheel-turning Monarch.
- 25 ~~And~~ Then the Wheel Treasure plunged into the Southern Ocean and emerged again. And then it turned forward [rolling] in the western direction... submitted to the Wheel-turning Monarch.
- 30 ~~And~~ Then the Wheel ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> plunged into the Western Ocean and emerged. And then it turned forward [rolling] in the ~~direction~~ of the northern direction... submitted to the wheel-turning Monarch.



29. Now when the Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup> ~~Treasure~~ has triumphed over the earth <sup>to</sup> the ocean's edge, it returns ~~to~~ to the royal capital and remains <sup>on it</sup> fixed on its axle at the gate of the Wheel-turning Monarch's <sup>sun-</sup> palace, as an adornment to the gate of the Wheel-turning Monarch's <sup>inner</sup> palace.

Such is the Wheel <sup>Jewel</sup> ~~Treasure~~ that appears to a Wheel-turning Monarch.

30. Again, the Elephant <sup>Jewel</sup> ~~Treasure~~ appears to the Wheel-turning Monarch, all white, with sevenfold stance, with supernatural power (siddhi), flying through the air, called "Uposatha King of Elephants". On seeing <sup>him</sup> ~~it~~, the Wheel-turning Monarch's mind ~~was confident~~ had confidence in him <sup>thus</sup> 'It would be wonderful to ride the elephant, if he would ~~submit to~~ <sup>undergo</sup> taming!'. Then the Elephant <sup>Jewel</sup> ~~Treasure~~ <sup>submitted to</sup> undergoes taming, just as a fine thoroughbred elephant for long well tamed. And it so happens that the Wheel-turning Monarch, when testing the Elephant <sup>Jewel</sup> ~~Treasure~~, mounts ~~him~~ him in the morning, and after traversing the whole earth to the edge of the ocean, he returns ~~to~~ to the royal capital to



355  
take his morning meal. Such is the Elephant ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> that appears to a wheel-turning Monarch.

40. Again, the Horse ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> appears to the wheel-turning Monarch, all white, with saven-black head, with mane like sunija grass, with supernatural power (succor), flying through the air, called 'Valahaka (Thunder-cloud)'. On seeing him, the wheel-turning Monarch's mind has confidence [in him] thus 'It would be wonderful to ride the horse, if he would undergo taming'. Then the Horse ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> undergoes taming, just as a fine thoroughbred horse for long will tamed. And it so happens that the wheel-turning Monarch, when testing the Horse ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup>, mounts him in the morning, and after traversing the whole earth to the edge of the ocean, he returns to the royal capital to take his morning meal. Such is the ~~Elephant Treasure~~ <sup>Horse Jewel</sup> that appears to a wheel-turning Monarch.

41. Again, the Gem ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> appears to the wheel-turning Monarch, the Gem is a fine beryl of purest water, eight faceted <sup>and</sup> well cut. Now the radiance of the Gem ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> spreads around for a whole league. And it so happens that when the wheel-turning Monarch is testing the Gem ~~Treasure~~ <sup>Jewel</sup> he draws up his four-constituent army in array, and ~~by~~ mounting the Gem on the standard, he sets forth in the darkness and gloom



of the night. Then all the [inhabitants  
of the] villages nearby begin their  
work by its light conceiving that it ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~is~~  
day. Such is the <sup>Jamb</sup> ~~Jamb~~ ~~Jamb~~ that  
appears to a Wheel-turning Monarch.

42. Again, the Woman <sup>Jamb</sup> ~~Jamb~~ ~~Jamb~~ appears  
to the Wheel-turning Monarch, ~~Jamb~~, <sup>hybrid</sup> beau-  
tiful and <sup>graceful</sup> charming, possessing the rarest  
bloom of complexion, neither too tall  
nor too short, ~~is~~ neither too slim nor too  
stout, neither too dark nor too fair,  
surpassing ~~the~~ human ~~and~~ appearance  
without reaching divine appearance. The  
~~touch~~ touch of the Woman <sup>Jamb</sup> ~~Jamb~~ ~~Jamb~~ is  
such that it is like <sup>that of</sup> cotton wool or  
Kappara wool. When it is cold, her limbs  
are warm; when it is warm, her limbs  
are cool. <sup>an odor</sup> ~~the~~ ~~scent~~ of sandalwood  
<sup>exhales</sup> ~~from~~ ~~her~~ ~~body~~ and ~~the~~ ~~scent~~  
<sup>of</sup> ~~blue~~ ~~lotuses~~ ~~from~~ ~~her~~ ~~mouth~~  
She rises before the Wheel-turning  
Monarch and retires after him. She is  
eager to serve, lovable in conduct,  
and sweet in speech. Since she is  
never unfaithful to the Wheel-turning  
Monarch even in thought, how could  
she be so in body? Such is the  
Woman <sup>Jamb</sup> ~~Jamb~~ ~~Jamb~~ that appears to ~~the~~ a  
Wheel-turning Monarch.



43. Again, the Steward <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure appears to the Wheel-Turning Monarch. The divine eye born of kamma-result is manifested in him whereby he sees hidden stores both with owners and ownerless. He approaches the Wheel-Turning Monarch and says thus 'Sire, you may remain inactive. I shall do with money what should be done with money'. And it so happens that when the Wheel-Turning Monarch is testing the Steward <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure he boards a boat, and putting out into the ~~Ganges~~ River Ganges in mid stream, he tells the Steward <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure 'I need gold and bullion, steward'. — 'Then, sire, let the boat be steered toward one bank'. — 'Steward, it is actually here that I need gold and bullion.' Then the Steward <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure plunges both hands into the water and with draws a pot full of gold and bullion, and he tells the Wheel-Turning Monarch 'Is this enough, sire? Is enough done, enough offered?' — 'This is enough, steward, enough is done, enough offered.' Such is the Steward <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure that appears to the Wheel-Turning Monarch.

44. Again, the ~~Adviser~~ <sup>Adviser</sup> ~~Tewel~~ <sup>Tewel</sup> Treasure appears to the Wheel-Turning Monarch, wise, ~~capable~~ shrewd and sagacious, capable of having the Wheel-Turning Monarch support



the worthy of ~~that should~~ be supported, dismiss the worthy of dismissal, and establish the worthy of establishment. He approaches the Wheel-turning Monarch and says thus: "Sir, you may remain inactive. I shall ~~govern~~ <sup>govern</sup> ~~the world~~." Such is the <sup>language</sup> ~~address~~ <sup>address</sup> that appears to a wheel-turning monarch.

A wheel turning Monarch possesses these seven ~~treasures~~ <sup>Treasures</sup> that a wheel-turning Monarch possesses.

45. What are the four kinds of success? Here a wheel-turning Monarch is more handsome, beautiful and graceful, possessed of the rarest ~~the~~ bloom of complexion, ~~more than~~ <sup>than</sup> other human beings. Wheel-turning Monarch possesses this <sup>in the</sup> first kind of success that a V.

46. Again, a wheel-turning Monarch is long-lived and long-established, ~~more~~ <sup>than</sup> other human beings. Wheel-turning Monarch possesses this <sup>in the</sup> second kind of success that a V.

47. Again, a wheel-turning Monarch is more free from sickness, free from ailment and has a more even-burning digestive ~~pass~~ <sup>pass</sup>, neither too ~~hot nor too~~ cool nor too warm, than other human beings. Wheel-turning Monarch possesses this <sup>in the</sup> third kind of success that a V.



48 Again a Wheel-turning Monarch is dear to divines and ~~to~~ laymen (householders) and loved by them. Just as a father is dear to his children and loved by them, so too, a Wheel-turning Monarch is dear to divines and laymen and loved by them. And divines and laymen are dear to ~~the~~<sup>a</sup> Wheel-turning monarch and loved by him. Just as ~~a father's~~ children are dear to a father and loved by him, so too, divines and laymen are dear to a Wheel-turning Monarch and loved by him. It has so happened that a Wheel-turning Monarch was driving in ~~the~~<sup>a</sup> pleasure park with his four-constituent army. Then divines and laymen went to him and ~~said~~ spoke thus 'Sir, drive slowly that we may see you longer'. And also he told his charioteer ~~the~~<sup>a</sup> Chariteer, drive slowly that I may see ~~the~~<sup>a</sup> divines and laymen longer. ~~A wheel-turning Monarch possesses these four~~ This is the fourth kind of success that a Wheel-turning Monarch possesses.

These are the four kinds of success that a Wheel-turning Monarch possesses.

49. How do you conceive this, bhikkhus, would a Wheel-turning Monarch possessing these seven treasures and these four kinds of success experience pleasure and joy with that as source? ~~to the~~  
 & Venerable Sir, a Wheel-turning Monarch could ~~be~~ being possessing even one



Treasure would experience pleasure and joy with that as source, let alone the ~~the~~ seven Treasures and Four kinds of Success.

59. Then, taking a small stone, the size of his hand, the Blind One addressed the Shikhs thus « How do you conceive this, Shikhs, which is the greater, this small stone that I have taken, the size of my hand, or Himalaya King of Mountains? ».

10 « Venerable Sir, the small stone that the Blind One has taken, the biggest in hand, does not count beside Himalaya, it is not even a fraction, there is no comparison ».

15 « So too, Shikhs, the pleasure and joy that a Wheel-turning monarch experiences possessing the seven Treasures and the four kinds of Success experiences ~~on the~~ with that as source ~~has not count~~ beside ~~Himalaya, it is not even a fraction,~~ heavenly joy, it is not even a fraction, there is no comparison.

5 60 If, some time or other, at the end of a vast period comes back to the human state, it is into a high family that he is reborn - into such a family as a Warrior, noble, a Diviner, a Burgher, or an Artisan, family of great property -



10 which is rich, of great wealth, of great  
 possessions, with abundance of gold and  
 silver, abundance of prosperity and abun-  
 15 dance of wealth and corn. He is handsome,  
 beautiful and graceful, possessing the  
 rarest bloom of complexion. He gets  
 food and drink, clothing and sandals  
 (Conveyance), garlands, scents and un-  
 20 quents, bed, lodging and light. He  
 conducts him self well in body, speech  
 and mind, and having ~~done that~~  
 on the dissolution of the body, after death,  
 he reappears in a happy destination, even  
 in the heavenly world.

52/61. ~~Suppose~~ Bhikkhus, suppose a gambler  
 at the very first lucky throw won a  
 great fortune, yet ~~that~~ lucky throw  
 5 such as that is negligible; rather it is  
 a far more lucky throw when a wise  
 man who is well conducted in body,  
 speech and mind, on the dissolution of  
 the body, after death, reappears in  
 a happy destination, even in the heavenly  
 world.

53/62 This is the pure perfection of the wise  
 man's grade.

So the Blessed One said. The Bhikkhus  
 were ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and they ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup> in this  
~~kind~~ <sup>kind</sup>.

Notes

§ 2 and 29 bālā padāna or bālapadāna?  
no sense of either apadāna or padāna given  
in P.T.S. Dict quite fits here

§ 10 for Tacchati (6 pers.) see Sutta 5

§  
§ 17 and 22 for yavāncidani see

§ 26 for yāna as sandals see Comy to  
M. Sutta 27 (MA. iii, 222) and note to Sutta

§ 30 <sup>135, § 13</sup> buñjathā and bhutta might  
mean "make use of what you have been  
accustomed to make use of".

§ 29 The expression sattapatittho is  
commented on in the Paramattha-  
mañjūsā as follows:

§ 24 of S. LV 47.



✓ Majjhima Nikaya 130 - Devaduta sutta  
(3, 3, 10)

1. Thus I heard.  
~~On~~ <sup>one</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>day</sup> the Blessed One was sitting at Sāvathī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park. There, ~~the Blessed One~~ <sup>he</sup> addressed the bhikkhus - 'Bhikkhus!' - 'Venerable Sir,' they ~~blithely~~ <sup>he</sup> replied: ~~to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

2. - 'Bhikkhus, suppose there were <sup>two</sup> houses with doors and a man with <sup>good sight</sup> standing there between them saw men going in and coming out and passing to and fro, so too, with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, I see <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ passing away and reappearing, ~~low and high~~ inferior and superior, fair and ugly, happy and unhappy in their destinies: I <sup>understand</sup> ~~see~~ how <sup>beings pass on</sup> ~~beings~~ according to their <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~ - "these worthy <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ who are well conducted in body, speech and mind, <sup>not</sup> revilers of Noble Ones, right in their <sup>parting</sup> ~~views~~, <sup>regarding</sup> ~~regarding~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>beings</sup> due to right view, on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, have re-appeared in a happy destination <sup>to</sup> ~~in~~ the heavenly world. Or these worthy <sup>beings</sup> ~~beings~~, who are well conducted in body, speech and mind, <sup>not</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>179</sup> revilers of Noble Ones, right in their <sup>views</sup> ~~views~~, <sup>acquainted</sup> ~~acquainted~~ <sup>with</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>beings</sup> due to right <sup>views</sup> ~~views~~, on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, have re-appeared among humans. But these worthy <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~, who are ill-conducted in body, speech and mind, revilers of Noble Ones, wrong in their

25. <sup>performing</sup> ~~views~~, <sup>acquiring</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~acquirers~~ of ~~Kamma~~ due to wrong ~~views~~, on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break up~~ of the body, after death, have ~~appeared~~ in the realm of ~~ghosts~~. Or these <sup>creatures</sup> ~~worthy beings~~, who are ill-conducted in body, speech and mind, revilers of Noble Ones, wrong <sup>performing</sup> ~~in their views~~, <sup>acquirers</sup> ~~of~~ ~~Kamma~~ due to wrong ~~views~~, on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break up~~ of the body, after death, <sup>have</sup> ~~appeared~~ in the animal world. Or these <sup>creatures</sup> ~~worthy beings~~, who are ill-conducted in body, speech and mind, revilers of Noble Ones, wrong <sup>performing</sup> ~~in their views~~, <sup>acquirers</sup> ~~of~~ ~~Kamma~~ due to wrong ~~views~~, on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break up~~ of the body, after death, <sup>have</sup> ~~appeared~~ in states of ~~woe~~, in an unhappy ~~destination~~, in perdition, in hell.

3. Then the warders of hell seize such a <sup>creature</sup> ~~being~~ by the arms and ~~bring~~ him before king Yama, - "Sir, this man has ill-treated his mother, ill-treated ~~his father~~, ill-treated ~~his brothers~~, <sup>he</sup> has had no respect for the elders of his clan. May the King order his punishment."

4. Then ~~the~~ king Yama presses and questions and cross-questions him about the first ~~message~~ <sup>message</sup> Messenger: - "Good man, did you not see the first ~~message~~ <sup>message</sup> Messenger to appear among men?"

He says - "I did not ~~see him~~; venerable sir."

Then King Yama says - "Good man, have you never seen among <sup>manhood</sup> ~~men~~ a young



365

10

~~infant~~ <sup>infant</sup> lying prone, and lying fouled ~~with~~ in his own excrement and urine?"

He says - "I have, ~~seen that~~, venerable sir."

15

Then King Yama says - "Good man, did it never occur to you - a man of discretion and years - <sup>I</sup> too am subject to birth, I am not exempt from ~~that~~ <sup>birth</sup>; surely I had better do good by body, speech and mind?"

He says - "I was unable, venerable sir. I neglected it."

20

Then King Yama says - "Good man, through negligence you have failed to do good by body, speech and mind. Certainly they will <sup>deal with</sup> you according to your negligence. But this evil ~~deed~~ of yours was not done by your mother or ~~by~~ your father, <sup>or</sup> your brother, or your sister, or your friends and companions, or your ~~kin~~ relatives and kin, or ~~associates~~ <sup>associates</sup> and ~~contaminates~~, or ~~deities~~; this evil ~~deed~~ <sup>action</sup> was done by you yourself, and you yourself will experience its result."

5

Then, after pressing and questioning and cross-questioning him about the first ~~Message~~ Messenger, King Yama presses and questions ~~and~~ cross-questions him about the second ~~Message~~ Messenger: - "Good man, did you <sup>not</sup> see the second ~~Message~~ Messenger to appear among men?"

10

He says - "I did not, ~~see him~~, venerable sir."

Then King Yama says - "Good man, have you never seen among mankind a

woman - or a man - ~~aged~~ at eighty, ninety  
 or a hundred years, aged, as ~~aged~~ as a  
~~reptile~~ roof, doubled up, tottering with the  
 15 aid of sticks, frail, ~~with~~ youth gone, ~~with~~  
 teeth broken, grey haired, scanty haired,  
 bald, wrinkled, ~~with~~ limbs ~~covered~~ with all  
 blotches?

He says - "I ~~am~~ <sup>of age</sup>, venerable sir."

20 Then King Yama says - "Good man,  
 did it never occur to you - a man of dis-  
 cretion and years - 'I too am subject to ageing  
 I am not exempt from ~~that~~ <sup>ageing</sup>: surely I had  
 better do good by body, speech and mind?"

25 He says - "I was unable, venerable sir,  
 I neglected it."

Then King Yama says - "Good man,  
 through negligence you have failed to do good  
 by body, speech and mind. Certainly they  
 will ~~be~~ <sup>be</sup> ~~done~~ <sup>done</sup> ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> you according to your negligence.  
 30 But this evil ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> of yours was not done by  
 your mother, ... or by ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup>  
 or by ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup>: this evil ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> was done by your-  
 self, and you yourself will experience its  
 35 its result."

6. Then, after pressing and questioning and  
 cross-questioning him about the second ~~Di-~~  
~~Heavenly~~ Messenger, King Yama presses and  
 questions and cross-questions him about  
 5 the third ~~Heavenly~~ <sup>Heavenly</sup> Messenger. 181 "Good man,  
 did you not see the third ~~Heavenly~~ <sup>Heavenly</sup> Messenger to



appear among men?"

"He says - "I did not, venerable sir."

10 Then King Yama says - "Good man, have you never seen among mankind a woman - or a man - afflicted, suffering and gravely ill, lying propped in his own excrement and urine, lifted up by some and set down by others?"

15 He says - "I have, venerable sir."

20 Then King Yama says - "Good man, did it never occur to you - a man of discretion and years - "I too am subject to sickness, I am not exempt from sickness: surely I had better do good by body, speech and mind?"

"He says - "I was unable, venerable sir. I neglected it."

Then King Yama says - "Good man, through negligence you have failed to do good by body, speech and mind. Certainly they will deal with you according to your negligence. But this evil ~~deed~~ <sup>act</sup> of yours was not done by your mother, ... or by ~~father~~; this evil ~~deed~~ <sup>act</sup> was done by you yourself, and you yourself will experience its result."

7 Then, after pressing and questioning and cross-questioning him about the third ~~Hammer~~ Messenger, King Yama presses and questions and cross-questions him about the fourth ~~Hammer~~ Messenger: - "Good man, did you not see the fourth ~~Hammer~~ Messenger?"

"He says - "I did not, venerable sir."

Then King Yama says - "Good man, have you never seen among mankind

~~king~~ When a robber malefactor is caught,  
 kings having many kinds of tortures inflicted  
 on him, having him ~~beaten with whips, beat~~  
 with flogged with whips, beaten with canes, beaten  
 with clubs, having ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup> hands cut off, ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup>  
 feet cut off, ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup> hands and feet cut off,  
~~their~~ <sup>his</sup> ears cut off, ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup> nose cut off, ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup>  
 ears and nose cut off, having ~~them~~ <sup>him</sup> subjected  
 to the 'porridge pot', to the 'polished-shell  
 shave', to the 'eclipse's mouth', to the  
 'fiery wreath', to the 'fiery hair', to the  
 'blades of grass', to the 'bark dress', to the  
 'antelope', to the 'meat hooks', to the 'coins',  
 to the 'lye pickling', to the 'pivoting pin',  
 to the 'rolled-up pallisse', and having him  
 splashed with boiling oil, and having him  
 thrown to dogs to devour, and having  
 him impaled ~~on stakes~~ a live on stakes  
 and having ~~their~~ <sup>his</sup> head cut off with ~~an axe~~  
 his head cut off with a sword?"

"He says - "I have, venerable sir."

Then King Yama says - "Good man,  
 did it never occur to you - a man of  
 discretion and years - ~~I too am subject~~  
 'Those who do evil ~~things~~ have such tortures  
 of various kinds inflicted on them here and  
 now; 182 ~~now~~ So what ~~is~~ the hereafter?  
 Surely I had better do good by body, speech  
 and mind'?"

He says - "I was unable, venerable sir.  
 I neglected it."



' then King Yama says - "good man, through negligence you have failed to do good by body, speech and mind. Certainly they will deal with you according to your negligence. But this evil <sup>act</sup> ~~deed~~ of yours was not done by your mother, ... of by <sup>gods</sup> ~~others~~; this evil <sup>act</sup> ~~deed~~ was done by you yourself, and you yourself will experience its result."

8. ' Then, after pressing and questioning and cross-questioning him about the fourth <sup>mess</sup> ~~mess~~ messenger, King Yama presses and questions and cross-questions him about the fifth <sup>mess</sup> ~~mess~~ messenger: - "good man, did you not see the fifth <sup>mess</sup> ~~mess~~ messenger to appear among men?"

' He says - "I did not, venerable sir."

- 10 ' Then King Yama says - "good man, have you never seen among mankind a woman - or a man - one-day dead, two-days dead, three-days dead, bloated, livid, and oozing with matter?"

' He says - "I have, venerable sir."

' Then King Yama says - "good man, did it never occur to you - a man of discretion and years - "I too am subject to death, I am not exempt from death: surely I had better do good by body, speech and mind?"

' He says - "I was unable, venerable sir. I neglected it."

' Then King Yama says to him - "good man, through negligence you have failed to do

Good by today, speech and mind. Certainly they will deal with you according to your negligence. But this evil ~~act~~ <sup>action</sup> of yours was not done by your mother, ... or by ~~others~~ <sup>you</sup>: this evil ~~act~~ <sup>action</sup> was done by you yourself, and you yourself will experience its result."

9. Then, after pressing and questioning and cross-questioning him about the Fifth ~~Harsh~~ Messenger, King Yama is silent.

183

10. Now the wardens of hell torture him with the five-fold transfixing. They drive a red-hot iron stake through one hand, they drive a red-hot iron stake through the other hand, they drive a red-hot iron stake through one foot, they drive a red-hot iron stake through the other foot, they drive a red-hot iron stake through his belly. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~action~~ <sup>action</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~result~~ <sup>result</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~expressed~~ <sup>expressed</sup>.

11. Now the wardens of hell prostrate him and pare him axes. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~action~~ <sup>action</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~result~~ <sup>result</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~expressed~~ <sup>expressed</sup>.

12. Now the wardens of hell set him with his feet up and his head down and pare



him with adges. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~condition~~ <sup>action [is result]</sup> ~~is used up.~~

13. Now the warders of hell harness <sup>to a</sup> chariot and drive back and forth across burning ground, blazing and glowing. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~condition~~ <sup>action [is result]</sup> ~~is used up.~~

14. Now the warders of hell make him climb up and down a great mound of burning coals, blazing and glowing. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~condition~~ <sup>action [is result]</sup> ~~is used up.~~

15. Now the warders of hell take him feet up and head down and plunge him into a red-hot metal cauldron, burning blazing and glowing. ~~And as~~ He is cooked there in a swirl of froth. And as he is cooking there in a swirl of froth, he is swept now up, now down, and now across. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that bad ~~condition~~ <sup>action [is result]</sup> ~~is used up.~~

16. Now the warders of hell throw him into the Great Hell. But that Great Hell, Shulchus:

It has four corners and is built with four doors, ~~set~~ <sup>one</sup> in each side,

Walled in with iron all around  
 And ~~that in~~ with an iron roof.  
 Its floor as well is made of iron  
 And heated till it glows with fire.  
 The range is full a hundred leagues  
 wherein it holds monopoly.

17. Now the flames that surge out from  
 the Great Hell's eastern wall dash against  
 its western wall. The flames that surge  
 out from its western wall dash against ~~its~~ <sup>184</sup>  
 its eastern wall. The flames that surge  
 out from its northern wall dash against  
 its southern wall. ~~And~~ The flames that  
 surge out from its southern wall dash ag-  
 ainst its ~~northern~~ wall. The flames that  
 surge out from the bottom dash against the  
 top. And the flames that surge out from  
 the ~~bottom~~ <sup>top</sup> dash against the ~~top~~ <sup>bottom</sup>. There he  
 feels painful, racking, piercing feelings.  
 And he does not die ~~as long as that~~  
 till that ~~long~~ <sup>long</sup> ~~period~~ <sup>is exhausted</sup>.

18. Some time or other, whichever, at the  
 end of a long period, there comes an oc-  
 casion when the Great Hell's eastern door  
 is ~~opened~~ <sup>gained</sup>. He runs towards it with ~~great~~  
~~speed~~ <sup>speed</sup>. As he does so, his outer skin burns,  
 his inner skin burns, his flesh burns,  
 his sinews burn, his bones turn to  
 smoke, and ~~the same~~ <sup>the same</sup> when his foot is  
 uplifed. When at ~~long~~ last he reaches the





and bore through his inner skin and bore through his flesh and bore through his sinews and bore through his bones and devour his marrow. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that ~~bad karma is used up exhausted~~ <sup>evil action is</sup>.

21. Immediately next to the Hell of Excrement is a vast Hell of Hot Embers. He falls into that. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. ~~But he does not die till that bad karma is used up.~~ <sup>But he does not die till that bad karma is used up.</sup>

22. Immediately next to the Hell of Hot Embers is a ~~vast~~ <sup>huge</sup> wood of Simbali Trees a league high bristling with thorns sixteen finger breadths long, burning, blazing and glowing. They make him climb up and down them. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die ~~so long~~ till that ~~bad karma is used up.~~ <sup>evil action is exhausted</sup>.

23. Immediately next to the wood of Simbali Trees is a vast Wood of Sword-leaf Trees. He goes into that. The leaves, stirred by the wind, cut off his hands and cut off his feet and cut off his hands and feet and cut off his ears and cut off his nose and cut off his ears and nose. There he feels painful, racking,



piercing feelings. And he does not die till that ~~evil action~~ <sup>evil action</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~used up~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>.

24. 'Immediately next to the Wood of Sword-leaves is ~~the~~ a ~~large~~ <sup>long</sup> river of Caustic Water. He falls into that. There he is swept upstream and he is swept down stream and he is swept up ~~and~~ upstream and downstream. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that ~~bad karma~~ <sup>evil action</sup> is ~~used up~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>.

25. 'Now the warders of hell pull him out with a ~~rust~~ <sup>rust</sup> hook, <sup>186</sup> and setting him on the ground, they ask him - "good man, what do you want?"

5. 'He says - "I am hungry, venerable sirs."

'Then the warders of hell prize open his mouth with red-hot iron tongs, burning, blazing and glowing, and they throw into his mouth a red-hot metal ball, burning, blazing and glowing. It burns his lips, it burns his mouth, it burns his throat, it burns his stomach, ~~it burns~~ and it passes out below carrying with it his bowels and entrails. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that ~~bad karma~~ <sup>evil action</sup> is ~~used up~~ <sup>exhausted</sup>.

26. 'Now the warders of hell ask him - "good man what do you want?"

'He says - "I am thirsty, venerable sirs."

5. 'Then the warders of hell prize open

his mouth with red-hot iron tongs, burning, blazing, glowing, and they pour into his mouth molten ~~metal~~ <sup>copper</sup>, burning, blazing, glowing. It burns his lips, it burns his mouth, it burns his throat, it burns his stomach, ~~it burns his~~ and it passes out below carrying with it his bowels and entrails. There he feels painful, racking, piercing feelings. And he does not die till that ~~evil action~~ is ~~exhausted~~.

27. 'Now the warders of hell throw him back ~~into~~ again into the great Hell.

28. 'It has happened that King Yama thought - "The evil-doers in the world, it seems, have all these many kinds of tortures inflicted on themselves. Oh that I might attain the human state, that a Perfect One, accomplished and fully enlightened, might appear in the world, that I might wait on that Blessed One, that that Blessed One might teach me the ~~truth~~ <sup>True Idea</sup>, and that I might come to know that Blessed One's ~~Answer~~ <sup>True Idea</sup>."

29. 'Bhikkhus, I tell you this not as something heard from another ~~ascetic~~ <sup>monk</sup> or ~~divine~~ <sup>being</sup>: I tell it you as something that I have myself actually known and seen and felt. 187



30. So the Blessed One said. When the Sublime  
One had said that, ~~he~~ the Master, said further:

1 Though warned by heaven's messengers,  
Full many are the negligent,

5 And men may sorrow long indeed  
Once gone down to the wether world.

But when by heaven's messengers  
Good men herein this life are warned,  
They tolerate no negligence

10 ~~In~~ ~~practice~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~  ~~Noble~~ ~~and~~ ~~True~~ ~~Idea~~

Clinging they look upon with fear  
For it produces birth and death;  
And by not clinging they are freed  
In nullity of birth and death.

15 They dwell in bliss for they are safe  
And reach extinction here and now;  
They are beyond all fear and hate;  
They have escaped all suffering.

Notes: § "tacchanti - they pare" not in P.T.S.  
Dict. see M. i, 21 and 124

The first part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The second part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The third part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The fourth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The fifth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The sixth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The seventh part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The eighth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The ninth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The tenth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The eleventh part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*

The twelfth part of the book is devoted to a description of the various species of the genus *...*



378

1. Thus I heard.  
On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sarathī in Jetā's grove, Anāthapindikā's Park. Then he addressed the bhikkhus thus: «Venerable sir» they replied. The Blessed One said this: Bhikkhus

2. «I shall give you a summary and an exposition of him who has one fortunate attachment. Listen and heed well what I shall say»  
«You so, venerable sir» the bhikkhus replied. The Blessed One said this:

3. «Let not a man <sup>trace back a</sup> ~~remember~~ the past, <sup>hold</sup> ~~hold~~ the future; <sup>what is not</sup> ~~what is not~~ <sup>present</sup> ~~present~~ <sup>in what is not</sup> ~~in what is not~~ <sup>future</sup> ~~future [called] <sup>See</sup> ~~See~~  
~~For what is not~~ <sup>Instead, with insight let him</sup> ~~See~~  
~~Each idea~~ <sup>to be sure of that</sup> ~~to be sure of that~~  
To know ~~that~~ <sup>to be sure of that</sup> ~~to be sure of that~~  
Invincibly, unshakably.  
The effort must be made today.  
Tomorrow Death may come, who knows?  
There is no bargain <sup>with</sup> ~~with~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~that <sup>can keep us</sup> ~~can keep us~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~in <sup>hordes</sup> ~~hordes~~ <sup>abiding</sup> ~~abiding~~  
~~But~~ <sup>one who dwells thus ardently,</sup> ~~one who dwells thus ardently,~~  
Relentlessly, by day, by night  
For he, the ~~foolish~~ <sup>Stilled</sup> ~~Stilled~~ <sup>has said,</sup> ~~has said,~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~  
That has One Fortunate Attachment.~~~~~~

- The past is ... what is the left-blinded,  
- The future ... as the yet-unreached.

4. And how does he <sup>retrace the</sup> ~~retrace the~~ <sup>past?</sup> ~~past?~~  
[Thinking] 'I had such form in the past extent', he allows delight in that.  
[Thinking] 'I had such feeling in the past extent', he allows delight in that. [Thinking] 'I had such perception in the past extent', he allows delight in that. [Thinking] 'I had such discriminations in the past extent', he allows delight in that. [Thinking] 'I had such consciousness in the past extent', he allows delight in that.  
That is how he revives the past.



- 5 And how does he not revise the past?  
 [Thinking] 'I had such form in the past extent', he allows no delight in that. [Thinking] 'I had such feeling ... such perception ... such determination in the ...' [Thinking] 'I had such consciousness in the past extent', he allows no delight in that.

That is how he does not revise the past.

- 6 And how does he build up hopes upon the future?

[Thinking] 'I may have such form in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>appreciates</sup> delight to that.  
 [Thinking] 'I may have such feeling in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>appreciates</sup> delight to that. [Thinking] 'I may have such perception in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>appreciates</sup> delight to that. [Thinking] 'I may have such determination in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>appreciates</sup> delight to that.  
 [Thinking] 'I may have such consciousness in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>appreciates</sup> delight to that.

That is how he builds up hopes upon the future.

7. And how does he not build up hopes upon the future?

[Thinking] 'I may have such form in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>does not appreciate</sup> no delight to that. [Thinking] 'I may have such feeling ... such perception ... such determination ...' [Thinking] 'I may have such consciousness in the future extent', he ~~allows~~<sup>does not appreciate</sup> no delight to that.

That is how he does not build up hopes upon the future.

- 8 And how is he vanquished with respect to ~~past~~ ideas in view now?



To  
respect of present states?

Here, ~~bhikkhus~~, an untaught, <sup>ordinary hear</sup> ~~commoner~~, who disregards the Noble Ones, is ignorant of the Noble Ones' ~~Dhamma~~, undisciplined in the Noble Ones' ~~Dhamma~~, who disregards ~~good~~ men, is ignorant of ~~good~~ men's ~~Dhamma~~, undisciplined in ~~good~~ men's ~~Dhamma~~, sees ~~form~~ materiality as self, or a self possessed of ~~materiality~~ ~~form~~, or materiality in self, or self in materiality. He sees feeling as self, or self possessed of ~~materiality~~ ~~form~~ feeling, or feeling in self, or self in feeling. He sees perception as self, or self possessed of perception, or perception in self, or self in perception. He sees ~~formations~~ as self, or self possessed of ~~formations~~, or ~~formations~~ in self, or self in ~~formations~~. He sees consciousness as self, or self possessed of consciousness, or consciousness in self, or self in consciousness.

That is how ~~he bhikkhu~~ is vanquished <sup>with</sup> in respect to ~~of present states~~. ideas arisen now

9 And how, ~~bhikkhus~~, is ~~he bhikkhu~~ <sup>invincible with</sup> ~~not~~ vanquished in respect to ~~present states~~? ideas arisen now.

Here, ~~bhikkhus~~, a well-taught <sup>Noble</sup> ~~disciple~~ of the Noble Ones <sup>WHO</sup> has regard for the Noble Ones, is conversant with the Noble ones' ~~Dhamma~~, disciplined in the Noble Ones' ~~Dhamma~~, who has regard for ~~good~~ men, is conversant with ~~good~~ men's ~~Dhamma~~, disciplined in ~~good~~ men's ~~Dhamma~~, does not see materiality ~~form~~ as self, nor self possessed of ~~materiality~~ ~~form~~ or materiality in self, or self in materiality. He does not see feeling as self, or self possessed of feeling, or feeling in self, or self in feeling. He does not see perception as self, or self possessed of perception, or perception in self, or self in perception. He does not see ~~formations~~ as self, or self possessed of ~~formations~~, or ~~formations~~ in self, or self in ~~formations~~. He does not see consciousness as self, or self possessed of consciousness, or consciousness in self, or self in consciousness.

That is how ~~he bhikkhu~~ is <sup>invincible with</sup> ~~not~~ vanquished in respect to ~~present states~~. ideas arisen now







1. Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~<sup>occasionally</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvaththi in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park.

2. ~~At~~<sup>Had</sup> ~~at~~<sup>on</sup> that ~~time~~<sup>on</sup> occasion the venerable Ananda was instructing, urging, rousing and encouraging <sup>190</sup> the bhikkhus with talk on the ~~Dhamma~~<sup>Dhamma</sup> in the assembly hall. And he was reciting the Summary and the Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment.

5 Then, it being evening, the Blessed One rose from meditation, and he went to the assembly hall and sat down on a seat made ready. When he had done so, he asked the bhikkhus - 'Bhikkhus, who has been instructing, urging, rousing and encouraging the bhikkhus with talk on the ~~Dhamma~~<sup>Dhamma</sup> in the assembly hall? And who has been reciting the Summary and the Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment?'

15. 'It was the venerable Ananda, venerable sir.'

Then the Blessed One asked the venerable Ananda - 'But Ananda, in what ~~way~~<sup>how</sup> were you ~~instructing, urging, rousing and encouraging~~<sup>instructing, urging, rousing and encouraging</sup> the bhikkhus with talk on the Dhamma ~~and reciting the Summary and Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment?~~<sup>and reciting the Summary and Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment?</sup>'

3- 10. - 'I was <sup>191</sup> doing so <sup>191</sup> thus, venerable sir: 'Let ~~me~~<sup>me</sup> ~~not~~<sup>not</sup> follow what ~~is~~<sup>is</sup> past ... [repeat whole of last sutta up to] <sup>191</sup> That has One Fortunate Attachment.'

11. 'I was instructing, urging, rousing and encouraging the bhikkhus with talk on the ~~Dhamma~~<sup>Dhamma</sup>'





325

1 <sup>42</sup> Thus I heard.

At one <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ the Blessed One was living at ~~gaha~~ in the Park of the Hot Springs (Tapodāraṃa). Then when it was near dawn, the venerable Sami went to the Hot Springs to bathe his limbs. After he had done so he came up out of the water and stood dressed in one robe drying his limbs. Then, at the night <sup>fall</sup> ~~falling~~ <sup>of the night</sup> ~~falling~~, <sup>the beautiful aspect of whose forehead lit the whole of</sup> ~~the whole of~~ ~~the Hot Springs~~, went <sup>up</sup> to the venerable Samiddhi and stood at one side. Having done so, the deity said to the venerable Samiddhi:

2 - Do you remember, Bhikkhu, the Summary and Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment?

- I do not remember, Friend, the Summary and Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. But do you remember, friend, the Summary and Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment?

- I too do not remember, Bhikkhu, the Summary and Exposition of One who has one Fortunate Attachment. But do you remember, bhikkhu, the stanza of One who has One Fortunate Attachment?

- I do not remember, Friend, the stanza of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. But, friend, do you remember, friend, the stanza of him who has one fortunate attachment? Bhikkhu,

- I too do not remember, friend, the stanza of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. Learn, Bhikkhu, the Summary and Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. Master, Bhikkhu, the Summary and Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. Remember, Bhikkhu, the Summary and Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment. Generic Bhikkhu, is the summary and exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment; it belongs to the beginning of the life of purity. *Divine?*

The deity said this, and having done so, straight away vanished ~~at once~~.

Then when the night was <sup>ended</sup> over, the venerable  
 Siddhi went to the Blessed One, and, after paying  
 respect to him, sat down at one side. When he had done  
 so, the venerable Samiddhi ~~said to the Blessed One:~~

~~Here, venerable sir, at night when it was near  
 midnight, I went to the Hot Springs to bathe my limbs.  
 After I had done so, I came up out of the water and  
 stood in one robe drying my limbs. Then, the night  
 being well advanced, a certain deity of beautiful  
 aspect, who illuminated the whole of the Hot Springs,  
 came to me and stood at one side ... (etc., as above,  
 but in first person)... The deity said this, and  
 having done so, straight away vanished. It would be  
 good, venerable sir, if the Blessed One would teach  
 me the Summary and Exposition of Him Who Has One  
 Fortunate Attachment.~~

4 - Then, bhikkhu, <sup>listen</sup> hear <sup>heed well</sup> it and attend carefully to  
 what I shall say. - Even so, venerable sir, the ven-  
 erable Samiddhi replied ~~to the Blessed One~~. The  
 Blessed One said this:

- Let him not <sup>a man realize the</sup> follow what is past,  
 Or build up hopes upon the future;  
 For past is what is left behind,  
 Future is what is not yet reached.  
 Instead, with insight let him <sup>see them</sup> see ~~the~~  
 present state as it occurs;  
 To know that, <sup>and be</sup> ~~and to study that,~~ <sup>and be</sup> ~~to be~~ <sup>sure of that,</sup>  
 Invincibly, unshakably.

The effort must be made (today);  
 Tomorrow Death may come, who knows?  
 There is no bargain has been struck  
 With Death to keep his hordes at bay.  
 But ~~Not~~ one who dwells thus ardently,  
 Relentlessly, by day, by night, -  
 'Tis he, the Hermit Stilled has said,  
 Who has one fortunate attachment.

So the Blessed One said. Having said this, the  
 blame One rose from his seat and went into his  
 dwelling.



387

considered

7 Then soon after the Blessed One had gone, the bhikkhus ~~thought~~: Now, friends, the Blessed One has risen from his seat and gone into his dwelling ~~without~~ after giving a summary in brief without expounding the detailed meaning in detail, that is:

*with a mean receive the*  
Let him not follow what is past,

.....

~~That~~ who has one fortunate attachment.

*Now*

Who will expound ~~the detailed~~ the meaning of this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding the meaning in detailed meaning? (considered)

194 Then the bhikkhus thought: The venerable Mahā-Kaccāna is praised and esteemed by the Blessed One and by companions in the life of purity. ~~the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna~~ is capable of expounding ~~the detailed~~ the meaning of this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding ~~it in~~ detail. What if we went to ~~the~~ venerable Mahā-Kaccāna and asked him the meaning of this?

Then the bhikkhus went to the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna and exchanged greetings with him, and when their courteous and memorable talk was finished, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the bhikkhus said to the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna:

- The Blessed One, friend Kaccāna, rose from his seat and went into his dwelling after giving a summary in brief without expounding the meaning in details that is:

*with a mean receive the*  
Let him not follow what is past,

.....

~~That~~ who has one fortunate attachment.

Soon after the Blessed One had gone, we thought: <sup>Now, friends,</sup> the Blessed One has risen from his seat and gone into his dwelling after giving a summary in brief without expounding the meaning in details that is:



*a man survive the*

Let him not follow what is past,  
 .....  
 Who has one fortunate attachment.

Who will expound in detail the meaning of this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding the meaning in detail? Then, ~~friend Kaccāna~~ friend Kaccāna, we thought: The venerable Mahā-Kaccāna is praised and esteemed by the Blessed one and by companions in the life of purity. The venerable Mahā-Kaccāna is capable of expounding in detail the meaning of this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding it in detail. What if we went to the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna and asked him the meaning of this? Let the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna expound it to us.

9 - It is, friends, as though a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, imagined that heartwood should be sought among the branches and leaves of a great tree full of heartwood, after passing over the root and the trunk. And so it is with you, venerable sirs, that you ask us about the meaning of this after passing the Blessed One by when you were face to face with the Master. For the Blessed One, friends, knows what is to be known, sees what is to be seen; he is the Eye, the Knowledge, the Law (Dhamma), the Perfected (Brahma), the Mover, the Maintainer, the Bringer of Good, the Giver of the Deathless, the Lord of the Dhamma, the Perfect One. That was the time when you should have asked the Blessed One the meaning. As he told you, so you should have borne it in mind.

10 - Surely, friend Kaccāna, the Blessed One knows what is to be known, ... the Perfect One. That was the time when we should have asked the Blessed One the meaning. As he told us, so we should have borne it in mind. Yet the venerable Mahā-Kaccāna is praised and esteemed by the Blessed One and by companions in the life of purity. The venerable Mahā-Kaccāna is capable of expounding in detail the meaning of this.



summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding the detailed meaning, but the Venerable Mahā Kaccāna explained [it] without giving importance [to that] ».

11. « Then listen, friends, and heed well what I shall say ».

« Even so, friend » the Thicketus replied. The venerable Mahā Kaccāna said this:

12. « Friends, when the Blessed One rose from his seat and went into his dwelling after giving <sup>a</sup> summary in brief without expounding the detailed meaning, that is, 15, 299

‘Let me <sup>not</sup> follow what is past,

that has one fortunate attachment;’

I understand the detailed meaning of <sup>this</sup> ~~this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding the detailed meaning to be as follows as follows~~ <sup>as follows</sup>

13. How, friends, does he <sup>follow</sup> ~~follow~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>part</sup>?

[thinking] ‘My eye was thus in the past <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ forms were thus’, his consciousness <sup>ness</sup> becomes bound up with ~~some~~ <sup>zeal</sup> and lust for that. Because of his consciousness being bound up with zeal and lust he delights in it. When he delights in that

he follows after the past.

10. [thinking] 'My ear was thus in the past extent [and] sounds thus', ...

... nose ... odours ...  
 ... tongue ... flavours ...  
 ... body ... tangibles

That is how he ~~follows~~ <sup>ideas</sup> after the past.

14. How does he not ~~follow~~ <sup>proceed</sup> after the past?

5. [thinking] 'My eye was thus in the past extent, [and] forms thus', his consciousness does not become bound up with zeal and ~~good~~ <sup>lust</sup> for that. Because his consciousness is not bound up with zeal and ~~good~~ <sup>lust</sup> he does not delight in that. When he does not delight in it he does not follow after the past.

10. [thinking] 'My ear was thus in the past extent [and] sounds thus', ...

... nose ... odours ...  
 ... tongue ... flavours ...  
 ... body ... tangibles ...  
 ... mind ... ideas ...

10. ~~That is how he builds up hope upon the future.~~

That is how he <sup>does not revive</sup> ~~follows~~ after the past.

15. How does he build up hope upon the future?



5 [Thinking] 'My eye <sup>may</sup> be thus in the future extent [and] ~~my~~ forms thus', he sets his ~~heart~~ heart on ~~the~~ obtaining what is not yet obtained. With setting his heart ~~as~~ as condition he delights in that. When he delights in it, he builds up hopes upon the future.

10 [Thinking] 'My ear <sup>may</sup> be thus in the future extent [and] sounds thus', ...

- ... nose ... odours ...
- ... tongue ... flavours ...
- ... body ... tangibles ...
- ... mind ... 197 ideas ...

That is how he builds up hopes upon the future.

16. How does he not build up hopes upon the future?

5 [Thinking] 'My eye may be thus in the future extent [and] ~~my~~ forms thus', he does not set his heart on obtaining what is not yet obtained. With not setting his heart as condition he does not delight in that. When he does not delight in it, he ~~does not~~ build up hopes upon the future.

10 [Thinking] 'My ear may be thus in the future extent [and] sounds thus', ...

- ... nose ... odours ...
- ... tongue ... flavours ...
- ... body ... tangibles ...
- ... mind ... ideas ...

That is how he does not build up hopes upon the future.



17 How is he vanquished with respect to present ~~ideas~~ arisen now?

~~Engaged and any forms are also conditionally~~

5 - With respect to any eye and any forms that are presently arisen his consciousness is bound up with zeal and ~~lust~~ <sup>lust</sup> for that as presently <sup>arisen</sup>. Because his consciousness is bound up with zeal and lust, he delights in that. When he delights in that, he is vanquished with respect to present ideas arisen now.

10 - With respect to any ear and any sounds that are presently arisen ...

- ... nose ... odours ...
- ... tongue ... flavours ...
- ... body ... tangibles
- ... mind ... ideas

That is how he is vanquished with respect to present ideas arisen now.

18. How is he ~~not~~ <sup>unvanquished</sup> vanquished with respect to present ideas & arisen now.

With respect to any eye and any forms that are presently arisen his consciousness is not bound up with zeal and lust for that as presently arisen. Because his consciousness is not bound up with zeal and lust, he does not delight in that. When he does not delight in that, he is not vanquished with respect to present ideas.





the detailed meaning, that is,

'Let him not follow what is part  
'That has one fortunate attachment', ~~that~~

soon after the Blessed One had gone for thought  
(Now, friends, the Blessed One has ... [and soon as  
I & I depart] ... ~~let the venerable Mahā-~~

Kaccāna expound it to us <sup>addition</sup> ~~to us~~, venerable  
sir, we went to the venerable Mahā Kaccāna  
and asked him about the meaning. ~~The~~  
meaning venerable sir, <sup>the meaning has</sup>  
been expounded to us <sup>in</sup> ~~with~~ these <sup>words</sup> ~~words~~ with  
~~these words~~ <sup>phrases and</sup> ~~syllables~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~syllables~~."

27 « Mahā Kaccāna is wise, bhikkhus,  
Mahā Kaccāna has great understanding.  
And you asked me the meaning of this,  
I should have given you the same answer  
as Mahā Kaccāna has given you.  
Such is the meaning, and so ~~you~~ should you  
<sup>beget it in mind</sup> ».

So the Blessed One said, The  
bhikkhus were <sup>delighted</sup> ~~satisfied~~, and they <sup>delighted</sup> ~~rejoiced~~  
in their words.



✓ Majjhima-Nikaya 134 - Tomasakaingiya -  
Bhaddekaratta sutta (3, 4, 4)

1. Thus I heard.  
On one <sup>of those</sup> ~~times~~ the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetta's Grove, Anatha pin<sup>?</sup>ditika's park.

5. Not on that occasion the venerable Tomasakaingiya was living the country of the Sakkes at Kapilavatthu in Nigrodha's Park.

2. Then, Candana the son of a deity the night <sup>before</sup> ~~before~~ <sup>with</sup> advanced, Candana ~~the~~ deity's son of beautiful appearance, aspect, who illuminated the whole of Jetta's Grove, went ~~to them~~ <sup>to them</sup>.

5. ~~Relinquishing his bow and arrow after venerable Tomasakaingiya and approaching~~ and stood at one side. ~~When he~~ <sup>When he</sup> ~~heard~~ <sup>heard</sup> ~~one~~ <sup>so</sup>, he said: ~~in a loud voice~~

7. - 'Bhikkhu, do you remember ~~the~~ Summary ... 208 [and so on as in -M. 133 § 2.

10 up to] ... But, friend, do you remember the stanza of ~~One~~ who has One Fortunate Attachment?

- 'Bhikkhu, I remember the stanza of One who has One Fortunate Attachment.'

15 - 'But, friend, in what way do you remember the stanza of One who has One Fortunate Attachment?'

- 'Bhikkhu, once the Blessed One was living with the deities of Tavatimsa, of the Thirty Three, on the Red Marble Stone at the root of the Paricchattaka Tree. There the Blessed One recited the Summary and the Exposition of One who has One Fortunate Attachment.'

3. "let him <sup>a man revise the</sup> not follow what is part  
... [as in M. 131, § 3].  
That has One Fortunate Attachment."
4. Bhikkhu, I remember the stanza of One  
Who Has One Fortunate Attachment thus: Bhik-  
khu, learn the Summary and Exposition of One  
Who Has One Fortunate Attachment. Bhikkhu,  
master the Summary and Exposition of One  
Who Has One Fortunate Attachment. Bhikkhu,  
remember the Summary and Exposition of One  
Who Has One Fortunate Attachment. Bhikkhu,  
the Summary and Exposition of One Who Has  
One Fortunate Attachment is beneficial; it be-  
longs to the beginning of the Life ~~Divinity~~.  
<sup>the deity's</sup> said this, and having done so,  
~~straight away~~ vanished ~~at once~~.
5. Then when the night was ended, the vener-  
able Tomasakañña sat his resting place in  
order, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he  
~~set out~~ to wander by stages to Sāvattihī. He <sup>at</sup>  
at length arrived at Sāvattihī and he went  
to the Island One in Jeta's Grove, Anāth-  
pindika's Park. After paying homage to him,  
he sat down at one side. When he had done  
so, he said:
6. - 8. - "venerable sir, at one time I was living  
with the Sakya at Kapilavattihī in Ni-  
grodha's Park. Then, the night being well ad-  
vanced, a certain deity of beautiful aspect  
... [and so on <sup>substantly</sup> repeat as above § 32 - 4/upto] <sup>the deity's</sup> with <sup>suitably alternating</sup> of person  
... straight away vanished.



9. 'It would be good, venerable sir, if the Blessed One would teach me the Summary and the Exposition of One Who Has One Fortunate Attachment.'

5 - 'Bhikkhu, do you know that deity's son?'

- 'No, venerable sir.'

10 - 'Bhikkhu, <sup>near by, in the</sup> that deity's son is called Candana, he listens ~~to the teaching~~ earnestly and attentively, applying his whole mind and ~~giving ear~~ <sup>giving ear</sup>. So, bhikkhu, ~~hear it and~~ <sup>hear it and</sup> ~~attend~~ <sup>attend well</sup> ~~to what I shall say~~.'

- 'even so, venerable sir,' the venerableomasakangiya replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

15-16-17. - 'Let ~~him~~ <sup>amanasivivekha</sup> not ~~follow what is~~ <sup>part</sup> 202

... I repeat the whole of M. 131 [ap to] That has One Fortunate Attachment.'

So the Blessed One said. The venerable ~~omasakangiya~~ <sup>omasakangiya</sup> was ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup>, and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at the Blessed One's words.

*[Faint, illegible handwriting on lined paper, possibly bleed-through from the reverse side. The text is mostly obscured by ink smudges and is difficult to decipher.]*



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 135 - Cullakamma Vibhanga Sutta (3, 4, 5)

1. Thus I heard.  
 On one ~~day~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvaththi, in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park.

Then the young brahman <sup>Mānava</sup> Subhā, Todeyya's son, went to the Blessed One and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and ~~pleasant~~ <sup>amiable</sup> talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so the young brahman Subhā Mānava, Todeyya's son, said to the Blessed One:

2. «What is the <sup>reason</sup> cause, Master Gotama, what is the <sup>condition</sup> ~~reason~~, for inferiority and superiority <sup>being</sup> met with ~~only~~ among human beings, among mankind? For one meets with men who are short-lived and long-lived men, sick and healthy men, ugly and ~~beautiful~~ <sup>handsome</sup> men, influential and insignificant ~~and~~ influential men, poor and rich men, low-born and high-born men, stupid <sup>and</sup> wise men. What is the <sup>reason</sup> cause, Master Gotama, what is the <sup>condition</sup> ~~reason~~, for inferiority and superiority <sup>being</sup> met with ~~only~~ among human beings, among mankind?»

3. - <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ (Mānava) are owners of <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~ (kamma), heirs of <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~, they have <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~ as their <sup>momentary</sup> ~~refuge~~, <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~ as their <sup>refuge</sup>. It is <sup>actions</sup> ~~deeds~~ that



~~differentiate~~  
~~separate~~ ~~signature~~  
~~things~~ according to superiority  
and superiority.

4. - I do not understand the de-  
tailed meaning of Master Gotama's utter-  
ance that he ~~has been given~~ <sup>has been given</sup> in brief without <sup>expounding</sup>  
the ~~detailed~~ <sup>untold</sup> meaning. It would be good  
if Master Gotama ~~would~~ <sup>had</sup> taught me the  
~~the idea~~ so that I might understand  
the detailed meaning of Master Gotama's  
utterance that ~~he has been given~~ <sup>has been given</sup> in brief without  
~~expounding~~ the detailed meaning.  
- Then ~~the~~ <sup>inter-</sup> ~~teacher~~, Manava, and ~~others~~ <sup>heard well</sup>  
carefully to what I shall say.

- even so, ~~Honorable~~ Master, ~~Shabha~~  
Manava, ~~Vedeyya's~~ son, replied to the ~~Blessed~~  
~~One~~, the Blessed One said this:

~~By his performing~~ <sup>adopting</sup> ~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~completing~~ <sup>completing</sup> ~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup>

5. - Here, Manava, ~~some~~ <sup>some</sup> man  
- or woman - is a killer of ~~living~~ <sup>living</sup> things,  
murderous, bloody handed, ~~given~~ <sup>given</sup> to blows  
and violence, merciless to all ~~living things~~ <sup>living things</sup>  
beings. By his ~~performing~~ <sup>performing</sup> and ~~persisting~~ <sup>persisting</sup>  
~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup>, on the ~~death~~ <sup>death</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> the body,  
after death, he reappears in a state of ~~degradation~~ <sup>degradation</sup>  
in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell.  
If instead of on the ~~death~~ <sup>death</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> the body,  
after death, instead of his reappearing in  
in a state of ~~degradation~~ <sup>degradation</sup>, in an unhappy des-  
tination, in perdition in hell, ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> comes to

~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~completing~~ <sup>completing</sup> ~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup>  
~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~completing~~ <sup>completing</sup> ~~such~~ <sup>such</sup> ~~actions~~ <sup>actions</sup>  
if he has completed  
such actions he has given  
rebirth to such



the human state, he is short-lived wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to short life, that is to say, to be a killer of breathing things, murderous, bloody-handed, given to blows and violence, merciless to all breathing beings.

6. But here some man - or woman - ~~soon~~ having abandoned the killing of breathing things, abstains from killing breathing things, lays aside the rod and lays aside the knife, is considerate <sup>and</sup> merciful, and dwells compassionate for all breathing beings, by this <sup>the nature of</sup> ~~virtue~~ <sup>fulfillment of</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>completion</sup> such actions, on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, he re-appears in a happy destination, in the heavenly world. If, on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, instead of his reappearing in a ~~not~~ happy destination in the heavenly world, he comes to the human state, he is long-lived wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to long life, that is to say, to have abandoned the killing of breathing things, <sup>to</sup> ~~to~~ abstain from killing breathing things, to ~~to~~ lay aside the rod and lay aside the knife, to be considerate and merciful, and to dwell compassionate for the welfare of all breathing beings.

7. Here ~~the~~ Manava, some man - or woman - is a persecutor of <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ with his hands or with clods, or with sticks, or with knives,



X By his <sup>choice</sup> performing and <sup>fulfilment</sup> persisting in such <sup>actions</sup> deeds, on the <sup>dissolution</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappears in a state of deprivation, ... If ... instead ... he comes to the human state, he is sickly wherever he is born. This is the way that leads to sickness, that is to say, to be a persecutor of <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ with one's hands, or with clods, or with sticks, or with knives.

8. But herein, some man - or woman - is not a persecutor of <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ with his hands, or with clods, or with sticks or with knives.

X By his <sup>choice</sup> performing and <sup>fulfilment</sup> persisting in such <sup>actions</sup> deeds, on the <sup>dissolution</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination. ... If ... instead ... he comes to the human state, he is healthy wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to health, that is to say, ~~not~~ to be a persecutor of <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ with his hands or with clods or with sticks or with knives.

9. Herein, Mānava, some man - or woman - is angry, much given to rage; even when little is said, he is furious, angry, ill-disposed, resentful, he shows ill-temper, hate and surliness. By his <sup>choice</sup> performing and <sup>fulfilment</sup> persisting in such <sup>actions</sup> deeds, on the <sup>dissolution</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappears in a state of deprivation. ... If ... instead ... he comes to the human state, he is ugly wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to ugliness.



ness, that is to say, to be furious, angry, ill-disposed, resentful, <sup>and</sup> to show ill-temper, hate, and surliness

10. But here ~~is~~ some man - or woman - is not angry ~~or~~ much given to rage; even when much is said, he is not furious, angry, ill-disposed, resentful, <sup>does he</sup> ~~not~~ show ill-temper, hate, or surliness. By his ~~own~~ <sup>choice</sup> ~~fulfillment~~ <sup>fulfillment</sup> of such actions, on the ~~dissolution~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination... If... instead... he comes to the human state, he is beautiful wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to beauty, that is to say, ~~to~~ not to be ~~furious~~ angry ~~or~~ given to much rage; ~~to~~ even when much is said, <sup>to be</sup> not furious, ~~to~~ angry, ill-disposed, <sup>or</sup> resentful, ~~or~~ to show ill-temper, hate, ~~and~~ or surliness.

11. Here ~~is~~ Manava: some man - or woman - is envious; he envies, begrudges, <sup>and</sup> harbours envy about, others' gain, honour, veneration, respect, salutations, <sup>and</sup> offerings. By his ~~own~~ <sup>choice</sup> ~~fulfillment~~ <sup>fulfillment</sup> of such actions, on the ~~dissolution~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in a state of <sup>deprivation</sup> ~~deprivation~~... If... instead... he comes to the human state, he is insignificant wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to insignificance, that is to say, to be envious, to envy, begrudge,

and  
harbour envy about, others' gain, honour,  
veneration, respect, salutations, and offer-  
ings 265

12. But here, some man- or woman-  
is not envious, he does not envy, begrudge, or  
harbour envy about, others' gain, honour,  
veneration, respect, salutations, and offer-  
ings. By his ~~performing~~ <sup>undertaking</sup> and ~~performing~~ <sup>carrying out</sup> such  
actions, on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death,  
he reappears in a happy destination... If...  
instead... he comes to the human state,  
he is influential wherever he is born. This  
is the way that leads to influence, that  
is to say, <sup>not</sup> to be ~~not~~ envious, not to  
envy, begrudge, or harbour envy about,  
others' gain, honour, veneration, respect,  
salutations, and offerings.

13. ~~Here~~, Manava, some man- or  
woman - is not a giver of food, ~~and~~ drink,  
and cloth, ~~and~~ sandals, perfumes and ~~un~~ X  
garlands, perfumes ~~and~~ unguents, bed,  
roof, and lighting, to ~~manus~~ <sup>manus</sup> or ~~divine~~ <sup>divine</sup>  
X By his ~~performing~~ <sup>undertaken</sup> and ~~performing~~ <sup>carrying out</sup> such  
actions, on the ~~break-up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after  
death, he reappears in a state of deprivation...  
If... instead... he comes to the human  
world state, he is poor <sup>wherever he is born</sup> ~~in the way~~  
that leads to poverty, that is to say, <sup>not</sup> to be







death, he reappears in a state of ~~low~~ <sup>deprivation</sup> ... If  
 ... instead ... he comes to the human state,  
 he is low-born wherever he is born. This is  
 the way that leads to low birth, that is to  
 say, to be obdurate and haughty, not to  
 welcome those whom one should, ~~nor rise~~  
~~up for those whom one should,~~ ~~nor give~~  
 a seat to ~~those whom one should,~~ ~~nor make~~  
 way for ~~those whom one should,~~ ~~nor honour~~  
~~those whom one should,~~ ~~nor respect those~~  
~~whom one should,~~ ~~nor revere those whom~~  
~~one should,~~ ~~nor venerate those whom one~~  
 should.

16. But here, some man- or woman-  
 is not obdurate or haughty; he ~~pay~~ <sup>offers</sup>  
 homage to his ~~father~~ <sup>ancestors</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>honour</sup> ~~shame~~ <sup>to</sup> ~~pay~~  
 honours ~~that~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~he~~ <sup>honours</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>honour</sup> ~~shame~~ <sup>to</sup> ~~pay~~  
~~participating~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~such~~ <sup>acts</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~on~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~death~~ <sup>of</sup>  
 of the body, after death, he reappears in  
 a happy destination ... If ... instead ...  
 he comes to the human state, he is high-  
 born wherever he is born. This is the way  
 that leads to high birth, that is to say ~~not~~ to  
 be ~~not~~ obdurate or haughty, to welcome  
 those whom one should ... to venerate those  
 whom one should.

17. Here, Mānava, some man- or woman-  
~~adoring~~ <sup>adoring</sup> ~~an~~ <sup>a</sup> ~~god~~ <sup>goddess</sup> ~~or~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~divine~~ <sup>divine</sup> ~~being~~ <sup>being</sup>, does not



ask: - what is profitable, venerable sir? what is unprofitable? what is reprehensible? what is blameless? what should be cultivated? what should not be cultivated? what ~~that~~, by my doing it, will be long for my harm and suffering? or what, by my doing it, will be long for my welfare and happiness? - By his <sup>choice</sup> performing and <sup>fulfillment</sup> of such actions, on the ~~bank~~ <sup>distinction</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in a state of <sup>deprivation</sup>... If... instead... he comes to the human state, he will be ~~withstand~~ stupid wherever he is reborn. This is the way that leads to stupidity, that is to say, when visiting <sup>a monk</sup> or <sup>a disciple</sup>, not to ask: - what is profitable? ... or what, by my doing it, will be long for my welfare and happiness? 206

18. But herein, some man - or woman - when visiting <sup>a monk</sup> or <sup>a disciple</sup>, asks: - what is profitable, venerable sir? ... or what, by my doing it, will be long for my welfare and happiness? - By his <sup>choice</sup> performing and <sup>fulfillment</sup> of such actions, on the ~~bank~~ <sup>distinction</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination... If... instead... he comes to the human state, wherever he is reborn he will be wise. This is the way that leads to wisdom, that is to say, when visiting <sup>a monk</sup> or <sup>a disciple</sup>, to ask:

- What is profitable, venerable Sir? @ . . . Or what, by my doing it, will be long for my welfare and happiness?

19. So, Manava, the way that leads to short life makes men short-lived, the way that leads to long life makes men long-lived; the way that leads to sickness makes men sick, the way that leads to health makes ~~people~~ men healthy; the way that leads to ugliness makes ~~people~~ ugly, the way that leads to beauty makes men beautiful; the way that leads to insignificance makes men insignificant; the way that leads to influence makes men influential; the way that leads to poverty makes ~~people~~ <sup>men</sup> poor; the way that leads to riches makes men rich; the way that leads to low birth makes men low-born, the way that leads to high birth makes men high-born; the way that leads to stupidity makes men stupid, the way that leads to wisdom makes men wise.

20. <sup>Creatures</sup> ~~Beings~~ (Manava) are owners of actions, heirs of actions, they have actions as their parent, actions as their kin, actions as their refuge. It is actions that separate <sup>creatures</sup> ~~beings~~ according to superiority and inferiority and superiority.





§ 11 upadurnati - begrudges not in P.T.S.  
Dict.

§ 3 cf Sutta 57, § 9.



✓ Majjhima Nikaya 136 - Mahā Kanhamā-  
vibhaṅga Sutta (3, 4, 6)

1. 207 Thus I heard.

At one time the Blessed One was living at Rājagaha, in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Feeding Place. But at that time the Venerable Samiddhi was living in a forest hut.

Then the Wanderer Potaliyutta, ~~came~~ to the venerable walking and wandering for exercise, came to the venerable Samiddhi and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and memorable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the Wanderer Potaliyutta said to the venerable Samiddhi:

2. - I heard, and learned this, friend Samiddhi, from the ~~lips of the~~ Monk Gotama's lips: "Bodily deeds are vain, verbal deeds are vain, only mental deeds are true." But there is that attainment, having entered upon which, ~~one feels~~ nothing at all?

- Not so, friend Potaliyutta; ~~but so~~ do not ~~misrepresent~~ the Blessed One; it is not good to misrepresent the Blessed One; the Blessed One would not say so: "Bodily deeds are vain, verbal deeds are vain, only mental deeds are true." And there is ~~that~~ that attainment, having entered upon which, ~~one feels~~ nothing at all.

actually (of a thing) is felt

- How long is it since you went forth,  
friend Samiddhi?

- Not long, friend, three years.

- There now, when the young bhikkhus  
perceive the Master is to be defended thus?

After doing an ~~intentional~~ <sup>intentional</sup> deed, friend  
Samiddhi, by way of body, speech, or mind,  
what does one feel [~~with result~~]??

- After doing an ~~intentional~~ <sup>intentional</sup> deed,  
friend Potaliputta, by way of body, speech,  
or mind, one feels suffering [~~with result~~].

Then neither agreeing nor disagreeing  
with the words of the venerable Samiddhi,  
the wanderer Potaliputta got up from his  
seat and went away.

3. ~~Soon~~ Soon after the wanderer Potali-  
putta had gone, the venerable Samiddhi  
went to the venerable Ananda and ex-  
changed greetings with him, and when this  
courteous and memorable talk was finished,  
he sat down at one side. When he had done  
so, he told the venerable Ananda all his  
conversation with the wanderer Potaliputta.

When this was said, the venerable  
Ananda ~~spoke to the venerable Samiddhi~~ -  
this conversation [friend Samiddhi], should be  
told to the Blessed One. Come, let us  
go to the Blessed One, and having done so,



let us tell him about this. As he answers, so we shall bear it in mind.

Even so, friend, the venerable Samiddhi replied to the ~~question of the~~ ~~Venerable Ananda~~. Then ~~they went~~ together they went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Venerable Ananda told the Blessed One all the venerable Samiddhi's conversation with the Wanderer Potapipatta.

4. When this was said, the Blessed One told the Venerable Ananda:

- I do not even know the Wanderer by sight, Ananda. How could there have been such a conversation? The Wanderer Potapipatta's question ought to have been answered after analysing it; but this misguided man Samiddhi answered it without qualification.

When this was said, the Venerable Udayin said to the Blessed One: - But, venerable Sir, if, when the venerable Samiddhi spoke, he was referring to this, that ~~is~~ whatever is felt is suffering?

5. Then the Blessed One addressed the venerable Ananda:

- See, Ananda, how this misguided man Udayin interferes. I know, Ananda, that this misguided man Udayin would ~~interfere~~ interfere now. To begin with it was the three kinds of feeling that were asked

After performing by choice  
the duties of the Perfect One  
in the world.

about by the Wanderer Potaliputta. If,  
 when this misguided man Samidhi was <sup>209</sup>  
 asked, he had answered the Wanderer Potali-  
 putta thus: ~~After intentionally doing a deed,~~  
~~friend Potaliputta, by way of body, speech,~~  
~~or mind, that is productive of pleasure~~  
 he ~~will~~ feels pleasure; ~~after intentionally~~  
~~doing a deed by way of body, speech and~~  
~~mind that is productive of pain, he will~~  
 feels pain; ~~after intentionally doing a~~  
~~deed by way of body, speech or mind, that~~  
~~is productive of neither-pain-nor-pleasure,~~  
 he ~~will~~ feel neither-pain-nor-pleasure.  
 By answering him thus, Ananda, the mis-  
 guided man Samidhi would have given  
 word the Wanderer Potaliputta, <sup>the</sup> right answer.  
 Besides, Ananda, who ~~of~~ the foolish thought-  
 less Wanderers of other sects, will understand  
 the Perfect One's great exposition of ~~the~~  
 (Kamma)? But if you, Ananda, would list-  
 en to the Perfect One expounding the great  
 exposition of ~~the~~?  
 This is the time, Blessed One, this is the  
 time, sublime One, for the Blessed One  
 to expound the great exposition of ~~the~~  
 Having heard it from the Blessed One,  
 the bhikkhus will bear it in mind.  
 Then ~~the~~, Ananda, and ~~all~~



carefully to what I shall say.

— Even so, I venerable Sir, the venerable Ananda replied, ~~to the Blessed One~~, the Blessed One said this:

6. (There are 4 Ananda) these four kinds of persons to be ~~known~~ <sup>known</sup> ~~existing~~ in the world. What four?

(i) Here, some person kills ~~breath~~ <sup>breath</sup> things here, takes what is not given, is ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~conductor~~ <sup>conductor</sup> of ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~causation~~ <sup>causation</sup> ~~discovery~~ <sup>discovery</sup>, speaks falsehood, speaks maliciously, speaks harshly, gossips, is covetous, is ill-willed, has wrong view. On the ~~last~~ <sup>last</sup> ~~link~~ <sup>link</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~state~~ <sup>state</sup> of ~~depression~~ <sup>depression</sup> in an unhappy destiny, in perdition, in hell.

(ii) But here, some person kills ~~breath~~ <sup>breath</sup> things here, has wrong view. On the ~~last~~ <sup>last</sup> ~~link~~ <sup>link</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~state~~ <sup>state</sup> of ~~depression~~ <sup>depression</sup> in a happy destiny, in the heavenly world.

(iii) Here, some person abstains from killing ~~breath~~ <sup>breath</sup> things here, from taking what is not given, from ~~conduct~~ <sup>conduct</sup> in ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~causation~~ <sup>causation</sup> ~~discovery~~ <sup>discovery</sup>, from falsehood, from malicious speech, from harsh speech, from gossip, he is not covetous, is not ill-willed, does not have wrong view, has right view. On the ~~last~~ <sup>last</sup> ~~link~~ <sup>link</sup> of the body after death, he reappears in a happy destiny, in the heavenly world.

(iv) But here, some person abstains from





in states of <sup>depression</sup> ~~woe~~, in an unhappy destiny, in perdition, in hell. Those who know thus know rightly; those who know otherwise are ~~in error~~ <sup>in their knowledge</sup>. So he ~~states~~ <sup>states</sup> what ~~he~~ he himself has known, seen, and felt; insisting on that alone, he says "Only this is true; anything else is wrong."

But here, <sup>in consequence of ardour, devotion, diligence, and attention</sup> some ascetic or <sup>simple</sup> ~~ascetic~~ <sup>diligent</sup> ~~ascetic~~ attains such ~~great~~ concentration that, when his <sup>conscience</sup> ~~mind~~ is concentrated, he sees with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, that some person kills <sup>living</sup> things here, <sup>has</sup> wrong view. He sees that on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, he has reappeared in a happy destiny, in the heavenly world. He says ~~thus~~: "It seems there are no evil deeds, there is no result of ~~misconduct~~ <sup>misconduct</sup>. For I have seen that a person killed <sup>living</sup> things here, <sup>held</sup> wrong view. I <sup>have seen</sup> that on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, he had reappeared in ~~states of~~ a happy destiny, in the heavenly world." He says: "It seems that one who kills living things, <sup>has</sup> wrong view, will always on the <sup>disintegration</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, reappear in a happy destiny, in the heavenly world. Those who know thus know rightly; those who know otherwise are <sup>in error</sup> ~~in error~~ in their

knowledge." So he ~~is not~~ <sup>is</sup> firmly ~~that~~ <sup>with apprehension</sup> ~~what~~ <sup>he himself</sup> has, known, seen, and felt; insisting on that alone, he says: "Only this is true; anything else is wrong."

9. (iii) Here, <sup>in consequence of arduous effort</sup> devotion, diligence <sup>and attention</sup>, right <sup>and diligent</sup> ~~bringing to mind~~, some <sup>words</sup> ~~of words~~ <sup>or business</sup> attain <sup>to</sup> ~~con-~~ <sup>concentration</sup> ~~centration~~ <sup>such</sup> that, when his <sup>consciousness</sup> ~~consciousness~~ <sup>is concentrated</sup>, he sees with the divine eye; which is purified and surpasses the human, that <sup>some persons</sup> abstains from killing <sup>breathing</sup> things here, from <sup>substantial</sup> ~~substantial~~ <sup>in general</sup> ~~in general~~ <sup>from</sup> taking what is not given, from <sup>truthfulness</sup> ~~truthfulness~~ <sup>from</sup> falsehood, from <sup>malicious</sup> ~~malicious~~ <sup>speech</sup> speech, from gossip, that he is not covetous, is not ill-willed, has right view. He sees that on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ <sup>of the body</sup>, after death, he has reappeared in a happy destination, in the heavenly world. He says: "It seems that there are good deeds, there is result of good conduct. For I have seen that a person abstained from killing <sup>breathing</sup> things here, <sup>has</sup> ~~has~~ <sup>right</sup> ~~right~~ <sup>view</sup>. I saw that on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ <sup>of the body</sup>, after death, he had reappeared in a happy destination, in the heavenly world!" He says: "It seems that one who abstains from killing <sup>breathing</sup> things, <sup>has</sup> ~~has~~ <sup>right</sup> ~~right~~ <sup>view</sup>, will always, on the <sup>break-up</sup> ~~break-up~~ <sup>of the</sup>





breathing things, ... has right view, will always, on the <sup>dissolution</sup> break-up of the body, after death, reappear in <sup>the</sup> states of <sup>deprivation</sup> ~~be~~, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell. Those who know thus know rightly; those who know otherwise are <sup>mistaken</sup> ~~wrong~~ in their knowledge." So he, <sup>glorified</sup> ~~glorified~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>unapprehended</sup> ~~unapprehended~~, <sup>only</sup> ~~only~~ what he ~~has~~ himself has ~~seen~~ known, seen, and felt; insisting on that alone, he says: "Only this is true; anything else is wrong."

11. (i) Now, Ananda, when <sup>a monk</sup> ~~an ascetic~~ or <sup>disciple</sup> ~~disciple~~ says thus: "It seems that there are evil deeds, there is result of misconduct", ~~that~~ I concede that to him. When he says thus: "For I have seen that some person killed <sup>breathing</sup> ~~living~~ things here, had wrong view. I ~~was~~ ~~that~~ on the <sup>dissolution</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death he had reappeared in <sup>the</sup> states of <sup>deprivation</sup> ~~be~~, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell", I concede that to him. ~~to~~.
- When he says thus: "It seems that one who kills <sup>breathing</sup> ~~living~~ things, ... has wrong view, will always, on the <sup>dissolution</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, reappear in <sup>the</sup> states of <sup>deprivation</sup> ~~be~~, in an unhappy destination, in perdition





\* thus know rightly; those who know ~~it~~  
 otherwise are ~~mistaken~~ <sup>in their knowledge</sup>, I  
 do not concede ~~that to him~~ <sup>either</sup>,  
 when he ~~admits~~ <sup>insists</sup> ~~on~~ <sup>on</sup> what he  
 himself has known, seen, and felt, and,  
 insisting on that alone, he says: "Only this  
 is true; anything else is wrong", I do not  
 concede that to him, ~~either~~.  
 Why? The Perfect One's Knowledge  
 of the great Exposition of ~~his~~ <sup>Action</sup> is ~~the~~  
~~same~~ different.

13. (iii) Now when ~~one~~ <sup>a man</sup> ~~says~~  
~~that~~ <sup>living</sup> ~~he~~ says thus: "It seems that there  
 are good actions", there is result of good  
 conduct", I concede that to him.

When he says thus: "For I have seen  
 that a person who abstained from killing <sup>breath-</sup>  
 ing things here, ... had right view. I saw  
 that, on the ~~break up~~ <sup>disintegration</sup> of the body, after death,  
 he had reappeared in a happy destination,  
 in the heavenly world", I concede that to  
 him. ~~to~~

When he says: "It seems that one  
 who abstains from killing <sup>breath-</sup>  
 ... has right view, will always, on  
 the ~~break up~~ <sup>disintegration</sup> of the body, after death,  
 reappear in a happy destination <sup>in the</sup>  
 heavenly world", I do not concede that  
 to him. When he says: "Those who know thus



know rightly; those who know otherwise are <sup>mistaken</sup> ~~wrong~~ in their knowledge", I do not concede that to him. ~~either.~~

When he ~~is not sure of~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~what he~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~he himself has known, seen, and felt, and,~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~insisting on that alone, he says: "Only~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~this is true; anything else is wrong",~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~I do not~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~concede that to him.~~ <sup>is not sure of</sup> ~~either.~~

Why? The Perfect One's Knowledge of the Great Exposition of ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> ~~different.~~

(11) Now when ~~a~~ <sup>a</sup> ~~ascetic~~ <sup>ascetic</sup> ~~or~~ <sup>or</sup> ~~heretic~~ <sup>heretic</sup> says thus: "It seems that there are no good deeds, there is no result of good conduct", I do not concede that to him.

When he says thus: "For I have seen that a person abstained from killing ~~breathing~~ <sup>breathing</sup> things here, . . . had right view. I saw that on the ~~breathings~~ <sup>breathings</sup> of the body, after death, he had reappeared in ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~states of~~ <sup>states of</sup> ~~an~~ <sup>an</sup> ~~unhappy~~ <sup>unhappy</sup> ~~destination, in~~ <sup>destination, in</sup> ~~perdition, in~~ <sup>perdition, in</sup> ~~hell,"~~ <sup>hell,"</sup> I concede that to him.

When he says thus: "One who abstains from killing ~~breathing~~ <sup>breathing</sup> things, . . . has right view, will always, on the ~~breathings~~ <sup>breathings</sup> of the body, after death, reappear in ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~states of~~ <sup>states of</sup> ~~an~~ <sup>an</sup> ~~unhappy~~ <sup>unhappy</sup> ~~destination, in~~ <sup>destination, in</sup> ~~perdition,~~ <sup>perdition,</sup> ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> ~~hell,"~~ <sup>hell,"</sup> I do not concede that to him:

When he says thus: 214 Those who know

must know right; those who know otherwise are <sup>misled</sup> ~~misled~~ in their knowledge"; I do not concede that to him. ~~either~~.  
 When he ~~admits~~ <sup>deliberately misapprehend</sup> ~~only~~ himself has known, seen, and felt, and, insisting on that alone, he says "Only this is true; anything else is wrong", I do not concede that to him. ~~either~~.

Why? The Perfect One's knowledge of the great Exposition of <sup>Action</sup> ~~Law~~ is ~~different~~.

### THE GREAT EXPOSITION OF ACTION

15 has killed <sup>breathing</sup> things here, ~~there is~~ the person ~~who~~ <sup>had</sup> wrong view, and on the ~~break up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, he reappears in <sup>the</sup> states of ~~error~~ <sup>degeneration</sup>, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell. ~~Unhappy~~ <sup>Unhappy</sup> ~~because~~ <sup>because</sup> of the bad ~~act~~ <sup>deed</sup> producing his suffering was done by him earlier, or ~~because~~ <sup>because</sup> the bad ~~act~~ <sup>deed</sup> producing his suffering was done by him later, or ~~because~~ <sup>because</sup> ~~at the time of his death~~ wrong view was chosen and fulfilled by him ~~at the time of his death~~. And that was ~~the reason~~ why, on the ~~break up~~ <sup>dissolution</sup> of the body, after death, he reappeared in <sup>the</sup> states of ~~error~~ <sup>degeneration</sup>, in an unhappy destination, in perdition in hell. But since he ~~has~~ <sup>had</sup> killed <sup>breathing</sup> things here, ... ~~had~~ <sup>had</sup> wrong view, he will ~~ever~~ feel the result <sup>of that</sup> here and now.



or on his next rebirth, or in some subsequent existence.

16 (ii) Now there is the person who has killed <sup>by his actions</sup> things here, ... <sup>had</sup> had wrong view. And on the <sup>disintegration</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination in the heavenly world. But <sup>the good deed producing</sup> his happiness was done by him earlier, or the good deed producing his happiness was done by him later, or right view was chosen and fulfilled by him at the time of his death.   
 X And that was ~~the reason~~ why, on the <sup>disintegration</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappeared in a happy destination in the heavenly world. But since he <sup>has</sup> killed <sup>by his actions</sup> things here, ... <sup>had</sup> had wrong view, he will feel the result of that here and now, or on his next rebirth, or in some subsequent existence.

17 (iii) Now there is the person who <sup>has</sup> abstained from killing <sup>by his actions</sup> things here, ... <sup>has</sup> had right view. And on the <sup>disintegration</sup> break-up of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination in the heavenly world. But <sup>the good deed producing</sup> his happiness was done by him earlier, or the good deed producing his happiness was done by him later, or right view was chosen and fulfilled by him at the time of his death.   
 X And that was ~~the reason~~ why, on the <sup>disintegration</sup> break-up of the body, after death,

§ 19 For Shabbāhase M. 136  
of Di.ii, 5 gambhīravarāhase

929

he reappeared in a happy destiny in the heavenly world. But since he <sup>had</sup> abstained from killing ~~things~~ things here, <sup>2.15</sup> ~~had~~ <sup>had</sup> right view, he will feel the result of that here and now, or on his next rebirth, or in some subsequent existence.

18. (iv) Now there is the person who <sup>had</sup> abstained from killing ~~things~~ things here, <sup>had</sup> ~~had~~ <sup>had</sup> right view. And on the ~~death~~ <sup>death</sup> of the body after death, he reappears in states of ~~hell~~ <sup>deprivation</sup> in an unhappy destiny in perdition, in hell. But ~~the bad deed~~ <sup>the bad deed</sup> producing his suffering was done by him earlier, or the ~~bad deed~~ <sup>bad deed</sup> producing his suffering was done by him later, or ~~wrong view~~ <sup>wrong view</sup> was chosen and fulfilled by him at the time of his death. But that was ~~the reason~~ <sup>the reason</sup> why, on the ~~death~~ <sup>death</sup> of the body, after death, he reappeared in states of ~~deprivation~~ <sup>deprivation</sup> in an unhappy destiny in perdition, in hell. But since he <sup>had</sup> abstained from killing ~~things~~ things here, <sup>had</sup> ~~had~~ <sup>had</sup> right view, he will feel the result of that here and now, or on his next rebirth, or in some subsequent existence.

19. So, Ananda, there is ~~incapable~~ that is incapable [of good result] and appears incapable [of good result], there is ~~capable~~ that is incapable [of good result] and appears capable [of good result], there is ~~incapable~~ that is capable [of good result] and appears capable [of good result], and there is ~~capable~~ that is capable [of good result] and appears incapable [of good result].  
So the Blessed One said. The monks and laypeople with their eyes.



675  
1/ Majjhima Nikāya 137 Saḷāyatana Vibhaṅga sūta  
(3, 4, 7.)

① Thus I heard.

At one time the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's park. There the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus - Bhikkhus - Venerable sir - they replied. to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

② - I shall give you, bhikkhus, an exposition of the ~~six bases~~ <sup>sixfold base</sup>. ~~listen~~ <sup>hear</sup> and attend <sup>with</sup> carefully to what I shall say.

- Even so, Venerable sir, the bhikkhus replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this: ~~##~~

③ - <sup>266</sup> Six internal bases should be known, Six external bases should be known, Six classes of consciousness should be known, Six classes of contact should be known, Eighteen kinds of mental approach should be known, Thirty-six positions for creatures should be known; these depending on their abundance that there are three foundations of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates, cultivating which the Noble One is a teacher fit to instruct a flock: among the teachers of training, it is he that is called the incomparable teacher of men to be tamed. This is the ~~summary~~ <sup>summary</sup> of the Exposition of the sixfold base.

④ Six internal bases should be known? So it was said. And <sup>with</sup> ~~why~~ <sup>purpose</sup> was this said? There are the eye-base, ear-base, nose-base, tongue-base, body-base, and mind-base. So



it was ~~said~~ with reference to this that  
~~for this reason~~ it was said, <sup>with reference to this that</sup> six internal bases  
 should be known?

⑤ 'Six external bases should be known:  
 X so it was said. And why was this said?  
 There are the ~~visible~~ <sup>visible</sup> object base, ~~the~~ sound  
 base, ~~the~~ odour base, ~~the~~ flavour base,  
~~the~~ tangible ~~object~~ base and ~~the~~ mental-  
 object base. So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>with reference to this that</sup> it was  
 X said 'Six external bases should be known.'

⑥ 'Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of consciousness should be  
 X known? so it was said. And <sup>why</sup> was this  
 said? There are eye-consciousness, ear-  
 consciousness, nose-consciousness, tongue-  
 consciousness, body-consciousness and  
 mind-consciousness. So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>with reference to this that</sup> it  
 was said 'Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of consciousness should  
 X be known.'

⑦ 'Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of contact should be known:  
 X so it was said. And <sup>why</sup> was this said? There  
 are eye-contact, ear-contact, nose-con-  
 tact, tongue contact, body-contact and  
 mind-contact. So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>with reference to this that</sup> it  
 was said 'Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of contact should be  
 known.'

5/16

sp. a



⑧ Eighteen kinds of mental approach: so it was said. And <sup>it should be known</sup> why was this said? On seeing a ~~visible~~ <sup>visible</sup> object with the eye ~~and~~ approaches it as a ~~visible~~ <sup>visible</sup> object productive of joy, she approaches it as a ~~visible~~ <sup>visible</sup> object productive of grief, she approaches it as a ~~visible~~ <sup>visible</sup> object productive of equanimity.

On hearing a sound with the ear...

On smelling an odour with the nose...

On tasting a flavour with the tongue... 21)

On touching a tangible object with the body...

On cognizing a ~~mental~~ <sup>mental</sup> object with the mind, she approaches it as a ~~mental~~ <sup>mental</sup> object productive of joy, she approaches it as a ~~mental~~ <sup>mental</sup> object productive of grief, she approaches it as a ~~mental~~ <sup>mental</sup> object productive of equanimity.

There are six kinds of mental approach with joy, and six kinds of mental approach with grief, and six kinds of mental approach with equanimity.

So <sup>for this reason</sup> ~~for this reason~~ it was said 'eighteen kinds of mental approach should be known.'

⑨ Thirty-six <sup>ways</sup> ~~ways~~ <sup>should be known</sup> ~~ways~~ so it was said. And <sup>with reference to</sup> ~~why~~ <sup>creation</sup> was this said? There are six kinds of ~~joy~~ <sup>joy</sup> based on ~~household~~ <sup>household</sup> life and six kinds of ~~grief~~ <sup>grief</sup> based on ~~renunciation~~ <sup>renunciation</sup>. There are six kinds of ~~joy~~ <sup>joy</sup> based on ~~household~~ <sup>household</sup> life and six kinds of ~~grief~~ <sup>grief</sup> based



house-based  
 on renunciation. There are six kinds of equanimity based on household life and six kinds of equanimity based on renunciation.

(10) Herein, which are the six kinds of joy based on household life?

Joy arises in one who regards as an acquisition the acquisition of <sup>visible</sup> objects cognizable by the eye that are sought after, desired, agreeable, gratifying, and associated with worldly <sup>enjoyment</sup>, or who recalls what was acquired <sup>formerly</sup> that is past, ceased, and changed. It is such joy as this that is called joy based on household life.

Joy arises in one who regards as an acquisition the acquisition of sounds...

... the acquisition of odours...

... the acquisition of flavours...

... the acquisition of tangible objects...

Joy arises in one who regards as an acquisition the acquisition of <sup>invisible</sup> objects cognizable by the mind that are sought after, desired, agreeable, gratifying, and associated with worldly <sup>enjoyment</sup>, or who recalls what was acquired <sup>formerly</sup> that is past, ceased, and changed. It is such joy as this that is called joy based on household life.

These are the six kinds of joy based on household life.

(11) Herein, which are the six kinds of joy based on renunciation?

Joy arises in one who, by knowing the impermanence, and the changing, fading, and cessation of visible objects, sees correctly with right understanding that visible objects both <sup>formerly</sup> and now are all impermanent painful and subject to change. It is such joy as this that



is called joy based on renunciation.  
 Joy arises in one who, by knowing  
 the impermanence and the changing fading  
~~and~~ and cessation of sounds ...  
 ... of odours ...  
 ... of flavours ...  
 ... of tangible objects ... 218

Joy arises in one who, by knowing  
 the impermanence and the changing  
 fading ~~and~~ and cessation of mental  
 objects, sees correctly with right <sup>under-</sup>  
~~standings~~ that ~~visible~~ mental objects  
 both <sup>formerly</sup> ~~past~~ and <sup>now</sup> ~~present~~ are all imperman-  
 ent painful and subject to change.  
 It is such joy that is called joy based  
 on renunciation.

These are the six kinds of joy  
 based on renunciation.

(12) Herein which are the six kinds of  
 grief? <sup>house-based</sup>  
~~based on household life?~~

Grief arises in one who regards as  
 non-acquisition the non-acquisition of  
 visible objects cognizable by the eye that  
 are sought-after, desired, agreeable,  
 gratifying, and associated with worldly  
 things, or who who recalls <sup>what was</sup> ~~those~~  
 not acquired ~~formerly~~ that are past,  
 ceased, and changed. It is such grief  
 as this that is called, <sup>house-</sup>  
~~based on household~~  
 grief.

→ Grief arises in one who, regards as

non-acquisition the non-acquisition of mental objects cognizable by the mind that are sought-after, desired, agreeable, gratifying, and associated with worldly things, or who recalls <sup>what was</sup> ~~these~~ not acquired ~~formerly~~ that ~~are~~ part, ceased, and changed. It is such grief as this that is called <sup>in mind - of - heart</sup> grief based on ~~thoughtful~~ <sup>change - longed</sup> ~~life~~ <sup>household</sup> ~~life~~.

(13) Herein, which are the six kinds of grief based on renunciation?

When, by knowing the impermanence, and the changing, fading, ~~and~~ and cessation, of visible objects, one sees correctly with right <sup>understanding</sup> ~~knowledge~~ that visible objects both <sup>formerly</sup> ~~past~~ and <sup>now</sup> ~~present~~ are all impermanent painful and subject to change, he conceives longing for the supreme ~~deliberate~~ liberations thus: "When shall I enter upon and dwell in that ~~sphere~~ ~~that~~ the Noble Ones ~~enter~~ enter upon and dwell in <sup>in</sup>?" and ~~the~~ grief caused by longing arises in him who <sup>thus</sup> conceives longing for the supreme liberations. It is such grief <sup>as this</sup> that is called grief based on renunciation.

When, by knowing the impermanence and the changing fading and cessation of

... of odours ...

... of flavours ...

... of tangible objects ...

When, by knowing the impermanence, and the changing, fading, and cessation, of



Mental objects, <sup>219</sup> one sees correctly with right  
<sup>understanding</sup> knowledge that mental objects both <sup>for myself</sup> present  
 and <sup>now</sup> present are all impermanent pain-  
 ful and subject to change, he conceives  
 longing for the supreme liberation thus  
 'When shall I enter upon and dwell in  
 that sphere <sup>base</sup> that the Noble Ones now  
 enter upon and dwell in?'; and grief  
 caused by longing arises in him who  
 thus conceives, longing for the supreme liber-  
 ations. It is such grief ~~that is~~ as this that is  
 called grief based on renunciation.

These are the six kinds of grief based on  
 renunciation.

(14) Herein, which are the six <sup>household</sup> kinds of <sup>equan-</sup>  
 imity? ~~based on household life?~~

On seeing a visible object with the eye,  
 equanimity arises in a foolish ~~commoner~~  
 infatuated commoner, in an untaught  
 commoner who has not conquered his  
 limitations ~~nor~~ conquered kamma-result,  
 and is blind to danger, ~~such~~ <sup>equan-</sup> equanimity  
~~is this that it~~ does not transcend the  
 visible object; that is why that <sup>equan-</sup> equanimity  
 is called <sup>household</sup> based on household life.

On hearing a sound with the ear...

On smelling an odour with the nose...

On tasting a flavour with the tongue...

On touching a tangible object with the body...

On cognizing a mental object with the



mind, equanimity arises in a foolish impet-  
 uated commoner, in an untaught com-  
 moner who has not conquered his lim-  
 itations ~~or~~ conquered kamma-result,  
 and is blind to danger. ~~Such~~ <sup>Such</sup> equanimity  
 as this ~~that~~ ~~it~~ does not transcend the  
 mental object; that is why that equanimity  
 is called <sup>home</sup> based on household life.

These are the six kinds of <sup>home-based</sup> equanimity  
 based on household life.

⑤ Herein, which are the six kinds of  
 equanimity based on renunciation?

Equanimity arises in one who, by  
 knowing the impermanence, and the chang-  
 ing, fading, and cessation, of visible objects,  
 sees correctly with right ~~knowledge~~ <sup>understanding</sup> that  
 visible objects both <sup>formerly</sup> ~~past~~ and <sup>now</sup> ~~present~~ are  
 all impermanent painful and subject  
 to change. Such <sup>visible</sup> equanimity as <sup>equanimity is</sup> ~~this~~ <sup>transcends</sup> the object; that is why that <sup>is</sup>  
 called based on renunciation.

Equanimity arises in one who, by  
 knowing the impermanence and the chang-  
 ing fading and cessation of sounds...

- ... of odours...
- ... of flavours...
- ... of tangible objects...

Equanimity arises in one who, by  
 knowing the impermanence and the changing



fading and cessation of ~~mental~~ objects,  
 sees correctly with right ~~understanding~~ that  
 mental objects both <sup>formerly</sup> ~~past~~ and <sup>now</sup> ~~present~~ are  
 all impermanent painful and subject  
 to change. Such equanimity as this  
 transcends the mental object; that is why  
 that <sup>equanimity</sup> is called based on renunciation.  
 These are the six kinds of equanimity  
 based on renunciation.

So for this <sup>was the</sup> reason <sup>why</sup> it was said 'Thirty  
 six positions for beings should be known?' 220

(16) 220 'Therein by depending on this, abandon  
 that?' so it was said. And why was this said?

Here, bhikkhus, by depending and  
 relying on the six kinds of joy based on re-  
 nunciation abandon, ~~leave behind~~ <sup>surmount</sup>, the  
 six kinds of <sup>house-hold</sup> joy based on household life.  
 It is <sup>thus</sup> they are abandoned; ~~it is~~ thus they  
 are ~~left behind~~ <sup>surmounted</sup>.

Here, bhikkhus, by depending and  
 relying on the six kinds of grief based  
 on renunciation abandon, ~~leave behind~~ <sup>surmount</sup>, the  
 six kinds of <sup>house-hold</sup> grief based on household life.  
 It is thus they are abandoned; ~~it is~~ thus  
 they are ~~left behind~~ <sup>surmounted</sup>.

Here, bhikkhus, by depending and  
 relying on the six kinds of equanimity based  
 on renunciation abandon, ~~leave behind~~ <sup>surmount</sup>, the  
 six kinds of <sup>house-hold</sup> equanimity based on house-  
 hold life. It is thus they are abandoned; ~~it is~~



thus they are ~~left behind~~ <sup>surmounted</sup>.

Here, bhikkhus, by depending and relying on the six kinds of joy based on renunciation abandon, ~~leave behind~~, <sup>surmount</sup> the six kinds of grief based on renunciation.

It is thus they are abandoned; ~~it~~ thus they are ~~left behind~~ <sup>surmounted</sup>.

Here, bhikkhus, by depending and relying on the six kinds of equanimity based on renunciation abandon, ~~leave behind~~, <sup>surmount</sup> the six kinds of joy based on renunciation. It is thus they are abandoned; ~~it~~ thus they are ~~left behind~~ <sup>surmounted</sup>.

17 There is, bhikkhus, equanimity that is varied, based on variety; there is equanimity that is unified, based on unity.

18 And which, bhikkhus, is equanimity that is varied, based on variety? There is, bhikkhus, equanimity about visible objects, about sounds, about odours, about flavours, about tangible objects. This, bhikkhus, is equanimity that is varied, based on variety.

19 And which, bhikkhus, is equanimity that is unified, based on unity? There is, bhikkhus, equanimity <sup>dependent</sup> ~~based~~ on the base consisting of boundless space, on the base consisting of boundless consciousness, on the base consisting of nothingness, on the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception. This, bhikkhus, is equanimity



- that is unified, based on unity.
- (20) Here, bhikkhus, by depending and relying on ~~the~~ equanimity that is unified, based on unity abandon, ~~leave behind~~, <sup>surmount</sup> equanimity that is varied, based on variety. It is thus that this is abandoned, thus that this is left behind, <sup>surmounted</sup>.
- (21) ~~By depending and relying~~ <sup>By depending and relying</sup> bhikkhus, on ~~abandon~~ <sup>abandon</sup>, ~~leave behind~~ <sup>surmount</sup> equanimity that is unified, based on unity. It is thus that this is abandoned, thus that this is left behind, <sup>surmounted</sup>. 221
- [221] So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>was the</sup> ~~it was said~~ <sup>why</sup> "Thapreim by depending on this abandon that?"

(22) There are three foundations of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates; cultivating which the Noble One is a Master fit to instruct a flock: so it was said. And why was this said?

- (23) Here, bhikkhus, compassionate and seeking their welfare the Master teaches the Dhamma to the disciples out of compassion: This is for your welfare; this is for your happiness. His disciples will not hear, ~~and~~ give ear, ~~and~~ <sup>prepare</sup> their minds for knowledge; ~~erring~~, they turn aside from the Master's teaching. With that, bhikkhus, ~~the~~ <sup>satisfied</sup> Perfect One is not pleased and feels no ~~pleasure~~ <sup>satisfaction</sup>; ~~and~~



he dwells unmoved, mindful and fully aware. This, bhikkhus, is called the first foundation of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates, cultivating which the Noble One is a Master fit to instruct a flock.

(24) Furthermore, bhikkhus, compassionate and seeking their welfare the Master Teaches the Dhamma to the disciples out of compassion: This is for your welfare; this is for your happiness. Some of his disciples will not hear, ~~and~~ give ear; ~~and~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~prepare~~ their minds for knowledge; ~~and~~ <sup>erringly</sup>, they turn aside from the Master's teaching. Some of his disciples will hear, and give ear, and ~~prepare~~ <sup>prepare</sup> their minds for knowledge; they do not, ~~and~~ <sup>erringly</sup>, turn aside from the Master's teaching. With that, bhikkhus, ~~content~~ the Perfect One is not ~~satisfied~~ and feels no ~~pleasure~~ <sup>satisfaction</sup>, and ~~while~~ <sup>because</sup> he is not ~~displeased~~ and feels no ~~displeasure~~ <sup>dissatisfaction</sup>; ~~and~~ <sup>while</sup> ~~remaining~~ <sup>because</sup> without both ~~pleasure~~ <sup>satisfaction</sup> and ~~displeasure~~ <sup>dissatisfaction</sup>, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> he dwells in equanimity, mindful and fully aware. This, bhikkhus, is called the second foundation of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates, cultivating which the Noble One is a Master fit to instruct a flock.

(25) Furthermore, bhikkhus, compassionate and seeking their welfare the Master teaches the Dhamma to the disciples out of compassion: This is for your welfare; this is for your happiness; this disciples will hear, and give ear,



and ~~prepare~~<sup>entirely</sup> their minds <sup>in</sup> for knowledge; they do not, erring, turn aside from the Master's teaching. With that, bhikkhus, the Perfect One is ~~perfect~~<sup>satisfied</sup> and feels ~~pleasure~~<sup>satisfaction</sup>; he dwells unmoved, mindful and fully aware. This, bhikkhus, is called the third foundation of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates, cultivating which the Noble One is a Master fit to instruct a flock. 222

[222] ~~So for~~ <sup>was this why</sup> this, reason it was said 'There are three foundations of mindfulness that the Noble One cultivates, cultivating which the Noble One is a Master fit to instruct a flock

(26)

Among the teachers of training it is he that is called the Incomparable Leader of Men to be Tamed; so it was said. And why was this said?

Guided by the elephant tamer, bhikkhus, the elephant to be tamed goes in one ~~of the~~ directions, east, west, north, south. Guided by the horse tamer, bhikkhus, the horse to be tamed goes in one ~~of the~~ directions, east, west, north, south. Guided by the ox tamer, bhikkhus, the ox to be tamed goes in one ~~of the~~ directions, east, west, north, south.

(27)

Guided by the Perfect One, ~~the~~<sup>the</sup> Accomplished Fully Enlightened One, the man to be tamed goes in eight directions.



Being possessed of matter he sees different kinds of matter: this is the first direction: Unperceptible of matter internally, in himself, he sees matter externally: this is the second direction. He is intent only on the beautiful: this is the third direction. With the complete surmounting of perceptions of matter, with the disappearance of perceptions of sense-impact, with not bringing to mind perceptions of variety, ~~to enter~~ [aware ~~that~~ of] 'boundless space', he enters upon and dwells in the base consisting of boundless space: this is the fourth direction. ~~With~~ the completely surmounting of the base consisting of boundless space, [aware of] 'Boundless Consciousness', he enters upon and dwells in the base consisting of boundless consciousness: this is the fifth direction. ~~With~~ the completely surmounting of the base consisting of boundless consciousness, [aware that] 'there is nothing', he enters upon and dwells in the base consisting of nothingness: this is the sixth direction. ~~With~~ the completely surmounting of the base consisting of nothingness, he enters upon and dwells in the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception: this is the seventh direction. ~~With~~ the completely surmounting of the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception he enters upon and dwells in the cessation of perception and feeling: this is the eighth direction.

Guided by the Perfect One, Shikha, the Accomplished Fully Enlightened One, the man to be tamed goes in eight directions.

(28) So for this reason it was said among the teachers of Training it is he that is called the incomparable leader of men to be tamed and ~~the~~ the Perfect One ~~delighted~~ the Shikha <sup>was</sup>



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 138 - Uddesavibhaṅga Sutta  
(3, 4, 8)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blind One was living at Sāvathī in Teta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park. There the Blind One addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus », — « Venerable Sir » they ~~replied~~ replied. The Blind One said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, I shall try to give you a ~~summary~~ summary and an exposition. Listen and heed well what I shall say ».

« Even so, venerable Sir » the Bhikkhus replied. The Blind One said this:

3. « Bhikkhus, let a bhikkhu always so judge that, when <sup>he</sup> ~~judging~~ <sup>judging</sup>, he ~~avoids~~ <sup>avoids</sup>, by not ~~clinging~~ <sup>clinging</sup> ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> his consciousness ~~that~~ <sup>that</sup> it is not distracted and not ~~scattered~~ <sup>scattered</sup> ~~externally~~ <sup>externally</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~settled~~ <sup>settled</sup> ~~internally~~ <sup>internally</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~clinging~~ <sup>clinging</sup> to anything. <sup>he has no anxiety due to not finding anything to cling to.</sup> When, while consciousness is not distracted and not ~~scattered~~ <sup>scattered</sup> ~~externally~~ <sup>externally</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~settled~~ <sup>settled</sup> ~~internally~~ <sup>internally</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> ~~clinging~~ <sup>clinging</sup> to anything, ~~then~~ <sup>then</sup> there is no production for him of the origin of the suffering consisting in birth, ageing, and death, in the future ».

4. So the Blind One said. Having said this, the Sublime One rose from his seat and went into his dwelling.

5. Then soon after the Blind One had gone, the bhikkhus <sup>thought</sup> « Now, friends, <sup>[considered]</sup> »



5 - the Blind One has risen from his seat and gone into his dwelling after giving a summary in brief without expounding the detailed meanings, that is, 'Shutelles, let ... future'. Who will expound  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  this  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  in ~~detail~~ <sup>confidence</sup> then they <sup>thought</sup> « the venerable Mahā Kaccāna is praised and esteemed by 10 - the Blind One and by companions in the life Divine. He is capable of  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  doing that  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  <sup>124</sup> ~~Shutelles~~ we went to him and asked him the meaning of this ~~Shutelles~~?

6. Then they ~~Shutelles~~ went to the venerable Mahā Kaccāna and exchanged greetings with him, and when the courteous and amiable talk was finished, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, they told him  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  what had <sup>taken place</sup> ~~happened~~,  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  and they added  $\ddot{\text{c}}$  « let the venerable Mahā Kaccāna expound <sup>125</sup> it to us ».

7. « Friends, it is as though a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, ... [and so on as in Sutta <sup>18</sup> 13, <sup>12</sup> 3, <sup>22-5</sup> 7] ... so you should have borne it in mind ».

8. « Surely friend Kaccāna ... [and so on as in Sutta <sup>13</sup> 13, <sup>13</sup> 3, <sup>13</sup> 7] ... let the venerable Mahā Kaccāna expound [it] without giving importance. [to that] ».

9. « Then listen, friends, and heed well what I shall say ».  
« Even so, friend » the Shuteles replied.  
The venerable Mahā Kaccāna said this:



991  
10. 'And how, friends, is consciousness <sup>called</sup> 'distracted and scattered externally'?

Here when a bhikkhu has seen a form with the eye <sup>and</sup> his consciousness follows after the sign of form, is tied to the sign of form, is shackled to the sign of form, then his consciousness is called 'distracted and scattered externally'.

10 When he has heard a sound with the ear...  
... smelt an odour with the nose...  
... tasted a flavour with the tongue...  
... touched a tangible with the body...  
... cognized an idea with the mind...

11. 'And how, friends, is consciousness <sup>called</sup> 'not distracted and not <sup>scattered</sup> attached externally'?

Here ~~when~~ when a bhikkhu has seen a form with the eye and his consciousness does not run after the sign of form, is not tied to the sign of form, is not shackled to the sign of form, then his consciousness is called 'not distracted and not <sup>scattered</sup> attached externally'.

226  
10- When he has heard a sound with the ear...  
... smelt an odour with the nose...  
... tasted ~~a~~ flavour with the tongue...  
... touched a tangible with the body...

11- When he has cognized an idea with the mind and his consciousness does not run after the sign of ideas, is not tied to the sign of ideas, is not shackled to the sign of ideas, then his consciousness is called 'not distracted and not <sup>scattered</sup> attached externally'.

12 And how, friends, is cognizance called



'settled in himself'?

Here, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the first <sup>illumination</sup> ~~illumination~~, which is accompanied by applied ~~thought~~ <sup>thinking</sup> and ~~sustained~~ <sup>pondering</sup> thought, with happiness and pleasure born of seclusion. His consciousness follows after the happiness and pleasure born of seclusion, is tied to the happiness and pleasure born of seclusion, is shaded by the happiness and bliss born of seclusion. Being fettered by the fetters of enjoyment of the happiness and pleasure born of seclusion, his cognizance is called 'settled in himself'.

13. Again, with the stilling of <sup>thinking</sup> ~~applied~~ ~~thought~~ and ~~sustained~~ <sup>pondering</sup> ~~thought~~ he enters upon and abides in the second <sup>illumination</sup> ~~illumination~~, which has self-confidence and singleness of ~~mind~~ will, without <sup>thinking</sup> ~~applied~~ ~~thought~~ and without ~~sustained~~ <sup>pondering</sup> ~~thought~~, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration. His consciousness follows after the happiness and ~~pleasure~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> born of concentration... Being fettered by the fetters of enjoyment of the happiness and pleasure born of concentration, his cognizance is called 'settled in himself'.

14. Again, with the fading as well of happiness he abides in onlooking (equanimity), and mindful and fully aware, still feeling pleasure with the body, he enters upon



443  
 and abides in the third <sup>illumination</sup> ~~absorption~~, on account  
 of which Noble One announces <sup>he has a</sup> pleasant abiding who <sup>is an outlooker (with</sup> ~~has~~ equanimity) and  
 is mindful? His ~~conscience~~ consciousness follows  
 after the outlooking (equanimity), ... Being  
 fettered by the fetter of enjoyment of the  
 pleasure of outlooking (equanimity), his cogni-  
 zance is called 'settled in himself'.

15. Again, with the abandoning of pleasure  
 and pain and with the previous disappear-  
 ance of joy and grief he enters upon and  
 abides in the fourth <sup>illumination</sup> ~~absorption~~, which has  
 neither-pain-nor-pleasure, and the  
 purity of whose mindfulness is due to  
 outlooking (equanimity). His consciousness  
 follows after the neither-pain-nor-pleasure,  
 is tied to the ~~happy~~ neither-pain-nor-pleasure,  
 is shackled by the neither-pain-nor-pleasure,  
 being fettered by the fetter of enjoyment of  
 neither-pain-nor-pleasure, his cognizance  
 is called 'settled in himself'.

That is ~~how~~ how cognizance is called  
 'settled in himself'.

- 16 <sup>227</sup> And how, friends, is cognizance  
 called 'not settled in himself'?

Here, quite secluded... born of seclusion.  
 His consciousness does not follow after ~~that~~ the  
 happiness and pleasure born of seclusion, ~~does~~ <sup>is</sup>  
 not tied to ~~that~~ the happiness and pleasure



born of seclusion, is not shackled by the happiness and pleasure born of seclusion. Not being fettered by the fetter of enjoyment of happiness and pleasure born of seclusion, his cognizance is called 'not settled in himself'.

17. Again, with the stilling... born of concentration. His consciousness does not follow after the happiness and pleasure born of concentration... his cognizance is called 'not settled in himself'.

18. Again, with the fading as well... and is 'mindful'. His consciousness does not follow after the outlook (equanimity)... his cognizance is called 'not settled in himself'.

19. Again, with the abandoning... due to outlook (equanimity). His consciousness does not follow after the neither-pain-nor-pleasure... his cognizance is called 'not settled in himself'.

20. How, friends, is there anguish due to not ~~clinging to things, finding, to~~ finding anything to cling to?

Here an untaught ordinary man dis-  
 5 ~~likes in Sutta~~ regards Noble Ones, <sup>unconscious</sup> is <sup>in agreement</sup> with the Noble Ones' true idea, is undisciplined in the Noble Ones' true idea, who disregards true men, is <sup>unconscious</sup> ~~in agreement~~ with true men's true idea, is undisciplined in the true men's true  
 10 ~~idea~~, sees form as self or self possessed of



495  
 form or form in self or self in form. That form  
 of his changes, becomes otherwise, with the  
 change and otherness of ~~that~~ form ~~of his~~  
 his consciousness comes to have parallel  
 turn-overs with the form's change. [So] arisings  
 of ideas of anguish born of [consciousness's]  
 parallel turn-overs with the form's change  
 invade his cognizance and remain. With  
 the invasion of his cognizance he is frightened,  
 anxious and ~~worried~~<sup>expectant</sup>, and he has anguish  
 due to not finding anything to cling to. 228  
 He sees feeling as self... He sees percept-  
 ion as self... He sees determinations as self  
 ... He sees consciousness as self... and he has  
 anguish due to not finding anything to cling to.  
 That is how there is anguish due to not  
 finding anything to cling to.

26 And how, friends, is there no anguish  
 due to not having anything to cling to?

Here a well taught Noble disciple has  
 regard for Noble One, is conversant with  
 the Noble One's True Idea, is disciplined in the  
 Noble One's True Idea, who has regard for True  
 men, is conversant with the True Men's True Idea,  
 is disciplined in the True Men's True Idea, does  
 not see form as self or self possessed of form or  
 form in self or self in form. That form of his  
 changes, becomes otherwise. With the change and  
 otherness of form his consciousness does not come  
 to have parallel turn-overs with the form's change.  
 [So] arisings of ideas of anguish born of [con-



sciousness's) parallel turn-over with the form's change do not invade his cognizance and remain. With no invasion of his cognizance he is not frightened or anxious or ~~watched~~ expectant, and he has no anguish due to not finding anything to cling to. He does not see feeling as self... He does not see perceptions as self... He does not see determinations as self... He does not see consciousness as self... and he has no anguish due to not finding anything to cling to.

That is how there is no anguish due to not finding anything to cling to.

22. Friends, when the Blessed One rose from his seat and went into his dwelling after giving a summary in brief, without expounding the detailed meaning, that is, Bhikkhus, let a bhikkhu always so judge that, when, while judging, his consciousness is distracted and not scattered externally, and is not settled in himself, he has no anguish due to not finding anything to cling to. Bhikkhus, when, while consciousness is not distracted and not scattered externally, and is not settled in himself, he has no anguish due to not finding anything to cling to, [then] there is no production for him of the origin of the suffering consisting in birth, ageing, and death, in the future; I understand the detailed meaning of ~~it is~~ <sup>to be</sup> thus.

Now, friends, if you wish, go to the Blessed One and ask him about the meaning of this.



40  
As the Blessed One tells ~~it to you~~ so you should <sup>remember</sup> ~~it in mind~~ 27.

23. Then the bhikkhus were satisfied, and delighting in the venerable Mahā Kaccāna's words, they rose from their seats and went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. <sup>When they had done so,</sup> they told him ~~all that had happened~~ <sup>all that had happened</sup>, ~~repeated the story to the Blessed One~~ after the Blessed One had left, ~~and~~ and they added: "Then, venerable sir, he went to the venerable Mahā Kaccāna and asked him about the meaning. Venerable sir, the meaning has been expounded to us <sup>with</sup> these ~~words~~ <sup>phrases and syllables</sup> ~~as follows~~ 27.
24. Mahā Kaccāna is wise, bhikkhus, Mahā Kaccāna has great understanding. Had you asked me the meaning of this, I should have given you the same answer as Mahā Kaccāna has <sup>given</sup> you. Such is the meaning, and so should you <sup>remember</sup> ~~it in mind~~ 27.

So the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and they ~~delighted~~ <sup>agreed with</sup> his words.

### Notes

§§ 20-21 of sutta 22, §§ 18-21. on the question of anguish (paritamaṇa) and clinging (upādāna)  
Commentary and Burmese ed of text read apekharā for upekharā (expectant).

The first of these is the  
 fact that the system is  
 not self-correcting.

This is because the system  
 is based on a fixed set of  
 rules which do not change  
 in response to new information.

As a result, the system  
 is unable to adapt to  
 changing circumstances.

This is a major weakness  
 of the system and one  
 which must be addressed.

One way to address this  
 weakness is to introduce  
 a feedback mechanism.

This would allow the system  
 to learn from its mistakes  
 and adjust its behavior  
 accordingly.



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 139 - Anāpānāsīlā Sutta  
(3, 4, 9)

1. <sup>230</sup> Thus I heard.  
On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park. There the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus - « Bhikkhus » - « Venerable sir » they ~~the bhikkhus~~ replied. The Blessed One said this.
2. - « Bhikkhus, I shall give you an exposition of the State of Non-conflict. Listen and heed well what I shall say. »  
- « Even so, venerable sir » the bhikkhus replied, the Blessed One said this.
3. - « A man should not pursue sensual desires, which are low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~; and he should not pursue self-mortification, which is painful, ignoble and <sup>harmful connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~.  
The Middle Way avoiding both these extremes has been discovered by the Perfected One, giving <sup>right</sup> ~~vision~~ giving knowledge, which leads to peace, to direct knowledge, to enlightenment, to extinction.
- 15 <sup>overrate</sup> A man should know what it is to <sup>underestimate</sup> ~~overpraise~~ and what it is to <sup>underestimate</sup> ~~depreciate~~ and knowing both, he should neither <sup>overpraise</sup> ~~overpraise~~ nor <sup>underestimate</sup> ~~depreciate~~, but should speak only the True Idea.



He should know how to despise pleasure and, knowing that, he should pursue his own pleasure.

He should not utter covert speech, and he should not utter overt sharp speech.

He should speak unhurriedly, not hurriedly.

He should not insist on local language, and he should not override normal usage.

This is the summary of the Exposition of the State of Non-conflict.

4. "A man should not pursue sensual desires, which are low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~; and he should not pursue self-mortification, which is painful, ignoble, and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~". So it was said, and with reference to what was they said?

Such pursuit of the joy of one whose pleasure is linked to sensual desires, as is low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~ is an idea beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, and by fever, and it is the wrong way. 231 Disengagement from such pursuit of the joy of one whose pleasure is linked to sensual desires, as is low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~, is an idea without pain, without vexation, without despair, and without fever, and it is the right way.



Such pursuit of self-mortification as is  
 painful, ignoble and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~ is an idea  
 beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by  
 fever, and it is the wrong way. Disengagement  
 from such pursuit of self-mortification as is  
 painful, ignoble, and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~, is an idea  
 without pain, without vexation, without despair,  
 and without fever, and it is the right way.

So it was with reference to this that it was  
 said "A man should not pursue sensual  
 desires, which are low, vulgar course, ignoble  
 and <sup>connected with</sup> ~~harmful~~; and he should not pursue  
 self-mortification, which is painful, ignoble,  
 and ~~harmful~~" connected with harm".

5. "The middle way avoiding both these  
 extremes has been discovered by the Perfect  
 One, giving <sup>right</sup> ~~vision~~, giving knowledge, which  
 leads to peace, to direct knowledge, to en-  
 lightenment, to extinction". So it was said.  
 And with reference to what was this said?

It is precisely this noble Eightfold Path,  
 that is to say: Right view, right <sup>intention</sup> ~~thought~~, right  
 speech, right action, right livelihood, right  
 effort, right mindfulness, right concentration.

So it was with reference to this that it  
 was said "The middle way... to extinction."



6 "A man should know what it is to ~~commend~~ <sup>commend</sup> and what it is to ~~detract~~ <sup>detract</sup> and, knowing both, he should neither ~~commend~~ <sup>commend</sup> nor ~~detract~~ <sup>detract</sup>, but should speak only the True Idea": so it was said. And with reference to what was thus said?

7. And, likewise, how does there come to be ~~overpraise~~ <sup>commendation</sup> and ~~detract~~ <sup>condemnation</sup> and failure to speak only the True Idea?

When a man says "All those engaged in such pursuit of the joy of one whose pleasure is linked to sensual desires as is low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and harmful, are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and they have entered upon the wrong way", he thus ~~detracts from~~ <sup>condemns</sup> some.

When a man says "All those disengaged from such pursuit of the joy of one whose pleasure is linked to sensual desires as is low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and harmful, are without pain, without vexation, without despair, and without fever, and they have entered upon the right way", he thus ~~overpraises~~ <sup>commends</sup> some.

When a man says "All those engaged in such pursuit of self-mortification as is painful, ignoble, and harmful, <sup>232</sup> are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, and by fever, and they have entered upon the wrong way", then he ~~detracts from~~ <sup>condemns</sup> some.



such <sup>persecution</sup> ~~in~~ ~~direction~~ ~~to~~ self-mortification as is painful, ignoble and harmful <sup>232</sup> are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, by fever, and have entered upon the wrong way; he thus ~~credits~~ ~~some~~.

When a man says "All those not engaged in such <sup>pursuit</sup> ~~direction~~ of self-mortification as is painful, ignoble and <sup>injurious</sup> ~~harmful~~ are without pain, without vexation, without despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, and <sup>they</sup> have entered upon the right way," he thus <sup>overpraises</sup> ~~credits~~ ~~some~~.

When a man says "All those who have not abandoned the fetter of <sup>being</sup> ~~being~~ are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and <sup>they</sup> have entered upon the wrong way," he thus <sup>disparages</sup> ~~credits~~ ~~some~~.

When a man says "All those who have abandoned the fetter of <sup>being</sup> ~~being~~ are without pain, without vexation, without despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, <sup>and</sup> ~~they~~ have entered upon the right way," he thus <sup>overpraises</sup> ~~credits~~ ~~some~~.

And <sup>how</sup> ~~how~~ does this come to be <sup>consequencing</sup> ~~consequencing~~ and <sup>discrediting</sup> ~~discrediting~~ and <sup>speaking</sup> ~~speaking~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>True</sup> ~~True <sup>Idea</sup> ~~Idea~~.~~~~~~

And <sup>how</sup> ~~how~~ does this come to be neither <sup>overpraising</sup> ~~overpraising~~ nor <sup>discrediting</sup> ~~discrediting~~ but <sup>consequencing</sup> ~~consequencing~~.



only the True Idea?  
speaking ~~Dhamma~~

When a man does not say "All those engaged in such ~~desires~~ <sup>pursuit of</sup> the joy of a lover of sense pleasures as is low, vulgar, ~~coarse~~, ignoble and <sup>complicated with</sup> harmful, are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and have entered upon the wrong way", and ~~says~~ instead he says "It is the <sup>being</sup> ~~one~~ engaged ~~that is an idea~~ beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and it is the wrong way", <sup>then</sup> he speaks only ~~Dhamma~~ the True Idea.

When a man does not say "All those ~~and~~ <sup>dis</sup>engaged from such <sup>desires</sup> ~~desires~~ of the joy of <sup>desires</sup> ~~desires~~ of sense pleasures as is low, vulgar, coarse, ignoble, and <sup>complicated with</sup> harmful, are without pain, without vexation, without despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, and they have entered upon the right way", and ~~says~~ instead he says "It is the <sup>being</sup> ~~one~~ engaged ~~that is an idea~~ without pain, without vexation, without despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, and it is the right way", he speaks only ~~Dhamma~~ the True Idea.

When a man does not say "All those engaged in such ~~desires~~ <sup>pursuit of</sup> self-motification as is painful, ignoble and <sup>complicated with</sup> harmful, are beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and <sup>they</sup> have entered upon the wrong way", and says ~~instead~~ <sup>he says</sup> "It is the <sup>being</sup> ~~one~~ engaged ~~that is an idea~~ beset by pain, by vexation,



by despair, <sup>and</sup> by fever, and it is the wrong way",  
 then he speaks only ~~the true idea~~ the true idea

When a man does not say "All those  
 not engaged in ~~the pursuit~~ <sup>of such self justification</sup>  
 as is painful, ignoble and <sup>contingent with</sup> ~~harmed~~ are without  
 pain, without vexation, without despair, without  
 fever, and <sup>they</sup> have entered upon the ~~wrong~~ right  
 way" and ~~says~~ <sup>says</sup> instead ~~to say~~ "It is the ~~old~~  
~~being dis-~~ <sup>being dis-</sup> ~~engaged~~ that is an ~~idea~~ without pain, without  
 vexation without despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, and  
 is the right way", then he speaks only <sup>the true idea</sup> ~~the true idea~~.

When a man does not say "All those  
 who have not abandoned the fetter of being ~~engaged~~ are  
 beset by pain, by vexation, by despair, <sup>and</sup> by  
 fever, and have entered upon the wrong way",  
 and ~~says~~ <sup>says</sup> instead ~~to say~~ <sup>the true idea</sup> "The fetter of  
 being ~~engaged~~ is un-abandoned", then he speaks only <sup>the true idea</sup> ~~the true idea~~.

When a man does not say "All those  
 who have abandoned the fetter of being ~~engaged~~ are  
 without pain, without vexation, without despair,  
<sup>and</sup> without fever, and <sup>they</sup> have entered upon the right  
 way" and ~~says~~ <sup>says</sup> instead ~~to say~~ "when the  
 fetter of being ~~engaged~~ has been abandoned, being  
~~engaged~~ is abandoned", then he speaks only  
~~the true idea~~ <sup>the true idea</sup>

So <sup>it was given the forance to this that</sup> ~~for the purpose~~ it was said "A man  
 should know what it is to <sup>be engaged</sup> ~~be engaged~~  
 should speak only ~~the true idea~~ the true idea



9. "He should know how to define pleasure,  
 bliss, and, knowing that, he should ~~define~~ <sup>purge</sup>  
 himself of his own pleasure." so it was said.  
 and, <sup>with reference to what</sup> ~~was~~ this said?

Bhikkhus, there are these five <sup>divisions</sup> ~~words~~  
 of sensual desire ... [as in M. 13 § 9] ...  
 There are the five <sup>divisions</sup> ~~words~~ of sensual desire.

Now the pleasure (bliss) and joy  
 that arise owing to these five <sup>divisions</sup> ~~words~~ of sensual  
 desire are called pleasure in sensual desire,  
<sup>which is</sup> pleasure in filth, <sup>coarse</sup> ~~ordinary~~ man's pleasure,  
 ignoble pleasure. It should not be culti-  
 vated, <sup>that it</sup> should not be developed, <sup>and that</sup> repeatedly  
 practiced, ~~and that~~ I say of this kind of pleasure  
 that it should be feared.

Now, bhikkhus, <sup>quite</sup> ~~secluded~~ from sensual  
 desires ... ~~he enters upon and~~ [as in M. 4  
 § 23-6] ... mindfulness due to <sup>contemplation</sup> ~~practising~~.  
 This is called the pleasure of renunciation,  
<sup>which is</sup> the pleasure of seclusion, ~~the~~ pleasure of  
 peace, ~~the~~ pleasure of enlightenment. I  
 say of this kind of pleasure: that it should  
 be cultivated, that it should be developed,  
 that it should be repeatedly practiced,  
 and that it should not be feared. [234]

So <sup>it was with reference to what</sup> ~~was~~ this said: "He should  
 know how to define his own pleasure."



10. 'He should not ~~utter covert speech~~  
~~utter behind people's backs~~. He should ~~not utter overt speech~~  
~~utter overt speech~~ <sup>utter overt speech</sup>.  
 So it was said. And ~~it was said~~ <sup>with reference to what was said?</sup>

Here, thidkhus, when a man knows ~~that~~  
 5 covert speech to be ~~untrue~~ untrue, incorrect and  
 harmful, he should on no account utter it. ~~But~~  
 10 When he ~~knows~~ knows covert speech to be true,  
 correct and harmful he should try not  
 to utter it. ~~But~~ But when he ~~knows~~  
 knows covert speech to be true, correct and  
 beneficial, he may utter ~~that~~ <sup>it</sup>, knowing  
 the time to do so.

Here, thidkhus, when a man knows  
 15 overt sharp speech to be untrue, incorrect and  
 harmful, he should on no account utter it.  
~~But~~ When he knows overt sharp speech to  
 be true, correct and harmful, he should try  
 not to utter it. But when he knows overt  
 20 sharp speech to be true, correct and beneficial,  
 he may utter it, knowing the time to do so.

So ~~it was said~~ <sup>it was said with reference to this (that)</sup>  
 "He should not utter covert speech. He should  
 not utter overt sharp speech."

11. "He should speak unhurriedly, not  
 hurriedly: so it was said. And ~~it was said~~  
~~with reference to what was said?~~ <sup>with reference to what was said?</sup>

Here, thidkhus, when a man speaks  
 5 hurriedly, his body ~~becomes~~ <sup>gets</sup> tired,  
 his mind ~~becomes~~ <sup>is</sup> excited, his



his voice strained and his throat ~~was~~ hoarse, and the speech of one who speaks hurriedly is indistinct and hard to ~~hear~~ understand.

10. Here, think thus, when a man speaks unhurriedly, his body does not ~~become~~ fatigued get tired, ~~his~~ his mind excited, ~~his~~ his voice strained, or his throat hoarse, ~~and~~ and the speech of one who speaks unhurriedly is distinct and easy to ~~understand~~ apprehend.
15. So ~~this~~ <sup>right</sup> ~~was~~ <sup>reference to their text</sup> ~~the reason~~ <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~ was said: "He should speak unhurriedly, not hurriedly."

12. "He should not insist ~~upon~~ <sup>local</sup> ~~government~~ <sup>language</sup>. He should not override ~~normal~~ <sup>usage</sup>." So it was said. And ~~with reference to~~ <sup>with reference to</sup> ~~that~~ <sup>was then</sup> ~~said~~ // And how does there come to be ~~an~~ insistence on local language and overriding of normal usage?

Here, think thus, in different localities they call the same thing a 'dish (patin)', or they call it a 'bowl (patla)', <sup>235</sup> or they call it a 'sauce (sarava)' or they call it a 'vessel (viltta)' or they call it a 'sauce (berava)' or they call it a 'pan (sharopa)' or they call it a 'pot (pona)' or they call it a 'basin (pisila)'. [or they call it a 'mug (kana)']







10 ~~where pleasure is limited to sensual desires~~  
~~love of sense pleasures~~ as is low, vulgar,  
 coarse, ignoble and ~~harmful~~ <sup>is an idea</sup>  
 without pain, without vexation, without  
 despair, <sup>and</sup> without fever, and it is the  
 right way; therefore it is an idea ~~without~~  
 15 ~~conflict.~~

Here, Shikshus, such pursuit of  
 self-mortification as is painful, ignoble  
 and ~~harmful~~ <sup>is an idea</sup> beset by pain,  
 ... and it is the wrong way; therefore  
 20 it is an idea ~~without~~ conflict.

Here, Shikshus, ~~not~~ ~~an~~ ~~idea~~  
~~disengagement~~ from such pursuit of  
 self-mortification as is painful,  
 ignoble and ~~harmful~~ <sup>is an idea</sup> without  
 25 pain, ... and it is the right way; 236  
 therefore ~~that~~ it is an idea without conflict.

Here, Shikshus, the middle way  
 discovered by the Perfect One giving vision,  
 giving knowledge, ~~which~~ <sup>which</sup> leads to peace,  
 30 to direct-knowledge, to enlightenment, to  
~~restoration~~ <sup>restoration</sup>, is an idea without pain, ...  
 and it is the right way; therefore it is an  
~~idea~~ ~~without~~ conflict.

Here, Shikshus, overpraise and  
 35 ~~deprecation~~ <sup>deprecation</sup> and failure to speak ~~the truth~~  
~~are~~ <sup>are</sup> an idea beset by pain, ... and they  
 are the wrong way; therefore they are an idea  
~~idea~~ ~~without~~ conflict.

Here, Shikshus, ~~not~~ <sup>not</sup> over-



40 praising, <sup>not detracting</sup> and discrediting <sup>and speaking only</sup>  
~~These Truths~~ <sup>These Truths</sup> <sup>are an idea</sup> without pain, ...  
 and they are <sup>of</sup> the right way; therefore  
 they are <sup>an idea</sup> without conflict.

45 Here, <sup>which is</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>pleasure</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>sensual</sup>  
 desires, <sup>pleasure</sup> in filth, <sup>coarse</sup> pleasure,  
 ignoble pleasure, is an idea beset by pain,  
 ... and it is the wrong way; therefore  
 it is an idea with conflict.

50 Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>pleasure</sup> <sup>of</sup>  
 renunciation, <sup>which is</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>pleasure</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>seclusion</sup>,  
 pleasure of peace, pleasure of enlighten-  
 ment, is an idea without pain, ... and it  
 is the right way; therefore it is an idea <sup>of</sup>  
 without conflict.

55 Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>covert</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is untrue, in correct and <sup>and</sup> <sup>harmful</sup> ... <sup>with</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>covert</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is true, correct and <sup>and</sup> <sup>harmful</sup> ... <sup>with</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

60 Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>covert</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is true, correct and <sup>and</sup> <sup>beneficial</sup> ... <sup>without</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>overt</sup> <sup>sharp</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is untrue, incorrect and <sup>and</sup> <sup>harmful</sup> ... <sup>with</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>overt</sup> <sup>sharp</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is true, correct and <sup>and</sup> <sup>harmful</sup> ... <sup>with</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

65 Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>overt</sup> <sup>sharp</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>that</sup>  
 is true, correct and <sup>and</sup> <sup>beneficial</sup> ... <sup>without</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

Here, <sup>the</sup> <sup>idea</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>the</sup> <sup>speech</sup> <sup>of</sup> <sup>one</sup> <sup>who</sup>  
 hurries is an idea beset by pain, ... <sup>with</sup> <sup>conflict</sup>.

Here, Shiklhus, the speech of one who does not hurry is an ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> without pain, ~~without conflict~~.

Here, Shiklhus, ~~the speech of one~~ insistence on local language and overriding normal usage is an ~~idea~~ <sup>an idea</sup> beset by pain, ~~with conflict~~.

Here, Shiklhus, non-insistence on local language and non-overriding normal usage is an ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> without pain, without vexation, without despair, ~~and~~ without fever, and it is the right way; therefore it is an ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> ~~without conflict~~.

14 So, Shiklhus, you should train thus: We shall know the ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> ~~with~~ conflict and we shall know the ~~idea~~ <sup>idea</sup> ~~without~~ conflict, and knowing these, we shall enter upon the way ~~without~~ conflict. Now Subhuti Shiklhus, Subhuti is a claudoman who has entered upon the way ~~without~~ conflict.

So the Blind One said. The Shiklhus were ~~delighted and~~ ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup> his words. ~~delighted and~~ ~~they agreed with~~



- Notes :
- § 3 khina - sharp: not in P.T.S. Dict
- § 4 Text p 231 l. 5/6 read attakilamathā  
ānuyogam for ānuyogo
- § 4 Text p. 231 l. 32 ~~for~~ read  
anānuyuttā for anuyuttā
- § 7 Text p. 232 l. 8 read tharva° for  
ribhava°
- § 8 Text p. 232, l. 20 read anānuyuttā  
for anuyuttā.
- § 1 sa-rana and a-rana see  
Mūla Tika to Attha Sālinī p. 50
- § 4 'patisandhi - līlī': not in their  
sense in P.T.S. Dict. The only ~~total~~  
sutta ref.? Here the meaning is the  
literal one.
- § 3 \* 7 apāsādoti - to detract (apa + sad)

1870  
1871  
1872

1873  
1874  
1875

1876  
1877  
1878

1879  
1880  
1881

1882  
1883  
1884

1885  
1886  
1887

1888  
1889  
1890

1891  
1892  
1893

1894  
1895  
1896

1897  
1898  
1899

1900  
1901  
1902

1903  
1904  
1905

1906  
1907  
1908







linked mindfulness in front of him: <sup>when</sup> They  
 The Blessed One spent much of the night  
 seated, and also the Venerable Pukkasaṭi  
 spent much of the night seated, the Blessed  
 One thought: «This clansman's posture inspires  
 confidence. ~~Suppose that~~ <sup>What if that</sup>, I asked him a ques-  
 tioned him?» Then he asked the venerable  
 Pukkasaṭi:

5. — «Under whom have you gone forth,  
 bhikkhu? Who is your Teacher? Or whose  
<sup>True Idea</sup>  
Dhamma do you <sup>confess</sup> ~~practise~~?»

— «There is the <sup>monk</sup> ~~arctic~~ Gotama, friend, a  
~~the~~ son of the Sakyans, who went forth from  
 a Sakyan clan. Now a good report of that  
 Blessed One Gotama has been spread to this  
 effect «That Blessed One is such since he is  
 accomplished, fully enlightened, endowed with  
 [clear] vision and [virtuous] conduct, sublime,  
 knower of worlds, incomparable leader of  
 men to be tamed, teacher of gods and men,  
 -enlightened, blessed». I have gone forth under  
 under that Blessed One, and he is my Teacher.  
 I ~~practise~~ <sup>True Idea</sup> confess the Dhamma of that Blessed  
 One».

— «But, bhikkhu, where is that Blessed  
 One, accomplished and fully enlightened, living  
 now?»

— «There is a city called Sāvatthi, friend, in  
 the North Country. That Blessed One, accom-  
 plished and fully enlightened, is living there now».



457  
 - < But, Bhikkhu, have you seen that Blessed One? And would you recognize him if you saw him? >

237 - < No, friend, I have not seen that Blessed One, I should not recognize him if I saw him? >

6. Then the Blessed One thought - < This clansman has gone forth under me from the home life into homelessness. What if I taught him the Dhamma (the True Idea)? >. Then he addressed the Venerable Pukkasaṭi thus:

7. - < Bhikkhu, I shall ~~teach you~~ <sup>expose</sup> the Dhamma to you. ~~hear~~ <sup>attend closely</sup> listen and ~~hear well~~ <sup>hear</sup> what I shall say? >

- < Even so, friend, > the venerable Pukkasaṭi replied. The Blessed One said this.

8. ~~Bhikkhu, (1) man has six elements. He has six bases for contact. He has eighteen kinds of mental approach.~~

8. Bhikkhu, (1) <sup>this</sup> man, [who] has six elements, (2) six bases for contact, (3) and eighteen kinds of <sup>instead of experience</sup> mental approach, (4) has (a-d) four <sup>resolves</sup>, (6) <sup>standing</sup> whereon <sup>the</sup> ~~currents~~ <sup>the tides</sup> of conceit ~~affect~~ <sup>are</sup> him <sup>no more</sup>, and when <sup>the tides</sup> the current of conceit ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> no more ~~affected~~, he is called a hermit stilled, [so] (5) let him (i) not neglect <sup>actually</sup> understanding, let him (ii) guard <sup>truth</sup>, let him (iii) intensify giving up, and let him (iv)



train only for peace. This is <sup>the summary</sup> of ~~the~~ <sup>an</sup> expos-  
ition of ~~the six~~ elements.

9. (1) « Bhikkhu <sup>this</sup> Man [who] has six ele-  
ments »: so it was said. And, <sup>with reference to</sup> what was this  
said? There is the earth element, the  
water element, the fire element and  
the air element, the space element,  
and the consciousness element. So ~~this~~ <sup>it</sup>  
was <sup>with reference to this that</sup> ~~the reason why~~ it was said « Bhik-  
khu, Man [who] has six elements ».

10. (2) « Bhikkhu <sup>this</sup> Man [who] has six bases  
for contact »: so it was said. And, <sup>with reference to</sup> what  
was this said? There is the eye-contact  
base, the ear-contact base, the nose-  
contact base, the tongue-contact base,  
the body-contact base, and the mind-  
contact base. So, <sup>with reference to this that</sup> ~~this was the reason why~~  
it was said « Bhikkhu, Man [who] has six bases  
for contact ».

11. (3) « Bhikkhu <sup>this</sup> Man [who] has eighteen  
kinds of mental approach »: so it was said.  
And, with reference to what was this said?  
~~then~~ On seeing a form with the eye he  
approaches it as a form productive of joy,  
he approaches it as a form productive of  
grief, he approaches it as a form productive  
of equanimity.



On hearing a sound with the ear, ...

On smelling an odour with the nose, ... 240

On tasting a flavour with the tongue, ...

On touching a tangible with the body, ...

On cognizing an idea with the mind, he approaches it as an idea productive of joy, he approaches it as an idea productive of grief, he approaches it as an idea productive of equanimity.

~~Thus~~ there are six kinds of approach with joy, six kinds of approach with grief, and six kinds of approach with equanimity.

So it was with reference to this that it was said: « Bhikkhus, <sup>this</sup> Man [also] has eighteen kinds of mental approach ».

12. (4) « Bhikkhus, this Man has four <sup>major aspects</sup> Resolves »: so it was said. And with reference to what was this said? There is (i) <sup>expression of</sup> resolve upon understanding, (ii) <sup>expression of</sup> resolve upon truth, (iii) <sup>expression of</sup> resolve upon giving up, and (iv) <sup>expression of</sup> resolve upon peace. So it was with reference to this that it was said: « Bhikkhus, this Man has four Resolves ».

13. (5) « [So] let him (i) not neglect understanding, let him (ii) guard truth, let him (iii) intensify giving up, and let him (iv) train only for peace ». So it was said. And with reference to what was this said?

14. (i) And how does a bhikkhu not neglect



understanding? There are these six elements: the earth element, the water element, the fire element, the air element, the space element, and the consciousness element.

15. And what is the earth element? The earth can be in oneself or external. ... [complete as in Sutta 28, § 7] ... he ~~loses~~ <sup>fades</sup> greed for the earth element <sup>out of</sup> his cognizance.
16. And what is the water element? The water element can be in oneself or <sup>241</sup> external. ... [complete as in Sutta 28, § 16] ... he <sup>out of</sup> fades greed for the water element <sup>out of</sup> his cognizance.
17. And what is the fire element? The fire element can be in oneself or external. ... [complete as in Sutta 28, § 21] ... he <sup>out of</sup> fades greed for the fire element <sup>out of</sup> his cognizance.
18. And what is the air element? The air element can be in oneself or external ... [complete as in Sutta 28, § ~~28~~ 28] ... he <sup>out of</sup> fades greed for the air element <sup>out of</sup> his cognizance.
19. And what is the space element? The space element can be in oneself or <sup>242</sup> external. ... [complete as in Sutta 62, § 12] ... he <sup>out of</sup> fades greed for the space element <sup>out of</sup> his cognizance.



20

Then there remains besides only consciousness  
 purified and bright. What does it cognize? It  
 cognizes the pleasant, it cognizes the painful,  
 it cognizes the neither-painful-nor-pleasant.  
~~Dependent~~ <sup>on</sup> contact to be felt as pleasant there  
 arises pleasant feeling. Feeling pleasant  
 feeling, he understands < I feel pleasant  
 feeling >. With the cessation of that same  
 contact to be felt as pleasant, what was  
 appropriately felt, the pleasant feeling ~~ceases~~  
 arisen dependent ~~on~~ the contact to be felt as pleasant,  
 ceases [too]; he understands < that ~~is~~  
<sup>still</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>purified</sup> >. Dependent on contact to be felt as painful  
 there arises painful feeling. Feeling painful  
 feeling, he understands < I feel painful  
 feeling >. With the cessation of that same  
 contact to be felt as painful, what was ap-  
 propriately felt, the painful feeling arisen  
 dependent on the contact to be felt as painful,  
 ceases [too]; he understands < that ~~is~~  
<sup>still</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>purified</sup> >. Dependent on contact to be felt as  
 neither-painful-nor-pleasant there arises  
 neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling. Feeling  
 neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling, he under-  
 stands < I feel neither-painful-nor-pleasant  
 feeling >. With the cessation of that same con-  
 tact to be felt as neither-painful-nor-pleasant,  
 what was appropriately felt, the neither-  
 painful-nor-pleasant feeling arisen dependent  
 on the contact to be felt as neither-painful-



nor-pleasant, ceases [too]: he understands  
 < that is <sup>stilled</sup> pacified >. Just as, with the contact  
 the meeting of two [fire]-sticks, heat is gener-  
 ated and fire produced, and with the se-  
 paration of those <sup>same</sup> two sticks, with their  
 parting, the appropriate heat ceases, is  
<sup>stilled</sup> pacified, so too, dependent on contact to  
 be felt as pleasant... 243 The neither-  
 painful-nor-pleasant feeling arisen de-  
 pendent on the contact to be felt as  
 neither-painful-nor-pleasant ceases [too]:  
 he understands < that is <sup>stilled</sup> pacified >.

24. Then there remains besides only on-  
 looking, purified and bright, wieldy, malleable  
 and limpid. Suppose a skilled goldsmith or  
 his apprentice prepared a furnace, and hav-  
 ing done so, he heated up the crucible, and  
 having done that, he took gold with tongs  
 and put it into the crucible, and he blew  
 on it from time to time and sprinkled water  
 on it from time to time and looked on at  
 it from time to time, then that gold became  
 refined, properly refined, completely refined,  
 faultless, rid of dross, wieldy, malleable  
 and limpid; then whatever kind of ornament  
 he wanted to work it into, whether a chain  
 or a ring or a necklace or a gold fillet, it  
 served his purpose; so too there remains,  
 besides only onlooking, purified and bright,



473  
 wieldy, malleable and limpid. He under-  
 stands thus & I might identify <sup>concept</sup> this onlooking  
 that is thus pure and bright with the base  
 consisting of boundless space, and I might  
 develop cognizance adapted in idea to that,  
 and then this onlooking of mine would thus  
 have that for its support, that to cling to,  
 and [so] would last for a long time. I  
 might identify <sup>concept</sup> this onlooking that is pure  
 and bright with the base consisting of bound-  
 less consciousness 244... with the base con-  
 sisting of nothingness. I might identify <sup>concept</sup> this  
 onlooking <sup>that is pure and bright</sup> with the base consisting of neither-  
 perception-nor-non-perception, and I might  
 develop cognizance adapted in idea to that,  
 and then this onlooking of mine would thus  
 have that for its support, that to cling to, and  
 [so] would last for a long time. He under-  
 stands thus & I might identify <sup>concept</sup> this onlooking  
 that is pure and bright with the base consisting  
 of boundless space, and I might develop  
 cognizance adapted in idea to that, [never-  
 theless] that is determined [in scope]. I  
 might identify <sup>concept</sup> this onlooking that is pure  
 and bright with the base consisting of bound-  
 less consciousness... with the base consisting  
 of nothingness... I might identify <sup>concept</sup> this on-  
 looking that is pure and bright with the  
 base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-



perception, and I might develop cognizance  
 adapted in idea to that, [nevertheless] that  
 is determined [in scope] >. He does not de-  
 termine or will for either being or non-  
 being; he does not ~~cling~~ <sup>consume</sup> to anything in  
 the world. When he does not ~~cling~~ <sup>consume</sup> he has  
 no ~~contact~~ <sup>need</sup>. When he has no <sup>of his</sup> ~~contact~~ <sup>need</sup>, he  
 attains extinction [actually] for himself. He  
 understands < Birth is exhausted, the life  
 Divine <sup>has</sup> been lived, <sup>out</sup> what <sup>can</sup> ~~is~~ <sup>be</sup> done  
 is done, there is no more of this <sup>left</sup> ~~left~~ >.  
 If he feels a pleasant feeling, he under-  
 stands < That is impermanent >, the under-  
 stands < It is not <sup>cleared for</sup> ~~accepted~~ >, the under-  
 stands < It is not <sup>satisfied</sup> ~~delighted in~~ >. If he  
 feels a painful feeling, he understands  
 < That is impermanent >, the understands  
 < It is not <sup>cleared for</sup> ~~accepted~~ >, the understands < It  
 is not <sup>satisfied</sup> ~~delighted in~~ >. If he feels a neither-  
 painful-nor-pleasant feeling, he understands  
 < that is impermanent >, the understands  
 < It is not <sup>cleared for</sup> ~~accepted~~ >, the understands < it  
 is not <sup>satisfied</sup> ~~delighted in~~ >. If he feels a pleasant  
 feeling, he feels it as one dissociated  
 from it; if he feels a painful feeling, he  
 feels it as one dissociated from it; if he  
 feels a neither-pleasant-nor-pleasant  
 feeling, he feels it as one dissociated from  
 it. When he feels a feeling of the body  
 ending, he understands < I feel feeling of  
 the body ending >. 245 When he feels feeling



of life ending, he understands & I feel feeling of life ending. He understands < With the termination of life upon the dissolution of the body, all that is felt will, being not delighted in, be cooled here in this same [life]. Just as a lamp, which burns in dependence on oil and wick, with the termination of that same oil and wick, attains extinction when not fed with more fuel, so too, when he feels feeling of life ending, ... be cooled here in this same [life]. With that a bhikkhu so endowed is endowed in the highest degree with this <sup>expression of</sup> Noble Resolve upon Understanding; for the Noble Ones' understanding in the highest degree is this, that is to say, knowledge of the exhaustion of all suffering.

22. (ii) His deliverance, being founded on <sup>actually</sup> truth, is unassailable; for the false is that which is <sup>independent</sup> false ~~assailable~~, and the true is extinction, which is <sup>independent</sup> not false ~~assailable~~. With that a bhikkhu so endowed is endowed in the highest degree with this <sup>expression of</sup> Noble Resolve upon Truth; for the Noble Ones' truth in the highest degree is this, that is to say, extinction, which is not false <sup>in</sup> ~~assailable~~.

23. (iii) Formerly <sup>ignorance</sup> ~~ignorance~~ <sup>afforded</sup> ~~afforded~~ and <sup>independent</sup> ~~independent~~ the essentials of existence, he has now abandoned them, cut them off at the root, made them like a palm



stumps, done away with, so that <sup>the idea N</sup> their nature <sup>to arise</sup> in the future is no more. With that a blithe so endowed is endowed in the highest degree with this resolve upon giving up; for the Noble Ones' giving up in the highest degree is this, that is to say, the relinquishment of all essentials of existence.

24. (iv) Having formerly in ignorance ~~had~~ had the covetousness of zeal with greed, he has abandoned it, cut it off at the root, made it like a palm stump, done away with it, so that <sup>the idea N</sup> its nature <sup>to arise</sup> in the future is no more. Having formerly in ignorance had the <sup>aversion</sup> of ill-will with hatred, he has abandoned it; ... so that <sup>the idea N</sup> its nature <sup>to arise</sup> in the future is no more. Having formerly in ignorance had the ignorance of <sup>246</sup> delusion, he has abandoned it; ... so that <sup>the idea N</sup> its nature <sup>to arise</sup> in the future is no more. With that a blithe so endowed is endowed in the highest degree with this resolve upon Peace; for the Noble Ones' peace in the highest degree is this, that is to say, the pacification of greed, hate, and delusion.

25. So it was with reference to this that it was said « [So] let him (i) not neglect understanding, let him (ii) guard <sup>truth</sup>, let him (iii) intensity giving up, let him (iv) train only for peace ».



26. (6) « <sup>standing</sup> ~~Standing~~ whereon <sup>the</sup> ~~currents~~ of conceit <sup>no more</sup> ~~effect him~~, and <sup>when</sup> ~~the~~ currents of conceit <sup>no more</sup> ~~effect~~, he is called a Hermit Stilled»: so it was said. And with reference to what was this said?

27. « Am » is a conceit, « I am this » is a conceit, « shall not be » is a conceit, « shall be possessed of form » is a conceit, « shall be formless » is a conceit, « shall be percipient » is a conceit, « shall be non-percipient » is a conceit, « shall be neither-percipient-nor-non-percipient » is a conceit.

Conceit is a disease, conceit is a cancer, conceit is a dart. It is with the sarrounting of all conceits that he is called a Hermit Stilled.

The Hermit who is Stilled ~~is not born~~ neither is reborn nor ages, nor dies, he is unassailed and free from longing. He has none of that whereby he might be reborn. Not being reborn, how shall he age? Not ageing, how shall he die? Not dying, how shall he be assailed? Being unassailed, what shall he long for?

28. said « <sup>so it was with reference to this</sup> ~~Standing~~ whereon <sup>the</sup> ~~currents~~ of conceit <sup>no more</sup> ~~effect him~~, and <sup>when</sup> ~~the~~ currents of conceit <sup>no more</sup> ~~effect~~, he is called a Hermit Stilled ».

29. Bhikkhu, bear in mind this my ~~brief~~ exposition of the elements in brief.

30. Then the venerable Patikusatī [thought] « The Teacher has surely ~~appeared~~ <sup>come</sup> to me, the sublime



One has surely come to me, the Jolly Enlightened One has surely come to me! » ,  
 and he got up from his seat and arranging his robe on one shoulder, he ~~prostituted himself~~ <sup>prostituted himself</sup> with his head, at the Blessed One's feet and said <sup>repeatedly</sup> « I have done wrong, that, like a fool confused and blundering, I ~~have~~ have presumed to address the Blessed One as < friend >. May the Blessed One (Venerable sir), <sup>[see]</sup> ~~forgive~~ forgive my wrongdoing as such for restraint in the future ».

— « Surely, bhikkhu, you did wrong, you transgressed, in that like a fool confused and blundering you presumed to address me as < friend >. But since you see your wrongdoing as such and make amends according to the Dhamma, we forgive you; for it is growth in the Noble Ones' discipline when one sees one's own wrongdoing as such and makes amends according to the Dhamma, by centering <sup>undertaking</sup> ~~repose~~ restraint for the future ».

34. — « Venerable Sir, I ask for the Admission under the Blessed One.

— « But, bhikkhu, are your bowl and robes complete? »

— « Venerable Sir, my bowl and robes are not complete ».

— « Bhikkhu, Perfect Ones do not give the Admission to one whose bowl and robes are not complete ».



32.

Then the venerable Pakkasati, satisfied and delighting in the Blessed One's words, rose from his seat, and after paying homage to the Blessed One, keeping him on his right, he departed in order to seek for a bowl and robes. Then, while the venerable Pakkasati was wandering in search of a bowl and robes, a stray cow killed him.

33.

Then a number of bhikkhus went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, they asked the Blessed One a venerable Sir, the clansman named Pakkasati whom the Blessed One gave advice in brief is dead. What is his destination, what is his future course? >>

- A bhikkhu, the clansman Pakkasati was wise, he entered into the way of the Dhamma, and he did not trouble me in the interpretation of the Dhamma. With the destruction of the five lower fetters he has appeared spontaneously ~~spontaneously~~ [in the Pure Abodes] to attain extinction there, never to return from that world.

So the Blessed One said, the bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and <sup>they</sup> ~~delighted~~ <sup>agreed with</sup> his words.



Notes

- §1 for the ~~word~~ (name) Bhaggava see M. vol. ii, 52 (Sutta ) and D. vol. iii, 1 (Sutta 24)
- §5 For the 'four Resdri' (adhikāra) see D. iii, 287.
- §3 Urunda - large enough: not in P.B. Dict.
- §8 Reading uddeso dhātu vibhāṅgassa with Burm. 6th Sang. ed., which accords better with the title and the meaning. Similarly at §28.
- §20 Read kiñca vijānāti instead of kiñci jānāti. Cf M. Sutta 43 (vol. i, 292)
- §24 - 'nīhatam - faultless: not in P.B. Dict.  
 - for 'upasaṃhāyāya - 'might "abundant" see Sutta 2, 520  
 - for 'paratthikāya read 'patthikāya (cf. A. i, 256)  
 - 'Upādāya - that to cling to': cf M. Sutta 106 description of 4th Aṃppa.  
 - For 'delighting' (abhinandana) as applicable to painful feeling, see Sutta 38, note.
- §22 With the Pali: "Tam hi bhikkhū mūsāyaṃ mosadhommam, Tam saccam yaṃ amosadhommam nibbānam" with the slightly twisted Sanskrit version "Uktam sūtre: taṃ mūsā moṣadharmā yadidam saṃskṛtam, etaddhi khalu, bhikṣavaḥ, paramam satyam yadidam amoṣadharma yadidam nirvānam sarvasaṃskāraś ca mūsā moṣadharma itī" (Mādhyamika-kārikā-Vṛtti (Prasannapāda) by Candrakīrti.  
 of Burm. 6th Sang. ed. omits campadoso after samudho.
- §24 Na miyyati miningim P.B. text after na jiyjati
- §25



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 141 Sacca Vibhanga Sutta  
(3, 4, 11) ✓

421

① 248 Thus I heard.

At one ~~time~~ <sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living at Penuares in the Deer Park at Isipatana. There <sup>in</sup> the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus - "Bhikkhus?" - "Venerable Sir," they ~~then~~ <sup>then</sup> replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

② "At Penuares, bhikkhus, in the Deer Park at Isipatana the Perfect One, ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> Accomplished, <sup>and</sup> Fully Enlightened, ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> set <sup>going</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> matchless <sup>whole of the true Dharma</sup> ~~Dhamma~~ <sup>divine</sup> ~~which~~ <sup>is</sup> not to be stopped by ascetic or ~~brahmins~~ <sup>brahmins</sup> or ~~any~~ <sup>any</sup> or Mara or <sup>(Prāmaṇya)</sup> or anyone in the world - that is to say, the announcing, the teaching, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~declaring~~, the establishing, the revealing, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~expounding~~, the explaining, <sup>of</sup> the four Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> Truths. <sup>exhibiting</sup>

Of what four?

③ The announcing, the teaching, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~declaring~~, the establishing, the revealing, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~expounding~~, the <sup>exhibiting</sup> ~~explaining~~, of the Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> Truths of Suffering.

The announcing, the teaching, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~declaring~~, the establishing, the revealing, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~expounding~~, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~explaining~~, of the Noble Truths of the Origin of Suffering. <sup>Actualities</sup>

The announcing, the teaching, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~declaring~~, the establishing, the revealing, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~expounding~~, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~explaining~~, of the Noble Truths of the Cessation of Suffering. <sup>Actualities</sup>

The announcing, the teaching, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~declaring~~, the establishing, the revealing, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~expounding~~, the <sup>describing</sup> ~~explaining~~, of the Noble Truths of the Way leading to the Cessation of Suffering. <sup>Actualities</sup>

④ At Penuares, bhikkhus in the Deer



Park at Isipetana the Perfect One, ~~the~~ Accomplished, <sup>and</sup> Fully Enlightened, ~~the~~ set going the matchless Dhamma Wheel, <sup>of the True Idea</sup> the explaining of the four Noble Truths Actualities.

⑤ Cultivate Sāriputta and Moggallāna, bhikkhus; frequent Sāriputta and Moggallāna. They are wise and helpful to their fellows in the life <sup>of purity</sup>. Sāriputta is like a mother; Moggallāna is like a nurse. Sāriputta trains for the fruit of Stream Entry; Moggallāna for the supreme ~~best~~ goal. Sāriputta, bhikkhus, is able to announce, ~~to~~ teach, ~~to~~ declare, ~~to~~ establish, ~~to~~ reveal, ~~to~~ expound, ~~and~~ explain, the Four Noble Truths Actualities.

⑥ So the Blessed One said. Having said this, the Sublime One rose from his seat and went into his dwelling. 249

⑦ Then, soon after the Blessed One had gone, the Venerable Sāriputta addressed the bhikkhus thus - «Friends, bhikkhus». ~~At~~ friends, the bhikkhus replied to the Venerable Sāriputta. The Venerable Sāriputta said this.

⑧ «At Peneva, friends, in the Deer Park at Isipetana the Perfect One, ~~the~~ Accomplished, <sup>and</sup> Fully Enlightened, ~~the~~ set going the matchless ~~the~~ Dhamma Wheel, <sup>of the True Idea</sup> the explaining of the four Noble ~~Truths~~ Actualities.

⑨ Which four? The announcing, the teaching, ... of the Noble Truths of suffering. ... of the Noble Truths Actualities.



of the Origin of Suffering . . . . of the Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> ~~birth~~  
of the Cessation of Suffering . . . . of the Noble  
<sup>Actualities</sup> ~~birth~~ of the Way leading to the Cessation of Suffering.

10 And what, friends, is the Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> ~~birth~~ of suffering?

Birth is suffering; ageing is suffering; death is suffering; sorrow, lamentation, pain, grief and <sup>and</sup> ~~depression~~, are suffering; not to obtain <sup>one's</sup> ~~wishes~~ in suffering; <sup>in short</sup> the five aggregates <sup>[as objects]</sup> of clinging are suffering. <sup>affected by</sup> ~~coming to~~

11 And what, friends, is birth? <sup>That which,</sup> ~~that which, <sup>in the various orders of</sup> ~~in the various orders of~~ <sup>creatures, creatures,</sup> ~~creatures,~~ <sup>birth of</sup> ~~birth of~~ <sup>beings,</sup> ~~beings,~~ <sup>their coming</sup> ~~their coming~~ <sup>into</sup> ~~into~~ <sup>a</sup> ~~a <sup>womb,</sup> ~~womb,~~ <sup>precipitation</sup> ~~precipitation~~ <sup>manifestation of</sup> ~~manifestation of~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>aggre-</sup> ~~aggre- <sup>gates,</sup> ~~gates,~~ <sup>obtaining</sup> ~~obtaining~~ <sup>of the</sup> ~~of the~~ <sup>base,</sup> ~~base,~~ <sup>in contact</sup> ~~in contact <sup>that is called</sup> ~~that is called~~ <sup>birth.</sup> ~~birth.~~~~~~~~~~~~

12 And what, friends, is ageing? <sup>That which,</sup> ~~that which, <sup>in the various orders of</sup> ~~in the various orders of~~ <sup>beings,</sup> ~~beings, <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>ageing of</sup> ~~ageing of~~ <sup>beings,</sup> ~~beings, <sup>old age,</sup> ~~old age,~~ <sup>brokenness,</sup> ~~brokenness, <sup>grayness,</sup> ~~grayness, <sup>wrinkles,</sup> ~~wrinkles, <sup>and</sup> ~~and <sup>weakness,</sup> ~~weakness, <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>faculties</sup> ~~faculties <sup>that is called</sup> ~~that is called~~ <sup>ageing.</sup> ~~ageing.~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

13 And what, friends, is death? <sup>That which,</sup> ~~that which, <sup>in the various orders of</sup> ~~in the various orders of~~ <sup>beings,</sup> ~~beings, <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>passing away,</sup> ~~passing away,~~ <sup>break-up,</sup> ~~break-up,~~ <sup>dis-</sup> ~~dis- <sup>appearance,</sup> ~~appearance,~~ <sup>dying,</sup> ~~dying,~~ <sup>death,</sup> ~~death, <sup>completion,</sup> ~~completion, <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>time,</sup> ~~time,~~ <sup>breaking-up</sup> ~~breaking-up~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>aggregates,</sup> ~~aggregates, <sup>laying down</sup> ~~laying down~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>the</sup> ~~the <sup>corpse,</sup> ~~corpse,~~ <sup>that is called</sup> ~~that is called~~ <sup>death.</sup> ~~death.~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

14 And what, friends, is sorrow? <sup>That which,</sup> ~~that which, <sup>is the</sup> ~~is the <sup>sorrow,</sup> ~~sorrow, <sup>sorrowfulness,</sup> ~~sorrowfulness, <sup>inner</sup> ~~inner <sup>sorrow,</sup> ~~sorrow, <sup>of one who has</sup> ~~of one who has~~~~~~~~~~~~~~







(as our nature)

there comes the wish: Oh, would that we <sup>had</sup> ~~were~~ not ~~subject to sorrow and lamentation & pain, grief, and ~~despair~~ <sup>and that sorrow, and despair</sup> might not come to us!~~ But this is not to be had by wishing. ~~This <sup>is</sup> not to obtain one's wish, <sup>which</sup> is suffering, too!~~

(20)

And what, friends, are in short the five aggregates <sup>for objects of clinging</sup>? They are in fact the <sup>material</sup> ~~materiality~~ aggregate <sup>for object of clinging</sup>, the feeling aggregate <sup>for object of clinging</sup>, the perception aggregate <sup>for object of clinging</sup>, the <sup>determination</sup> ~~form~~ aggregate <sup>for object of clinging</sup>, and the consciousness aggregate <sup>for object of clinging</sup> — there are <sup>what are</sup> called in short the five aggregates <sup>for objects of clinging</sup>.

This, friends, is <sup>what is</sup> called the Noble Truth of Suffering.

(21)

And what, friends, is the Noble <sup>Actuality</sup> ~~Truth~~ of the Origin of Suffering?

It is <sup>that</sup> ~~that~~ craving, which <sup>renews</sup> ~~renews~~ <sup>produces</sup> ~~produces~~ <sup>with delight</sup> ~~with delight~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>is accompanied by</sup> ~~is accompanied by~~ <sup>consonant</sup> ~~consonant~~ <sup>lust, greed, ~~and~~ <sup>in wishing</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>names</sup> ~~names~~ <sup>craving for</sup> ~~craving for~~ <sup>desires</sup> ~~desires~~, <sup>being</sup> ~~being~~ <sup>craving for</sup> ~~craving for~~ <sup>non-being</sup> ~~non-being~~.</sup>

This is <sup>what is</sup> called the Noble <sup>Actuality</sup> ~~Truth~~ of the Origin of Suffering.



(22) And what, friends, is the Noble <sup>Actuality</sup> ~~Truth~~ of the Cessation of Suffering?

That which is the remainderless fading and ceasing, the ~~going up~~, relinquishing, ~~letting go~~, and rejecting, of that same craving

— This is <sup>what</sup> called the Noble <sup>Actuality</sup> ~~Truth~~ of the Cessation of Suffering.

(23) And what, friends, is the Noble <sup>Actuality</sup> ~~Truth~~ of the Way leading to the Cessation of Suffering?

It is that this Noble Eight fold Path: that is to say, Right View, Right <sup>intention</sup> ~~thinking~~, Right ~~Speech~~, Right Action, Right ~~Intention~~, Right Effort, Right Mindfulness, Right Concentration.

(24) And what, friends is Right View?

~~That which is~~ knowledge of suffering, knowledge of the origin of suffering, knowledge of the Cessation of suffering, and knowledge of the Way leading to the cessation of suffering, <sup>is that</sup> <sup>called</sup> Right View.

(25) <sup>intention</sup> ~~And what~~, friends, is <sup>Intention</sup> ~~Right Intention~~? <sup>Intention</sup> ~~Right Intention~~ of renunciation, <sup>intention</sup> ~~intention~~ directed to <sup>intention</sup> ~~intention~~ non-ill-will, <sup>intention</sup> ~~intention~~ directed to <sup>intention</sup> ~~intention~~ non-cruelty, are what is called Right <sup>Intention</sup> ~~Intention~~.

(26) And what, friends is Right ~~Speech~~? Ab-staining from false <sup>speech</sup>, abstaining from malicious <sup>speech</sup>, abstaining from harsh <sup>speech</sup>, abstaining from idle chatter, <sup>is that</sup> is called Right <sup>Speech</sup> ~~speaking~~.



- (27) And what, friends, is Right Action? Abstaining from killing <sup>the things</sup> ~~things~~, abstaining from taking what is <sup>not given</sup> ~~not given~~, abstaining from ~~sexual~~ misconduct <sup>in sensual desires</sup> ~~and what is called~~ Right Action.
- (28) And what, friends, is Right <sup>living</sup> Livelihood? Here a Noble Disciple <sup>having rejected wrong living</sup> ~~having~~ makes his <sup>living</sup> ~~living~~ by right <sup>livelihood</sup> ~~livelihood~~ and <sup>is called</sup> Right Livelihood.
- (29) And what, friends, is Right Effort? Here a bhikkhu awakens zeal (desire) for the non-arising of unarisen evil unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ and he <sup>negates effort, arouses</sup> ~~exerts~~ his energy, <sup>exerts</sup> ~~strains~~ his mind, and <sup>struggles</sup> ~~struggles~~. He awakens zeal (desire) for the abandoning of arisen evil unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ and he <sup>negates effort, arouses</sup> ~~exerts~~ his energy, <sup>exerts</sup> ~~strains~~ his mind, and <sup>struggles</sup> ~~struggles~~. He awakens zeal (desire) for the arising of unarisen profitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ and he <sup>negates effort, arouses</sup> ~~exerts~~ his energy, <sup>exerts</sup> ~~strains~~ his mind, and <sup>struggles</sup> ~~struggles~~. He awakens zeal (desire) for the maintenance, non-disappearance, strengthening, increase, development, and fulfillment of arisen profitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~ and he <sup>negates effort, arouses</sup> ~~exerts~~ his energy, <sup>exerts</sup> ~~strains~~ his mind, and <sup>struggles</sup> ~~struggles~~ — this is called Right Effort.
- (30) And what, friends, is Right Mindfulness? Here a bhikkhu <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ contemplating the body as a body, ardent, fully aware and mindful, having put away <sup>covetousness</sup> ~~covetousness~~ and grief for the world. He <sup>abides</sup> ~~abides~~ contemp-



lating feelings as feelings, ... He dwells <sup>abridg</sup> con-  
 templating <sup>conscience</sup> ~~things~~ as <sup>conscience</sup> ~~things~~, He dwells con-  
 templating <sup>idea</sup> ~~mental objects~~ as <sup>idea</sup> ~~mental objects~~,  
 ardent, fully aware, and mindful, having put  
 away covetousness and grief for the world. —  
 this is <sup>what</sup> called Right Mindfulness.

(31) And what, friends, is Right Concent-  
 ration? Here, <sup>quite</sup> secluded from sensual desires,  
 secluded from unprofitable <sup>ideas</sup> ~~things~~, a bhikkhu  
 enters upon and <sup>dwells</sup> ~~dwells~~ in the <sup>illumination of equanimity</sup> ~~first jhana~~,  
 ... S. M. 41. The second, <sup>illumination of equanimity</sup> ~~the second~~, which is neither  
<sup>pleasant</sup> ~~pleasant~~ nor <sup>unpleasant</sup> ~~unpleasant~~ and <sup>the</sup> ~~the~~ purity of <sup>equanimity</sup> ~~whar~~  
 Mindfulness, <sup>due to equanimity</sup>. — This is  
 called Right Concentration. <sup>Actualities</sup>  
 This is <sup>what is</sup> called the Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> ~~Four~~ of the Way  
 leading to the Cessation of Suffering.

At Pevares, friends, in the Deer Park at  
 Isipatana the Perfect One, the Accomplished and  
 Fully Enlightened, ~~the~~ set <sup>rolling</sup> ~~rolling~~ the match-  
 less ~~chariot~~ wheel <sup>the</sup> ~~not~~ to be stopped by  
 ascetic or <sup>divine</sup> ~~heretic~~ or deity or Mara or  
 (Māra) or anyone in the world — that  
 is to say the announcing, the teaching, the  
 declaring, the establishing, the revealing,  
 the expounding, the explaining of the four  
 Noble <sup>Actualities</sup> ~~Four~~.

So the Venerable Sāriputta said. The  
 bhikkhus were <sup>delighted</sup> ~~satisfied~~ and <sup>they agreed with</sup> ~~they agreed with~~  
 words.



V  
489  
Majjhima Nikāya 142 - Dakkhina Vithangasutta  
(3, 4, 12)

1. 253 Thus I heard.

At one ~~time~~<sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was living in the Country of the Sakyans at Kapilavattin, in Nigrodha's Park.

2. Then Mahāpajāpati Gotamī went to take a new pair of cloths and went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, she sat down at one side. When she had done so, she said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir, this new pair of cloths has been spun by me, woven by me especially for the Blessed One. Venerable sir, let the Blessed One accept them from me out of compassion.'

19 When this was said, the Blessed One told her - 'Give it to the Community, Gotamī. When you give it to the Community the offering will be made both to me and to the Community.'

20 A second time ~~that~~ she said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir, ... compassion.'

A second time the Blessed One told her - 'Give it to the Community, ... to me and to the Community.'

A third time she said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir ... compassion.'

20 A third time the Blessed One told her - 'Give it to the Community, ... to me and to the Community.'

3. When this was said, the venerable Ananda said to the Blessed One - 'Venerable sir, let the Blessed One accept the new pair of cloths from Mahāpajāpati Gotamī. Mahāpajāpati Gotamī has been very helpful to the Blessed One, venerable sir, as his mother's sister

She was his nurse, his foster mother, his  
 giver of milk. When she suckled the Blessed  
 One when his own mother died. The Blessed  
 One too is very helpful to Mahāpajāpati-  
 10 Gotami, venerable sir. It is owing to the Blessed  
 One that Mahāpajāpati has gone for refuge  
 to the Enlightened One, venerable sir, to the  
~~Traya Vidya~~ <sup>Traya Vidya</sup> (law) and to the Community. It  
 15 is owing to the Blessed One that Mahāpajā-  
 pati Gotami abstains from killing <sup>living</sup> things,  
 venerable sir, from taking what is not  
 given, from ~~sexual~~ <sup>in sexual desires</sup> misconduct, from false  
 speech, <sup>from</sup> ~~from~~ <sup>stating</sup> ~~misconduct~~ <sup>misconduct</sup> wine, liquor  
 20 and intoxicants. It is owing to the Blessed  
 One that Mahāpajāpati possesses perfect  
 confidence in the Enlightened One, venerable  
 sir, in the ~~Traya Vidya~~ <sup>Traya Vidya</sup> (law), and in the Com-  
 munity, and that she possesses <sup>254</sup> the virtue  
 25 of loved ~~by~~ noble Ones. It is owing to the  
 Blessed One that Mahāpajāpati Gotami  
 is free from doubt about suffering, venerable sir,  
 about the origin of suffering, about the cessa-  
 tion of suffering, and about the way leading  
 30 to the cessation of suffering. The Blessed One  
 is very helpful to Mahāpajāpati Gotami.  
 41 That is so, Ananda, that is so. Still,  
 when a person has, owing to [another] person,  
 gone for refuge to the Enlightened One, the  
~~Traya Vidya~~ <sup>Traya Vidya</sup> (law) and the Community, I say  
 that it is not possible to recompense to  
 the latter person by the former person ~~at all~~



491  
 consisting in ~~providing robes, alms food, abode,~~ worshipping, rising up,  
 reverential salutation and seemingly acts ~~cannot~~ <sup>cannot</sup>  
 not possible be made by means of <sup>providing</sup> robes,  
 10 alms food, abode, and the requisite of medicine as  
 cure for the sick. When a person has, owing to  
 [another] person, abstained from killing <sup>or eating</sup>  
 things, from taking what is not given, from ~~misconduct~~  
<sup>in sexual desire</sup> misconduct, from false speech, and from ~~misconduct~~  
 15 <sup>of negligence due to</sup> ~~misconduct~~ (wine, liquor and intoxicants), I say  
 that ~~the~~ recompense to the latter person by the  
 former person consisting in worshipping, rising up,  
 reverential salutation and seemingly acts cannot be  
 made by providing robes, alms food, abode,  
 20 and the requisite of medicine as cure for the  
 sick. When a person has, owing to [another]  
 person, come to possess perfect confidence in  
 the Enlightened one, in the ~~Enlightened one~~ <sup>one</sup> (him), and  
 in the Community, and has come to possess  
 the virtue ~~of the~~ <sup>of the</sup> Noble Ones, I say that  
 recompense to the latter person by the former  
 person consisting in worshipping, rising up,  
 reverential salutation and seemingly acts  
 cannot be made by providing robes, alms  
 25 food, abode, and the requisite of medicine as  
 cure for the sick. When a person has, owing  
 to another person, come from doubt about  
 suffering, about the origin of suffering, about  
 the cessation of suffering, and about the way  
 leading to the cessation of suffering, I say that  
 recompense to the latter person by the former  
 person consisting in worshipping, rising up,  
 reverential salutation and seemingly acts cannot  
 be made by providing robes, alms food, abode,

and the requisite of medicine as cure for the sick.

5. There are these fourteen kinds of personal ~~gifts~~ offerings:

1. A man gives a gift to ~~a~~ Perfect One, Accomplished and fully enlightened. This is the first kind of personal offering.

2. He gives an offering to a Hermit ~~and~~ Unenlightened One, a Pacceka Buddha. This is the second kind of personal offering.

3. He gives a gift to a Perfect One's disciple, an Arahant. This is the third kind of personal offering.

4. He gives a gift to one who has entered upon the way to the realization of the fruition of Arahantship. This is the fourth kind of personal offering.

5. He gives a gift to a Non-returner. This is the fifth kind of personal offering.

6. He gives a gift to one who has entered upon the way to the realization of the fruition of Non-Return. This is the sixth kind of personal offering.

7. He gives a gift to a Once-returner. This is the seventh kind of personal offering.

8. He gives a gift to one who has entered upon the way to the realization of the fruition of Once-return. This is the eighth kind of personal offering.

9. He gives a gift to a Stream-enterer. This is the ninth kind of personal offering.

10. He gives a gift to one who has entered



20 upon the way <sup>to the</sup> realization of the fruition of stream-entry. This is the tenth kind of personal offering.

'He gives a gift to one outside [the dispensation] who is free from ~~freedom~~ for sensual desires.

30 This is the eleventh kind of personal offering.

'He gives a gift to a virtuous <sup>ordinary</sup> ~~virtuous~~ man. This is the twelfth kind of personal offering.

40 'He gives a gift to an unvirtuous <sup>ordinary</sup> ~~unvirtuous~~ man. This is the thirteenth kind of personal ~~gift~~ offering.

'He gives a gift to an animal. This is the fourteenth kind of personal ~~gift~~ offering.

6. Herein, Ananda, by giving a gift to an animal the offering may be expected to repay a hundred fold.

5 By giving a gift to an unvirtuous <sup>ordinary</sup> ~~unvirtuous~~ man the offering may be expected to repay a thousand fold.

'By giving a gift to a virtuous <sup>ordinary</sup> ~~virtuous~~ man the offering may be expected to repay a hundred-thousand-fold.

10 'By giving a gift to one outside [the dispensation] who is ~~not~~ free from ~~freedom~~ for sensual desires the offering may be expected to repay a hundred-thousand times ~~the~~ ~~amount~~ a hundred-thousand fold.

15 'By giving a gift to one who has entered upon the way to the realization of the fruition of Stream-entry the offering may be expected to repay incalculably, immeasurably.

20 <sup>should be said</sup> What ~~to say~~ of a Stream-enterer? What <sup>should be said</sup> ~~to say~~  
~~of one who has entered upon the way to~~  
 the realization of Once-return? What ~~to say~~  
 of ~~one who has entered a Once-returner?~~  
 What to say of one who has entered upon the  
 way to realization of Non-return? What to  
 25 say of a Non-returner? What to say of one  
 who has entered upon the way ~~to~~ the realiz-  
 ation of Arahanthood? What to say of an  
~~Arahant?~~ Perfect one's disciple, an Arahanth?  
 What to say of a Hermit Enlightened One, a  
 30 Pacceka Buddha? What to say of a Perfect  
 One, Accomplished and Fully Enlightened?

7 'There are seven kinds of offerings made  
 to the Community, Ananda.

'A man gives a gift to a Community  
 of both [bhikkhus and bhikkhunis] headed  
 5 by an Enlightened One. This is the first  
 kind of offering made to the Community.

'He gives a gift to a Community of  
 both [bhikkhus and bhikkhunis] after a  
 Perfect One's attainment of complete extinc-  
 10 tion. This is the second kind of offering  
 made to the Community.

'He gives a gift to a Community of  
 bhikkhus. This is the third kind of offer-  
 15 ing made to the Community.

'He gives a gift to a Community of  
 bhikkhunis. This is the fourth kind of offer-



ing made to a community.

20 'He gives a gift, [saying] "Appoint so many bhikkhus and bhikkhunis for me from the Community". 256 This is the fifth kind of offering made to the community.

25 'He gives a gift, [saying] "Appoint so many bhikkhus for me from the Community". This is the sixth kind of offering made to the community.

'He gives a gift, [saying] "Appoint so many bhikkhunis for me from the Community". This is the seventh kind of offering made to the community.

8. 'In future times, Ananda, there will be those of the lineage who are "yellow-necks", unvirtuous with evil <sup>ideas</sup> ~~intentions~~. They will give gifts to those unvirtuous persons for the sake of the Community. Even then, I say, an offering made to the Community is incalculable, immeasurable. And I say that ~~as gifts~~ <sup>as gifts</sup> to ~~an individual~~ a person ~~never~~ <sup>never</sup> ~~greater~~ has greater fruit than an offering made to the Community.

9. 'There are four kinds of purification of offering. What four? There is the offering that is purified by the giver, not by the receiver. There is the offering that is purified by the receiver, not by the giver. There is the offering that is purified neither by the giver nor by the receiver. There is the offering that is purified both by the receiver and by the

giver.

10. 'And what is the offering that is purified by the giver, not by the receiver? Here the giver is virtuous <sup>with lofty ideas</sup> and ~~fine-natured~~, and the receiver is unvirtuous <sup>with</sup> ~~evil-natured~~. Thus the offering is purified by the giver, not by the receiver.

11. 'And what is the offering that is purified by the receiver, not by the giver? Here the giver is unvirtuous <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ ~~evil-natured~~, and the receiver is virtuous <sup>with lofty ideas</sup> ~~and fine-natured~~. Thus the offering is purified by the receiver, not by the giver.

12. 'And what is the offering that is purified neither by the giver nor by the receiver? Here the giver is unvirtuous <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ ~~evil-natured~~, and the receiver is unvirtuous <sup>with</sup> ~~and~~ ~~evil-natured~~. Thus the offering is purified <sup>ideas</sup> by neither by the giver nor by the receiver.

13. 'And what is the offering that is purified both by the giver and by the receiver? Here the giver is virtuous <sup>with lofty ideas</sup> ~~and fine-natured~~, and the receiver is virtuous <sup>with lofty ideas</sup> ~~and fine-natured~~. Thus the offering is purified both by the giver and by the receiver.

257 These are the four kinds of purification of an offering.'

14. Do the Blessed One said. When the Emblem one had said that, ~~the~~ the Master, said further:



15. When the virtuous to the unvirtuous gives  
 With trusting heart a gift that has been lawfully obtained,  
 And acting in faith, the fruit thereof is great;  
 For the giver's virtue purifies the offering.

When the unvirtuous to the virtuous gives  
 With untrusting heart a gift that is not lawfully obtained,  
 Nor acting in faith, the fruit will yet be great;  
 The receiver's virtue purifies the offering.

When the unvirtuous to the unvirtuous gives  
 With untrusting heart a gift that is not lawfully obtained,  
 Nor acting in faith, the fruit will yet be great;  
 Though neither's virtue purifies the offering.

When the virtuous to the virtuous gives  
 With trusting heart a gift that has been lawfully obtained,  
 And acting in faith, the fruit thereof is great;  
 That gift, I say, will come to full fruition.

When the passionless to the passionless gives  
 With trusting heart a gift that has been lawfully obtained,  
 And acting in faith, the fruit thereof is great;  
 That gift, I say, perfects the world by gift.

### Notes

§ 5 "Personal offerings - patipuggalika  
zakkhina": The P.T.S. Dict., with this ref. only, oddly  
 gives the meaning of patipuggalika as "belonging  
 to one's equal," which is impossible in the context and

again under Salakhung as "given to 14 kinds  
of worthy recipients" ~~etc~~ which is also quite  
wide of the mark. The contrast of the 14  
kinds of offerings made to an individual  
person and the 7 kinds of offerings made  
to a community is obvious. Cf. Patipang-  
galika at Dhs. 1044 wrongly given in P. 15  
Dist. as "belonging to one equal", instead  
of "belonging to an individual person".

§ 8 Gotrakhamo - there of the lineage:  
this is the only use of the word gotrakhamo in the  
Suttas outside the Anguttara, apparently  
(See A. iv and v.); but there the sense  
is that of the 'Khadayama guthamjane, near  
or less.

For this simile cf. A. ix, 20 (vol. iv, 392-6)



✓ Majjhima Nikāya 143 - Anāthapiṇḍikavādasutta  
(3, 5, 1)

1. <sup>258</sup> Thus I heard.

At one <sup>occasion</sup> ~~time~~ the Blessed One was living at Sāvathī, in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍikā's Park.

2. ~~Now~~ on that occasion Anāthapiṇḍika the householder was afflicted, suffering and gravely ill. Then he told a man - 'Come, good man, go to the Blessed One and pay homage in my name with your head at ~~the Blessed One's~~ <sup>his</sup> feet, and say "Venerable sir, Anāthapiṇḍika the householder is afflicted, suffering and gravely ill; he pays homage to the Blessed One with his head at ~~the~~ Blessed One's feet." And go to the venerable Sāriputta and pay homage in my name with your head at the venerable Sāriputta's feet, and say "Venerable sir, Anāthapiṇḍika, the householder is afflicted, suffering and gravely ill. He pays homage with his head at the venerable Sāriputta's feet." And say "It would be good, venerable sir, if the venerable Sāriputta would come to the house of Anāthapiṇḍika the householder, out of ~~compassion~~ <sup>city</sup>."

3. - 'Yes, venerable sir,' the man replied, and he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he ~~sat~~ <sup>sate down</sup> at one side. When he had done so, he said - 'Venerable sir, Anāthapiṇḍika the householder is afflicted, suffering and gravely ill; he pays homage

with his head at the Blessed One's feet."

And he went to the Venerable Sāriputta, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said — "Venerable sir, Anāthapiṇḍika the householder is afflicted, suffering and gravely ill; he pays homage with his head at the Venerable Sāriputta's feet, and he says "It would be good, venerable sir, if the venerable Sāriputta would come to the house of Anāthapiṇḍika the householder, out of ~~compassion~~  <sup>pity</sup>."

The venerable Sāriputta consented in silence.

4. Then the venerable Sāriputta dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went with the venerable Ananda as his attendant monk to the house of Anāthapiṇḍika the householder, <sup>259</sup> and he sat down on a seat made ready. When he had done so, he said to Anāthapiṇḍika the householder — "I hope you are progressing, householder, I hope you are comfortable, I hope your painful feelings are departing, not increasing, and that their departure, not their increase, is apparent."

5. — "Venerable Sāriputta, I am not progressing, I am not comfortable. My painful feelings are increasing, not departing; their increase, not their departure, is apparent. 193 Just as if a strong man were split



501  
 ting my head, ~~over~~ with a sheep sword, so too, violent winds, <sup>there</sup> are racking my head. I am not progressing, I am not comfortable. My painful feelings are increasing, not departing; their increase, not their departure, is apparent. Just as if ~~any~~ strong man were tightening a tough leather ~~strap~~ round my head as a head band, so too, there are violent pains in my head. I am not progressing... Just as if a clever butcher or butcher's apprentice, <sup>were</sup> carving up an ox's belly with a sharp knife, so too, violent winds, <sup>(there)</sup> are carving up my belly. I am not progressing... Just as if the strong men had seized a weaker one by both arms and were roasting him over a pit of hot coals, so too, there is a violent burning in my body. I am not progressing. I am not comfortable. My painful feelings are increasing, not departing; their increase, not their departure, is apparent.'

6. — 'Then, householder, you should train thus: I will not cling to the eye <sup>there shall be no</sup> of <sup>my</sup> consciousness ~~shall not be~~ based on the eye. ~~you should train~~ Thus should you train.

c Then, householder you should train thus: I will not cling to the ear <sup>there shall be no</sup> of <sup>my</sup> consciousness ~~shall not be~~ based on the ear...

- ... to the nose...
- ... to the tongue...
- ... to the body...
- ... to the mind...
- ... to visible objects forms...
- ... to sounds...

7.

- ... to odours ...  
 ... to flavours ...  
 ... to tangibility ...  
 ... to ~~materiality~~ ideas  
 8. ... to eye-consciousness ...  
 ... to ear-consciousness ...  
 ... to nose-consciousness ...  
 ... to tongue-consciousness ...  
 ... to body-consciousness ...  
 ... to mind-consciousness ...  
 9. ... to eye contact ... 260  
 ... to ear contact ...  
 ... to nose contact ...  
 ... to tongue contact ...  
 ... to body contact ...  
 ... to mind contact ...  
 10. ... to eye-contact-born feeling ...  
 ... to ear-contact-born feeling ...  
 ... to nose-contact-born feeling ...  
 ... to tongue-contact-born feeling ...  
 ... to body-contact-born feeling ...  
 ... to mind-contact-born feeling ...  
 11. ... to the earth element ...  
 ... to the water element ...  
 ... to the fire element ...  
 ... to the air element ...  
 ... to the space element ...  
 ... to the consciousness element ...  
 12. ... to ~~materiality~~ form  
 ... to feeling ...



- ... to perception ...
- ... to ~~formations~~ determinations ...
- ... to consciousness ...
- 13. ... to the base consisting of boundless space ...
- ... to the base consisting of boundless consciousness ...
- ... to the base consisting of nothingness ... 261
- ... to the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception ...

14. 'Then, householder, you should train thus: I will not cling to this world. ~~Thus shall~~ <sup>There shall be no</sup> consciousness <sup>of mine</sup> ~~shall not be~~ based on this world. Thus should you train.

'Then, householder, you should train thus: I will not cling to the world beyond. ~~Thus shall~~ <sup>There shall be no</sup> consciousness <sup>of mine</sup> ~~shall not be~~ based on the world beyond. Thus should you train.'

15. 'Then householder, you should train thus: I will not cling to what is seen, heard, sensed, cognized, sought, and frequented by the mind. ~~My consciousness shall not be based on that.~~ Thus should there shall be no consciousness of mine based on that.'

16. When this was said, Anathajindika wept and shed tears.

Then the venerable Ananda said - 'Are you hanging back, householder, <sup>pondering</sup> ~~are you pondering~~?'!

'I am not <sup>pondering</sup> ~~hanging back~~, venerable Ananda, I am not <sup>surrendering</sup> ~~hanging~~. Although I have long striven on the Master and on the bhikkhus who ~~have~~ <sup>promote development of the</sup> mind, yet I have never before heard such a talk on the Three Jewels.'

17. - 'Such a talk on the True Idea is not given to the white-clothed laity, householders. Such a talk on the True Idea is given to those gone forth.'
- 'Nevertheless, venerable Sāriputta, let such talks on the True Idea be given to the white-clothed laity. There are claustrals with little dust on their eyes who are wasted but through not hearing such talks on the True Idea. Some of them will gain final knowledge of the True Idea.'
18. Then, after advising Anāthapindika the householder in this way, the venerable Sāriputta and the venerable Ananda got up from their seats and departed. Then soon after they had gone <sup>262</sup> Anāthapindika the householder, on the <sup>disolution</sup> ~~break-up~~ of the body, after death, re-appeared in the Tusita Realm, the Heaven of the Contented.
19. Then, the night being well advanced, Anāthapindika the deity's son of beautiful aspect, who illuminated the whole of Jetā's Grove, went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, stood at one side. When he had done so, he ~~said to the Buddha~~ addressed the Blessed One in stanzas:
20. 'O <sup>heaven</sup> ~~place~~ in the Jetā Grove frequented by the <sup>community of</sup> ~~holiness~~ Order, where ~~they~~ <sup>True Idea's</sup> ~~own~~ King, ~~is~~, the point of all my happiness.









Majjhima Nikāya 144 - Channa-vāda Sutta  
(3, 5, 2)

1. Thus I heard.  
On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Rājagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' sanctuary.
2. Now on that occasion the Venerable Sāriputta, the Venerable Mahā Cunda and the venerable Channa were living on the Sulture-peak rock.
3. On that occasion the venerable Channa was afflicted, suffering and gravely ill. Then ~~in the evening~~ <sup>in the evening</sup> the venerable Sāriputta rose from meditation, he went to the Venerable Mahā Cunda and said to him "Friend Cunda, let us go to the venerable Channa and ask about his illness" — "Yes, friend" the Venerable Mahā Cunda replied.
4. Then the venerable Sāriputta and the venerable Mahā Cunda went to the venerable Channa and exchanged greetings with him and when ~~the~~ <sup>ably</sup> the courteous and amiable talk was finished
5. they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Venerable Sāriputta ~~said~~ <sup>said</sup> "Friend Channa, the venerable Channa ~~Friend Channa~~,  
"I hope you are progressing, friend Channa, I hope you are comfortable, I hope your painful feelings are departing, not increasing, and that their departure,



not their increase, is apparent? »

5. « Friend Sāriputta, I am not progressing... [etc. as in Butta 97 & 50]... Their increase, not their departure, is apparent. [and he added] « I shall use the knife, friend Sāriputta; I have no hope for life ».

6. « Let the venerable Channa not use the knife. Let the venerable Channa live. We want the venerable Channa to live. If he lacks suitable food, I will go in search of suitable food for him. If ~~the~~ he lacks suitable medicine, I will go in search of suitable medicine for him. If he lacks a <sup>proper</sup> suitable attendant, I will attend him. Let the venerable Channa not use the knife. Let the venerable Channa live. We want the venerable Channa to live ».

7. « Friend Sāriputta, it is not that I have no suitable food or no suitable medicine or no suitable proper attendant. ~~But rather, that~~ friend Sāriputta; the Master has ~~long~~ <sup>long</sup> been ~~loved~~ <sup>loved</sup> by me, with love, not without love; for it is proper for a disciple ~~to~~ <sup>to worship</sup> the Master with love, not without love. Friend Sāriputta, remember that the Buddha Channa will use the knife blamelessly ».

8. « We would ask the venerable Channa certain questions, if the venerable Channa finds it opportune to reply ».



« Ask, friend Sāriputta. When we heed them, we shall know ».

9. I-VI Friend Channa, do you see the eye, eye consciousness and ideas cognizable by the eye as 'this is mine, this is I, this is my self'?? Do you see the ear, ... the nose, ... the tongue ... the body ... Do you see the mind, mind consciousness, and ideas cognizable by mind consciousness, as 'this is mine, this is I, this is my self'??

Friend Sāriputta, I see the eye, eye consciousness, and ideas cognizable by the eye, as 'this is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self'; I see the ear ... the nose ... the tongue ... the body ... I see the mind, mind consciousness, and ideas cognizable by mind consciousness, as 'this is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self'??

10 Friend Channa, what have you directly known in the eye, in eye consciousness, and in ideas cognizable by the eye, that you see, what have you directly known in the eye, in eye consciousness, in ideas cognizable by the eye that you see them as 'this is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self'? What have you seen, what have you directly known in the ear, ... in the nose, ... in the tongue, ... in the body, ... what have you seen, what have you directly known in the mind, in mind consciousness, in ideas cognizable by the mind that you







there is <sup>no</sup> ~~neither~~ here nor <sup>any</sup> beyond nor ~~is~~  
in between. This is the end of suffering' ».

12. Then when the venerable ~~Atthi~~ Sāri-  
putta and the venerable Mahā Cunda had  
advised the venerable Channa thus, they  
rose from their seats and went away. Then  
soon after they had gone the venerable  
Channa used the knife.

13. Then the venerable Sāriputta went to  
the Blessed One, and after paying homage  
to him, he sat down at one side. When he had  
done so, he said to the Blessed One « Vener-  
able sir, the knife has been used by the  
venerable Channa. What is his destination, what  
is his future course? ».

« Sāriputta, was not blamelessness  
declared to you in your presence by the bhik-  
ku Channa? »

« Venerable sir, there is a Vajjian  
village called Pubbaḥira. There the venerable  
Channa had families that were his friends,  
families that <sup>his companions,</sup> ~~were~~ <sup>families that were</sup> blame-worthy ».

« There are those families that were  
friends of the ~~bhikkhu~~ Channa, Sāriputta, fam-  
ilies that were his intimates, families that  
were blame-worthy, I do not mean blame-  
worthy in that way. But, Sāriputta, when  
a man lays down this body and clings  
to <sup>a new</sup> ~~another~~ body, I call blame-worthy. There  
was none of that in the bhikkhu Channa,  
and he used the knife blamelessly ».

So the Blind One said. The venerable  
Sāriputta was <sup>delighted</sup> satisfied, and he delighted  
in the Blind One's words. 512

Notes

§ u quotation from ...

§ " 'paricijyo me satta' - the master has been  
unemployed by me:  
cf. Sutta 73, § 30.

margin.



✓ Majjhima-Nikaya 145 - Punnavadasutta  
(3, 5, 3)

① <sup>267</sup> Thus I heard.  
At one ~~time~~ <sup>of occasions</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvattihī in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park. Then <sup>in the</sup> ~~when it was~~ evening the Venerable Punna rose from <sup>reclining</sup> ~~reclining~~ and went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the venerable Punna <sup>he</sup> said: to the ~~Blessed One~~

② — (It would be good, Venerable sir, if the Blessed One would instruct me briefly so that, having heard the <sup>true dhamma</sup> ~~truth~~ from the Blessed One, I may ~~be~~ <sup>with drawn</sup> diligent, ardent, and <sup>zeal</sup> ~~zeal~~ <sup>and heed will</sup> fully to what I shall say. — Even so, ~~even so~~, Venerable sir, the venerable Punna replied, to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

③ — (There are, Punna, <sup>four</sup> visible objects cognizable by the eye, that are <sup>desired</sup> ~~sought~~ after, <sup>and pleasant</sup> agreeable, <sup>and pleasant</sup> pleasing, <sup>and pleasant</sup> ~~connected~~ with sensual desire, and procreative of <sup>lust</sup> ~~lust~~. If a blighter is <sup>delighted</sup> ~~delighted~~ with them, he comes <sup>to grief</sup> ~~to grief~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>grief</sup> ~~grief~~ arises in him with the arising of <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> ~~of~~ suffering, I say.

There are, ~~Punna~~, sounds cognizable by the ear.

There are, ~~Punna~~, odours cognizable by the nose.



There are ~~Panna~~ flavours cognizable by the tongue. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ tangibles ~~objects~~ cognizable by the body. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ <sup>ideas</sup> mental ~~objects~~ cognizable by the mind, <sup>which are sought for,</sup> desired, agreeable, <sup>pleasant</sup> pleasing, <sup>connected with</sup> sensual desire and productive of <sup>lust</sup> food. If a child is <sup>delighted in</sup> conversing with them, <sup>and accepts</sup> ~~and remains attached to them,~~ <sup>as he does so,</sup> <sup>delight</sup> arises in him. With the arising of delight, ~~panna~~, there is the arising of suffering, I say.

(4) (There are ~~Panna~~ <sup>forms</sup> visible ~~objects~~ cognizable by the eye, <sup>that are sought for,</sup> desired, agreeable, <sup>and pleasant</sup> pleasing, <sup>connected with</sup> sensual desire, and productive of <sup>lust</sup> food. If a child <sup>does not</sup> ~~is not~~ conversing with them, <sup>delight</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>them</sup> <sup>does not</sup> <sup>arise</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>him,</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>accepts</sup> <sup>them,</sup> <sup>and</sup> <sup>remains</sup> <sup>attached</sup> <sup>to</sup> <sup>them,</sup> <sup>as</sup> <sup>he</sup> <sup>does</sup> <sup>so,</sup> <sup>delight</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>them</sup> <sup>does</sup> <sup>not</sup> <sup>arise</sup> <sup>in</sup> <sup>him.</sup> With the ceasing of <sup>delight</sup> ~~panna~~, there is the ceasing of suffering, I say.

There are ~~Panna~~ sounds cognizable by the ear. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ odours cognizable by the nose. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ flavours cognizable by the tongue. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ tangibles ~~objects~~ cognizable by the body. . .

There are ~~Panna~~ <sup>ideas</sup> mental ~~objects~~ cognizable by the mind. . .



nizable by the mind that are <sup>wished for</sup> sought-after, desired, agreeable, <sup>desirable</sup> pleasurable, <sup>268</sup> unassociated with sensual desire, and productive of good. If a Bhikkhu does not <sup>delight in</sup> ~~delight in~~ <sup>and accept</sup> ~~accept~~ them, <sup>and remains attached</sup> ~~and remains attached~~ to them, <sup>as he does so</sup> ~~as he does so~~ delight ceases in him. With the ceasing of delight, Punna, there is the ceasing of suffering, I say.

(5) Now (Punna) that I have given you this brief instruction, <sup>in</sup> ~~in~~ what country <sup>will</sup> ~~will~~ you dwell?

- (Now) Venerable sir, that the Blessed One has given me this brief instruction, <sup>I go</sup> ~~I go~~ to the country called Sunāparanta. ~~that I will dwell.~~

- (The people of Sunāparanta) (Punna) are fierce; they ~~people of Sunāparanta~~ are rough. If they ~~people of Sunāparanta~~ abuse and threaten you, what shall you think then?

- [If] Venerable Sir, the people of Sunāparanta abuse and threaten me, then I shall think thus: these people of Sunāparanta are admirable; ~~these people of Sunāparanta~~ are truly admirable; <sup>in fact</sup> ~~in fact~~ they did not give me a blow with the fist. Then I shall think thus, Blessed One, then I shall think thus, sublime One.

- But, Punna, if the people of Sunāparanta give you a blow with the fist, what shall you think then?

- [If] Venerable sir, the people of Sunāparanta give me a blow with the fist, then



I shall think thus: ~~Admirable~~ these people of Sunāparanta are admirable, ~~these people of Sunāparanta are truly admirable~~; <sup>in fact</sup> for they did not give me a blow with a clod. Then I shall think thus, Blessed One; then I shall think thus, Sublime One.

- But, Puruṇa, if the people of Sunāparanta <sup>do</sup> give you a blow with a clod, what shall you think then?

- (If venerable sir, the people of Sunāparanta <sup>do</sup> give me a blow with a clod, then I shall think thus: these people of Sunāparanta are admirable, ~~these people of Sunāparanta are truly admirable~~, <sup>in fact</sup> since for they did not give me a blow with a stick. Then I shall think thus, Blessed One; then I shall think thus, Sublime One. 269

- But, Puruṇa, if the people of Sunāparanta <sup>do</sup> give you a blow with a stick, what shall you think then?

- (If venerable sir, the people of Sunāparanta <sup>do</sup> give me a blow with a stick, then I shall think thus: these people of Sunāparanta are admirable, ~~these people of Sunāparanta are truly admirable~~, <sup>in fact</sup> for they did not give me a blow with a knife. Then I shall think thus; Blessed One; then I shall think thus, Sublime One.

- But, Puruṇa, if the people of Sunāparanta <sup>do</sup> give you a blow with a knife, what shall you think then?



(If venerable sir,) the people of Sunāparanta <sup>(do)</sup> give me a blow with a knife, then I shall think thus: These people of Sunāparanta are admirable, ~~these people of Sunāparanta are truly admir-~~ able, <sup>for they</sup> ~~for they~~ <sup>(do not offend)</sup> have not taken my life with a sharp knife; then I shall think thus, Blessed One, then I shall think thus, sublime One.

- But Punna, if the people of Sunāparanta <sup>attack</sup> do take your life with a sharp knife, what shall you think then?

(If Venerable sir,) the people of Sunāparanta <sup>attack</sup> do take my life with a sharp knife, then I shall think thus: there have been disciples of the Blessed One, who, <sup>being</sup> humiliated and disgusted by the body and by life, have sought <sup>for security</sup> ~~but someone to use~~ the knife, but I have found ~~him~~ <sup>him</sup> (without seeking him). Then I shall think thus, Blessed One; then shall think thus, Sublime One.

- Good, good, Punna, <sup>(possessing such)</sup> ~~forbearance~~ <sup>control</sup> you <sup>will be able</sup> live in the Sunāparanta Country. Now, Punna, it is time to do as you think fit.

⑥ Then the venerable Punna <sup>delightfully</sup> was satisfied ~~and~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~and~~ <sup>delighted</sup> at the Blessed One's words, ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~rose~~ <sup>rose</sup> from his seat, and after paying homage to the Blessed One, he departed, keeping him on his right. <sup>and then</sup> After ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> setting his abode in order, <sup>he</sup>



took on his outer robe and bowl, and ~~to~~ set out to go by stages to the Sunāparanta country, wandering by stages, he ~~eventually~~ <sup>at length</sup> ~~arrived~~ <sup>eventually</sup> arrived in the Sunāparanta country. There, in fact, the Venerable Punna lived in the Sunāparanta country. Then, before the end of that same year, ~~the~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~Venerable~~ Punna set on their way as many as five hundred men adherents and as many as five hundred women adherents, and he he himself realized the three ~~clear~~ <sup>true</sup> ~~visions~~ <sup>visions</sup> ~~of~~ <sup>knowledge</sup> ~~the~~ <sup>of</sup> the Venerable Punna later on attained ~~to~~ complete extinction.

Then a number of bhikkhus went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, <sup>they</sup> sat down at one side. When they had done so, they said to the Blessed One:

[The clansman] Venerable Sir, I called Punna to whom the Blessed One gave a brief instruction has died. What is his hindering? What is his future course?

[The clansman Punna, <sup>was wise</sup> (bhikkhu) ~~was~~ <sup>wise</sup> he followed the way of the ~~True Idea~~ <sup>True Idea</sup> of the Dharmma. He gave me no trouble in connexion with the ~~Dharmma~~ <sup>True Idea</sup>. The clansman Pabbata, ~~bhikkhu~~, has attained complete extinction.

<sup>Then</sup> the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>satisfied</sup> and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at his words. <sup>delighted</sup> <sup>they delighted in</sup> <sup>agreed with</sup>



✓ Majjhima Nikaya 146 - Nandakovāda Sutta  
(3, 5, 4)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park.

2. Then Mahāpajāpati Gōtami went with bhikkhunis to the number of five hundred to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, she stood at one side. When she had done so, she said:

« Venerable sir, let the Blessed One advise the bhikkhunis; let the Blessed One instruct them, let the Blessed One give them a talk on the True Idea ».

3. Now on that occasion the elder bhikkhus were advising the bhikkhunis in turn; but the venerable Nandaka did not want to advise them in turn. Then the Blessed One addressed the venerable Ananda thus: « Ananda, whose turn is it today to ~~advise~~ <sup>advise</sup> the bhikkhunis? »

« Venerable sir, it is Nandaka's turn to <sup>advise</sup> the bhikkhunis; but the venerable Nandaka does not want ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> ~~to~~ <sup>to</sup> advise the bhikkhunis in turn ».

Then the Blessed One addressed the venerable Nandaka thus: « ~~Advise~~ <sup>Advise</sup> the bhikkhunis, Nandaka; instruct the bhikkhunis, Nandaka; give a talk on the True Idea to the bhikkhunis, Divine ».



4. « Even so, venerable sir » the <sup>27</sup> venerable Nandaka replied. Then, it being ~~evening~~ morning he dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went into Sāvathī for alms. When he had round for alms in Sāvathī and had returned from his alms round after the meal, he went ~~to~~ with a companion to the Rājake park.

5. The bhikkhunis saw him coming in the distance, and they prepared a seat and set out water for the feet. The venerable Nandaka sat down on the seat prepared and washed his feet. And the bhikkhunis paid homage to him and stood at one side. When they had done so, the venerable Nandaka said this:

6. « Sisters, <sup>talk</sup> this will be in the form of questions. When you know, you should say 'We know'; when you do not know, you should say 'We do not know'; or if any of you have doubt or uncertainty, I too should be ~~asked~~ questioned thus 'Venerable sir, what is the meaning of this talk?' ».

« Venerable sir, we are satisfied and happy that the venerable Nandaka invites us in this way ».

7. « <sup>Sisters,</sup> How do you conceive this; sisters: is the eye permanent or impermanent? » — « Impermanent, venerable sir. » —



521  
 «Is what is impermanent painful or pleasant?»  
 — «Painful, venerable sir.» — «Is what is  
 impermanent, painful, and inseparable from the  
 idea of change, fit to be seen thus (this is  
 mine, this is I, this is my self)?» — «No,  
 venerable sir.»

Sisters, what a how do you conceive this: is the  
 eye permanent ...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: is the  
 nose permanent ...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: is the  
 tongue permanent ...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: is the  
 body permanent ...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: is the  
 mind permanent or impermanent? — «Im-  
 permanent, venerable sir.» — «Is what is  
 impermanent painful or pleasant?» — «Painful,  
 venerable sir.» — «Is what is impermanent, pain-  
 ful, and inseparable from the idea of change, fit  
 to be seen thus (this is mine, this is I, this is  
 my self)?» — «No, venerable sir.» — «Why  
 is that?» — «Because, venerable sir, it has  
 already been well seen ~~as~~ as it actually  
 is with right understanding by us that these  
 six bases in oneself are impermanent.» —  
 «Good, good, sisters. So a noble disciple  
 [thinks] when he sees, <sup>as it</sup> as it actually is with  
 right understanding

8  
 Sisters,  
 how do you conceive this: are forms  
 permanent or impermanent? — «Imper-  
 manent, venerable sir.» — «Is what is



impermanent painful or pleasant? —  
 « Painful, venerable sir. » — « Is what is  
 impermanent, painful and inseparable  
 from the idea of change fit to be seen  
 as 'This is mine, this is I, this is my self?' —  
 — « No, venerable sir. »

Sisters, how do you conceive this: are the  
 sounds permanent ...

... odours ...  
 ... flavours ...  
 ... tangibles ...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: are  
 ideas permanent or impermanent? — « Im-  
 permanent, venerable sir. » — « Is what is  
 impermanent painful or pleasant? » — « Pain-  
 ful, venerable sir. » — « Is what is imperman-  
 ent, painful and inseparable from the idea of  
 change fit to be seen as 'this is ~~mine~~ mine,  
 this is I, this is my self?' » — « No,  
 venerable sir. » — « Why, that? » — « Because,  
 venerable sir, it has already been well seen  
 as it actually is, with right understanding by  
 us that these six external bases are imper-  
 manent. » — « Good, good, sisters. So a  
 noble disciple [thee] when he sees [this] as  
 it actually is with right understanding? »

9. Sisters, how do you conceive this? is  
 eye-consciousness permanent ... « No, vena-  
 ble sir. »

275 ... ear-consciousness ...



... more consciousness...  
 ... tongue consciousness...  
 ... body consciousness...

Sisters, how do you conceive this: is mind  
 consciousness permanent... «No, venerable sir»  
 — «Why is that?» — «Because, venerable sir,  
 it has already been well seen as it actually is  
 with right understanding by us that these six  
 bodies of consciousness are impermanent.» —  
 «Good, good, sisters. So a noble disciple  
 [thinks], when he sees [this] as it actually is  
 with right understanding.»

10

Sisters, suppose there were a lamp burn-  
 ing and its oil was impermanent, and insepa-  
 rable from the idea of change, and its wick was  
 impermanent and inseparable from the idea of  
 change, and its flame was impermanent  
 and inseparable from the idea of change, and  
 its radiance was impermanent and insepa-  
 rable from the idea of change, would anyone  
 speak rightly who spoke thus: «When this  
 lamp is burning its oil is impermanent and  
 inseparable from the idea of change and so are  
 its wick and its flame, but its radiance  
 is permanent, ~~fixed~~ everlasting, eternal,  
 and not inseparable from the idea of change?» —  
 — «No, venerable sir.» — «Why is that?» —  
 «Because, venerable sir, when that lamp is  
 burning, its oil is impermanent and insepa-  
 rable from the idea of change, and so  
 are its wick and its flame and its radiance.»  
 — «So too, sisters, would anyone speak



rightly who spoke thus 'these six bases  
 in oneself are impermanent, but that  
~~I experience (feel)~~ dependent on the six bases  
 in [my] self which I feel (experience) as  
 pleasant or painful or neither-painful-  
 nor-pleasant is permanent, everlasting,  
 eternal, and not inseparable from the  
idea of change? ' — « No, venerable sir, »  
 — « Why is that? » — « Because, venerable  
 sir, ~~the~~ appropriate feelings arise depend-  
 ent on the appropriate condition, and  
 with the cessation of the appropriate condition  
 the <sup>appropriate</sup> feelings (experiences) cease » — « Good,  
 good, sisters. So a noble disciple (theiler)  
 when he sees [this] as it actually is with  
 right understanding. »

11. Sisters, suppose there were a <sup>great</sup> tree  
 standing possessed of heartwood, and its  
 root was impermanent and inseparable  
 from the idea of change and its trunk was  
 impermanent and inseparable from the  
idea of change, and its branches and fol-  
 iage were impermanent and inseparable  
 from the idea of change, and its shadow was  
 impermanent and inseparable from the  
idea of change, would anyone speak rightly  
 who spoke thus 'When this <sup>stands</sup> great tree, poss-  
 essed of heartwood, its root is imperman-  
 ent and inseparable from the idea of change,  
 and so are its trunk, and its branches  
 and foliage; but its shadow is permanent,



525  
 everlasting, eternal, and not inseparable from  
 the idea of change?" — « No, venerable sir. »  
 — « Why is that? » — « Because, venerable  
 sir, when that great tree stands composed of  
 heartwood, its root is impermanent and  
 inseparable from the idea of change, and so  
 are its trunk and its branches and foliage  
 and its shadow. » — « So too, sisters, would  
 any one speak rightly who spoke thus: these  
 six external bases are impermanent, <sup>and liable to change</sup> but  
 that dependent on the six external bases  
 which I feel (experience) as pleasant, pain-  
 ful or neither-painful-nor-pleasant is per-  
 manent, everlasting, eternal, and not inseparable  
 from the idea of change? » — « No,  
 venerable sir. » — « Why is that? » — « Because,  
 venerable sir, ~~the~~ <sup>each</sup> appropriate feeling arises  
 dependent on the appropriate condition, and  
 with the cessation of the appropriate condition  
 the appropriate feeling (experience) ceases. »  
 — « Good, good, Sisters. So a noble disciple  
 [thinks] when he sees [this] as it actually is  
 with right understanding. »

12. Sisters, suppose a clever butcher or  
 butcher's apprentice ~~had~~ killed a cow and  
 carved it with a sharp carving knife in such  
 a manner that, without damaging the <sup>inner</sup> flesh  
 body and without damaging the outer skin  
 body, he cut ~~off~~ <sup>and carved off</sup> and severed ~~off~~  
 with the sharp carving knife the skin muscles  
 and sinews and attachments between, <sup>274</sup>  
 and having <sup>done that,</sup> and taken off the



outer skin body, he then covered that cow ~~with~~ again with that skin, and he spoke thus 'would he be speaking rightly if he spoke thus 'This cow is joined to this skin just as it was before'?' - «No, venerable sir.» - «Why is that?» - «Be-  
cause, were he to do so, that cow would nevertheless be disjoined from that skin.»

2. Sisters, the simile has been given by me in order to intimate a meaning. The meaning is this: The 'inner flesh body' is a term for the six bases in oneself; the 'outer skin body' is a term for the six external bases; the 'skin-muscle, ~~tendon~~ sinews and attachments between' is a term for delight and lust; The 'sharp carving knife' is a term for the noble understanding, ~~for that noble~~ which cuts, severs and carves away the ~~skin-muscles~~ <sup>defilements</sup> ~~and attachments between.~~ <sup>fallen</sup> ~~sinews~~ and attachments between.

13. Sisters, there are these <sup>seven</sup> enlighten-  
ment factors with the development and cultivation of which a bhikkhu, ~~here and~~ ~~too~~ by realization himself with direct knowledge, here and now enters upon and abides in the deliverance of will and deliverance of understanding that are care-free with exhaustion of cankers. What are the seven? Here a bhikkhu develops the mind fulsome enlightenment factor, which has for its support seclusion, taking away and cessation for its support and changes to relinquishment. He develops the investigation-of-ideas enlightenment



527  
factor... the energy enlightenment factor...  
the happiness enlightenment factor... The  
tranquillity enlightenment factor... the  
concentration enlightenment factor... He  
develops the onlooking (equanimity) enlightenment  
factor which has seclusion, fading away and  
cessation for its support, and changes to  
relinquishment. These are the seven enlight-  
enment factors, with the development...  
canker-free with exhaustion of cankers.

14. When the venerable Nandika had advised  
the bhikkhunis thus he dismissed them thus:  
"Go, sisters; it is time." <sup>being</sup> ~~was~~ satisfied and  
then the bhikkhunis ~~were~~ delighted in the venerable Nandika's  
words, rose from their seats, and after paying  
homage ~~to him~~ they departed, keeping him on  
their right. They went to the Blessed One, and  
after paying homage to him, they stood alone  
side. When they had done so, ~~the Blessed One~~  
said "Go, sisters, it is time." Then they  
paid homage to the Blessed One and departed,  
keeping him on their right.

15. Soon after they had gone, the Blessed  
One addressed the bhikkhus thus "Bhikkhus,  
just as <sup>not</sup> people have no doubt or uncertainty  
on the Uposatha day of the Fourteenth whether  
the moon is new or fully <sup>is</sup> ~~is~~ the moon is  
only new then, so too these bhikkhus are  
satisfied with Nandika's ~~idea~~ <sup>teaching</sup> of the true  
idea but their intention is not yet waxed  
full."

16. Then the Blessed One addressed the venerable  
Nandika thus "So, Nandika, you should  
advise those bhikkhunis tomorrow too."

17. "27. "Even so, venerable sir" the venerable Nandika replied.



Q. Then when it was morning... [and so on repeating verbatim § 4-14]... <sup>2.27</sup> on their right  
The Blind One said & Go, sisters, it is Time.]]  
[Then they paid homage to the Blind One and departed, keeping him on their right.]

28 soon after they had gone, the Blind One addressed the Bhikkhus thus & Bhikkhus, just as most people have no doubt or uncertainty on the Upvatta Day of the Fifteenth whether the moon is new or full, <sup>since</sup> the moon is only full then, so too, these bhikkhus are satisfied with Nandaka's teaching of the True Idea and their intention is waxed full. Bhikkhus, the next backward of those bhikkhus is a stream-enterer, no more inseparable from the idea of perdition, certain [of rightness], and headed for full enlightenment.]]

So the Blind One said. The bhikkhus were <sup>delighted</sup> satisfied, and they <sup>agreed with</sup> delighted to his words.

### Notes

§ 12 cilimāsa should read vilimāsa according to ikā "vilimāsaṃti caṃma-nirita māsaṃ".



(3, 35.)

1. Thus I heard,  
On one ~~time~~<sup>occasion</sup> the Blessed One was  
living at Sāvattṭhi, in Jeta's grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's park.

2. Then, while he was alone in meditation, ~~the~~ a thought arose in his mind thus:  
— The ~~things~~<sup>ideas</sup> that make deliverance ripen  
are ripened in Rāhula. What if I led him  
on to the final ~~extinction~~<sup>extinction</sup> of cankers?

Then, when it was early morning, the  
Blessed One dressed, and taking bowl and  
robes, he went into Sāvattṭhi for alms. Then,  
when he had walked for alms in Sāvattṭhi  
10 and had returned from his alms-round after  
his meal, he addressed the venerable Rā-  
hula thus:

— Take a seat with you, Rāhula; let  
us go to the Blind Men's grove to pass the  
15 day.

— even so, venerable Sir, the venerable  
Rāhula replied, ~~to the Blessed One~~, and tak-  
ing a seat with him, he followed <sup>close</sup> behind the  
Blessed One.

20 Now on that occasion many thousands  
devities followed the Blessed One: — Today the  
Blind One will lead the venerable Rāhula  
on to the final ~~extinction~~ of cankers.

Then the Blessed One went <sup>into</sup> the  
Blind Men's grove and sat down at the foot of  
a certain tree. And the venerable Rāhula  
25 on a prepared seat.

went into the blind abroad again and sat  
down at the foot of a certain tree paid hom-  
age to the Blessed One and sat down at  
one side on a prepared seat. When he had  
done so, the Blessed One said to the ven-  
erable Rāhula:

3. - Rāhula, how do you conceive this: ~~What do you think, Rāhula,~~ is the eye permanent or impermanent? - Im-  
permanent, venerable sir. - ~~But~~ Is what  
is impermanent painful or pleasant? -  
5 - Painful, venerable sir. - ~~But~~ Is what is im-  
permanent, painful, and <sup>inseparably from the idea of</sup> ~~subject to change,~~  
fit to be regarded as "This is mine, this is I, this  
is my self"? - No, venerable sir.
- 10 - Rāhula, how do you conceive this: ~~What do you think, Rāhula,~~ are  
<sup>forms</sup> ~~visible objects~~ permanent or imperman-  
ent? - Rāhula, how do you conceive this:  
15 - ~~What~~ Do you think, Rāhula, is eye-  
consciousness permanent or impermanent  
or impermanent? - <sup>279</sup> ~~What~~ Do you think, Rāhula, is eye-  
contact permanent or impermanent? - ~~Im-~~  
~~permanent, venerable sir.~~  
20 - Rāhula, how do you conceive this:  
feeling, any perception, any <sup>determinations</sup> ~~formations~~, any  
consciousness, that arise with eye-contact  
as condition permanent or impermanent?  
- Impermanent, venerable sir. - ~~But~~ Is ~~it~~



what is impermanent painful or pleasant?

— Painful, venerable sir. ~~But~~ ~~Is~~

what is impermanent, painful and ~~subject~~  
<sup>incompatible with the idea of</sup>  
~~to~~ change, ~~fit~~ to be regarded as "this is  
mine, this is I, this is my self"? —

No, venerable sir.

4. Rāhula, how <sup>conceive this:</sup>  
~~what~~ do you ~~think~~, Rāhula, is the ear  
permanent or impermanent? ... [as  
§ 3 above, <sup>reason but</sup> substituting "ear" and "sounds" for  
"eye" and "visible objects"]...

5. Rāhula, how <sup>conceive this:</sup>  
~~what~~ do you ~~think~~, Rāhula, is the nose  
permanent or impermanent? ... [as § 3  
above, but substituting "nose" and "odours"]...

6. Rāhula, how <sup>conceive this:</sup>  
~~what~~ do you ~~think~~, Rāhula, is the tongue  
permanent or impermanent? ... [as § 3  
above, but substituting "tongue" and "flavours"]...

7. Rāhula, how <sup>conceive this:</sup>  
~~what~~ do you ~~think~~, Rāhula, is the body  
permanent or impermanent? ... [as § 3  
above, but substituting "body" and "tangible objects"]...

8. Rāhula, how <sup>conceive this:</sup>  
~~what~~ do you ~~think~~, Rāhula, is the mind  
permanent or impermanent? — Imperman-  
ent, venerable sir. — ~~But~~ ~~Is~~ what is imper-  
manent painful or pleasant? — Painful, ven-

erable sir. - ~~But~~ <sup>is</sup> what is impermanent, painful and <sup>irreparable from the idea of</sup> ~~subjected to change~~ fit to be regarded as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self" ?

No, venerable sir. <sup>Rahula has</sup> ~~what~~ <sup>conceive this</sup> ~~to you~~ <sup>about Rahula</sup>, are <sup>ideas</sup> ~~essential~~ objects permanent or impermanent?

~~Impermanent, venerable sir.~~ <sup>Rahula has</sup> ~~what~~ <sup>conceive this</sup> do you ~~think~~ <sup>about</sup> Rahula, as mind-consciousness permanent or impermanent?

~~What~~ <sup>Rahula has</sup> ~~do you~~ <sup>conceive this</sup> think, Rahula, as mind-contact permanent or impermanent?

~~What~~ <sup>Rahula has</sup> ~~do you~~ <sup>conceive this</sup> think, Rahula, are any feeling, any ~~formations~~ <sup>formations</sup> perceptions, any ~~formations~~ <sup>determinations</sup>, any consciousness, that arise with mind-contact as condition permanent or impermanent? - Dem. permanent, venerable sir.

~~But~~ <sup>is</sup> what is impermanent painful or pleasant? - Painful, venerable sir.

~~But~~ <sup>is</sup> what is impermanent, painful and ~~sub-~~ <sup>irreparable from the idea of</sup> ~~ject to change~~ fit to be regarded as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self" ? - No, venerable sir.

9. Seeing thus, Rahula a well taught noble disciple <sup>becomes dispassionate towards</sup> ~~feels revulsion for~~ the eye, <sup>becomes dispassionate towards</sup> ~~feels revulsion for~~ forms, <sup>becomes dis-</sup> ~~feels revulsion for~~ objects, <sup>becomes dis-</sup> ~~feels revulsion for~~ ~~feels revulsion for~~





deities there arose the spotted immac-  
 ulate vision of the <sup>True Idea</sup> Dharma; All that is  
~~inseparable from the idea of~~  
~~subject to passing is subject to annihilation~~  
 inseparable from the idea of cessation.







- in oneself can  
 sensual bases should be understood "This is the first Six." 525
5. ii. 1-6 "Six external bases <sup>can</sup> be understood." So it was said. And <sup>with reference to what was</sup> ~~it~~ was thus said? There are the <sup>forms</sup> visible object base, the sound base, the odour base, the flavour base, the tangible ~~base~~ base, the <sup>idea</sup> mental object base. So <sup>if you refer to this that</sup> ~~it~~ was said "Six external bases should be understood." This is the second Six.
6. iii. 1-6 "Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of consciousness <sup>can</sup> be understood." So it was said. And <sup>with reference to what was</sup> ~~it~~ was thus said? <sup>Dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ eye and <sup>forms</sup> visible objects eye consciousness arises, <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ ear and sounds ear consciousness arises, <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ nose and odours nose consciousness arises, <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ tongue and flavours tongue consciousness arises, <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ body and tangibles ~~body~~ body consciousness arises, <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ mind and <sup>ideas</sup> mental objects mind consciousness arises. So <sup>if you refer to this that</sup> ~~it~~ was said "Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of consciousness should be understood." This is the third Six.
7. iv. 1-6 "Six <sup>bodies</sup> classes of contact <sup>can</sup> be understood." So it was said. And <sup>with reference to what was</sup> ~~it~~ was thus said? <sup>Dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ eye and <sup>forms</sup> visible objects eye consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is contact; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ ear and sounds ear consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is contact; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ nose and odours nose consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is contact; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ tongue and flavours tongue consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is contact; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ body and



~~tangible objects~~ body consciousness arises, the  
 coincidence of the three is contact; ~~the mind~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> mind  
 and ~~mental objects~~ <sup>with the</sup> mind consciousness arises;  
 the coincidence of the three is contact. So <sup>it was</sup>  
~~it was said~~ <sup>with reference to this that</sup> it was said "Six ~~classes~~ <sup>orders</sup> of contact  
~~should be understood.~~ <sup>can</sup> This is the fourth Six.

8. **v. 1-6** "Six ~~classes~~ <sup>orders</sup> of feeling ~~can be understood~~ <sup>can't be understood</sup>  
 So it was said. And ~~why~~ <sup>with reference to what?</sup> was this said? ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup>  
 eye and ~~tangible objects~~ <sup>form</sup> eye consciousness arises,  
 the coincidence of the three is contact, with con-  
 tact as condition there is feeling; ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> ear and  
~~audible objects~~ sounds ear consciousness arises,  
 the coincidence of the three is contact, with con-  
 tact as condition there is feeling; ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> nose  
 and odours nose consciousness arises, the co-  
 incidence of the three is contact, with contact as  
 condition there is feeling; ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> tongue and  
 flavours tongue consciousness arises, the co-  
 incidence of the three is contact, with contact  
 as condition there is feeling; ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> body and  
 tangible ~~objects~~ <sup>there is</sup> body consciousness  
 arises, the coincidence of the three is contact,  
 with contact as condition there is feeling; ~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup>  
 mind and ~~mental objects~~ <sup>with the</sup> mind conscious-  
 ness arises, the coincidence of the three is con-  
 tact, with contact as condition there is feeling. 282

So <sup>it was said</sup> <sup>with reference to this that</sup> it was said "Six ~~classes~~ <sup>orders</sup> of  
 feeling ~~should be understood.~~ <sup>can</sup> This is the fifth Six.  
 9. **vi. 1-6** "Six ~~classes~~ <sup>orders</sup> of craving ~~can be under-~~ <sup>can't be under-</sup>  
 stood." So it was said. And ~~why~~ <sup>with reference to what?</sup> was this said?  
~~the~~ <sup>dependent on</sup> eye and ~~tangible objects~~ <sup>form</sup> eye consciousness  
 arises, the coincidence of the three is contact,  
 with contact as condition there is feeling, with



feeling as condition there is craving; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~due to~~ ear and  
 sounds ear consciousness arises, the coincidence of  
 the three is contact; with contact as condition  
 there is feeling, with feeling as condition there  
 is craving; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~due to~~ nose and sounds nose  
 consciousness arises, the coincidence of the  
 three is contact; with contact as condition  
 there is feeling, with feeling as condition there  
 is craving; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~due to~~ tongue and flavours tongue  
 consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is  
 contact; with contact as condition there is feel-  
 ing, with feeling as condition there is craving;  
<sup>dependent on</sup> ~~due to~~ body and tangible ~~to~~ body con-  
 sciousness arises, ~~with~~ the coincidence of the  
 three is contact; with contact as condition  
 there is feeling, with feeling as condition  
 there is craving; <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~due to~~ mind and ideastal  
~~object~~ mind consciousness arises, the coincidence  
 of the three is contact, with contact as condit-  
 ion there is feeling, with feeling as condition  
 there is craving. <sup>it goes with referer to this part</sup> So ~~for this reason~~ <sup>said</sup> was  
 said "Six classes <sup>of bodies</sup> of craving should be under-  
 stood." This is the sixth Six.

### B. not self

it does not happen (so)

10. (11) If anyone says that the eye is self,  
 it is not tenable. The eye's ~~arising and passing~~  
 rise and fall is evident. ~~Now~~ since its rise  
 and fall are evident it follows that self  
 rises and falls. That is why, it is not tenables  
 (should anyone say that the eye is self.)



(iii) If anyone says that ~~the~~ visible objects are self, it is not tenable...

(iii) If anyone says that eye consciousness is self, it is not tenable...

(iv) If anyone says that eye contact is self, it is not tenable...

(v) If anyone says that feeling is self, it is not tenable... 283

(vi) If anyone says that craving is self, it is not tenable.

11. (2) (i) If anyone says that the ear is self, it is not tenable...

(ii) ... sounds...

(iii) ... ear consciousness...

(iv) ... ear contact...

(v) ... feeling...

(vi) ... ear craving...

12. (3) (i) If anyone says that the nose is self, it is not tenable...

(ii) ... odours...

(iii) ... nose consciousness...

(iv) ... nose contact...

(v) ... feeling...

(vi) ... nose craving...

13. (4) (i) If anyone says that the tongue is self, it is not tenable...

(ii) ... flavours...

(iii) ... tongue consciousness...

(iv) ... tongue contact...

(v) ... feeling...

(vi) ... tongue craving...

14. (5) (i) If anyone says that the body is self, it is not tenable...

- (ii) c... tangible objects...
- (iii) c... body consciousness...
- (iv) c... body contact...
- (v) c... feeling...
- (vi) c... craving...

16. ~~16.~~ (i) c If any one should say that the mind is ~~in~~ self, ~~that~~ it is not tenable...

- (ii) c... mental objects...
- (iii) c... mind consciousness...
- (iv) c... mind contact...
- (v) c... feeling...
- (vi) c... craving... 284

C. The Origin of ~~Individuality~~ <sup>Empediment</sup>

17. 'Nad. ~~thickens~~, the way leading to the arising of ~~individuality~~ <sup>in the existing body</sup> is this:

18. (i-vi) c A man sees the eye as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self". He sees ~~the eye~~ <sup>eye</sup> as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self". He sees eye consciousness as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self". He sees eye contact as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self". He sees feeling as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self". He sees craving as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self".

19. 2. i-vi c A man sees the ear as "this is mine..."

20. 3. i-vi c A man sees the nose as "this is mine..."

21. 4. i-vi c A man sees the tongue as "this is mine..."

22. 5. i-vi c A man sees the body as "this is mine..."

23. 6. i-vi c A man ~~sees~~ the mind as "this is mine..."







neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling, he does not ~~understand~~ <sup>of its actuality</sup> understand the ~~attraction~~ origin and cessation ~~of the attraction~~ of that feeling; or, ~~the attraction~~ <sup>the attraction</sup> ~~the attraction~~ and the escape ~~from the cause of feeling~~ <sup>from the cause of feeling</sup>, and of the ~~underlying~~ <sup>underlying</sup> tendency to ignorance ~~in him~~ <sup>in him</sup>: ~~But~~ <sup>But</sup> indeed, Bhikkhus, that he shall here and now make an end of suffering without abandoning the ~~inherently~~ <sup>inherently</sup> tendency to ~~quest~~ <sup>quest</sup> for pleasant feeling, without ~~removing~~ <sup>removing</sup> the ~~underlying~~ <sup>underlying</sup> tendency to ~~resistance~~ <sup>resistance</sup> to painful feeling, without abolishing the ~~underlying~~ <sup>underlying</sup> tendency to ignorance of neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling — that is not possible. OMISSION

- 32. 2. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ ear and sounds...
- 33. 3. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ nose and odours...
- 34. 4. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ tongue and flavours...
- 35. 5. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ body and tangible objects...
- 36. 6. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> ~~the~~ mind and ~~intangible~~ <sup>intangible</sup> objects... 286

F. The Abandonment of Inherent Tendencies.

37. 1. i-vi <sup>dependent on</sup> Bhikkhus, ~~the~~ eye and ~~touch~~ <sup>touch</sup> eye-consciousness arises, the coincidence of the three is contact, with contact as condition there arises what is felt as pleasant or painful or neither-pleasant-nor-painful. When he is touched by pleasant feeling, he does not delight with it nor ~~is not delighted with it~~ <sup>is not delighted with it</sup> ~~and he does not remain committed to it~~ <sup>and he does not remain committed to it</sup> ~~with the underlying tendency to quest~~ <sup>with the underlying tendency to quest</sup> for pleasant feeling. When he is touched by painful feeling, he does





- ' He becomes dispassionate towards the nose...
- ' He becomes dispassionate towards the tongue...
- ' He becomes dispassionate towards the body...
- ' He becomes dispassionate towards the mind...

' Being dispassionate, [his greed] fades away; with the fading away [of greed] he is liberated; when [his <sup>avidya</sup> ~~avidya~~ is] liberated, there comes the knowledge: "It is liberated." He understands: "Birth is ~~abandoned~~ <sup>permanently</sup>, the life of ~~freedom~~ <sup>freedom</sup> has been lived, what was to be done is done, there is no more of this to come."

So the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup>, and ~~reported to the Blessed One~~ <sup>they agreed with his</sup> words.

And while this discourse was being spoken the ~~number~~ <sup>company</sup> of as many as sixty bhikkhus were liberated from cankers by not clinging.

Notes:

§10 "uppajati - is tenable" (= yujjati - comy) not in P.T.S. Dict in this sense.  
 Note idiomatic use of "iccāssa evamāgataṃ hoti - it follows".  
 Should one read "yaṃvā khaṇaṃ uppādo pi..." instead of "yaṃvā..."?



✓ Majjhima-Nikaya . 149 - Mahi-salāyatanaika Sutta  
(3, 5, 7)

1. Thus I heard. . . . ~~Got~~ <sup>one</sup> ~~time~~ <sup>time</sup> the Blessed One was living at Sāvaththi, in Jeta's Grove, Anāthapiṇḍika's Park. There ~~the Blessed One~~ <sup>he</sup> addressed the bhikkhus thus - 'Bhikkhus', - 'Venerable sir', they ~~blithely~~ <sup>he</sup> replied ~~to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

2. - 'Bhikkhus, I shall expound to you [a discourse on] the Great Sixfold Base. ~~Listen~~ <sup>listen</sup> and attend ~~carefully~~ <sup>carefully</sup> to what I shall say.' - 'Even so, venerable sir,' the bhikkhus ~~replied to the Blessed One~~. The Blessed One said this:

3. - 'Bhikkhus, when a man does not ~~correctly~~ <sup>or it is actually</sup> know and see <sup>the eye</sup>, or ~~correctly~~ know and see <sup>the object</sup>, or ~~correctly~~ know and see eye-consciousness, or ~~correctly~~ know and see eye contact, or ~~correctly~~ know and see what is felt as pleasant or painful or neither-painful-nor-pleasant, and arises with eye contact as its condition, then he is ~~injured~~ <sup>injured</sup> by ~~contact~~ <sup>contact</sup> for the eye, ~~injured~~ <sup>injured</sup> for ~~visible objects~~ <sup>visible objects</sup>, ~~injured~~ <sup>injured</sup> for eye-consciousness, ~~injured~~ <sup>injured</sup> for what is felt as pleasant or painful or neither-painful-nor-pleasant and arises with eye contact as its condition. When he ~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> fettered, infatuated, and ~~intent on~~ <sup>intent on</sup> enjoyment, then the five aggregates [~~of objects~~] of clinging are ~~clung up for~~ <sup>clung up for</sup>



in ~~store~~ for him in the future; and his crav-  
ing, which produces <sup>general</sup> ~~pleasure~~ <sup>being</sup> and is  
accompanied by <sup>delight</sup> ~~concern~~ and <sup>is</sup> ~~is~~  
concerned <sup>in</sup> with this and that, increases in him.  
And his bodily and ~~and~~ mental <sup>faculties</sup> increase,  
~~and~~ too. And his bodily and mental torments  
increase, too. And his bodily and mental <sup>pleasures</sup> ~~pleasures~~  
increase, too. And ~~his~~ <sup>his</sup> bodily and mental pain  
~~is~~ <sup>is</sup> what he feels (experiences).

4. 'When a man does not ~~correctly~~ know and  
see the ear as it <sup>is</sup> actually is . . .
  5. 'When a man does not ~~correctly~~ know and  
see the nose as it <sup>is</sup> actually is . . .
  6. 'When a man does not ~~correctly~~ know and  
see the tongue as it <sup>is</sup> actually is . . .
  7. 'When a man does not ~~correctly~~ know and  
see the body as it <sup>is</sup> actually is . . .
  8. 'When a man does not ~~correctly~~ know and  
see the mind as it <sup>is</sup> actually is . . .
- 
9. (Philosophy, when a man ~~correctly~~ knows and  
sees the eye <sup>as it actually is</sup> ~~correctly~~ knows and sees <sup>forms as</sup> ~~forms as~~  
~~as it actually is~~ <sup>correctly</sup> knows and sees eye conscious-  
ness <sup>as it actually is</sup> ~~correctly~~ knows and sees eye contact <sup>as it actually is</sup>  
5 ~~correctly~~ knows and sees what is felt as  
pleasant or painful or neither painful nor  
pleasant and <sup>as it actually is</sup> ~~correctly~~ knows with eye contact as its  
condition, then he is <sup>pleased</sup> ~~pleased~~ by <sup>forms</sup> ~~forms~~ for the  
eye, <sup>by</sup> ~~by~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> ~~pleasure~~ for <sup>forms</sup> ~~forms~~, <sup>by</sup> ~~by~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> ~~pleasure~~ for  
10 eye consciousness, <sup>by</sup> ~~by~~ <sup>pleasure</sup> ~~pleasure~~ for eye contact,







faculties also come to perfection in him  
~~through~~ by development. And the five  
 powers also come to perfection in him by  
~~through~~ development. And the seven en-  
 20 lightenment factors also come to perfection  
 in him by development. These two ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>,  
 namely ~~strength~~ <sup>presence</sup> and insight occur in him  
 yoked evenly together. He fully under-  
 stands ~~things~~ <sup>by</sup> direct knowledge ~~what should~~ <sup>these things ideas</sup>  
 be fully understood by direct knowledge.  
 He abandons ~~by~~ direct knowledge those ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>  
 that should be abandoned by direct know-  
 ledge. He develops by direct knowledge  
 those ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that should be developed by di-  
 30 rect knowledge. He realizes by direct know-  
 ledge those ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that should be realized  
 by direct knowledge.

11. And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully under-  
 stood by direct knowledge? The answer to  
 that is: the five aggregates [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>] by cling-  
 ing, that is to say the materiality aggregate  
 5 [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>] by clinging, the feeling aggregate [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>]  
 by clinging, the perception aggregate  
 [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>] by clinging, the ~~formations~~ <sup>determinations</sup> aggre-  
 gate [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>] by clinging, the consciousness  
 aggregate [~~affected~~ <sup>affected</sup>] of clinging — these  
 10 are the ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that should be fully understood  
 by direct knowledge. ~~And what~~  
 And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be abandoned  
 by direct knowledge? Ignorance, and craving  
 for becoming — these are ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that should be



15. abandoned ~~in him~~ by direct knowledge.  
 And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be developed by direct knowledge? Serenity and insight — these are the ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> to be developed that should be developed by direct knowledge. 290
20. And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be realized by direct knowledge? ~~Clear vision~~ <sup>True knowledge</sup> and deliverance — these are the ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> that should be developed realized by direct knowledge.
12. 'When a man ~~correctly~~ knows and sees the ear as it actually is  
 13. (The view of one such as he...  
 14. 'And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully understood ~~by~~ direct knowledge? ...
15. 'When a man ~~correctly~~ knows and sees the nose as it actually is  
 16. (The view of one such as he...  
 17. 'And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully understood by direct knowledge? ...
18. 'When a man ~~correctly~~ knows and sees the tongue as it actually is...  
 19. (The view of one such as he...  
 20. 'And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully understood by direct knowledge? ...
21. 'When a man ~~correctly~~ knows and sees the body as it actually is...  
 22. (The view of one such as he...  
 23. 'And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully understood by direct knowledge? ...
24. 'When a man ~~correctly~~ knows and sees the mind as it actually is.

'The view of one such as he...  
 'And what ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup> should be fully understood by direct knowledge? ...  
 '... ~~clear~~ <sup>True knowledge</sup> and deliverance — these are the ~~things~~ <sup>things</sup> that should be realized by direct knowledge.

So the Blessed One said: The bhikkhus were ~~delighted~~ <sup>delighted</sup>, and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at the ~~Blessed One's~~ <sup>words</sup> words. ~~they agreed with both~~



✓ Majjhima - Nikaya 150 - Nagaravindogga sutta

(3, 5, 8)

- 551
1. Thus I heard <sup>occasionally</sup> ~~at~~ one ~~time~~ the Blessed One was wandering in the Kosalan country with a large <sup>contingent</sup> ~~number~~ of bhikkhus, and at length he arrived at a Kosalan <sup>divine</sup> ~~village~~ <sup>castle</sup> called Nagaravinda.
  2. The <sup>people</sup> ~~householders~~ householders of Nagaravinda heard - ~~the~~ monk <sup>called</sup> [gotama, it seems] ... [and so on as in M. 41, § 2 up to] ... <sup>291</sup> to see such ascetics."
  3. Then the <sup>divine</sup> ~~householders~~ householders of Nagaravinda went to the Blessed One; ... [and so on as in M. 41, § 3 up to] ... some kept silence and sat down at one side.
  4. When they <sup>were seated</sup> ~~were seated~~, the Blessed One said to them: -
  4. - "Householders; if wanderers of other sects ask you - "What sort of ascetics and beh-  
<sup>divine</sup> ~~ascetics~~ should not be honoured, respected, re-  
vered and venerated?", you, being asked  
thus, <sup>can</sup> ~~should~~ answer those wanderers of other  
sects thus - "Those <sup>ascetics</sup> ~~ascetics~~ and <sup>ascetics</sup> ~~ascetics~~ that  
are not rid of <sup>lust</sup> ~~lust~~ hate and delusion  
regarding <sup>form</sup> ~~form~~ objects cognizable by the eye,  
whose <sup>conduct</sup> ~~conduct~~ are unquiet <sup>in themselves</sup> ~~in themselves~~, whose  
bodily, verbal and mental behaviour is now  
mighty and now unrighteous - such <sup>ascetics</sup> ~~ascetics~~  
and <sup>ascetics</sup> ~~ascetics~~ as these ~~should~~ <sup>should</sup> not be honoured,  
respected, revered and venerated. Why is that?  
Because we too are not rid of <sup>lust</sup> ~~lust~~, hate and  
delusion regarding <sup>form</sup> ~~form~~ objects cognizable by





respected, revered and venerated?" You, being asked thus, ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> answer those Wanderers of other sects thus - "Those ~~ascetics~~ <sup>monks</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>devotees</sup> that are rid of ~~greed~~ <sup>lust</sup>, hate and delusion regarding ~~visible objects~~ <sup>visible forms</sup> cognizable by the eye, whose ~~hands~~ <sup>hands</sup> are quiet ~~internally~~ <sup>in tranquillity</sup>, whose bodily, verbal and mental behaviour is righteous - such ~~ascetics~~ <sup>monks</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>devotees</sup> as these ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> be honoured, respected, revered and venerated. Why is that? Because we are rid of ~~greed~~ <sup>lust</sup>, hate and delusion regarding ~~visible objects~~ <sup>visible forms</sup> cognizable by the eye, our ~~hands~~ <sup>hands</sup> are ~~quiet~~ <sup>unquiet</sup> ~~internally~~ <sup>internally</sup>, our bodily, verbal and mental behaviour is now righteous and now unrighteous, ~~and~~ since we see ~~ascetics~~ <sup>ascetics</sup> righteous behaviour in these good ~~ascetics~~ <sup>monks</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>devotees</sup>, they ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> therefore be honoured, respected, revered and venerated.

"Those ~~ascetics~~ <sup>monks</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>devotees</sup> that are rid of ~~greed~~ <sup>lust</sup>, hate and delusion regarding sounds cognizable by the ear...

"... regarding odours cognizable by the nose...

"... regarding flavours cognizable by the tongue..."

"... regarding tangible objects cognizable by the body..."

"... regarding ~~intangible~~ <sup>intangible</sup> objects cognizable by the mind..."

they ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> therefore be honoured, respected, revered and venerated."

You, being asked thus, ~~should~~ <sup>can</sup> answer those Wanderers of other sects thus.

6. "Householders, if these Wanderers of other sects ask - But what ~~is the~~ <sup>evidence</sup> ~~of their~~ <sup>of their</sup> ~~asceticism~~ <sup>asceticism</sup> and ~~devotion~~ <sup>devotion</sup> to the ~~gods~~ <sup>gods</sup>?"



Have you <sup>found</sup> ~~these~~ venerable ones that you say ~~of~~ <sup>of</sup> this  
 Sure by these venerable ones 293 are either  
 rid of ~~hate~~ or have entered upon the way of  
 removing ~~hate~~; they are either rid of hate or  
 they have entered upon the way of removing hate;  
 they are either rid of delusion or they have entered  
 upon the way of removing delusion? "You,  
 being asked thus, ~~answer~~ answer those wanderers  
 of other sects thus - "It is ~~as if~~ as far as these  
 venerable ones frequent remote jungle-thicket  
 resting places in the forest. For there are no  
~~visual cognizable~~ cognizable by the eye there such  
 that whenever they ~~see~~ see them they would de-  
~~light~~ light in them. For there are no sounds cog-  
 nizable by the ear ... odours cognizable by the  
 nose, ... flavours cognizable by the tongue, ...  
 tangibles ~~of~~ cognizable by the body there  
 such that whenever they ~~touch~~ touch them they would  
~~delight~~ delight in them. It is these ~~delicious~~ <sup>delicious</sup> and  
~~pleasant~~ pleasant these venerable ones on account of  
 which we say of them - Sure by these venerable  
 ones are either rid of ~~hate~~ ... hate ... del-  
 usion or they have entered upon the way of  
 removing delusion." You, being asked thus,  
~~answer~~ answer those wanderers of other sects  
 thus . . .

7.-8. When this was said, the <sup>divine [caste]</sup> ~~house-~~ house-  
 holders of Nagara vinda said ~~to the Buddha~~ :  
 - "Magnificent, Master Gotama ... [and  
 so on as in M. 4, ~~§ 36, 37~~ § 36, 37] ...  
 from today let Master Gotama accept ~~us~~  
 as followers who have gone to him for re-  
 fuge for life . . ."



✓ Majjhima-Nikāya 154 - Pindapāṭapārasuddhisutta  
(3, 5, 9)

1. Thus I heard.  
 Of one ~~time~~ <sup>once</sup> the Blessed One was living at Rājagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Sanctuary.

Then, it being evening, the venerable Sāriputta rose from meditation and he went to the Blessed One; after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the Blessed One said: 274

2. - "Sāriputta, your faculties are <sup>clear</sup> ~~pure~~ and bright. The colour of your skin is <sup>pure</sup> ~~clear~~ and bright. What abiding do you ~~abide~~ <sup>abide</sup> in <sup>now</sup> moothy now?"

- "Venerable sir, <sup>Now</sup> ~~now~~ I ~~abide~~ <sup>abide</sup> moothy in the abiding of voidness."

- "Good, good, Sāriputta. Now it seems, you dwell moothy in the Great Man's abiding. For this namely, voidness is the Great Man's abiding."

3. "So, Sāriputta, if a bhikkhu should wish

1. - "May I now ~~abide~~ <sup>abide</sup> moothy in the abiding of  
 "voidness", he should consider thus - "On the  
 path by which I went to the village for alms,  
 5 and in the place where I wandered for alms,  
 and on the path by which I returned from  
 alms round, was there any <sup>good</sup> ~~delusion~~ or <sup>lust</sup> ~~greed~~ or  
 hate or delusion or <sup>aversion</sup> ~~aversion~~ in my <sup>conscience</sup> ~~conscience~~  
 regarding ~~visible~~ <sup>form</sup> ~~objects~~ cognizable by the eye  
 there?" If, by reviewing, he knows thus - "On

the path by which I went to the village for alms,  
 and in the place where I wandered for alms,  
 and on the path by which I returned from the  
 alms round, there was ~~no~~ <sup>real</sup> ~~delusion~~ or ~~greed~~ or  
 hate or delusion or ~~aversion~~ <sup>aversion</sup> in my mind re-  
 garding ~~visible~~ <sup>forms</sup> objects cognizable by the eye  
 there", then he should ~~stop~~ <sup>make effort</sup> to abandon  
 those evil unprofitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>. But if, ~~then~~  
 by reviewing, he knows thus - "On the path  
 by which I went into the village for alms, and  
 in the place ~~by~~ where I wandered for alms,  
 and on the path by which I returned from the  
 alms round; there was ~~no~~ <sup>real</sup> ~~delusion~~ or ~~greed~~ or  
 hate or delusion or ~~aversion~~ <sup>aversion</sup> regarding ~~visible~~ <sup>forms</sup>  
 objects cognizable by the eye there", then he  
 should ~~stop~~ <sup>continue</sup> in joy and happiness <sup>and glad</sup> as one  
 who trains day and night in profitable  
~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>!

4. Again, Sāriputta, a bhikkhu should con-  
 sider thus - "On the path by which I went into the  
 village for alms or in the place where I wan-  
 dered for alms, or on the path by which I  
 returned from the alms round, was there any  
~~delusion~~ or ~~greed~~ or hate or delusion or ~~aversion~~ <sup>aversion</sup>  
 regarding sounds cognizable by the ear there?"  
 If, by reviewing ...

5. Again, ... odours cognizable by the nose ...  
 6. Again, ... flavours cognizable by the tongue ...  
 7. Again, ... tangible ~~objects~~ <sup>ideas</sup> cognizable by the body ...  
 8. Again, ... ~~mental~~ <sup>ideas</sup> objects cognizable by the mind. 295  
 day and night in profitable ~~things~~ <sup>ideas</sup>.



9. 'Again, Sāriputta, a bhikkhu should consider thus - "Are the five cords of sensual desire abandoned in me?" If, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The five cords of sensual desire are not abandoned in me", then he should ~~strive~~ <sup>make an effort</sup> to abandon those five cords of sensual desire. But if, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The five cords of sensual desire are abandoned in me", then he ~~should dwell~~ <sup>can abide</sup> in joy and happiness, <sup>glad</sup> as one who trains day and night in profitable thing ideas.
10. 'Again, Sāriputta, a bhikkhu should consider thus - "Are the five hindrances abandoned in me?" If, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The five hindrances are not abandoned in me", then that bhikkhu should ~~strive~~ <sup>make an effort</sup> to abandon those five hindrances. But if, by reviewing, he understands thus - "The five hindrances are abandoned in me", then he ~~should dwell~~ <sup>can abide</sup> in joy and happiness, <sup>glad</sup> as one who trains day and night in profitable thing ideas.
11. 'Again, Sāriputta, a bhikkhu should consider thus - "Are the five aggregates [<sup>affected</sup> ~~affected~~] by clinging fully understood by me?" If, by reviewing, he <sup>knows</sup> ~~understands~~ thus - "The five aggregates [<sup>affected</sup> ~~affected~~] by clinging are <sup>not</sup> fully understood by me", then he should ~~strive~~ <sup>make an effort</sup> for the full understanding of those five aggregates [<sup>affected</sup> ~~affected~~] by clinging. But if, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The five aggregates [<sup>affected</sup> ~~affected~~] by clinging are fully understood by me", then he ~~should dwell~~ <sup>can abide</sup> in joy and happiness, <sup>glad</sup> as one who trains day and night in profitable thing ideas.

12. 'Again, Sāriputta, a bhikkhu should consider thus - "Are <sup>the</sup> four foundations of mindfulness developed in me?" If, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The four foundations of mindfulness are not developed in me", then he should ~~strive~~ <sup>make effort</sup> for the development of those four foundations of mindfulness. But if, by reviewing, he knows thus - "The four foundations of mindfulness are developed in me", ~~then he should dwell in joy and happiness~~ <sup>then he should dwell in joy and happiness</sup> and <sup>be</sup> ~~as~~ <sup>one</sup> who trains day and night in profitable things ideas.
13. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the four right ~~efforts~~ <sup>aspects</sup> developed in me?" If, ...
14. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the four ~~paths to freedom~~ <sup>paths to freedom</sup> developed in me?" If ...
15. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the five ~~spiritual~~ <sup>faculties</sup> developed in me?" If ...
16. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the five powers developed in me?" If ...
17. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the seven enlightenment factors developed in me?" If ...
18. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are the Noble eightfold Path developed in me?" If ... 297
19. 'Again, Sāriputta, ... - "Are serenity and insight developed in me?" If ...
20. 'Again Sāriputta, ... - "Are ~~tranquility~~ <sup>knowledge</sup> and deliverance realized in me?" If ... day and night in profitable things ideas.



523

21. "Sāriputta, any <sup>ascetics</sup> ~~ascetics~~ and <sup>brahmins</sup> ~~brahmins~~ that have purified their alms food in the past have all ~~done so~~ <sup>done so</sup> by ~~continual~~ <sup>continuous</sup> reviewing thus. Any ~~ascetics~~ <sup>ascetics</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>brahmins</sup> that will ~~purify~~ <sup>purify</sup> their alms food in the future will all ~~do so~~ <sup>do so</sup> ~~by continual~~ <sup>by continuous</sup> reviewing thus. Any ~~ascetics~~ <sup>ascetics</sup> and ~~brahmins~~ <sup>brahmins</sup> that are purifying their alms food in the present are all ~~doing so~~ <sup>doing so</sup> ~~by continual~~ <sup>by continuous</sup> reviewing thus in the same way."

10 "Therefore, Sāriputta, you should train thus - "We will purify our alms food by continual reviewing thus." You should train thus.

So the Blessed One said. The Venerable Sāriputta was ~~satisfied~~ <sup>delighted</sup> and ~~rejoiced~~ <sup>rejoiced</sup> at the ~~blissful~~ <sup>blissful</sup> One's ~~words~~ <sup>words</sup>.

The first part of the document  
 discusses the general principles  
 of the system and the  
 various methods of  
 application. It is  
 divided into several  
 sections, each dealing  
 with a different aspect  
 of the subject. The  
 first section is  
 devoted to the  
 history of the  
 system, and the  
 second to the  
 theory of its  
 operation. The  
 third section  
 describes the  
 practical  
 details of the  
 system, and the  
 fourth to the  
 results of its  
 use. The fifth  
 section is  
 devoted to the  
 comparison of  
 the system with  
 other systems, and  
 the sixth to the  
 conclusions of the  
 author. The  
 seventh section  
 is a list of  
 references, and  
 the eighth is  
 an index. The  
 ninth section  
 is a list of  
 figures, and the  
 tenth is a list  
 of tables. The  
 eleventh section  
 is a list of  
 appendices, and  
 the twelfth is  
 a list of  
 errata. The  
 thirteenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 acknowledgments,  
 and the fourteenth  
 is a list of  
 dedications. The  
 fifteenth section  
 is a list of  
 prefaces, and the  
 sixteenth is a  
 list of  
 forewords. The  
 seventeenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 introductions, and  
 the eighteenth  
 is a list of  
 conclusions. The  
 nineteenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 summaries, and  
 the twentieth  
 is a list of  
 abstracts. The  
 twenty-first  
 section is a  
 list of  
 synopses, and  
 the twenty-second  
 is a list of  
 outlines. The  
 twenty-third  
 section is a  
 list of  
 indexes, and the  
 twenty-fourth  
 is a list of  
 tables of  
 contents. The  
 twenty-fifth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 contents, and  
 the twenty-sixth  
 is a list of  
 lists of  
 figures. The  
 twenty-seventh  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 tables, and the  
 twenty-eighth  
 is a list of  
 lists of  
 appendices. The  
 twenty-ninth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 errata, and the  
 thirtieth is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 acknowledgments.

The second part of the document  
 discusses the specific  
 details of the system, and  
 the various methods of  
 application. It is  
 divided into several  
 sections, each dealing  
 with a different aspect  
 of the subject. The  
 first section is  
 devoted to the  
 history of the  
 system, and the  
 second to the  
 theory of its  
 operation. The  
 third section  
 describes the  
 practical  
 details of the  
 system, and the  
 fourth to the  
 results of its  
 use. The fifth  
 section is  
 devoted to the  
 comparison of  
 the system with  
 other systems, and  
 the sixth to the  
 conclusions of the  
 author. The  
 seventh section  
 is a list of  
 references, and  
 the eighth is  
 an index. The  
 ninth section  
 is a list of  
 figures, and the  
 tenth is a list  
 of tables. The  
 eleventh section  
 is a list of  
 appendices, and  
 the twelfth is  
 a list of  
 errata. The  
 thirteenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 acknowledgments,  
 and the fourteenth  
 is a list of  
 dedications. The  
 fifteenth section  
 is a list of  
 prefaces, and the  
 sixteenth is a  
 list of  
 forewords. The  
 seventeenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 introductions, and  
 the eighteenth  
 is a list of  
 conclusions. The  
 nineteenth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 summaries, and  
 the twentieth  
 is a list of  
 abstracts. The  
 twenty-first  
 section is a  
 list of  
 synopses, and  
 the twenty-second  
 is a list of  
 outlines. The  
 twenty-third  
 section is a  
 list of  
 indexes, and the  
 twenty-fourth  
 is a list of  
 tables of  
 contents. The  
 twenty-fifth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 contents, and  
 the twenty-sixth  
 is a list of  
 lists of  
 figures. The  
 twenty-seventh  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 tables, and the  
 twenty-eighth  
 is a list of  
 lists of  
 appendices. The  
 twenty-ninth  
 section is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 errata, and the  
 thirtieth is a  
 list of  
 lists of  
 acknowledgments.



✓ Majjhima-Nikāya 152 - Indriyabhāvanā sutta  
(3, 5, 10)

1. 298 Thus I heard.

On one ~~time~~ <sup>of a day</sup> the Blessed One was living at Kajāṅgalā in ~~the~~ grove of mukhola trees.

2. Then the ~~brahman~~ <sup>divine</sup> student, Uttara, Pārāsariya's pupil, went to the Blessed One and exchanged greetings with him, and when the courtesies and ~~converse~~ <sup>pleasant</sup> talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the Blessed One asked him — «Uttara, does ~~the brahman~~ <sup>the divine</sup> Pārāsariya teach his disciples ~~the~~ <sup>the maintaining</sup> development of faculties? in being?»

3. — «\*He does\*, Master Gotama?»

4. — «But, Uttara, how does he ~~teach~~ <sup>teach</sup> Pārāsariya teach <sup>his disciples the maintaining</sup> development of ~~the~~ faculties? in being?»

5. — «All those, Master Gotama, a man does not see ~~visible~~ <sup>forms</sup> objects with the eye, he does not hear sounds with the ear. That is how ~~the~~ <sup>the divine</sup> Pārāsariya teaches his disciples the <sup>maintaining</sup> development of the faculties. in being?»

6. — «If that is so, Uttara, then a blind man will have developed faculties <sup>maintained by</sup>, and a deaf man will have developed faculties <sup>maintained by</sup>, according to what ~~the brahman~~ <sup>the divine</sup> Pārāsariya <sup>says</sup>. For a blind man does not see ~~visible~~ <sup>forms</sup> objects with the eye and a deaf man does not hear sounds with the ear?»

7. When this was said the ~~brahman~~ <sup>divine</sup> student, Uttara, Pārāsariya's pupil, sat ~~in~~ <sup>in</sup> silent dismay, with shoulders drooping and



without illumination and without response  
head down, ~~glum and with nothing to~~  
say.

3. Then, <sup>knowing that</sup> seeing him ~~hear~~, the Blessed  
One addressed the venerable Ananda -  
(Ananda, ~~the Brahmin~~ <sup>the Divine</sup> Paras ariya <sup>the</sup> teacher  
his disciples development of the faculties  
<sup>is being in</sup> in one way; but ~~in the Noble One's dis-~~  
~~cipline~~ the supreme development of the fac-  
ulties <sup>is being in</sup> comes about in another way.

Now is the time, Blessed One, now is  
the time, Sublime One; for <sup>the</sup> Blessed One <sup>299</sup>  
to teach <sup>maintaining</sup> the Supreme Development of the  
faculties in the Noble One's Discipline.

Then <sup>the</sup> Ananda, and <sup>the</sup>  
what I shall say?  
- <sup>Yes</sup> So too, venerable Sir? <sup>he</sup> the venerable  
Ananda replied. ~~to the Blessed One~~ The Ble-  
ssed One said this:

4. Now, Ananda, how does ~~the~~ <sup>maintaining</sup>  
the Supreme Development of the faculties  
come about in the Noble One's Discipline?

5. Here, Ananda, when a bhikkhu sees  
a <sup>form</sup> ~~visible~~ object with the eye, <sup>it arises</sup>  
effect <sup>arises</sup> arises for him or <sup>arises</sup> arises  
arises for him or, affection <sup>arises</sup> arises  
arises for him. He understands thus - "this  
affection <sup>arises</sup> arises in me, this <sup>arises</sup> arises  
arises in me, this affection and <sup>arises</sup> arises  
arises in me. But that is <sup>arises</sup> arises and it is  
arises - <sup>arises</sup> arises for <sup>arises</sup> arises





ablished. <sup>300</sup>

<sup>300</sup> 'Just rain drops on a slightly sloping lotus leaf: roll off and do not remain there, so too, the ~~affection that arose~~, the ~~antipathy that arose~~, the affection and antipathy that arose, in anyone, ceases just as quickly, just as rapidly, just as easily, and ~~equanimity~~ <sup>onlooker's</sup> is established...

'This is called... as regards odours cognizable by the nose.

8. 'Again, Ananda, when a bhikkhu tastes a flavour with the tongue, ... ~~equanimity~~ <sup>onlooker's</sup> is established.

'Just as a strong man might easily spit out a ball of spittle collected on the tip of his tongue, so too, the ~~affection that arose~~, the ~~antipathy that arose~~, the affection and antipathy that arose, in anyone, ceases just as quickly, just as rapidly, just as easily, and ~~equanimity~~ <sup>onlooker's</sup> is established.

'This is called... as regards flavours cognizable with the tongue.

9. 'Again, Ananda, when a bhikkhu touches a tangible ~~with~~ with the body, ... ~~equanimity~~ <sup>onlooker's</sup> is established.

'Just as a strong man might ~~stretch~~ <sup>extend</sup> his ~~left~~ <sup>right</sup> arm or ~~stretch~~ <sup>extend</sup> his ~~right~~ <sup>left</sup> arm, so too, the ~~affection that arose~~, the



antipathy that arose, the affection and antipathy that arise, in any case just as quickly, just as rapidly, just as easily, and <sup>on looking</sup> ~~equanimity~~ is established.

'This is called... as regards tangibles ~~by~~ cognizable by the body.

10. 'Again, Ananda, when a bhikkhu cognizes <sup>an object</sup> ~~a material~~ object with the mind, ... <sup>on looking</sup> ~~equanimity~~ is established. ...

'Just as, if a man dropped two or three drops of water on an iron plate heated for a whole day, the dropping of the water drops ~~would~~ be slow, but they would <sup>eventually</sup> ~~eventually~~ evaporate up and vanish, so too, the <sup>agitation</sup> ~~agitation~~ that arose, the <sup>disagreement</sup> ~~antipathy~~ that arose, the <sup>agitation</sup> ~~agitation~~ and <sup>disagreement</sup> ~~antipathy~~ that arose, <sup>about anything at all</sup> ~~in any case~~ ceases just as quickly, just as rapidly, just as easily, and <sup>on looking</sup> ~~equanimity~~ is established.

'This is called the Supreme <sup>maintaining</sup> ~~Development~~ of the Faculties <sup>in</sup> the Noble One's Discipline in the so regards <sup>maintaining</sup> ~~material~~ objects cognizable by the mind.

'I <sup>do not know</sup> ~~do not know~~ that the Supreme <sup>maintaining</sup> ~~Development~~ of the Faculties <sup>is</sup> ~~is~~ in the Noble One's Discipline.

11. 'And how is <sup>an arhat</sup> ~~a brahmin~~ one who has entered upon the way?

'Here, Ananda, when a bhikkhu sees a <sup>form</sup> ~~material~~ object with the eye, and <sup>agitation</sup> ~~agitation~~ arises in him, or <sup>disagreement</sup> ~~antipathy~~ arises in him, or <sup>agitation</sup> ~~agitation~~ and <sup>disagreement</sup> ~~antipathy~~ arises in him,





557

I ~~should~~ <sup>applies</sup> perceiving the repulsive in the un-repulsive and the repulsive"; he <sup>applies</sup> perceiving the repulsive in that. <sup>So</sup> he should wish - "May I, <sup>by</sup> avoiding both the repulsive and the unrepulsive, <sup>applies</sup> in <sup>equanimity</sup>, <sup>mindful</sup> and <sup>fully</sup> ~~aware~~ <sup>aware</sup>", he <sup>applies</sup> in <sup>equanimity</sup> (towards that, <sup>mindful</sup> and <sup>fully</sup> aware.

- 18. 'Again, when a bhikkhu hears a sound with the ear, ...
  - (... smells an odour with the nose, ...
  - (... tastes a flavour with the tongue, ...
  - (... touches a tangible ~~object~~ with the body, ...
  - (... cognizes <sup>an object</sup> ~~an object~~ with the mind,
  - 302. <sup>mindful</sup> and <sup>fully</sup> aware"

This is how a 'It is in this way that a noble One has developed faculties <sup>maintained</sup> <sup>maintaining</sup>

- 19. So, Ananda, The Supreme development of the faculties <sup>in the Noble Ones' Discipline</sup> has been <sup>taught</sup> by me, The <sup>disciple</sup> who has entered upon the way has been <sup>taught</sup> by me, and the Noble One who has developed his faculties has been <sup>taught</sup> by me

20. 'What should be done for his disciples <sup>by</sup> out of <sup>compassion</sup> by a Master who seeks their welfare and <sup>compassion</sup>, that I have done for you, Ananda. There are these <sup>roots of trees</sup>, these empty <sup>places</sup>. <sup>Do not</sup> delay lest you later regret it. This is our <sup>instruction</sup> to you.

So the Blessed One said. The venerable  
 Ananda was ~~subjected~~, and ~~the~~ ~~subject~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~  
 Blessed One's words. <sup>which agreed with the</sup>

Note: ३५ and so on: manāpa and aman-  
āpa are normally adjectives. But here they  
 are rendered as "agreeable" and "disagreeable"  
 respectively, with ~~the~~ an objective emphasis  
 (see with A. khanda vibh cong). Here, however they  
 are nouns, ~~with~~ and the context shows them into  
 an entirely subjective emphasis. ~~So I have~~  
~~rendered them as "affection" and "antipathy"~~  
~~respectively~~. They appear to be the equiva-  
 lents of the "anurūḍha" and "pativirāḍha"  
 of M. II (i, p 65). This subjective nominal  
 sense is not given in P.T.S. Dict.

§17 delete extra clause in M Text, p. 301